

Knowledge Management, Trust and Comunication in the Era of Social Media

> Edited by Joanna Paliszkiewicz Printed Edition of the Special Issue Published in Information



www.mdpi.com/journal/information

Knowledge Management, Trust and Communication in the Era of Social Media

Knowledge Management, Trust and Communication in the Era of Social Media

Editor

Joanna Paliszkiewicz

 $\texttt{MDPI} \bullet \texttt{Basel} \bullet \texttt{Beijing} \bullet \texttt{Wuhan} \bullet \texttt{Barcelona} \bullet \texttt{Belgrade} \bullet \texttt{Manchester} \bullet \texttt{Tokyo} \bullet \texttt{Cluj} \bullet \texttt{Tianjin}$



Editor Joanna Paliszkiewicz Institute of Management, Warsaw University of Life Sciences – SGGW Poland

Editorial Office MDPI St. Alban-Anlage 66 4052 Basel, Switzerland

This is a reprint of articles from the Special Issue published online in the open access journal *Information* (ISSN 2078-2489) (available at: https://www.mdpi.com/journal/information/special_issues/knowledge_manage_trust).

For citation purposes, cite each article independently as indicated on the article page online and as indicated below:

LastName, A.A.; LastName, B.B.; LastName, C.C. Article Title. *Journal Name* Year, Article Number, Page Range.

ISBN 978-3-03943-705-4 (Hbk) ISBN 978-3-03943-706-1 (PDF)

© 2020 by the authors. Articles in this book are Open Access and distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license, which allows users to download, copy and build upon published articles, as long as the author and publisher are properly credited, which ensures maximum dissemination and a wider impact of our publications.

The book as a whole is distributed by MDPI under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons license CC BY-NC-ND.

Contents

About the Editor
Preface to "Knowledge Management, Trust and Communication in the Era of Social Media" . ix
Nestor Shpak, Oleh Kuzmin, Zoriana Dvulit, Tetiana Onysenko and Włodzimierz SrokaDigitalization of the Marketing Activities of Enterprises: Case StudyReprinted from: Information 2020, 11, 109, doi:10.3390/info110201091
Witold Chmielarz The Usage of Smartphone and Mobile Applications from the Point of View of Customers in Poland Reprinted from: Information 2020, 11, 220, doi:10.3390/info11040220 15
Magdalena Mądra-Sawicka, Jeretta Horn Nord, Joanna Paliszkiewicz and Tzong-Ru LeeDigital Media: Empowerment and EqualityReprinted from: Information 2020, 11, 225, doi:10.3390/info1104022529
Bartosz Wawrowski and Iwona Otola Social Media Marketing in Creative Industries: How to Use Social Media Marketing to Promote Computer Games? Reprinted from: Information 2020, 11, 242, doi:10.3390/info11050242
Olga Sobolewska and Agnieszka Bitkowska Selected Aspects of Evaluating Knowledge Management Quality in Contemporary Enterprises Reprinted from: <i>Information</i> 2020 , <i>11</i> , 244, doi:10.3390/info11050244
Anna Losa-Jonczyk Communication Strategies in Social Media in the Example of ICT Companies Reprinted from: Information 2020, 11, 254, doi:10.3390/info11050254 69
Elżbieta Kacperska and Katarzyna Łukasiewicz The Importance of Trust in Knowledge Sharing and the Efficiency of Doing Business on the Example of Tourism Reprinted from: <i>Information</i> 2020 , <i>11</i> , 311, doi:10.3390/info11060311
Agnieszka Werenowska and Maciej Rzepka The Role of Social Media in Generation Y Travel Decision-Making Process (Case Study in Poland) Reprinted from: Information 2020, 11, 396, doi:10.3390/info11080396
Magdalena Mądra-Sawicka, Joanna Paliszkiewicz and Jeretta Horn Nord Determinants of Social Media Usage in Business by Women: Age and Development of the Country Reprinted from: Information 2020, 11, 445, doi:10.3390/info11090445
Kemachart Kemavuthanon and Osamu Uchida Integrated Question-Answering System for Natural Disaster Domains Based on Social Media Messages Posted at the Time of Disaster Reprinted from: <i>Information</i> 2020 , <i>11</i> , 456, doi:10.3390/info11090456

Magdalena Mądra-Sawicka and Joanna Paliszkiewicz

Information	Sharing	Strategies	in	the	Social	Media	Era:	The	Perspective	of	Financial	
Performance	and CSR	in the Food	l In	dust	ry							
Reprinted fro	om: Inform	nation 2020 ,	11,	463,	doi:10.	3390/in	fo1110	0463				. 145

About the Editor

Joanna Paliszkiewicz works as a full professor at the Warsaw University of Life Sciences (WULS—SGGW). She is the director of the Management Institute. She is also an adjunct professor at the University of Vaasa in Finland. She is well recognized in Poland and abroad for her expertise in management issues: knowledge management and trust management. She has published over 200 papers/manuscripts and is the author/co-author/editor of twelve books. She has been a part of many scholarship endeavors in the United States, Ireland, Slovakia, Taiwan, the United Kingdom, and Hungary. She has actively participated in presenting research results at various international conferences. Currently, she serves as the deputy editor-in-chief of the Management and Production Engineering Review. She is an associate editor for the Journal of Computer Information Systems and Expert Systems with Applications. She is the vice president of the Polish Association for Production Engineering in Poland. She also serves as chair of the International Cooperation in European Business Club. She serves as the vice president of the International Association for Computer Information Systems in the United States. She is a board member of the Intellectual Capital Accreditation Association. In addition, she serves as a member of the editorial board of several reputable and high-impact international journals. She has successfully supervised many Ph.D. students, leading them to completion of their degrees. She has also served as an external reviewer for several Ph.D. students in Poland, India, and Finland. She is actively involved in participating in the scientific committees of many international conferences. She was named the 2013 Computer Educator of the Year by IACIS.

Preface to "Knowledge Management, Trust and Communication in the Era of Social Media"

Trust, knowledge management, and communication are essential in business and society in the era of social media. This book presents the main challenges and opportunities posed by trust, knowledge management, and communication in the social media age in a manner relevant to both practitioners and scholars. The book is also useful for companies and organizations to leverage trust, knowledge management, and communication for an optimal course of action.

This book aims to bring together the theory and practice of trust, knowledge management, and communication in the era of social media.

The purpose of the first article is to identify financial measures that are related to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) involvement activities. The study concerns the food industry, in which clients and stakeholders increasingly appreciate socially responsible companies, which could be a crucial factor for future growth strategy. The results confirmed that CSR reporting was a critical factor that differentiated companies in terms of profitability, market capitalization, and share price. The second article presents the impact of digitalization on the enterprise's marketing activity in services by promoting online sales via electronic distribution channels, social networks, and mobile applications. A comparative system of estimating the parameters of digitalization's influence on the enterprise's marketing activity was proposed as a confirmation of this impact. The third article identifies the conditions for the use of smartphones and mobile applications in Poland. This article's scope aimed to fill a gap in the quantitative and qualitative methods applied to examine the use of mobile devices and mobile software. At the same time, this study creates the foundations for further research on intercultural differences. The fourth article, entitled "Digital Media: Empowerment and Equity", investigates the use of digital media, specifically social media technologies, in the workplace in Taiwan. The findings reveal that both genders use social technology platforms for business support, experience benefits, and believe that these technologies could empower success. The next article aims to discuss the possibilities of utilizing social media marketing by a creative company dealing with computer games production. The authors have attempted to analyze selected computer game promotion elements used by the CD Projekt Capital Group. The article entitled "Selected Aspects of Evaluating Knowledge Management Quality in Contemporary Enterprises" broadens the understanding of knowledge management and estimates select aspects of knowledge management quality evaluations in modern enterprises from theoretical and practical perspectives. The seventh article aims to present the results of pilot studies on the four largest Information Communication Technology (ICT) companies' involvement in promoting the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) through social media. Studies examine which communication strategy is used by companies in social media. The primary purpose of the eighth article is to present the relationship between trust and knowledge sharing, taking into account the importance of this issue in the efficiency of doing business. The results showed that trust is vital in sharing knowledge and essential in achieving a high-performance efficiency level. The ninth article presents the impact of social media on consumer choices in tourism and tourist products' specificity. The study's main purpose was to indicate the most commonly used social media in selecting a tourist destination and implementing Generation Y's journey. The 10th article aims to identify the most critical purposes of using social media by responding to women's attitudes according to age and their respective countries' economic development. The research was done through an online survey in 2017–2018, followed by an analysis of eight countries' results. The article entitled "Integrated Question-Answering System for Natural Disaster Domains Based on Social Media Messages Posted at the Time of Disaster" presents the framework of a question-answering system that was developed using a Twitter dataset containing more than 9 million tweets compiled during the Osaka North Earthquake that occurred on 18 June 2018. The authors also study the structure of the questions posed and develop methods for classifying them into particular categories to find answers from the dataset using an ontology, word similarity, keyword frequency, and natural language processing.

The book provides a theoretical and practical background related to trust, knowledge management, and communication in the era of social media. The editor believes that the collection of articles can be relevant to professionals, researchers, and students' needs. The authors try to diagnose the situation and show the new challenges and future directions in this area.

Joanna Paliszkiewicz Editor





Article Digitalization of the Marketing Activities of Enterprises: Case Study

Nestor Shpak $^{1,*},$ Oleh Kuzmin 1, Zoriana Dvulit 2, Tetiana Onysenko 3 and Włodzimierz Sroka 4,5

- ¹ Department of Management and International Business, Lviv Polytechnic National University, Lviv 79013, Ukraine; oleh.y.kuzmin@lpnu.ua
- ² Department of Foreign Trade and Customs, Lviv Polytechnic National University, Lviv 79013, Ukraine; zoriana.p.dvulit@lpnu.ua
- ³ Department of Enterprise Economics, Taras Shevchenko National University of Kyiv, Kyiv 01033, Ukraine: onysenko.t@gmail.com
- ⁴ Management Department, WSB University, 41-300 Dabrowa Górnicza, Poland; wsroka@wsb.edu.pl
- ⁵ WorkWell Research Unit, School of Management Sciences, North-West University, Potchefstroom 2520, South Africa
- * Correspondence: dida_05@ukr.net or nestor.o.shpak@lpnu.ua; Tel.: +38-050-371-40-30

Received: 22 January 2020; Accepted: 10 February 2020; Published: 17 February 2020



Abstract: The pace and scale of the digitalization of today's global information society open up new opportunities for business. At the same time, they set new challenges for business owners and managers in the field of marketing. Given this fact, the purpose of the study was to present the impact of digitalization on the marketing activity of the enterprise in the field of services by promoting the use of online sales via electronic distribution channels, social networks, and mobile applications. A comparative system of estimating the parameters of the influence of digitalization on the marketing activity of the enterprise was proposed as a confirmation of this impact. Based on the developed "tree of goals," the dynamics of the digitalization of services were projected and the prospects of development of this sphere of activity were outlined. For testing the proposed methodology, the railway passenger transportation company (JSC "Ukrzaliznytsia") was chosen as the object of the research. Research methods used in the study include: (1) statistical; (2) SWOT analysis; (3) systematization, comparative, and structural-dynamic analysis; and (4) an expert survey. As a result of revealing the impact of individual elements of digitalization on the level of marketing activity, the number of recommendations regarding the development of digitalization of electronic ticket sales services and their accounting for enterprises dealing with railway passenger transportation were proposed.

Keywords: digitalization; marketing activity; management; electronic tickets; joint-stock company "Ukrzaliznytsia"; electronic distribution channels; sales activity

1. Introduction

The global information society, coupled with modern innovative capabilities, contributes to the digital transformation of countries, industries, and individual companies. Due to digitization, economic growth is achieved, and the competitiveness of goods and services increases. Given the significant scale and pace of digital transformations that take place today, the speed of responding to their main trends is a significant competitive advantage. In common practice, one of the most successful tools of information and communication technologies determines digitalization [1]. The development of the information society, the smart economy, and globalization processes make it necessary to digitize the marketing activity because consumers prefer those brands and companies that quickly master the

use of digital channels. However, [2] emphasize that the uniform approach to this process must be refused because of the specifics of national socio-cultural profiles of consumers. At the same time, the number of business processes is increasing under current conditions, which requires new methods and approaches to the transformation of views on managing the marketing activity of an enterprise. The experiences of many foreign and domestic companies indicate the significant impact of digitalization on sales activities as an essential element of the enterprise's marketing system. Digital methods of processing and using information are a major source of efficiency and effectiveness of such activities [3].

Modern globalization challenges contribute to the rapid implementation of the latest innovative capabilities of the digital world and the activity of railway transport as the leading industry in the road transport industry of the country. JSC "Ukrzaliznytsia" [4] which was one of the first companies that actively digitized its work, was selected to test the proposed methodology. In particular, it refers to the digitalization of the sale of electronic tickets. Competition in the market of transport services requires enterprises to introduce new approaches to the provision of quality online ticket sales services. The JSC "Ukrzaliznytsia," which is directly involved in the sale of electronic travel documents, is interested not only in their confirmation and sales, but also in promoting them among various modern social platforms and networks, tracking demand for specific areas, determining the need for additional wagons or trains, and identifying problems which online buyers may face.

The paper investigates the impact of digitalization on sales activity (as one of the key components of marketing) in the service industry. The main advantages of digitalizing the sale of electronic travel documents are the following: the facilitation of communication between the person and the information system; the ability for passengers to use devices to obtain real-time data on the availability and number of available seats in a particular car and train; the ability to receive information about the number of passengers traveling on a particular train in real-time; the ability to plan and organize the required number of trains on different routes according to customers' requests; and openness and accessibility of services to consumers, regardless of their location and time of day. Although there are the works of scientists, practitioners, and managers that are devoted to the study of this problem, the impact of digital technologies on marketing activities in general, and in particular, on sales in service sectors, such as the implementation of travel documents of enterprises providing railway transport, has not been sufficiently investigated from a practical point of view. That is why our goal was to present the impact of digitalization on the effectiveness of marketing activities of the enterprise.

2. Literature Review

The term "digitalization" has come into use since the middle of the last century. The Oxford English Dictionary [5] interprets it as accepting or extending the use of the digital or computer technology of organizations, industries, countries, etc. Castells [6] understands that the new economy, society, and culture under the digitalization considers this concept as one of the characteristics of the modern era. Other authors, such as Brennen and Kreiss [7], point out that digitalization has been referred to as structuring many different areas of social life around digital communications and media infrastructure. According to Parida et al. [8], the necessary condition for maintaining its competitive position or its conquest in our time is not only the use of computer technologies, but also the transition to modern innovative business models.

The digitalization is a necessary process for the development of modern organizations. Its main task was to simplify and accelerate the work with large data sets, automate the activity of the enterprise, and establish communications with the external environment. However, there are several major obstacles to implementing the digital business model of an organization based on digitalization. These include the lack of a digitalization strategy, a low level of staff competence in this area [9], fear of change, lack of funding, low level of thinking, and the needs of Internet customers. Modern organizations are not yet able to simultaneously use all the directions and possibilities of digitalization. Most often, they use only individual technologies, and as a result, such a situation negatively affects the development of the enterprise and reduces its competitive advantages. Consumers increasingly value their time,

meaning they need instant feedback, as well as well-designed information resources, online chats, and an individual approach. The expectations of customers regarding the speed and quality of service provision are growing rapidly. To meet the high needs of clients, companies shall accelerate the digitization of their business processes, that is, to digitalize the work of the organization. According to Honore [10], the concept of "digitalization" is the optimization of a business with software and IT solutions that will make it simpler, more cost-effective, and better in the context of customer service delivery and satisfaction. Based on this definition and a review of the literature on the problem, the definition of digitalization of electronic ticketing services as a transformation and improvement of use of digital technologies was developed to improve and expand the channels of business processes related to the sale, as well as the accounting of electronic travel documents through various online services and media channels.

Problems of digitalization and the digitization of marketing activity are covered in many works. They focus on different aspects and analyze the topic from different points of view. In particular, the influence of digitalization on the activity of the enterprise is raised by Chudaeva et al. [11]; Trasca et al. [12]; Lerch and Gotsch [13]; Brennen and Kreiss [14]; Verhoef et al. [15]; and Singh and Hess [16]. In turn, Majerova [17]; Rachinger et al. [18]; and Verhoef and Bijmolt [19] investigate its innovative and digital business models. Works of other scholars were related to the major trends in the digital transformation across different scenarios [20], models of marketing diversification [21], expediency of using electronic communication technologies [22,23], the influence of the trend of marketing digitalization on consumers [24], and digital transformation technologies for large companies [25,26]. Furthermore, other researchers concentrate on the application of digitalization, such as in terms of the network of Portuguese companies [27], banking [28], the problem of digitalization in the retail trade [29,30], and the change of marketing approaches to the consumer through the lens of digitalization of marketing activity [31,32]. Finally, there are works that propose an original event management architecture based on the holonic principles to improve the monitoring and diagnostic processes of a fleet of mobile systems in order to design an effective event management system for trains [33], and explore the statistical distribution models of high-speed railway train delays [34]. However, some aspects of research on railway transport deserve special attention, for example, research on the study of social factors as important components of the digitalization of the business model of railway transport enterprises [35], as well as major opportunities, challenges, and prospects for the digitalization of the rail industry [36–39].

3. Materials and Methods

The research methodology included tools that made it possible to evaluate and determine the impact of digitalization on the enterprise's marketing activities, as follows: methods of systematization-to summarize the theoretical achievements of scientists for the development of the concepts of "digitalization of services for the sale of electronic tickets"; benchmarking-to conduct a structural and dynamic study of the implementation of electronic travel documents through various sales channels through online services, in particular, to determine the growth rate of the number of purchased railway tickets; linear regression analysis-for the construction of predictive models of specific weights of electronic travel documents in their total number for 2019-2020 (based on the results of the retrospective analysis for the years 2011–2018); methodology of a system analysis for the choice of methodological apparatus of research in the comparative system of assessing the impact of digitalization on the marketing activities of JSC "Ukrzaliznytsia"; SWOT analysis-to identify the main features and threats of digitalization of services for the sale and accounting of electronic travel documents; using the expert method surveyed to identify passengers' awareness of online ticketing services; determining the preferences of the passengers of the Ukrainian railways in choosing the methods of buying an electronic ticket; and evaluation of the organization of services for the registration and payment of a ticket. This study used data from 11,116 respondents who were the users of rail passenger services. Among other basic parameters of the questionnaire, the following was

identified: the form of the study—an individual questioning, the frequency—one-time, and the type of expert assessment—questioning-opinion. The questionnaire consisted of 10 questions and forms for filling in the personal data of the respondent. The questions were of open and closed formats. The authors used the statistical methods to process the data obtained from a survey among consumers of Ukrainian railways services. Recommendations for the development of the digitalization of electronic ticketing services and their accounting for the enterprises engaged in railway passenger transportation are proposed.

4. Results

The main components of digitalization are the following: cost structure, consumer segments, sources of income, channels of sale of goods and services, the structure of relations with consumers, key partnerships, types of resources, types of activities, types of business processes, etc.

Business process digitalization involves defining and analyzing the main goals and objectives, identification of the main benefits of digitalization of business processes, selection and implementation of digital technologies, checking and analyzing the effectiveness of the digital solution, and making adjustments as needed.

The realized research made it possible to identify and systematize the main factors of the impact of digitalization on business processes, including the sales activity of the company: increasing the competitiveness of the company, goods, and services in the domestic and foreign markets; increase in sales of goods and services; acceleration of all business processes; promotion of efficient production, economic, financial, logistic, information, and marketing activities; more rational use of available resources; coverage and processing of large data sets in a short time; improving economic security; raising customer awareness of the company, products, and services; and the opportunity for consumers to purchase goods and services online through various online platforms, mobile applications, and social networks.

In general, the mechanism of the impact of digitalization on sales activity (including marketing activities) is presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Key factors of the impact of digitalization on marketing activities.

Using the system approach, which involves a comprehensive and purposeful study of objects based on system analysis, the parameters of the influence of digitalization on the sales activity are determined. Per the methodology of this analysis, a "tree of goals" was developed, with a general goal on the pinnacle, namely the impact of digitalization on sales activity, depending on environmental factors (Figure 2).



Figure 2. The level system for assessing the influence of digitalization on the sales activity of the enterprise.

Each of the main objectives of the research of the influence of digitalization on sales activity includes a set of subcontracting tasks (sub-goals), which were considered in the context of the developed "tree of goals" to solve the main problem.

The goals of levels 1–8 were transformed into functions of the system as a whole, of subsystems, and of elements. Furthermore, the sub-goals of the lower levels (parameters), which were the means of

achieving the higher-level goals, transformed into tools by which the functions were realized and the reverse process of the composition network of tasks was carried out; this involved the achievement of the main goal, namely to determine the parameters of the influence of digitalization on sales activity.

The achievement of the general goal was influenced by various conditions and restrictions of an economic and informational nature.

After formulating the problem and defining the system and factors of the environment, as well as the main goals and objectives of the research for determining the parameters of the influence of digitalization on sales activity (components of the goal of level 0), the transition to the goals of the first and second levels of the specified "tree of goals" was realized, namely the choice of methodological apparatus for research and systematic analysis of the influence of digitalization on sales activity.

To analyze the retrospective period and identify the main trends in its development, as well as the correlation of indicators that characterize these trends, the development of information support to solve the problem of determining the influence of digitalization on sales activity was a necessary stage of this research.

The preparation of information support involved the collection and processing of output data for the formation of a database, which would later serve to generate equations, model solutions, and analyze the data obtained.

The implementation of the goals of the various levels was carried out using scientific methods, integrated into the tools of system analysis. Informal, graphical, quantitative, and simulation methods may be the principal ways of implementing the developed comparative system of the influence of digitalization on the sales activity under the above conditions and restrictions.

The presented level of systematic assessment of the influence of digitalization on the sales activity of the enterprise was proposed to be applied to JSC Ukrzaliznytsia. In particular, at the first level, the choice of methodological apparatus of the research was made: methodology of systematic and comparative analysis, and methods of mathematical modeling and prediction. At the next level, an information base was formed, methods of influence of digitalization were analyzed and selected, and so on.

The third level included the analysis and synthesis of the sales system of JSC Ukrzaliznytsia and its external environment, including the sales history, distribution methods, and channels, as well as the marketing technologies.

In late 2008, the JSC «Ukrzaliznytsia» launched its first stage on the way to digitalization, where tickets were introduced through the official website of the JSC «Ukrzaliznytsia» [40] a network of agents was created, through which electronic tickets could be issued through online services. These include PrivatBank [41], Oschadbank [42], ticket sales sites [43–47], and other online resources. Extending the functionality of digitalization, the online ticket sales service for mobile apps allows storing them in the AppleWallet app and adding travel information to Google Calendar.

Within the period from 2011 through to 2018, the JSC «Ukrzaliznytsia» sold a total of about 435 million travel documents, while the share of purchased electronic tickets was 18.31% or about 79 million electronic travel documents. The systematized and calculated indicators of the number of registered and sold electronic travel documents for this period are presented in Table 1.

The structured-dynamic analysis conducted during this period demonstrated a growing linear tendency of sales of electronic tickets through online services from 1.06% in 2011 up to 50.13% in 2018. If we consider growth rates by years, then there was a nonlinear and uneven structure. The largest increase in sales of electronic travel documents was observed in 2012. In 2018, this figure was 1.26 and showed an increase in sales of e-tickets through online services by 26% compared to 2017.

The use of linear regression analysis made it possible to build predictive models of the proportion of the total number for 2019 and 2020 as electronic travel documents. The accuracy of the developed model was based on the ex-post forecast for 2011–2018. The model was based on transformed information, where all regression equations and their parameter estimates were statistically significant, the model was adequate, and absolute and relative prediction errors were within acceptable limits with

a given level of significance. Therefore, the forecast values of the share of electronic travel documents in the total number of travel documents for 2019 will be 55.57%, and 63% for 2020. As we can see, over the eight years studied, linear dependence was observed, and the forecast for the next 2 years also showed a linear increase in these specific weights.

 Table 1. Dynamics of indicators of issued and purchased electronic travel documents at the JSC «Ukrzaliznytsia».

Year	Total Number of Seats (pcs)	Number of Purchased Electronic Travel Documents (pcs)	Proportion of Electronic Travel Documents in Total (%)	Growth Rate Factor of the Number of Electronic Travel Documents Purchased
2011	65,758,800	693,868	1.06	-
2012	61,749,966	2,116,753	3.43	3.05
2013	61,008,208	4,758,197	7.80	2.25
2014	45,306,511	5,823,801	12.85	1.22
2015	43,624,429	11,746,090	26.93	2.02
2016	48,784,030	16,651,167	34.13	1.42
2017	53,669,618	21,944,761	40.89	1.32
2018	55,183,763	27,664,464	50.13	1.26

A formalized descriptions of models and definitions of their interrelation were realized at the fourth level.

The fifth level envisaged the development of a complex of models for the evaluation of digitalization of sales activity of the enterprise, consisting of a model of integral valuation, SWOT analysis, and application of the method of expert assessments.

The potential of SWOT analysis was used to further investigate the issue of the digitalization of electronic rail ticketing services. The application of this method made it possible to identify the main opportunities and threats of the digitalization of services for the sale and accounting of electronic travel documents. The main opportunities for digitalization include increasing the popularity of online ticketing services through mobile applications and social networks, and attracting additional agents to expand their network in Ukraine and abroad. Threats include the risk of unauthorized access to customer payment systems data and the possibility of hacking attacks on the site of JSC «Ukrzaliznytsia».

Considering the strengths and weaknesses of the results of this analysis, it was possible to conclude there was a need to improve the existing system of selling online tickets. The strengths included saving time on the confirmation of an e-travel document through online services without being tied to a place or time of purchase. On the contrary, the weaknesses were as follows: the issues of information security, cybersecurity, and protection of personal data; imperfection of the personality of life and protection of human rights by digital technologies; changes and protection of trust in cyberspace; failures and technical malfunctions in the work of the site of the enterprise; lack of an opportunity to purchase an online ticket for additional in-house trains; and in the case of traveling with additional or international trains traveling in conjunction with the Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS) countries, a passenger shall first confirm and pay the ticket online, such that an order form is exchanged at the railway station for an ordinary paper ticket that will be sent to his mailbox. This, in turn, creates some additional time costs.

The growth in demand for the purchase of railway tickets through online services and sales channels requires the involvement of additional personnel in the process of the digitalization of electronic ticketing services and their accounting. This will significantly expand the sales channels and increase the sales of electronic travel documents. It is proposed that such functional duties are to be imposed on Social Media Manager (SMM) managers. The basic skills of SMM managers shall be as follows: knowledge of the basics of marketing; ability to analyze potential service users;

knowledge of the basics of sales psychology; ability to quickly study and analyze the potential audience; ability to analyze the needs in certain areas of railway services; ability to evaluate the activity of services in social networks; use of different methods in promoting services through planning, advertising, and collaboration with bloggers, etc. Engaging SMM managers, in our opinion, will enable representation of the enterprise interests of online electronic ticketing through social platforms and networks, and constantly increase the popularity of the railway services provided due to them being more environmentally friendly and safer than other types of transport.

The results of the conducted survey made it possible to conclude that there was no complete volume of information for identifying the advantages of railway transport passengers when choosing the method of booking, confirmation, and payment of travel documents. Thus, one of the important prerequisites for identifying problems in this area was lacking, as well as the adoption of appropriate management decisions by enterprise management. This resulted in the practical significance and feasibility of using expert assessments as a method for obtaining conclusions on the main advantages of users of passenger transportation by rail.

To identify the benefits of passengers whenn choosing the method of booking, confirmation, and payment of travel documents in 2016, a questionnaire was carried out of passengers of six regional branches of the JSC «Ukrzaliznytsia». The results of the questionnaire were as follows. The age structure of respondents' sample was distributed in the following way: up to 18 years old—7%; from 18 to 29 years old—29%; from 30 to 44 years old—37%; from 45 to 60 years old—38%; over 60 years old—4%; respondents who did not give any answer about their age—8%. The data on the main types of occupations (of six railways) was systemized as follows: the largest share was professionals, workers, employees (32%), then students and schoolchildren (22%), and entrepreneurs (17%). Smaller shares characterized the following categories: civil servants (13%), temporarily unemployed (9%), housewives (9%), managers (8%), pensioners (6%), and other categories (1%). It should be noted that 8% of respondents did not answer the question about their occupation. One-third of the respondents lived in the oblast centers of the country, 22% in large cities, 24% in rayon centres, and every sixth passenger lived in Kyiv.

The frequency of trips by rail was mostly high or moderate: monthly (28%) or several times per year (also 28%), once a year and less frequently (23%), weekly (15%), commercial travel (19%), and business trips (18%). The purpose of the trips of the respondents was mostly personal affairs (24%) and study (21%). These goals should lead to a rather high frequency of calls to transport services, and therefore their growth was observed. It should be noted that the pattern of distribution of the frequency and purpose of travel among the respondents was characterized by unevenness in the context of the six regional branches.

Taking into consideration the certainty and/or stability of the purposes of travel, 51% of respondents planned their trips, where 25% booked not less than a month in advance, and 26% booked not less than a week in advance. Approximately one-fifth of respondents (22%) decided on a trip within a few days, 12% of respondents made such a decision only on the eve of the trip, and 8% on the day of departure. Since most passengers planned their travel in advance, the booking service was in demand, and according to the results of this survey, 17% of respondents always used this service, sometimes—22%, only during mass travel of the population—20%, in exceptional cases—14%, and never—19%.

The results of the processing of information according to the passengers' responses demonstrated their loyalty and commitment to the purchase of electronic travel documents through the online service. In particular, the level of awareness of passengers about the availability of booking, confirmation, and payment of travel documents through the Internet was sufficient: 73% of respondents knew about this service, and 46% of them already used it. A total of 7% of the respondents were partly informed about the service and 13% were not informed, of which 7% indicated that they were not interested in this service at all. At the same time, passengers of the four regional branches had a very high level of awareness: Prydniprovska (93%), Pivdenna (88%), Lvivska (87%), and Pivdenno-Zakhidna (84%) railways; the lowest one was Odeska (49%).

Among the real users of the service this year, 34% of the respondents started to appeal to it for the registration, 32% of the respondents used the Internet to book tickets, and 26% of the respondents paid for tickets online. By the degree of commitment to Internet services, most respondents use it: those who use it from the very beginning of introduction—14%, for several years—18%, more than a year—19%, for several months—17%, those who recently started using this service—13%, and those who used it only once—10%.

As for the convenience of the method of booking and payment of travel documents, 44% of the respondents for various reasons prefered ticket offices (see Figure 3). The main reason for that is the ability to get the necessary information about a trip (27% of respondents) and ease of procedures (21%). A significant portion of respondents (44%) noted the convenience of booking and payment of travel documents via the Internet. The advantages of this method in comparison with cash are traditionally noted: time-saving (30%), the convenience of the procedure (22%), and possibility to purchase a travel document for the desired date (10%). The services of Ukrposhta satisfied only 4% of the respondents who could not apply to the ticket office in advance (28%), or were attracted by the convenience of the procedure (15%) and time-saving (also 15%).

In general, the respondents assessed the organization of the services of reservation, booking, and payment of travel documents in the following way (average weighted scores in points on a five-point scale): via Internet—4.09 points, via a ticket office—3.93 points, and via the Ukrposhta branch—2.96 points. Figure 4 presents the distribution of respondents regarding the method of booking and payment of travel documents that they prefer.



Figure 3. Distribution (%) of respondents by advantages in choosing the method of booking and payment of a travel document.



Figure 4. Distribution (%) of the preferences of respondents in the method used for booking and payment of travel documents in total and per separate railway.

When choosing a more convenient way of booking, registration, and payment for travel documents, personal characteristics, such as age, occupation, and place of residence, as well as the possibility to use the Internet, were the most common factors considered by the respondents. For instance, Internet access (at home and/or at work) was specified by 93% of the respondents. This segment was steadily increasing, which could be explained by the fact that more and more passengers were using the mobile Internet that makes it possible to be a user of the network regardless of the place of residence, location, household, economic conditions of the population, and other limiting factors. This positive fact undoubtedly contributed to the growth of the user segment.

For the sixth and seventh levels, the forecasting and simulation calculations, their analysis, and forming the conclusions according to the relevant defined models regarding the qualitative and quantitative indicators of the influence of digitalization on the sales activity of JSC "Ukrzaliznytsia" were realized. Therefore, at the eighth level, the parameters of the impact of digitalization on the sales activities of the studied enterprise were determined.

5. Discussion

The review of the literature sources on the problem presented in this paper made it possible to conclude that there was a lack of theoretical and practical study of the impact of digitalization on the marketing activities of the enterprises providing services in the field of passenger transportation. This, in turn, limited the comparative analysis of prior periods, and based on them, forming appropriate conclusions about the effectiveness of such impacts.

The research made it possible to evaluate the impact of digitalization on marketing activities from a practical point of view. This, in turn, gave grounds for confirming our hypothesis regarding such an impact. The proposed method of determining the parameters of the impact of the digitalization on the sales activity of the enterprise, which represented a tiered system regarding the influence of the digitalization on the sales activity of the enterprise, made it possible to carry out such an assessment from the stage of the determining the parameters of influence of the digitalization on the sales activity of JSC "Ukrzaliznytsia" (level 0) to the stage of determining such parameters at the eighth level. In particular, the fifth stage involved the application of the expert method for the development of a complex model of evaluation of the digitalization of sales activity. An expert survey of clients of JSC "Ukrzaliznytsia" showed a significant increase in the segment of railway passengers, who preferred to use the Internet for the booking, processing, and payment of travel documents, considering that one in five passengers could not plan their trips. Furthermore, the number of Internet users continued to grow, both in cities and rural areas, along with their awareness of this service being already high enough, and therefore, the number of passengers with experience of using this service continued to increase. Thus, the electronic method of booking and payment of travel documents over the past year retained the loyalty of passengers and did not lose its attractiveness. The reasons for the increase in loyalty were likely to be the improvement of the technology of the existing procedure and the reduction of the cost of Internet services at the expense of a smaller amount of commission, compared with confirming and purchasing a ticket through the ticket office, and cancelling the fee for using the "e-ticket" service when confirming a travel document through the official website of the enterprise.

The use of linear regression analysis made it possible to build predictive models of the size of electronic travel documents regarding their total numbers for 2019 and 2020. The analysis of the accuracy of the model developed was based on the use of the ex-post forecast for 2011–2018. Their forecast values are 55.57% for 2019 and 63% for 2020.

6. Conclusions

This study conducted theoretical and applied research that allowed for confirming the hypothesis concerning the influence of digitalization on the marketing activity of an enterprise in the sphere of the sale of services. According to the results of the research on the problem of digitalization of marketing activity of an enterprise: (1) a categorical and conceptual apparatus of the term "digitalization of electronic rail ticket sales services" was developed as a transformation and improvement of the use of digital technologies to develop and expand the business process channels related to the sale and accounting of electronic travel documents of the enterprise through various online services and media channels; (2) a method for determining the parameters of the impact of digitalization on the sales activity of the enterprise in the form of a comparative system for evaluating the impact of digitization on the marketing activity of the enterprise was proposed. Its practical application was carried out using the example of JSC "Ukrzaliznytsia." In particular, the results of such an impact on the example of the sale of electronic transport documents was demonstrated in the dynamic and strategic perspectives for railway undertakings. The emphasis was placed on innovative sales channels that emerged as a result of digitalization processes. The differentiation of sales channels through the implementation of various online IT services was demonstrated, which helps enterprises to increase their customer base by expanding the potential audience of consumers (including foreign countries), and reducing the cost of issuing and printing tickets and time to purchase them.

In the future, it would be advisable to specify the impact of each of the distribution channels on the results of sales activities of the enterprise and the effectiveness of the widespread adoption of digital technologies in other areas of marketing activities. In particular, the following recommendations are offered for improving the digitalization of services for the sale of electronic travel documents and their accounting in an enterprise: to develop their strategies and tactics to take into account the dynamics of development of digitalization technologies with subsequent application in the construction of business models; to ensure constant monitoring of inquiries and demand for the most demanded routes of passengers; to develop and analyze statistics on the number of electronic tickets issued through various online services and distribution channels; to engage specialists (SMM managers); to actively introduce mobile applications of the enterprise website in social networks, i.e., Facebook and Instagram; to attract additional agents for the sale of electronic tickets in order to expand their network; and to promote online ticket sales services through mobile applications and social networks.

The further development of the sale of electronic travel documents and the digitalization of other services for passengers, in our opinion, should be carried out in compliance with the principle of customer service desegmentation.

The level of development of digitalization in the country as a whole and of each enterprise, in particular, makes it impossible to ensure fast digitalization rates at the macro-, meso-, and micro-levels, which are the research limitations. Also, the research on this problem requires the formation of an information base, including specific and reliable statistical data, which limits its application to other enterprises.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, N.S.; Data curation, Z.D. and T.O.; Formal analysis, T.O.; Investigation, Z.D.; Methodology, N.S. and Z.D.; Project administration, O.K.; Resources, W.S.; Software, Z.D.; Supervision, O.K. and W.S.; Writing—original draft, T.O.; Writing—review & editing, N.S. and W.S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Hamelink, C.J. New Information and Communication Technologies, Social Development and Cultural Change; UNRISD: Geneva, Switzerland, 1997; 38p.
- Kliestikova, J.; Janoskova, K. Branding with understanding: How national profile of consumer influences brand value perception. *Mark. Manag. Innov.* 2017, *3*, 149–157. [CrossRef]
- 3. Rourke, P. Influence of digital technologies in trade on economic development. Торговая политика 2018, 4, 132–138. [CrossRef]
- Railway Information Portal. Available online: https://info.uz.ua/articles/ukrzaliznitsya-pershoyu-seredderzhavnikh-kompaniy-vidkrivae-dveri-dlya-startapiv (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- Oxford English Dictionary. Oxford English Dictionary (OED) Home Page. Available online: http://www.oed. com/ (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- Castells, M. *The Rise of the Network Society*, 2nd ed.; Wiley-Blackwell: Chichester, UK, 2010. Available online: https://deterritorialinvestigations.files.wordpress.com/2015/03/manuel_castells_the_rise_of_the_ network_societybookfi-org.pdf (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- Brennen, S.; Kreiss, D. Digitalization and Digitization. Available online: http://culturedigitally.org/2014/09/ digitalization-and-digitization (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- 8. Parida, V.; Sjödin, D.; Reim, W. Reviewing literature on digitalization, business model innovation, and sustainable industry: Past achievements and future promises. *Sustainability* **2019**, *11*, 391. [CrossRef]
- 9. Shpak, N.; Dvulit, Z.; Maznyk, L.; Mykytiuk, O.; Sroka, W. Validation of ecologists in enterprise management system: A case study analysis. *Pol. J. Manag. Stud.* **2019**, *19*, 376–390. [CrossRef]
- Honore, Т. Диджитализация—не мода, а способ развития бизнеса [Digitalization Is not a Fashion, but a Way of Business Development]. 2017. Available online: https://www.columbusglobal.com/ru/blog/ didzhitalizaciya-sposob-razvitiya-biznesa. (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- Chudaeva, A.; Mantulenko, V.; Zhelev, P.; Vanickova, R. Impact of digitalization on the industrial enterprises activities. SHS Web Conf. 2019, 62, 03003. [CrossRef]
- 12. Trașcă, D.; Ștefan, G.; Sahlian, D.; Hoinaru, R.; Șerban-Oprescu G-L. Digitalization and business activity. The struggle to catch up in CEE countries. *Sustainability* **2019**, *11*, 2204. [CrossRef]
- Lerch, C.; Gotsch, M. Digitalized product-service systems in manufacturing firms: A case study analysis. *Res. Technol. Manag.* 2015, 58, 45–52. [CrossRef]
- Brennen, S.J.; Kreiss, D. Digitalization and digitization. In *The International Encyclopedia of Communication Theory and Philosophy*; Jensen, K.B., Craig, R.T., Pooley, J.D., Rothenbuhler, E.W., Eds.; Wiley-Blackwell: Oxford, UK, 2016. [CrossRef]
- 15. Verhoef, P.; Broekhuizen, T.; Bart, Y.; Bhattacharya, A.; Dong, J.; Fabian, N.; Haenlein, M. Digital transformation: A multidisciplinary reflection and research agenda. *J. Bus. Res.* **2019**. [CrossRef]
- 16. Singh, A.; Hess, T. How chief digital officers promote the digital transformation of their companies. *MIS Q. Exec.* 2017, *16*, 1–17.
- 17. Majerova, J. Analysis of specifics in buying behavior of Slovak customers in internet environment. *Adv. Soc. Behav. Sci.* **2013**, *5*, 172–178. [CrossRef]

- Rachinger, M.; Rauter, R.; Müller, C.; Vorraber, W.; Schirgi, E. Digitalization and its influence on business model innovation. J. Manuf. Technol. Manag. 2019, 30, 1143–1160. [CrossRef]
- Verhoef, P.; Bijmolt, T. Marketing perspectives on digital business models: A framework and overview of the special issue. *Int. J. Res. Mark.* 2019, 36, 341–349. [CrossRef]
- Kaivo-Oja, J.; Roth, S.; Westerlund, L. Futures of robotics. Human work in digital transformation. *Int. J. Technol. Manag.* 2017, 73, 176. [CrossRef]
- 21. Shpak, N.; Kyrylych, T.; Greblikaite, J. Diversification models of sales activity for steady development of an enterprise. *Sustainability* **2016**, *8*, 393. [CrossRef]
- 22. Chaffey, D.; Ellis-Chadwick, F. Digital Marketing, 6th ed.; Pearson: London, UK, 2016.
- Majerova, J.; Krizanova, A.; Zvarikova, K. Social media marketing and possibilities of quantifying its effectiveness in the process of brand value building and managing. In Proceedings of the 9th International Scientific Conference on Financial Management of Firms and Financial Institutions, Ostrava, Czech Repubic, 9–10 September 2013; pp. 476–485.
- 24. Patil, A. The trend of digitalization in marketing and its impact on the customers. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Digital Economy and its Impact on Business and Industry, Sangli, India, 3 October 2018; pp. 13–22.
- Sebastian, I.M.; Moloney, K.G.; Ross, J.W.; Fonstad, N.; Beath, C.; Mocker, M. How big old companies navigate digital transformation. *MIS Q. Exec.* 2017, *16*, 197–213.
- 26. Dremel, C.; Herterich, M.; Wulf, J.; Waizmann, J.-C.; Brenner, W. How AUDI AG established big data analytics in its digital transformation. *MIS Q. Exec.* **2017**, *16*, 81–100.
- 27. Reis, J.; Melao, N. The path to digital transformation: Overcoming prejudice in the digital era with service operations. *Int. J. Serv. Oper. Manag.* **2019**. [CrossRef]
- Holmlund, M.; Strandvik, T.; Lähteenmäki, I. Digitalization challenging institutional logics: Top executive sensemaking of service business change. J. Serv. Theory Pract. 2017, 27, 219–236. [CrossRef]
- Hagberg, J.; Sundstrom, M.; Egels-Zandén, N. The digitalization of retailing: An exploratory framework. *Int. J. Retail. Distrib. Manag.* 2016, 44, 694–712. [CrossRef]
- Hänninen, M.; Smedlund, A.; Mitronen, L. Digitalization in retailing: Multi-sided platforms as drivers of industry transformation. *Balt. J. Manag.* 2018, 13, 152–168. [CrossRef]
- 31. Shubham, S.; Renu, S. Literature review on ethical issues in digital marketing. *Int. J. Sci. Eng. Res.* **2016**, *7*, 91–93.
- Singh, S.; Kumar, P.; Dubey, A. Digital Marketing: Necessity & Key Strategies to Succeed in Current Era; International Electrotechnical Commission: Geneva, Switzerland, 2016; pp. 14–19. Available online: https://www.iec.edu.in/wp-content/uploads/2016/01/3_-Dr.S-N-Singh-et-al._DIGITAL-MARKETING-p.14-19.pdf (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- 33. Fadil, A.; Trentesaux, D.; Branger, G. Event management architecture for the monitoring and diagnosis of a fleet of trains: A case study. *J. Mod. Transp.* **2019**, *27*, 169. [CrossRef]
- 34. Yang, Y.; Huang, P.; Peng, Q.; Ll, J.; Wen, C. Statistical delay distribution analysis on high-speed railway trains. *J. Mod. Transp.* **2019**, *27*, 188. [CrossRef]
- Jablonski, M.; Jabłoński, A. Social factors as a basic driver of the digitalization of the business models of railway companies. *Sustainability* 2019, 11, 3367. [CrossRef]
- 36. Global Railway Review. Digital Rail Revolution: What are the Top Five Trends and Challenges in Rail Digitalisation? Available online: https://www.globalrailwayreview.com/webinar/72960/digital-railrevolution-what-are-the-top-five-trends-in-rail-digitalisation/ (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- Briginshaw, D. Digitalisation: The New Driver of Railway Technology. 2018. Available online: https:// www.railjournal.com/opinion/digitalisation-the-new-driver-of-railway-technology (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- New Siemens. How Digitalization is Evolving Intelligent Rail Infrastructure. 2019. Available online: https://new.siemens.com/global/en/company/stories/mobility/how-digitalization-is-revolutionizingrail-traffic.html (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- Muzira, S.; Lawrence, M. The World Is Going Digital—Time for the Rail Industry to Jump on Board. Available online: http://blogs.worldbank.org/transport/world-going-digital-time-rail-industry-jump-board (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- 40. Booking. Online Ticket Sales. Available online: https://booking.uz.gov.ua (accessed on 13 February 2020).

- 41. Privatbank. Sell Tickets Online Using Services Privatbank. Available online: https://bilet.privatbank.ua (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- 42. Oschadbank. Sell Tickets Online Using Services Oschadbank. Available online: https://oschad24.com (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- 43. Ticketsua. Online Ticket Sales. Available online: https://gd.tickets.ua (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- 44. Proizd. Online Ticket Sales. Available online: www.proizd.ua (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- 45. Plategka. Online Ticket Sales. Available online: www.plategka.com (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- 46. Businessvisit. Online Ticket Sales. Available online: www.businessvisit.com.ua (accessed on 13 February 2020).
- Online Tickets. Online Ticket Sales Home Page. Available online: https://onlinetickets.world (accessed on 13 February 2020).



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).





The Usage of Smartphone and Mobile Applications from the Point of View of Customers in Poland

Witold Chmielarz

Article

Faculty of Management, University of Warsaw, 00-927 Warsaw, Poland; witek@wz.uw.edu.pl

Received: 20 March 2020; Accepted: 15 April 2020; Published: 17 April 2020



Abstract: The main objective of this article was to identify the conditions for the use of smartphones and mobile applications in Poland in the second half of 2018. The scope of the present analysis was limited to a selected sample of more than 470 respondents, and it examined the group of the most active users of smartphones and mobile applications. The author adopted the CAWI (computer associated web interview) method, which was previously verified by a randomly selected pilot sample, in his study. The obtained results were compared with the findings of other studies. They indicated that users of smartphones and mobile applications in Poland do not differ in their assessments from users in Europe and around the world. In this context, the key implication for researchers is the identified level of development of the use of smartphones and mobile applications in Poland at the end of 2018. The main limitation of the research was the selection of the research sample, which consisted only of members of the academic community. The scope of this article aimed to fill a gap in terms of the quantitative and qualitative methods that are applied to examine the use of mobile devices and mobile software. At the same time, this study creates the foundations for further research on intercultural differences. It is important to note that the present research sample needs to be extended beyond the academic community for the research results to be fully generalized.

Keywords: smartphones; mobile applications; evaluation of mobile applications; usage of smartphones

1. Introduction

The primary purpose of this article was to identify the conditions for the use of smartphones and mobile applications in Poland in the second half of 2018. The research, on the one hand, focused on technical issues, e.g., taking particular smartphone operating systems into consideration, and, on the other hand, it evaluated the use of smartphones in both everyday life and economics (mobile-commerce, m-banking, etc.). If we compare the present findings to the results of the study conducted in 2014 [1], the current analysis of the use of smartphones and mobile applications shows that we may observe a specific stability of particular trends, perhaps due to the lack of significant impulses for new products (fewer smartphones sold, extended use of "old" (already owned) items, and a slower increase in the number of new users). This development is not threatened by the specific "intermediate" forms between a personal computer and a smartphone (including foldable, flexible smartphones), nor their compact size, combined with specialisation (e.g., smartwatch, FitBit bands and other wearables). Nevertheless, it seems that quantitative development is slowly being replaced by the qualitative development related to both devices and the software supporting them. One should also pay attention to the impact of an increasing number of such devices, sometimes reaching even the level of billions of items, on the development of the infrastructure supporting them, e.g., fog computing, that enables their better, faster, and more selective use.

The term "smartphone" is used to represent a mobile (portable) multimedia device that possesses the functions of both a mobile phone and a fully portable computer (PDA—personal digital assistant), as well as an increasing number of functionalities of other devices such as electronic cameras, voice recorders, GPS navigation, notebooks, computer game consoles (smartphones supporting gaming), and health sensors controllers. In this case, a mobile application can be described as a type of software prepared to be used on smartphones and other mobile devices, including independent (without the need to access the internet) and specialised mobile services, client streaming services (access to the internet resources is available on demand), and computer games.

In order to carry out the above-mentioned purpose, this article adopts the following structure. After the introduction, in the Section 2, the author presents the literature background. In the Section 3, the author presents the methodology and the research sample examined in the study. The analysis of the results and their discussion are included in the Section 4 of the paper. The last part contains a comparison of the findings obtained in the research with the results of other studies. In the same section, the author also discusses the conclusions of the tests carried out, their limitations, and directions for further studies aimed at addressing the outlined research problem.

2. Literature Background

Studies concerning the use of smartphones mainly focus on identifying the quantitative correlations of smartphones in relation to specific user groups divided by gender, age, place of residence, countries, regions and time of use, the frequency of using the smartphones per day or week, rankings of manufacturers, etc. [2]. There have been relatively few attempts to combine the findings of quantitative and qualitative research, i.e., focused on their practical applications in the context of mobile electronic commerce (m-commerce), electronic mobile banking (m-banking), or international comparisons [3]. This article belongs to a group of quantitative and qualitative research and may be seen as a preparatory stage for the intercultural research of the use of this technology. Therefore, its main goal was to examine the situation four years after the previous research related to this topic was carried out by the author [1]. It has emerged that the main problem to be solved at present is to identify the specific circumstances of the use of smartphones among the selected respondents, i.e., the population that includes the most active internet users [4].

The existing limited literature has mostly relied upon actual data collected from either a limited number of individual internet users' level information. There has been very little overall research, such as [5], based on, for example, utility functions. A completely different approach is represented by the research on the sociological effects of the use of smartphones (research customers' sentiment or cultural determinants of applications [5,6]). In general, it can be said that the basic research gap in articles on this topic is to focus on technical, market, sociological, or specific problems, e.g., the user's relationship to social media. Usually, there is no opinion on the possibilities of using m-commerce or m-banking for one purpose. This article is intended to fill this gap.

There are currently over 3.6 billion smartphones in the world, and their number increases by about 8% per year [7]. The two dominating operating systems in the market are Android and iOS [8,9]. It was estimated that at the end of 2018, there were almost 30 million smartphones in Poland [10]. The opinion polls from December 2018, published by the Polish Office of Electronic Communications (Urząd Komunikacji Elektronicznej), showed that 74.8% of the respondents used smartphones on a daily basis. Thus, it appears that the issue connected with the use of smartphones and relevant research on the topic is becoming more and more important on both a global and national scale. That is why the author decided to carry out a study whose primary purpose was to analyse market conditions for the use of mobile applications. The results presented in this article take the form of a summary report from the second phase of research.

3. Methods and the Research Sample

The research methodology adopted to analyse the issue of the use of mobile applications included the following steps:

- Formulating the purpose and scope of the study.
- Establishing the method and procedure to carry out the study.

- Based on the previously conducted research, building a pilot version of the survey, verifying the correctness and intelligibility of the survey following the evaluation of a group of users who volunteered to complete this task.
- Revising and improving the prototype of the survey and randomly selecting a group of respondents.
- Inviting respondents to complete a survey made available on the internet using the CAWI (computer associated web interview) method.
- Obtaining results, analysing the findings, and discussing these findings in comparison to the data collected in previous studies.
- Drawing conclusions and providing recommendations for future research.

The final form of the survey consisted of twenty-six substantive questions and four questions related to demographics (gender, age, place of origin, and education). The questions were divided into five groups:

- The technical characteristics of smartphones (considering the division into traditional phones and smartphones, the division into private and company phones, and the number of owned smartphones, as well as analyses according to operating systems, screen cross-sections, or producers).
- Smartphone properties (advantages, disadvantages, time of use, number of applications owned, frequency of use, and the frequency of installing new applications).
- Application characteristics (offer, the quality of the application, its purpose, and use of photos taken with the smartphone).
- Possibilities of obtaining applications (the convenience of using the application store, application purchases, their value over the last six months, and the use of subscription applications).
- Using a smartphone for shopping and e-banking (shopping frequency, product range, type of e-banking used to make a purchase, circumstances of its use, and operations performed as part of e-banking).

The research was conducted in the period of November–December 2018. The selection of the test sample was not accidental; it was a case of convenient sampling, supplemented with the elements related to the random selection of the respondents. The majority of survey participants belonged to the 18–25 age group (98% in 2018, 69% in 2014), i.e., the population that many studies [11] have identified as the most active in terms of the use of smartphones. In addition, it is a group characterised by innovation in terms of both the application and testing of the latest technologies. The research was carried out among students of the University of Warsaw. This solution ensured a higher response rate of the survey-university students manifest greater knowledge and research curiosity than other people from the same age group. The pilot group (32 people) was made up of individuals who accepted the invitation from the University of Warsaw's Faculty of Management website to complete the first version of the survey questionnaire that included 52 questions. After the initial verification and modification, as well as the reduction of the survey to include only 26 questions, the authors sent invitations to complete the online survey to randomly selected student groups. It was a structured survey. The expected results of this sampling were, among others: a very high share of individuals who have had smartphones for a long time, a high frequency of their use, a small number of company smartphones, and a smaller number of paid applications in contrast to the high number of the applications that can be downloaded free of charge. On the other hand, focusing on this group of respondents ensured a higher response rate and reliability of information, as well as the use of broader application functionality than in the case of the remaining part of the society. It is important to note that the research conducted in this way also anticipated future trends related to using this technology in some areas. Additional section expression was used here in all questions where there was doubt as to whether the choices were completely filled. For example, in the question "Are photos taken with a smartphone you most often: sent by MMS, placed on Facebook, sent by e-mail, use in Instagram, other?" respondents supplemented with other options, e.g., I use Messenger, Snapchat, WhatsApp, Telegram, or not sharing.

In total, 584 people completed the survey. Despite its simplicity and preliminary testing on the pilot group, just over 81% of respondents, i.e., 473 people (314 people in 2014) filled in the survey questionnaire correctly. Among the respondents, 74% were women and 26% were men (63% women and 37% men in 2014). Nearly 39% of women, 4% more than men, had a smartphone with the iOS operating system. Almost all respondents—close to 98%—were from the 18–25 age group, which is typical for undergraduate and graduate students. It also appears that slightly more people in this age group had the iOS operating system. Over 97% of people declared having secondary education, and only 14 held a BA degree or declared having higher education. Over 30% of respondents came from villages (16% in 2014). Almost the same number of respondents declared coming from cities with 10,000-100,000 residents, over 25% declared coming from cities with over 500,000 inhabitants (44% in 2014), 9% of the sample declared coming from cities with 100-500 thousand inhabitants, and almost 6% declared coming from towns below 10,000 residents. Among the survey participants who came from cities with 100-500 thousand residents, almost 6% more respondents had smartphones with the iOS operating system. A similar tendency could be observed with regard to residents from cities with more than 500,000 inhabitants—the difference, in this case, amounted to 4%. The opposite situation appeared to take place in relation to rural residents—8% more respondents representing this group had a phone with the Android operating system. It is important to note that, this time, the majority of respondents filled in additional sections of the survey containing questions connected with the use of mobile devices and applications.

In summary, the study was conducted with the participation of a research sample representing a similar academic environment to one from four years ago, but the structure of this sample had different characteristics, e.g., almost 30% of the study participants were younger than the respondents examined three years earlier, and the population coming from large cities was 19% smaller than previously. The respondents living in the countryside completed only half of the previous number of questionnaires, but they were willing to provide additional comments to the questions included in the survey. It appears that the latter resulted from the random selection of groups invited to complete the survey.

4. Results and Discussion

In the first part of the survey, the respondents referred to the organisational and technical characteristics of their smartphones. This time, everyone already owned a smartphone (89% in 2014), with 1.27% additionally owning a "traditional" mobile phone. As might be expected, only 5.3% of respondents had company smartphones in addition to owning private ones (similarly in 2014), and only one person had a business smartphone and did not own a private device. Over 90% of respondents had one smartphone, over 9% had two, and less than 1% had more than three.

Subsequently, the survey questionnaire helped to identify the type of operating system used in the respondents' smartphones. Simultaneously, this section of the survey enabled the authors to verify the accessibility of mobile applications associated with particular types of operating systems. The structure of the results obtained in the study was as follows: those using the Android system accounted for 62% of all users (almost twice as many as the share of survey participants using iOS (38%)), and only one person (which was only 0.2% of the sample in previous studies—a level of 14%) was using the Windows system (10 mobile). Due to such a small number of owners of smartphones with the Windows operating system, in further analyses, only selected responses of this particular user were quoted, and this case was omitted in the further calculation of the population shares. It is interesting to note that, in the present study, there were no representatives of individuals using other operating systems, such as BlackBerry OS, Bada, and Firefox OS, all of which accounted for 1.6% of all users in 2014. The next survey questions concerned the technical issues related to smartphones. In the Android operating system, the majority of users (55%) had a camera with a screen section of 5"–5.4" or 5.5"–5.9" (34%), and relatively few (6%) owned a smartphone with a section of 4"–4.9". The opposite situation occurred in the group of smartphone owners using the iOS system. Most of them (60%) used smartphones with a screen size of 4''-4.9''.

Over 47% of respondents had used a smartphone for a period shorter than three years, and almost 28% used theirs for 5–10 years. Over 22% had their smartphones for three-to-five years, and only slightly more than 2% of the sample said that they started using it ten years ago. As previously, the data confirmed the opinion that the longer the time a smartphone is used, the higher the likelihood to buy new applications, i.e., those who had had it for the longest time declared purchasing applications most often. There was no gender diversity in this regard—the first group declaring using the smartphone for the maximum period of over three years included almost the same percentage of women as men.

Most of the respondents (a 41% share) had smartphones with a screen of 5''-5.4'', and they considered such a screen to be quite sufficient. On average, 27% of respondents preferred a smaller screen size of 4''-4.9'' or a larger screen of 5.5''-5.9''. Slightly over 4% of study participants had a smartphone with a 6'' screen or larger. Among owners of Android systems, over 55% had cameras with 5''-5.4'' screen cross-sections, which was the most popular type of device in this group. The majority of the owners of smartphones with iOS (60%) preferred the screen with the cross-section of 4''-4.9''. Thus, it emerged that among the surveyed group owning smartphones with a 5''-5.4'' screen, 83% worked on Android; among respondents with smartphones with a 4''-4.9'' screen, 86% of the sample ran on iOS. This was probably due to the higher price of the iPhone, which appeared to be a key factor for selecting a particular device in the population examined as part of the study.

The largest share of research respondents (37%) used Apple smartphones (99% with the iOS system). Together with Samsung smartphones (26%), with 42% Android system, this accounted for almost two-thirds of all devices analysed in the study. In addition, Huawei smartphones (over 17%, with 27% being Android) and Xiaomi smartphones (almost 7%, with 11% being Android) took a significant position in the ranking created as part of the study. Moreover, LG, Sony and other smartphones, such as HTC, Motorola, and Asus, also occupied significant places in the evaluation. The diversification of brands supported by the Android system was therefore definitely higher than those that ran on iOS.

The questions contained in the second section of the survey concerned the specified properties of smartphones. Based on the findings, we may conclude that the group of most appreciated features, according to smartphone users, included high quality (21% men) and design/appearance (19% women). The further positions in the ranking were taken by the availability of applications (16%) and convenient use and reliability (from 12% to 16%). The users of smartphones with the Android operating system considered the availability of applications (17%) and high quality (17%) to be the main advantages of their devices. Smartphone users with the iOS operating system focused on high quality (27%) and design/external appearance (24%). The user of a smartphone with Windows primarily indicated low price, reliability, and ease of use. Among Android users, reliability was the least important, and iOS users did not regard the low price to be a considerable advantage (Figure 1).

As the findings suggest, a low battery capacity (26% of respondents) and a high price (24% of respondents—especially among users of smartphones with iOS, as 33% of them thought so) seemed to be the most significant problems. The survey participants also paid attention to failure rate (18%) and a small number of available applications and with inconvenient use (almost 9% each). Android users showed more concern in terms the a possible failure of the device (a difference of 2%) or the inconvenience of use (a difference of 8%). They also indicated an additional factor related to a less attractive appearance or design (a difference of 8% in comparison to iOS users). The trends described above are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 1. Advantages of smartphones used by the respondents. Source: own work.



Figure 2. Disadvantages of smartphones used by the respondents. Source: own work.

Over 47% of respondents had used their smartphones for less than three years, over 28% had used their smartphones for 5–10 years, and 22% had used their smartphones for between three and five years. The smallest number of smartphone users indicated using them for more than ten years, which showed the context in which smartphones are fully used. The distribution of use over time for different operating systems was similar, with a slight advantage of the prolonged use of a smartphone with the iOS operating system. Compared to previous studies, the number of individuals who used their smartphones for a period of three-to-five years increased significantly, mainly at the expense of owning a relatively new smartphone (up to three years).

The intensity of using applications was defined as the number of continuously used applications, including those pre-loaded by the producer of the device and those uploaded by the producer and by the user himself/herself. In Table 1, the author presents the percentage shares of use of the number of applications broken down into two operating systems: Android and iOS. As previously indicated, the applications using the Windows operating system were omitted in the present study due to the negligible percentage of people using smartphones with this system in the examined sample. The most significant differences (at the level of 12%) between smartphones with different operating systems

occurred in the case of more than ten applications uploaded in the device, where iOS played a dominant role (47%), as well as in the group of 7–10 applications (5%), where we may observe the dominant share of users with Android operating system (27%). In recent years, the average use of applications has changed, primarily in the group of more than ten applications (an increase of over 6%) and mainly at the expense of reducing the share in the groups with one-to-three applications and 7–10 applications. If we also consider applications uploaded in the smartphone by users, then their owners usually belonged to the group that declared having more than ten applications (74%). This constituted an increase of over 30%. In other groups, there occurred a significant reduction (amounting to 11%) in the number of applications that were owned and used (Table 1).

Labels/Operating System of the Smartphone	Android	iOS (iPhone)	Average for 2018	Average for 2014
1–3	8.53%	4.47%	6.50%	10.57%
4-6	29.01%	26.26%	27.63%	26.60%
7–10	27.30%	22.35%	24.83%	28.10%
More than 10	35.15%	46.93%	41.04%	34.73%

Table 1. The intensity of smartphone use (the number of regularly used applications).

The frequency of using such applications as calendar, notebook, and voice recorder was another research question that provided further insight into the issue of using smartphones. The purpose of this enquiry was to establish whether using a smartphone goes beyond its standard functions (telephone or internet connection) and also includes certain "office" functions. The scale of response varied from among answers of "very often", through "often", "sometimes", "rarely", and "never". The predominating answers were "sometimes" (36%) and "often" (31%). The "often" option was mainly indicated by users of the smartphone with the iOS operating system (38%), and "sometimes" was mainly indicated by those who had smartphones running the Android system (37%).

The frequency of installing additional applications on the smartphone was another critical factor considered in the research. In the case of this question, there were three choices available, namely "rarely", "from time to time", and "often". Less than 12% chose the last option. Almost twice as many (22%) indicated "I never install additional applications", and 66% declared the possibility of installing them from time to time. It is interesting that in 2014, the option related to installing the applications often was declared by a 25% share of users. Here, a question arises whether we are dealing with saturation related to the most popular applications.

The subjective assessment of the quality of the applications used on the smartphone was the next characteristic feature analysed in the study. The majority of respondents (almost 60%) perceived the quality of the application as good, although they also noticed a considerable number of worse quality programs. The second place with a score of 32% was taken by very good quality, which means that the respondents appreciated the high quality of software design. Other opinions were of marginal importance: the sole owner of the Windows smartphone evaluated the quality of the application as average. The owners of smartphones with the iOS operating system considered the quality of applications to be very good (47%), which represented a twofold increase in comparison to the score obtained in 2014, when such opinion was expressed by 27% of users of the same group. Nevertheless, 48% of smartphones users with iOS still believed that the quality of the application was only "good". Similar opinions in the same category were shared by 67% of smartphone users with the Android operating system (23%—"very good" quality). However, this was still seen as a very good opinion, when also taking into account the conviction present in the literature that the desktop (PC) screen, at a glance, offers the user 39.18% chance of understanding the content, and a mobile screen only offers a 18.93% chance [12].

The respondents' statements showed that smartphones were still mainly used (44%) to browse the internet, to have conversations with others (40%), or to send short messages (11%); 3% of the share declared using a smartphone to listen to music, and almost 1.5% indicated that they primarily used it to

view messages. The wording "mainly" did not allow us, however, to capture such activities as taking photos and videos, which are very often carried out while using other smartphone functions. Therefore, the next question concerned using photos made with the smartphone. Most respondents (42%) used Instagram to distribute them, over 12% used messengers for this purpose, 12% sent photos directly via MMS, approximately 10% disseminated them via Facebook, and 4% did so using Snapchat. As many as 15% of respondents used them for their own purposes only and did not share them with others.

The fourth group of questions concerned the possibility of obtaining applications. In this group, respondents assessed the convenience of using online stores offering applications for their smartphones on a five-point scale (with the options of very convenient, convenient, rather comfortable, not very comfortable, and I do not use it). The highest rating (63%) was obtained in the category of the high convenience of using the shop, which was mainly determined based on the opinions of 66% of smartphone users with the Android operating system. The second position (26%) was taken by the option of "very comfortable", obtained mainly thanks to 31% of iOS users' opinions. Thus, 89% of users rated app stores very positively. In 2014, 77% of respondents assessed the shops in this way. The Windows user perceived the convenience of the store as average, similarly to 10% of users of smartphones with Android and iOS. The present results seemed to be related to the high level of the refinement of products available in the shops of the two competitive offers associated with Android and iOS operating systems, as well as the development of a specific market balance between them.

As far as payments charged for mobile applications were concerned, users of all operating systems mainly downloaded free applications on average (83%). We could observe a growing tendency in this regard, since, in 2014, this trend reached an average of 74%. At present, Android users did it 8% more often than in 2014, and a similar tendency could be observed in the case of iOS users. It is worth mentioning that the number of free applications downloaded on smartphones with Windows increased significantly. The second most popular option (on average 16%) was to buy applications. This result was mainly influenced by the 24% share of users of smartphones with iOS, the score of which was 3% higher than in the study conducted in 2014. For Android smartphones, only 12% of users were found to currently buy applications, though this was 5% more than three years earlier. The category "I do not download or buy applications for my smartphone" was reduced almost to zero.

It emerged that, regardless of the operating system used, over the last half of 2018, respondents (on average 84%) did not pay anything for downloaded applications, 10% paid below PLN 20, and in the case of a 4% sample share, the expense was estimated at the level of PLN 20–60. Only about 2% of smartphone users spent over PLN 60 on applications. At the same time, it appears that iPhone users were more willing to spend money on applications than smartphone users with the Android system. This was especially true in the cases of expenses in the range below PLN 20 and in the range of PLN 20–60, where the difference amounted to 4%, and in the range of PLN 60–120, where the authors of the study recorded a difference of 3%. However, there were 14% fewer smartphone users with the iOS operating system who paid nothing for downloading applications in comparison to users of smartphones with the Android operating system.

The use of subscription applications, e.g., websites of electronic content distributors, was another problem analysed in the study. Almost 58% of respondents declared using such an option, and over 31% on average did it often. Smartphone users with iOS used the subscription formula much more frequently than Android users (a difference of 17%), especially since over 50% of respondents who had smartphones with the Android operating system did not use this form of entertainment (20% more than in the case of iOS). Due to the fact that applications sent in exchange for a subscription fee are a specific compromise between free and paid applications, the number of subscribers had increased significantly (by 40%). This type of service has many advantages—the customer does not have to pay large amounts of money at one time and has constant access to the latest publications. From the point of view of the producer, updates can cover all customers at the same time, and they do not have to maintain older versions. The product/service providers make slightly smaller profits, but the money is

seen as regular and continuous income, and, for this reason, the producers might be interested in such a business model.

The last group of the questions concerned the use of a smartphone for shopping and e-banking. This section appeared for the first time in a survey carried out in 2018 following the suggestions of respondents taking part in the earlier study.

Almost a quarter (24.31%) of smartphone users carried out shopping and financial operations often. However, most respondents (34.25%) indicated that they engaged in them sometimes or rarely (32.14%). On average, 9.30% of smartphone users never did it. The owners of iPhones made purchases over 11% more frequently than others, and a 5% larger share declared that they sometimes do it. We could also observe differences in the share of the Android smartphone owners declaring making purchases rarely (difference of 9%) or never (a difference of 6% more in relation to iOS smartphone users) (Table 2).

Frequency/The Operating System of the Smartphone	Android	iOS (iPhone)	Average
Sometimes	32.42%	37.43%	34.25%
Rarely	35.49%	26.26%	32.14%
Often	20.14%	31.28%	24.31%
Never	11.95%	5.03%	9.30%

Table 2. Frequency of purchases made by respondents.

Another important question concerned the selection of purchases. In total, 375 people (i.e., 79% of the population) made purchases using a smartphone. Most smartphone users (42.92%) bought clothes and footwear; however, it is essential to note that the owners of smartphones with the iOS operating system spent 11% more on this group of items. Transport tickets came second in the ranking (average 20.72%), followed by tickets for events such as films or concerts. Over 10% of Android smartphone users were found to spend money on other products or services like cosmetics and taxis, which were not included in the list. Generally speaking, it appeared that smartphone owners primarily make low-and medium-value purchases. Higher-value transactions that require reflection or payment by a bank transfer or cash after delivery are made either using a laptop, desktop computer, or in person (Table 3).

Product/Operating System	Android	iOS (iPhone)	Average
Clothing/footwear	38.57%	49.72%	42.92%
Transport tickets (plane, train, etc.)	22.53%	17.88%	20.72%
Cinema and concert tickets	15.02%	16.76%	15.64%
Other	10.58%	4.47%	8.25%
Food	5.12%	6.15%	5.50%
Entertainment (books, films, music, games)	5.46%	3.91%	4.86%
Information	1.37%	0.00%	0.85%
Financial services	0.68%	0.56%	0.63%
Household appliance/Home electronics	0.68%	0.00%	0.42%
IT products and services	0.00%	0.56%	0.21%

Table 3. A selection of products and services purchased via a smartphone.

As far as financial operations are concerned, 427 people (over 90% of the sample) used smartphones to carry out financial transactions. Most of them (68.71%) used m-banking applications for this purpose (14% more owners of smartphones with the iOS operating system than with the Android system). Over 21% of respondents used online banking via the browser and the bank's website for these operations (over 9% more owners of smartphones with the Android operating system than with the iOS). Over 9% of smartphone users did not use financial banking services (Table 4).

Types of Banking/Operating System	Android	iOS (iPhone)	Average
e-Banking mobile application	63.48%	77.65%	68.71%
Online banking using the browser and the bank's website	24.91%	15.64%	21.56%
I don't use it at all	11.60%	6.70%	9.73%

Table 4. Types of banking used in banking operations.

Individuals who did not use banking services via a smartphone were asked about the circumstances in which they would be willing to use such services. The majority (47.83%) of people indicated that the issue was related to the lack of sufficient knowledge or awareness that could be supported with information from the media indicating the benefits of using mobile and online banking. The above-mentioned lack of awareness was pointed out by 12% more owners of iPhones. Almost 37% of respondents pointed to organisational problems, and, on average, 8.70% indicated the lack of proper training or instruction (16.67% owners of smartphones with the iOS operating system). Over 6% presented other reasons, such as insufficient transaction security, greater convenience in using transactions with a laptop, or simply no need to use this form of banking.

As far as e-banking and m-banking via a smartphone are concerned, on average, 48.24% of respondents usually only checked the account balance. Another popular operation was making a low-value transfer, which was reported by 31.85% of smartphone owners along with making low-value payments, which was declared by 11.71% of users. Checking a payment card balance or account history were less popular activities in this context. Among other operations performed via a smartphone, attention was paid to topping up the phone, making large-value transfers, withdrawing cash using Blik, and searching for banks and bank branches (Table 5).

Table 5. Types of operations performed as part of e-banking.

Labels/Operation System	Android	iOS (iPhone)	Average
I check account balance	49.03%	47.31%	48.24%
I make low-value transactions	31.27%	32.34%	31.85%
I make low-value payments for goods/services	11.58%	11.98%	11.71%
I check payment card balances	2.70%	4.19%	3.28%
Other	2.70%	2.99%	2.81%
I check account history	2.70%	1.20%	2.11%

5. Conclusions

The study was conducted with the participation of students, who are the most active users of smartphones and mobile applications. On the one hand, the study sampling constituted a specific limitation of the study as it is difficult to generalise the obtained results because the averages exceeded the findings obtained in surveys analysing the Polish population and the fact that the research mainly took the preferences of users aged 18–35 into account. Statistical sources have indicated, however, that over 90% of people in this group had their smartphones, and the level of ownership was estimated as 15–74% in the remaining age groups. On the other hand, taking into account this group's receptive approach to innovation and globalisation tendencies, on the basis of the findings obtained in the research, it is possible to conclude future trends in the development of activities related to mobile devices and the use of mobile applications. It is also a group susceptible to international comparisons due to similar requirements regarding general trends on the internet. In the last three months of 2018, 40% of Poles made at least one purchase via the internet. Among Polish internet users, there were already over 23% of users who only did shopping via a smartphone (15% of buyers decided to finalise the transaction via smartphone) [10]. The obtained study results basically confirmed this tendency.

The most important differences and similarities between the results presented and the data appearing in other statistics, rankings, and studies are:

- All respondents owned at least one smartphone (on average, 10% more than in Poland).
- Respondents used 12% fewer smartphones with the Android operating system than the average share in Poland at the time, 2% fewer Android smartphones than the estimated average in Europe (in November 2018, the Android score in this regard fell to the level of 64.57%), and 14% less than the average in the world [13].
- A relatively large group (37%) used Apple phones (being considered more prestigious, which may be important in this environment), which, together with Samsung smartphones (26%, with using 42% with the Android system) constituted 63% of the all the equipment. The third position was taken by Huawei, followed by Xiaomi. Compared to the Polish market at that time, Samsung was seen as a market leader (42%), followed after an intensive marketing campaign by Huawei (25%), Xiaomi (12%), and Apple, which took the fourth position [14].
- Among the advantages of used smartphones, respondents mainly valued high quality (hence the high share of iPhones), and, as in other studies, the availability of applications and design/appearance.
- Among the main disadvantages, the study participants listed the high price and low battery capacity (50% in total), as well as the high failure rate.
- Smartphones were used increasingly longer compared to data from 2014 [1], as the number of devices used for three-to-five years or more increased at the expense of the items that were used for less than three years. This is in line with the global trends that have shown a decrease in smartphone sales and an increase in the intensity of their use due to market saturation. As predicted in 2019, 2.5% fewer smartphones were sold worldwide, which was 2 million fewer in Europe [15,16].
- As a result, according to the examined users' declarations, since 2014, the intensity of application usage in the group of more than 10 applications has increased by almost 6%.
- The opinion about the availability of applications improved (85% good and very good), and the quality rating also increased—in over 60%, it was rated as good, even though the users also took note of a number of worse quality applications.
- The use of smartphones to enable various types of functionality is difficult to apply in broader comparisons due to the fact that statistics have usually referred to it as the use of tablets and portable PCs; however, 40% of respondents emphasised the use of these devices mainly for conversations or other widely perceived internet activities (browsing news, social media, emails, etc.).
- In order to distribute photos taken with a smartphone, most users (40%) used the Instagram system, more than 12% used Messenger, the same share of respondents sent them as MMSs, 10% disseminated them via Facebook, and others decided not to publish them but rather use them for their own purposes.
- Almost 58% of users used subscription services, and their number increased by 40% in comparison to 2014.
- The rating of the convenience of using stores with mobile applications increased by 12% compared to 2014, and the same tendency could be observed in terms of the share of users downloading only free applications from the websites of electronic content providers—an increase by 9% (up to 83%). This was in line with trends occurring in Poland, although the rates of downloading free applications in this group were 8% higher than the average [10].
- Nearly 80% of smartphone owners made purchases via the internet, only 24% did it often, 34% did sometimes, and 32% indicated that they rarely engaged in online shopping.
- Purchases mainly included clothing and footwear at 43% (due to the possible return, exchange, etc. of goods guaranteed by legal provisions), transport tickets, or tickets for cultural events, cosmetics, food, etc. In general, these are still low-value expenses, and high-value online transactions are made using PCs [17].
- More than 90% of respondents carried out various financial operations via a smartphone. The respondents (69%) mainly used bank applications for this purpose, over 21% of them
used the bank's browser on the internet, and almost 10% did not use this option at all; 15% more smartphone users with iOS system tended to use banking applications (compare with [18]).

Smartphone owners mainly used passive banking operations, e.g., checking the account balance (48%), and 43% of respondents used active operations—making low-value transfers and low-value payments for goods or services (including the Blik system). As the analysis presented above indicates, when we compare the present findings with the results of other studies, the quantitative data appeared to be in line with national and international trends. In terms of qualitative data, certain specified differences resulting from the adopted methodology and the sampling procedure emerged, similarly to the case of the previously conducted research. The above considerations point to one definite conclusion, i.e., the mobile application market will continue to rapidly grow. Even if the dynamics of this growth has recently decreased [19], one needs to consider the following circumstances:

- The highest dynamics can be achieved if we start from scratch.
- Due to the increasing quality of both the technical characteristics of smartphones and mobile applications, the length of their use increases.
- If the process of technological "ageing" is slowing down, users are not interested in replacing their smartphone with a new one, and they only replace it when their device breaks down or stops working as well as before.
- Possibilities related to the replacement or repair of the items are not limited by law or technical solutions.
- Increasing the speed of data transfer to fifth-generation mobile technologies, which will probably make smartphone replacement necessary.
- Introduction of the technology of the so-called folded or broadcast smartphone screens, which will be an important technical novelty and may induce users to buy new devices.
- We may observe a growing tendency to diversify the sales structure (multiple sectors).

It is important to note that the demand for smartphones and mobile applications is currently driven by countries such as India, China, and Brazil, as well as African countries, whose inhabitants are buying an increasing number of smartphones and are also expected to use mobile application shops more and more. The pace at which new, improved applications are created is also increasing, together with the emergence of new technologies that will be entering new markets.

The presented research constitutes the second stage of research that will be completed with the use of a comparative analysis including also cultural aspects of smartphones and mobile applications in selected countries.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest: The author declares no conflict of interest.

References

- Chmielarz, W. Study of smartphones usage from the customer's point of view. Procedia Comput. Sci. 2015, 65, 1085–1094. [CrossRef]
- Kemp, S. Digital 2019: Global Internet Use Accelerate, Special Report. Available online: https://wearesocial. com/blog/2019/01/digital-2019-global-internet-use-accelerates (accessed on 10 April 2020).
- 3. Nielsen, J.; Budiu, R. *Mobile Usability*; New Riders Press: Berkeley CA, USA, 2013.
- Chmielarz, W.; Zborowski, M.; Atasever, M. Aspects of Mobility of e-Marketing from Customer Perspective. In Proceedings of the Federated Conference on Computer Science and Information Systems, Leipzig, Germany, 1–4 September 2019; pp. 529–533. [CrossRef]
- Perera, U. Characteristic Analysis of Android Smartphone Applications Based on Usage Patterns; University of Tsukuba: Tsukuba, Japan, 2017. Available online: https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/87202735.pdf (accessed on 15 December 2019).
- NewZoo. Global Mobile Market Report. Available online: https://newzoo.com/insights/trend-reports/newz oo-global-mobile-market-report-2019-light-version/ (accessed on 12 December 2019).

- Fandrejewska, A. Understanding consumers' sentiments as a key to creating superior customer value. Handel Wewnetrzny 2017, 368, 275–286.
- 8. Fandrejewska, A. The Cultural and Socialcontext in an Analysis of Contemporary Consumer Behaviour, Konsumpcja i Rozwój. 2017. Available online: Yadda.icm.edu.pl (accessed on 10 December 2019).
- 9. IDG Report. Available online: https://www.idc.com/promo/smartphone-market-share/os (accessed on 15 January 2020).
- 10. Mobirank. Available online: https://mobirank.pl/2019/11/18/32-mld-użytkownikow-korzysta-z-36-mld-sm artfonow-na-swiecie/ (accessed on 10 January 2020).
- 11. Polska Jest MOBI, Raport. Available online: https://businessinsider.com.pl/technologie/raport-mobi-2018-polacy-sa-coraz-bardziej-mobilni/chpkm38 (accessed on 12 December 2019).
- Batorski, D.; Płoszaj, A.; Jasiewicz, J.; Czerniawska, D.; Peszat, K. Raport: Diagnoza i Rekomendacje w Obszarze Kompetencji Cyfrowych Społeczeństwa i Przeciwdziałania Wykluczeniu Cyfrowemu w Kontekście Zaprogramowania Wsparcia w Latach 2014–2020 (Report: Diagnosis and Recommendations in the Area of Digital Competences of the Society and Counteracting Digital Exclusion in the Context of Programming Support in 2014–2020); Ministerstwo Rozwoju Regionalnego: Warsaw, Poland, 2012.
- Singh, R.I.; Summeth, M.; Miller, J. Evaluating the Reliability of Privacy Policies in Mobile Environment. Int. J. Mob. Hum. Comput. Interact. 2011, 3, 53–78. [CrossRef]
- Tur, H. iPhone vs. Android—Kto Rządzi na Rynkach (iPhone vs. Android—Who Rules the Markets?). Available online: https://www.pcworld.pl/news/iPhone-vs-Android-kto-rzadzi-na-rynkach,412131.html (accessed on 12 December 2019).
- Kulas, T. Sprzedaż Smartfonów Maleje., Rynek się Nasycił. Co Robić w Takiej Sytuacji? (Smartphones Sales Decrease, Market Is Filled. What to Do in the Situation?). Available online: https://mitsmr.pl/innowacje/stra tegia-innowacyjnosci/sprzedaz-smartfonow-maleje-rynek-sie-nasycil-co-robic-w-takiej-sytuacji/ (accessed on 29 September 2019).
- 16. Gartner Says Worldwide Smartphone Sales Will Decline 2.5% in 2019. Available online: https://www.gart ner.com/en/newsroom/press-releases/2019-08-01-gartner-says-worldwide-smartphone-sales-will-decline (accessed on 30 September 2019).
- 17. Vulnerabilities and Threads in Mobile Applications. Available online: https://www.ptsecurity.com/ww-en/a nalytics/mobile-application-security-threats-and-vulnerabilities-2019/ (accessed on 25 January 2020).
- Sarma, A.; Krishna, K.; Kumar, S. Analyzing the purchase intentions of Smartphone: A Descriptive Study. J. Mech. Contin. Mech. Sci. 2019, 14, 651–662. [CrossRef]
- Kupujemy Coraz Mniej Smartfonów, PAP (Polska Agencja Prasowa—Polish Press Agency). Available online: https://businessinsider.com.pl/firmy/sprzedaz/rynek-smartfonow-na-swiecie-ile-kupuje-sie-telefonow/k 17q25v (accessed on 20 January 2020).



© 2020 by the author. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).





Article Digital Media: Empowerment and Equality

Magdalena Mądra-Sawicka^{1,*}, Jeretta Horn Nord², Joanna Paliszkiewicz³ and Tzong-Ru Lee⁴

- ¹ Institute of Economics and Finance, Warsaw University of Life Sciences—SGGW, 02-787 Warsaw, Poland
- ² Department of Management Science & Information Systems, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74078, USA; jeretta.nord@okstate.edu
- ³ Management Institute, Warsaw University of Life Sciences—SGGW, 02-787 Warsaw, Poland; joanna_paliszkiewicz@sggw.edu.pl
- ⁴ Department of Marketing, National Chung Hsing University, Taichung City 402, Taiwan; trlee@dragon.nchu.edu.tw
- * Correspondence: magdalena_madra@sggw.edu.pl; Tel.: +48-225-934-242

Received: 13 March 2020; Accepted: 15 April 2020; Published: 18 April 2020



Abstract: This study investigated the use of digital media, specifically social media technologies, in the workplace in Taiwan. The data for this study were collected through an online survey. Participants responded to questions asking whether social technologies could be a source of empowerment, leading to equality. Respondents included female and male employees. The findings reveal that both genders use social technology platforms for business support, experience benefits, and believe that these technologies could provide empowerment for success. Detailed results are reported in this paper, including a comparative analysis. The differences between women and men using Facebook and YouTube were significant. Women in Taiwan have a higher awareness of the benefits of social technologies, specifically Facebook, when used for business support and empowerment. This paper reveals a comparison between the attitudes of women and men when using social technologies and investigates the realization of the economic empowerment component.

Keywords: digital media; empowerment; equality; Taiwan

1. Introduction

Digital media platforms have revolutionized how people communicate with each other by excluding socioeconomic, politics, civil disobedience, and connectivity barriers. Furthermore, digital media have brought about rapid changes in the workplace by providing new opportunities [1–4]. In the last decade, digital platforms have allowed organizations to communicate globally, provide customer service, gain exposure and new customers, market products, network, recruit employees, and increase revenues [5]. Digital media increase access to information and human interactivity [6,7].

Social technologies, as a part of digital media, give new opportunities for business support, and have changed the way employees and business owners communicate. These technologies also provide customer service, support gaining exposure and creating awareness about products or companies, acquiring new customers, looking for a new market or brand products and businesses, networking and building relationships or recruitment process of employees. In recent years, researchers have begun to focus on social network service-related issues [8–11]. Facebook, LinkedIn, and other digital platforms have changed everyday life and, more recently, the business environment.

In Taiwan, nearly seven million people are regular social media users [12]. Social media are now a cornerstone of everyday life [13]. Digital media give unique features for connecting with others, which could be beneficial for learning opportunities [14], and it can support the empowerment effects. Thus digital platforms support the empowerment of the user; however, it also brings the paradox alignment of freedom and control [15].

The gender gap, female empowerment, and digital media have been widely studied [16–20], yet there is little data on the role of social technologies to empower women and drive economic equality, to eliminate the gender gap of earnings.

Digital technologies have become more and more accessible as tangible tolls for women to overcome inequalities [3,4,19]. The usage of social media in different studies underline the high correlation with gender gaps in many different areas of life among all nations [2]. Thus it is essential to investigate the role of social network platforms in business to assess the opportunities for empowerment.

This study—part of an ongoing global study—investigated how social technologies are used in the workplace and whether benefits were experienced with the idea of empowerment for women worldwide. Survey results are revealed regarding the use of technology, the purposes for which social technologies are used, and whether women and men in Taiwan experienced benefits.

The paper aims to check the role of digital media in creating peoples' empowerment and equality. Two research questions are addressed:

- (1) Is there a difference in the results for women versus men?
- (2) Can social technology platforms provide tools for empowerment?

In the first part of the study concern, the literature review related to the gender gap, empowerment, and digital media is presented. Next, the research results are described. In the end, the conclusions, limitations of the study, and future directions are addressed.

2. Literature Review

2.1. The Gender Gap

The relationships among personality traits, generalized beliefs, and the use of social media platforms have been studied by several researchers [21–23]. Caison et al. [24] confirmed that there is a significant difference between technology readiness and gender, which is related to different attitudes toward technology [25]. Lin and Yu [26] also explored gender differences in adolescent Internet usage in Taiwan. The results supported the view that the gap in gender differences in Internet use has decreased in this generation.

In most societies in the world, gender provides a framework for how individuals are expected to behave [27]. Women suffer from discrimination, especially in undeveloped or developing countries, where gender stereotypes exist and where children are taught by adults to behave according to them [28,29]. It has been argued that eliminating gender stereotypes will improve access to education, which in turn will help reduce poverty [30,31]. Gender inequalities can also be eliminated by neutralizing cultural biases regarding women [32].

Although the gender gap has decreased with the younger generation, middle-aged and older women represent the lowest usage rate of information and communication technology (ICT) in Taiwan. The Taiwan Women Up (TWU) program has helped such groups to successfully learn ICT skills with the support of members of nonprofit organizations [33]. These groups are a testament to the concern that those governing Taiwan have shown regarding technology and economic gender gaps.

Globally, a gender pay gap exists, and Taiwan is no exception. Taiwan's Ministry of Labor indicated that in 2016 women made 14.6% less than their male counterparts. The gap has slowly improved since 2002 and has been narrowing over the past decade [34]. To put this in perspective, the Global Gender Gap Index 2020 ranks 153 countries according to how well they are leveraging their female talent pool based on economic, educational, health-based, and political indicators. With a decade of data, this edition of the Global Gender Gap Report—first published in 2006—shows that while the world has made progress overall, stubborn inequalities remain [35]. In the Global Gender Gap Index 2020, there are no Asian countries in the first ten places. Taiwan, an island nation, is not included in this particular study, and although inequality exists, a 15% gender pay gap would put them among the best in this report regarding economic gender equality.

2.2. Empowerment

There are many definitions of empowerment in the literature [36]. Empowerment is a process by which powerless people become conscious of their situation, organize collectively to improve it, and access opportunities, as an outcome of which they take control over their own lives, gain skills, and solve problems [37]. According to Kabeer [38], empowerment means expanding people's ability to make strategic life choices, particularly in the context in which this ability had been denied to them. Female empowerment can be defined as a process in which women challenge the existing norms and culture to effectively promote their well-being [36]. According to Wallerstein and Bernstein [39], it is a process that supports the participation of people, organizations, and communities in gaining control over their lives in their community and society. According to several studies [39–41], empowerment is a difficult concept to define and is more easily understood by its absence than its presence.

"Considering that there is a directly proportional relationship between the social and economic status of women and economic growth and development, the improvement of the social and economic statuses of women is imperative, especially in underdeveloped and developing countries. The empowerment of women concerning education, healthcare, labor participation, and political rights will increase the role they will play in growth and development by increasing their contribution to the economy [42]." However, according to Mason and Smith, female empowerment appears to be differently perceived across communities, but it is assessed as more robust when women are better educated and have more opportunities for employment [43]. Hsu [44] indicates that a series of significant transitions have occurred in the past two decades in Taiwan's social and economic structure, changing women's traditional life course, following up with the idea that women's educational opportunities are almost the same as men's in Taiwan.

2.3. Digital Media

Social media has become a vital part of digital media. There are many definitions of this term. For example, according to Xie and Stevenson [45], a social media platform is a means of communication through the Internet that enables social interaction. As defined by Kaplan and Haenlein [46] (p. 61), social media are "a group of Internet-based applications that build on the ideological and technological foundations of Web 2.0 and allow the creation and exchange of user-generated content". Steenkamp and Hyde-Clarke [47] defined it as a platform that enables and facilitates information sharing and participation from users of the media to create and distribute the content. Safko and Brake [48] described social media as activities and behaviors among communities of people who gather online to share information and knowledge using conversational media, which makes it possible to create and easily transmit content in the form of words, pictures, videos, and audios.

Social media contains user-generated content that is created through interactions between users. Social media enables the easy creation and sharing of information and entertainment. Social media can take on many different forms, including social network sites, media sharing platforms, and micro-blogs. Social network sites (e.g., Facebook, LinkedIn, or Google+, which was closed on the 2nd of April 2019 for private users) are based on social structures that are made up of a set of individuals and organizations, creating relationships through interaction. Media sharing platforms (e.g., YouTube) enable users to host, upload, manage, and share different multimedia materials (e.g., audio, video, images). Micro-blogging (the most popular site is Twitter) is a broadcast medium that enables the exchange of micro-posts (a small element of content) in the form of short sentences, images, or video links [5].

Social media sites, as web-based platforms, stimulate communication and sharing of information or content between individuals in virtual communities; however, there are privacy concerns [49]. Social media platforms also give a wide range of benefits in many areas.

3. Materials and Methods

3.1. Instrument and Materials

A questionnaire was developed to survey women and men in the workplace in Taiwan to investigate how social technologies are used for business support. The survey included sections on demographics, technology, and social technologies. Five different social technology platforms were studied, including Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, YouTube, and Google+. Applications and benefits of each platform were identified, with additional questions relating to empowerment and equality. Data were collected electronically from 218 responders, comprising 128 women and 90 men. The study was conducted in 2018. The participation in the survey was entirely voluntary, and the companies were assured confidentiality and anonymity.

3.2. Methods

Quantitative research involves an empirical assessment of numerical measurements, while qualitative methods involve numerical measures. The conducted survey was the primary source of data. Descriptive, *t*-test, Levene's test, and Brown-Forsythe tests were among the statistical analyses conducted on the results. The use of these statistics tools was associated with the verification of the homogeneity of variance when comparing the two research groups—women and men. The Levene's test is useful for equality of variance assessments for variables calculated for two or more groups, using the deviations from the group mean. The Brown-Forsythe test also assesses the equal variance violation, but for this purpose, the test uses the group median.

Using these two tests together gives more definite evidence concerning the variance differences among investigated groups.

4. Sample

The average age of the female respondents was 37. Men were slightly older at 41 on average. This average is an indication that not all respondents grew up using social technologies, since most platforms were developed within the last decade.

Over half (53.5%) of the women surveyed were married, while over two-thirds of the men (69.6%) were married. In total, 46.5% of the women and 57.9% of the men had children. Although closely divided, the majority of the respondents were in their late 30s to early 40s and married with children. As revealed in Figure 1, 11.4% of the responding women owned their own business, while over one-fifth (22.2%) of the responding men were business owners—almost double the rate of women. As expected, the vast majority of both women and men worked for someone else.





Figure 2 gives more specific information regarding the organizations in which the respondents work. As noted, over half of the respondents work for corporations. Within this group, more than 60% of both women and men work in either service or manufacturing.



Figure 2. Employment.

5. Results

5.1. Technology

The focus of this research is on technology, with a closer look at social technologies. Specifically, the use, benefits, and differences between these factors for men and women, and whether opportunities exist for empowerment.

Respondents were asked to indicate devices or technologies that they used. Figure 3 lists the options and percentage of respondents having access by gender. Many reported access to multiple technologies, with the most used device being desktop computers. Significant differences were noticed for the use of laptop computers. Only 39.4% of the female respondents had access to laptops, while 64.8% of the men indicated usage of laptop computers. Differences relating to gender for other technologies were minimal.



Figure 3. Access to computers and technology.

Figure 4 presents the interaction between the access to technology and gender. When respondents indicated "yes" in response to using a particular device or technology, it was coded as 1; otherwise, a code of 0 was used. The interactions reveal that both men and women have a high level of access to computers and technology.



Figure 4. Graph showing the average and confidence interval (1-use; 0-no access).

Almost all of the respondents (97.7% of the women and 99% of the men) had used computers technologies for more than five years. Figure 5 reveals how respondents use computers and technologies. Again, usage between men and women was very close for business support, which was at the top. Over 60% of the respondents from both genders used computer technologies for all areas listed.





Figure 5. Computer and technology usage.

Table 1 presents the homogeneity of variance according to the *t*-test, Levene's test, and the Brown-Forsythe test. The tests were statistically significant for business support, e-mail, and the internet, meaning the hypothesis of homogeneous variance according to gender should be rejected. Their usage presents a significant variance heterogeneity. For education and social media relating to computer or technology usage, the hypothesis of homogeneous variance could not be rejected.

Detailed <i>v</i> -Levene's <i>v</i> -H	Brown & For
Table 1. Homogeneity of variances for computer or technology u	usage.

Detailed	<i>p</i> -Levene's	p-Brown & Forsythe
Use technology in education vs. gender	0.0000	0.0279
Use technology for social media vs. gender	0.0003	0.0596
Use technology for business support vs. gender	0.0000	0.0000
Use technology for e-mail vs. gender	0.0000	0.0000
Use technology for internet vs. gender	0.0000	0.0000

All respondents indicated that they are aware of the benefits technology can provide. When looking at the different areas, as shown in Figure 6, at least two-thirds of women and men found benefits in all areas, with information and communication averaging slightly higher than the others. Social technologies—the main focus of this study—received a "vote of confidence" by 75.6% of the women and 74.4% of the mean.



Figure 6. Benefits provided by technology.

To determine the feasibility of social technology platforms in support of empowerment, economic stability, and gender equality, questions were asked of the participants relating to Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, YouTube, and Google+ usage.

5.2. Social Technologies

Facebook is the largest social technology platform in the world, and as shown in Figure 7 is also the platform used by most Taiwanese female and male respondents. YouTube and Google+ came in second and third, with very minimal numbers (10% or less) of the respondents using Twitter or LinkedIn.



Figure 7. Social technology platforms.

A detailed investigation including purposes of use for each platform and possible benefits was conducted for the study's five platforms. Since Twitter and LinkedIn were checked by less than 10% of the participants, the results will focus on Facebook, YouTube, and Google+. Purposes listed included communicating or collaborating, customer service, gaining exposure and creating awareness, gaining new customers, increase revenue or profits, marketing, networking, building relationships, and recruiting employees.

5.2.1. Facebook

Table 2 reveals responses regarding purposes for use, and for those who indicated that this platform was used for the stated purpose(s), whether benefits were experienced. Results are statistically presented by gender. A slightly higher percentage of female respondents used Facebook for six of the purposes listed, and a slightly higher percentage of women experienced benefits in these same areas. The two areas where most discrepancies were found were increasing revenue or profits and recruiting employees. Ironically, in these two areas, a higher percentage—by approximately 20 percentage points-of female respondents used Facebook for these two purposes. In comparison, a higher rate of male participants who used Facebook for these two purposes experienced benefits. This may suggest that women in Taiwan have a high awareness of the benefits of social technologies, specifically Facebook, when used for business support and empowerment.

Detailed	Use for Thi	is Purpose	Benefits Experienced	
Detailed	Women	Men	Women	Men
Communicate/Collaborate	84.5	80.5	89.3	86.2
Customer Service	86.8	80.5	92.5	82.7
Gain Exposure and Create Awareness	98.4	94.4	96.3	88.2
Gain New Customers	82.6	80.5	86.3	86.2
Increase Revenue/Profits	56.8	38.8	83.3	100
Marketing	93.5	91.6	94.3	87.9
Network/Build Relationships	98.4	88.8	98.1	87.5
Recruit Employees	41.6	19.4	80.9	85.7

Table 2. Purposes for use and benefits experienced for Facebook.

5.2.2. YouTube

Although fewer respondents used YouTube than Facebook, organizations experienced the benefits of posting video content for business purposes. With this platform, again, there was a higher percentage of women using YouTube for all purposes, however networking or relationship building differed by less than one percentage point, with the rate of male respondents being slightly higher (Table 3). A more significant percentage of women than men experienced benefits in six of the nine areas (two-thirds). The highest percentage of both female and male respondents used YouTube for marketing purposes. Indicating high satisfaction, 100% of the women using YouTube for marketing and networking or relationship building experienced benefits.

Table 3. Purposes of use and benefits experienced for YouTube.
--

Detailed	Use for Thi	Use for This Purpose		Benefits Experienced	
Deuneu	Women	Men	Women	Men	
Communicate/Collaborate	52	50	83.3	66.6	
Customer Service	73	62.5	88.2	73.3	
Gain Exposure and Create Awareness	92.9	87.5	94.7	76.2	
Gain New Customers	55.5	54.2	69.2	76.9	
Increase Revenue/Profits	45.8	37.5	70	77.7	
Marketing	93.3	91.7	100	77.3	
Network/Build Relationships	74.1	75	100	83.3	
Recruit Employees	27.3	25	50	66.6	

5.2.3. Google+

Although Google+ was in third place for the percentage of social technologies users, the satisfaction rate was the highest, with 100% of women experiencing benefits from three categories: gaining new customers, increasing revenue or profits, and recruiting employees (Table 4). The male respondents expressed an even higher satisfaction rate, with 100% of the participants indicating benefits experienced in four areas: gaining exposure and creating awareness, gaining new customers, increasing revenue or profits, and recruiting employees.

Detailed	Use for Thi	is Purpose	Benefits Experienced	
Demireu	Women	Men	Women	Men
Communicate/Collaborate	93.3	76.4	84.6	84.6
Customer Service	86.6	52.9	77.7	77.7
Gain Exposure and Create Awareness	78.9	52.9	90.0	100
Gain New Customers	53.3	35.3	100	100
Increase Revenue/Profits	46.6	35.3	100	100
Marketing	73.3	52.9	90.9	88.9
Network/Build Relationships	100	82.3	66.6	85.7
Recruit Employees	46.6	11.8	100	100

Table 4. Purposes for use and benefits experienced for Google+.

A significantly higher percentage of female respondents than male respondents used Google+ for all purposes listed, with all participants who used Google+ using it for networking or building relationships and with over 90% of the women using this platform to communicate or collaborate.

Table 5 presents the homogeneity of variance according to Levene's test and the Brown-Forsythe test for Facebook, YouTube, and Google+ usage as reported by respondents. The tests were statistically significant for Facebook and YouTube, meaning the hypothesis of homogeneous variance according to gender should be rejected in this case. Their usage indicates the presence of significant variance of heterogeneity. For Google+ usage, the hypothesis of homogeneous variance could not be dismissed from the gender perspective.

Detailed	<i>p</i> -Levene's	p-Brown & Forsythe
Facebook vs. gender	0.0000	0.0000
YouTube vs. gender	0.0000	0.0000
Google+ vs. gender	0.2441	0.1361

Table 5. Homogeneity of variance for Facebook, YouTube, and Google+ usage.

Respondents were asked about their experiences with social technologies. Many had both positive and negative experiences, but for both women and men the positive experiences far outweighed the negative. 71% of women and 81% of men indicated positive experiences, while 43% of women and 32% of men had negative experiences. As reported, some respondents indicated both positive and negative experiences when using social technologies in business.

5.3. Empowerment

The purpose of this study was not only to determine purposes that the leading social technology platforms are used in Taiwan and whether each provides benefits, but it was important to also look at the results in terms of whether social technologies could empower women in Taiwan and other countries. Over 95% of the female respondents and 96.3% of the male participants indicated that they believe education and social technologies could provide empowerment for success.

6. Discussion

Social technologies have provided new opportunities for business support and changed the way employees and business owners communicate, provide customer service, gain exposure and create awareness about products or companies, gain new customers, market or brand products and businesses, network and build relationships, and recruit employees. These platforms have made a

difference to the bottom line for businesses savvy enough to implement social technologies into their strategic plans.

Five of the leading social technology platforms—Facebook, Twitter, YouTube, LinkedIn, and Google+—were included in the study to determine purposes for use and benefits experienced. Most participants used Facebook, YouTube, and Google+, so details about each were included in this paper. All platforms were used for all purposes listed, with benefits experienced for all. However, the percentage of "purposes used" respondents was higher for Facebook users, while the percentages of participants in the "benefits experienced" column was somewhat higher for Google+.

7. Conclusions

Overall, a greater percentage of female than male respondents use the various technologies, but the overall differences are perhaps more of a result of the country studied than a world-wide perspective. For example, results may be significantly different in developing countries, coinciding with the results of Moghaddam [25] and Fatehkia et al. [50]. More research is needed, but with the patriarchal system gradually weakening in Taiwan and the gender pay gap being less than in many countries, the results from this study show that the higher use of social technologies by women in the workplace may be an indication of empowerment, leading to narrowing of the gender gap. The differences between women and men using Facebook and YouTube were significant, but not in the case of Google+. Creating new patterns and social interactions empowers men and women to be more creative and to increase their business opportunities [51].

The findings from this study apply to the Taiwanese respondents specifically, but can be used to help empower women across the world. Women must take responsibility to use the tools and information from studies such as this to find their voice, create a network, and help others enjoy empowerment, success, and economic equality. The study results could be beneficial in areas of the on-going discussion regarding psychological attitudes to social media platforms and their roles, as well as gender differences in social and digital media interactions [43].

Digital technologies can support female empowerment, and these studies provide evidence that social media platforms such as Facebook and Twitter are used in a broad way by women, for tasks such as creating awareness, marketing, or building relationships. Women also experience benefits from using these digital technologies at almost the same level as men; however, education was deemed to be a key factor for success in this area.

The limitations of the study include the number of respondents and the limited geographic area. Expanding the response rate and global results would further validate these results, making it generalizable to a worldwide population and allowing for a comparison among countries. Future research should study: (1) the impact of training and education on users' awareness of using social media; (2) security and data protection for knowledge on the Internet; and (3) additional variables of success that may influence users' empowerment.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, J.H.N. and J.P.; methodology, M.M.-S.; validation and data collection, T.-R.L.; formal analysis, M.M.-S.; writing—original draft preparation, J.H.N., J.P., and M.M.-S.; writing—review and editing, J.H.N., J.P., M.M.-S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Acknowledgments: We would like to thank all the responders who participated in this study.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

 Cascio, W.F.; Montealegre, R. How Technology Is Changing Work and Organizations. Annu. Rev. Organ. Psychol. Organ. Behav. 2016, 3, 349–375. [CrossRef]

- Haddud, A.; Dugger, J.C.; Gill, P. Social Media for Organizations Exploring the Impact of Internal Social Media Usage on Employee Engagement Journal of Social Media for Organizations Exploring the Impact of Internal Social Media Usage on Employee Engagement. J. Soc. Media Organ. 2016, 3, 1.
- Subramanian, K.R. Technology and Transformation in Communication. J. Adv. Res. Electr. Electron. Eng. 2018, 5, 1–13.
- 4. Cairo, A. Managing employees in a social media technology workplace. N. Z. Manag. 2014, 61, 21.
- Paliszkiewicz, J.; Koohang, A. Social Media and Trust: A Multinational Study of University Students; Informing Science Press: Santa Rosa, CA, USA, 2016.
- 6. Logan, R.K. Understanding humans: The extensions of digital media. Information 2019, 10, 304. [CrossRef]
- 7. Nicholas, D.; Rowlands, I. Social media use in the research workflow. Inf. Serv. Use 2011, 31, 61–83. [CrossRef]
- Mital, M.; Sarkar, S. Multihoming behavior of users in social networking web sites: A theoretical model. Inf. Technol. People 2011, 24, 378–392. [CrossRef]
- 9. Merchant, G. Unravelling the social network: Theory and research. *Learn. Media Technol.* **2012**, 37, 4–19. [CrossRef]
- 10. Chou, C.M. Social media characteristics, customer relationship and brand equity. *Am. J. Bus.* **2019**, *10*, 128–139.
- 11. Ngai, E.W.T.; Moon, K.K.; Lam, S.S.; Chin, E.S.; Tao, S.S. Social media models, technologies, and applications: An academic review and case study. *Ind. Manag. Data Syst.* **2015**, *115*, 769–802. [CrossRef]
- 12. Lin, S.F.; Lin, C.L.; Lee, D.C. The relationship between elementary school teachers' technology readiness and intention to use social media platforms for classroom management. *Int. J. Organ. Innov.* **2015**, *8*, 48–63.
- Selwyn, N.; Stirling, E. Social media and education ... now the dust has settled. *Learn. Media Technol.* 2016, 41, 1–5. [CrossRef]
- 14. Greenwood, D. *Local Indicators of Quality of Life: A Preliminary Look at the Pikes Peak Region;* University of Colorado at Colorado Springs, Center for Colorado Policy Studies: Denver, CO, USA, 2001; pp. 1–29.
- 15. Hjorth, L.; Hinton, S. Understanding Social Media; SAGE: London, UK, 2019.
- Nord, J.H.; Paliszkiewicz, J.; Koohang, A. Using social technologies for competitive advantage: Impact on organizations and higher education. J. Comput. Inf. Syst. 2014, 55, 92–104. [CrossRef]
- Gholipour, A.; Rahimian, A.; Mirzamani, A.; Zehtabi, M. IMPACT Model of Women's Empowerment. Int. Bus. Res. 2010, 3, 57–65. [CrossRef]
- Cornwall, A.; Anyidoho, N.A. Introduction: Women's empowerment: Contentions and contestations. Development 2010, 53, 144–149. [CrossRef]
- 19. Lin, J.; Nord, J.H.; Paliszkiewicz, J.; Mądra-Sawicka, M. China' s social networks: Culture, business, and the gender gap. *J. Asia Entrep. Sustain.* **2017**, *13*, 132–175.
- Nord, J.H.; Achituv, D.B.; Paliszkiewicz, J. Communication through Social Technologies: A Study of Israeli Women. J. Int. Technol. Inf. Manag. 2017, 26, 45–80.
- 21. Amichai-Hamburger, Y.; Vinitzky, G. Social network use and personality. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 2010, 26, 1289–1295. [CrossRef]
- 22. Muscanell, N.L.; Guadagno, R.E. Make new friends or keep the old: Gender and personality differences in social networking use. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* **2012**, *28*, 107–112. [CrossRef]
- Pagani, M.; Hofacker, C.F.; Goldsmith, R.E. The Influence of Personality on Active and Passive Use of Social Networking Sites. *Psychol. Mark.* 2011, 28, 441–456. [CrossRef]
- 24. Caison, A.; Bulman, D.; Pai, S.; Neville, D. Exploring the technology readiness of nursing and medical students at a Canadian University. *J. Interprof. Care* **2008**, *22*, 283–294. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Moghaddam, G.G. Information technology and gender gap: Toward a global view. *Electron. Libr.* 2010, 28, 722–733. [CrossRef]
- Lin, C.H.; Yu, S.F. Adolescent internet usage in Taiwan: Exploring gender differences. *Adolescence* 2008, 43, 317–331. [PubMed]
- 27. Raffaelli, M.; Ontai, L.L. Gender socialization in latino/a families: Results from two retrospective studies. *Sex Roles* **2004**, *50*, 287–299. [CrossRef]
- Hong, Z.R.; Veach, P.M.C.; Lawrenz, F. An investigation of the gender stereotyped thinking of Taiwanese Secondary School boys and girls. *Sex Roles* 2003, *48*, 495–504. [CrossRef]
- Hong, Z.R. An investigation of Taiwanese female college students' sexist attitudes. Sex Roles 2004, 51, 455–467. [CrossRef]

- Aslanbeigui, N.; Pressman, S.; Summerfield, G. Toward gender equity: Policies and strategies. Int. J. Polit. Cult. Soc. 2003, 16, 327–330. [CrossRef]
- Geo-JaJa, M.A.; Paynem, S.J.; Hallam, P.R.; Baum, D.R. Gender equity and women empowerment in Africa: The education and economic globalization nexus. In *Race, Ethnicity and Gender in Education*; Springer: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, 2009; Volume 6, pp. 97–121.
- Marzano, G.; Lubkina, V. The Digital Gender Divide: An Overview. In Proceedings of the 2019 International Scientific Conference Society, Integration, Education, Rezekne, Latvia, 24–25 May 2019; Volume 5, pp. 413–421.
- 33. Lin, C.I.; Tang, W.H.; Kuo, F.Y. Mommy wants to learn the computer': How middle-aged and elderly women in Taiwan learn ICT through social support. *Adult Educ. Q.* **2012**, *62*, 73–90. [CrossRef]
- 34. Chin, J. No improvement in gender pay gap: Labor ministry. Taipei Times, 16 March 2018.
- 35. World Economic Forum. Global Gender Gap Report 2020; World Economic Forum: Geneva, Switzerland, 2020.
- Ibrahim, S.; Alkire, S. Agency and empowerment: A proposal for internationally comparable indicators. Oxf. Dev. Stud. 2007, 35, 379–403. [CrossRef]
- Poddar, K.K. Role of Self Help Groups in Economic Empowerment of Women in India. *Anusandhanika* 2013, 5, 237–241.
- Kabeer, N. Resources, Agency, Achievements: Reflections on the Measurement of Women's Empowerment. Dev. Chang. 1999, 30, 435–464. [CrossRef]
- Wallerstein, N.; Bernstein, E. Empowerment Education: Freire's Ideas Adapted to Health Education. *Health Educ. Behav.* 1988, 15, 379–394. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 40. Rappaport, J. Studies in empowerment: Introduction to the issue. Prev. Hum. Serv. 1984, 3, 1–7. [CrossRef]
- 41. Gibson, C.H. A concept analysis of empowerment. J. Adv. Nurs. 1991, 16, 354–361. [CrossRef]
- 42. Simsek, M. Being a Woman in Turkey: An Application. Econ. Manag. Financ. Mark. 2014, 9, 419–428.
- Mason, K.O.; Smith, H.L. Women's Empowerment and Social Context: Results from Five Asian Countries. 2003. Available online: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/6d1a/8d3e0d704c1ae15d78b1d957a6bb4ff98fac.pdf (accessed on 17 April 2020).
- 44. Hsu, W.S. The facets of empowerment in solution-focused brief therapy for lower-status married women in Taiwan: An exploratory study. *Women Ther.* **2009**, *32*, 338–360. [CrossRef]
- 45. Xie, I.; Stevenson, J. Social media application in digital libraries. Online Inf. Rev. 2014, 38, 502–523. [CrossRef]
- Kaplan, A.M.; Haenlein, M. Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media. Bus. Horiz. 2010, 53, 59–68. [CrossRef]
- Steenkamp, M.; Hyde-Clarke, N. The use of Facebook for political commentary in South Africa. *Telemat. Inform.* 2014, 31, 91–97. [CrossRef]
- Safko, L.; Brake, D.K. The Social Media Bible: Tactics, Tools and Strategies for Business Success; John Wiley & Sons Ltd.: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2009.
- Koohang, A.; Paliszkiewicz, J.; Nord, J.H. Social media privacy concerns among college students. *Issues Inf. Syst.* 2018, 19, 11–19.
- Fatehkia, M.; Kashyap, R.; Weber, I. Using Facebook ad data to track the global digital gender gap. *World Dev.* 2018, 107, 189–209. [CrossRef]
- Cha, M.; Kwak, H.; Rodriguez, P.; Ahn, Y.Y.; Moon, S. I tube, you tube, everybody tubes: Analyzing the world's largest user generated content video system. In Proceedings of the 7th ACM SIGCOMM Conference on Internet Measurement, San Diego, CA, USA, 24–26 October 2007; Association for Computing Machinery: New York, NY, USA, 2007; pp. 1–14.



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).





Article Social Media Marketing in Creative Industries: How to Use Social Media Marketing to Promote Computer Games?

Bartosz Wawrowski and Iwona Otola *

Faulty of Management, Czestochowa University of Technology, Dąbrowskiego 69, 42-201 Częstochowa, Poland; bartosz.wawrowski@pcz.pl

* Correspondence: iwona.otola@pcz.pl

Received: 27 March 2020; Accepted: 28 April 2020; Published: 30 April 2020



Abstract: Currently, almost every business entity has one or more social media accounts. This statement is true for companies operating in creative areas as well. Social media make it possible to perform widely understood marketing-oriented undertakings. They allow for toll-free presentation of a particular company, its history, products, achievements, as well as for encouraging prospective customers to visit its websites. Social media marketing plays an important role in the satisfactory advertising of creative brands, companies, and products. The aim of this article is to discuss the possibilities of utilizing social media marketing by a creative company dealing with the production of computer games. The authors have attempted to analyze selected elements of computer game promotion opted for by the CD Projekt Capital Group. As of currently, The Witcher game is a product that is well known and highly appreciated all over the world. Nevertheless, its promotion has required the utilization of a proper marketing strategy, based on social media-specific tools.

Keywords: computer games; creative companies; social media marketing

1. Introduction

Up until recently, the "creative sector" term has been rarely used. Its importance for companies has increased as a result of notable changes of business specificity. When it comes to the widely understood creative industry, growth factors have been, inter alia, the emergence of the B+R sector, human capital intellectual changes, as well as, the increase in demand for the offered products. In order to properly define the "creative sector" notion, one has to start from touching upon the very "creativity" term. It is defined differently by various fields of science. When it comes to economy, it is predominantly oriented towards innovative solutions achieved thanks to the development of science, investments, and proper human resource management. In art, creativity is perceived as the ability of creating something original and new by taking advantage of fresh ideas and imagination. Creativity can therefore be considered to be the ability of creating and developing new concepts, solutions, ideas, and tools [1].

For the very first time, the creative industries notion emerged in Great Britain at the end of the 90s. In the Creative Industries Mapping Document report, the creative sector was defined as the one pertaining to branches that show the capability of creating workplaces and wealth, as a result of individual skills, creativity, and talent [2]. Thirteen sectors in which creativity had been promoted were indicated in the document. The proposed selection included, among others: designing, programming and computer services, architecture, advertising, TV and radio, publishing sector, and interactive entertainment-oriented software creation. Creative sectors have been providing products and services that are typically connected with artistic, cultural, or entertainment-specific values. The modern economy is, to a remarkable extent, based on the use of creative energy, imagination, and knowledge,

to develop unusual ideas, initiatives, and values. To a notable extent, both the expansion and market success of an organization are dependent on taking advantage of not only technological innovations and entrepreneurship, but of creativity as well [3].

A rather different understanding of the creative sector was proposed by the UNCTAD (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development). According to the established definition, it should be understood as recurring cycles of creation, production, and distribution of goods, in case of which the major resources opted for are creativity and intellectual capital. Said cycles incorporate undertakings based on knowledge. They are typically oriented towards art and generating revenue thanks to commerce and intellectual property rights [4].

According to the World Intellectual Property Organization, the creative sector incorporates all branches, the undertakings of which are aimed towards the creation, production, making, presenting, showcasing, distributing, broadcasting, and selling goods that are protected by copyrights [1].

Companies operating in the creative sector focus on intense commercial competition that covers consumer products, such as fashion and design, digital communication, entertainment, and architecture [5]. Said sector consists of national institutions, private companies, and non-profit organizations. The goal of such institutions, firms, and organizations is not only to communicate with the society, but also to create new meanings. It has been highlighted that it is a mistake to perceive the section in question exclusively through the prism of culture. It has to be remembered that marketing and advertising agencies are also included in the creative sector, even though they are connected with culture to a lesser extent than publishing houses and film agencies are [6].

Based on the presented examples of creative sector definitions, it is possible to draw a conclusion that it has a remarkable impact on the development of entrepreneurship and the overall economy of a given country. In the competitive economy, creativity is of increasing importance. Product price and the method of its production have become remarkably less vital. Creativity is an indispensable element of innovativeness and that is why the policies of numerous companies are oriented towards promoting creative patterns of behavior in employees. Up until recently, competing companies have been predominantly focused on limiting production costs and lowering the price of offered goods. Some of them have been looking for cheaper laborers in the Far East and have been opting for cheaper materials. Nevertheless, a notably better solution has turned out to be to support the creativity of workers in their attempt to improve technology and increase product quality. Therefore, it can be said that ideas, skills, and openness to new solutions or concepts are all of immense importance.

Companies from the creative sector have been focusing on creating value by means of utilizing social media. Such media have been used as distribution channels for the offered products and services, as well as utilized as vital marketing tools. Creative companies are exceptionally skilled when it comes to the utilization of social media and taking advantage of them in the managed business undertakings [7].

According to the opinion of experts, Polish creative companies have been achieving best results with regards to the creation of non-material and digital products. To prove that point, one may indicate the creation of games, comic books, and music. Polish creators have been awarded with various prizes for their outstanding animations, music, or even films. Domestic designers and stylists have also been appreciated all over the world. Social media marketing has proved to play an important role in presenting both the brand itself and products provided by creative companies.

The meaning of the creative companies and the role of social media marketing in it should be pointed out. There is relatively little researches on this subject or at least we have not come across them. Social media as a marketing technique is discussed in the context of different sectors or branches. Our article sheds light on a new direction of research in the field of the creative sector. Social media is used widely, for example in managing the IT companies [8], or in luxury item marketing [9]. This is crucial, as the computer games market is increasing from year to year. According to Newzoo [10], in 2019, this market reached the value of 148 billion USD. In addition, the Z-generation, to which the offer of companies specializing in computer games is largely addressed, has a natural connection to the digital world. For the Z generation, the most useful means of communication is by social media which uses the modern technologies. Because of this knowledge, we would like to check whether the theoretical description of social media as a modern marketing tool is used by computer games companies, and if so, to what extent. The predominant aim of this article is to discuss the possibilities of utilizing social media marketing by a creative company dealing with the production of computer games. The authors have attempted to analyze selected elements of computer game promotion opted for by the CD Projekt Capital Group.

2. Literature Review

The concept of social media and social media marketing.

Nowadays, a key field of e-marketing undertakings is so-called social media marketing. It is caused by an increasingly more important role played by social media worldwide. Before attempting to define social media marketing, the authors are going to touch upon the very notion of social media and their specificity. The "social media" term is strictly connected with two research fields, namely—communication sciences and sociology. In the communication-specific context, media are the means of storing or sharing either information or data. When it comes to sociology, social networks are societal structures consisting of a set of social media are characterized by direct and multidirectional information exchange, speed, and dynamic nature [11]. The topic of social media has been approached similarly by Dutot and Bergeron [12], as well as by Kim and Ko [13], who have considered them to be a set of online tools allowing to publically share ideas with others, create and edit the content, as well as to establish relations by means of interaction and cooperation.

Together with the popularization of the Internet, social media have become a key online marketing tool. Not only individual users, but also companies, have created fan pages on digital platforms and developed business opportunities via social media [14]. The literature of the subject clearly states that the notion in question is, to a notable extent, connected with sociology and communication sciences [15]. Social media marketing is defined as commercial marketing events or processes taking advantage of social media platforms in order to positively affect purchase-related patterns of consumers [16]. Social media marketing is perceived similarly by B. Schivinski, who considers it to be a phenomenon strictly connected with gaining attention and generating online traffic via social media. The discussed tool has become increasingly more important in terms of marketing undertakings organized by various companies, because social media can be easily accessed by a vast group of potential recipients. Social media marketing minimizes the cost of marketing undertakings, as well as allowing one to reach a highly specific target group [17]. The interaction of customer behavior allows users to create identical ideologies pertaining to a given community and strengthen bonds between its members, therefore consolidating the aforementioned community. Said process can be also interpreted as overlapping user values and values followed by the community [18].

To perform marketing undertakings, various platforms are taken advantage of, such as Twitter, Facebook, YouTube, LinkedIn, and numerous blogs. The presence of a number of platforms in the digital environment results in the increase of user traffic. At the same time, there is a constant competition to acquire and retain the message recipient. Currently, undertakings performed by various companies are not only oriented towards acquiring Internet users, but also encouraging them to disclose some pieces of information pertaining to themselves, their fields of interest, and preferences. The gathered data are then taken advantage of to generate further profit. By understanding the needs of consumers better, it is possible to create a tailor-made product for them. Thanks to the Internet, consumers are capable of gathering information about products and sharing their knowledge and experiences with other clients. Social media make it possible for consumers to have a notable impact on widely understood consumption [18].

In many companies, especially those operating in the creative sector, the concept of social media is of paramount importance when it comes to marketing actions. Their owners and managers do their best to exploit such applications as YouTube, Facebook, Twitter, or Second Life to the greatest extent possible [11].

The goals of social media marketing are predominantly connected with increasing brand awareness among users, advertising products, and improving customer servicing quality, as well as maintaining consumer loyalty at a satisfactory level. Social media marketing minimizes the costs connected with customer acquisition and allows for gathering the contact data of prospective purchasers, including e-mail addresses or phone numbers. An auxiliary goal of undertakings performed is to encourage Internet users to share obtained pieces of information with their friends, which results in the increased reliability of the published content. Application designing can be supported by the use of highly compatible materials and making such content available for mobile users [19].

Social media marketing can therefore support traditional marketing actions of various companies and organizations, while at the same time allowing their representatives to use a number of tools based on communication channels. The most commonly used social media marketing tools are: blogs, microblogging (e.g., Twitter), co-creation (e.g., NIKEiD), social bookmarking (e.g., StumbleUpon, forums and discussion boards (e.g., Google Groups), product reviews (e.g., Amazon), as well as video and photo sharing (e.g., Flickr, YouTube) [11,15,20].

Other tools that have to be pointed out and that have a remarkable impact on social media marketing as such are:

- Company's website: such website can be considered to be a visiting card of a company, for it
 incorporates basic data pertaining to it, applications, and links to external data. Many firms and
 organizations utilize websites for marketing purposes [21].
- E-mail: interactive form of direct marketing, promotional message, or informational content. In such a case, the utilized communication tool is digital messaging. E-mail marketing covers analyzing, planning, realization, and exercising control over the most important processes, namely: creation, expansion, and management of the database of e-mail addresses of users, preparation of content and graphic elements of e-mails, sending messages, and managing replies. An important element of e-mail marketing is the creation of communication schemes in order to personalize and optimally adjust e-mail messages to particular groups of recipients [22].
- Fan page: profile created on a specific social media portal and used to communicate with buyers (or brand/company fans), as well as to allow consumers to share knowledge with each other [23].
- Mobile application in two versions. The first one pertains to the promotion of application
 installation. Its goal is to increase the number of applications. Thanks to the fact that the users
 provide information on their interests and preferences, it is possible to organize customized
 marketing campaigns. The second version is addressed to individuals who have already installed
 the application. The performed undertakings aim to increase their engagement [24].
- Company's blog: a place to publish valuable posts that can be commented on and tagged by the recipients. A blog is a perfect place to present values that a given company or brand follows to a wider audience. A properly managed blog is not only the source of information about the brand, but also allows to dispel any doubts some consumers may have and encourage them to purchase a product or a service. Blogs can also inform about possible problems that clients may have, while taking advantage of goods provided by a particular company [25].
- Marketing-oriented games: they are created to promote specific products or brands. Gamers are a large, diversified, and attractive part of the global advertising market. Advertising via computer games is a relatively new form of marketing-specific communication [26].
- Content marketing: acquiring clients by means of valuable content published in communication channels supervised by the company; typically utilized marketing forms in this case are newsletters, video materials, graphic reports, company's blogs, topical websites, virtual conferences, and podcasts. Said method is not only about publishing content, but also about listening to client's needs and fully understanding them [27].

• Viral marketing: arranging a situation stimulating users to share information with each other on their own. Viral marketing is a variation on word-of-mouth marketing [28]. Viral marketing is also described as a set of advertising-specific tools that are addressed to certain groups of recipients and are utilized in such a way as to encourage them to share a specific piece of information in order to increase the awareness (of a brand, product, or service), or to increase sales [29].

The tools presented above are utilized by companies to acquire clients, engage them emotionally, curate positive experience, and increase the willingness to communicate. They allow to aggregate data on clients and to identify their needs.

Advantages of Social Media Marketing in Creative Industries

Social media represent great opportunities for the development of the creative branch. By taking advantage of message boards, companies characterized by creative focus can showcase their skills, proposals, ideas, and assumptions to a remarkably large audience. Such an approach allows one to not only gain some popularity and to become more recognizable, but also to establish contacts with other firms, including those creative ones, and conclude lucrative contracts. The creative sector utilizes various social websites for marketing purposes, making them the driving force of the market. It goes without saying that products that are specific for this branch of industry require the utilization of modern marketing forms [30].

Products offered by the creative sector have certain specific features determining their innovativeness. There is a risk of improperly adjusting the goods to the needs of customers or the current trends (e.g., in the case of fashion). It may happen that products supplied by the creative sector face market barriers or limitations. Therefore, marketing-oriented support turns out to be of vital importance. One of the key motivators is to develop an efficient marketing campaign based on the use of social media. It has to be noted that said undertakings also have to be creative in character for the advertised product (brand, company) to stand out from the crowd of other ones. The campaign has to show that the offered item or service is original and innovative [31].

By opting for social media to achieve their goals, companies have to take into account aspects distinguishing them from other online media, especially connections between and the organization of social media network. Elements of social media are based on theories of many fields of science, including psychology, marketing, and sociology. While preparing a campaign, one has to specify: content, motif, societal roles, interactions, and network structure, which may turn out to be of immense help while designing and developing a multimedia project [32].

One may also wonder why social media marketing is so useful for companies operating in the creative branch of industry. Above all else, it allows for almost instant communication with clients. Companies receive feedback on the offered products, as well as some negative pieces of information or suggestions. Every content published in social media results in a reaction. The more creative the content and the esthetical elements utilized, the greater the traffic generated by a specific website. Thanks to this, a firm or a brand becomes much more distinguishable. Alluring images, useful pieces of information, and quick responses to questions asked all result in positive experiences on the side of the client and increase his or her loyalty. Creative companies can achieve marketing success if they care about keeping the published pieces information up to date. Data published in social media should attract the attention of their users [33].

Costs associated with marketing actions performed are of importance for every company. Advertising products or services in TV, radio, or cinemas is remarkably expensive. On the other hand, promoting one's goods or services in social media generates reasonable and acceptable costs. It is not only effective, but also a cheap form of advertising products, brands, or companies to the market. What is more, the reach of such a campaign is almost unlimited in character. Said fact is undoubtedly a huge advantage of social media marketing [34].

Yet, another benefit of utilizing social media marketing is the possibility of reaching specific target groups, which is especially important in the case of creative companies, as well as presenting a

specific content to a remarkably wide audience. For example, adverts can be presented based on the user's location (province, city). One can manage comprehensive campaigns in social media, organize competitions, and offer goods for reasonable, competitive prices.

Analyses of customer behavioral patterns, number of visits, comments, and likes are also vital. Data gathered in such a way can be used to develop a new social media campaign.

3. Methodology and Specificity of the Examined Entity

An empirical analysis of the use of social media marketing-specific tools has had the form of a qualitivate research based on case study. The authors would like to illustrate how the examined creative company has been taking advantage of social media marketing tools and which one of them have been key for it with regard to reaching the potential customer. The theoretical assumptions presented above have served as the basis of identification of used tools and the creation of an efficient marketing strategy. To evaluate the social media marketing we used methods of examining documents (mainly reports) and websites. Information about CD Projekt comes from the internal sources of the company [35].

In 2011, after the transformation of the Optimus Company and the acquisition of CDP Investment, the CD PROJEKT Capital Group was established. As of currently, it incorporates the CD PROJEKT RED game development studio and the GOG.com online distribution platform. The major focus of the company is the production and sales of video games. The headquarters of the company is located in Warsaw and its regional branches can be found in Cracow and Wroclaw. Individuals employed in the aforementioned three units are responsible for creating video games. It is also worth mentioning that the company has its offices in Berlin, Los Angeles, Tokyo, and Shanghai—they coordinate marketing and sales undertakings in Asia, the United States and Europe. The greatest achievement of CD Projekt Inc. was the creation of a series of Witcher-themed games based on the works of Andrzej Sapkowski.

The CD PROJEKT RED development studio was established in 2002 and has been dealing with making games for PCs and consoles. Their most recognizable game series is The Witcher.

When it comes to GOG.com (formerly—Good Old Games), it is a digital videogame distribution platform. It has a global reach, which means that it attracts customers from the entire world. Thanks to the GOG Galaxy platform being one of GOG.com website's inventions, the clients have the possibility of playing online. The platform grants all the interested individuals the access to social and online services. The GOG.com website is an independent digital distribution platform offering interested players over 2350 meticulously selected games, made by over 550 producers and published from all over the world.

While producing its games, CD PROJEKT RED utilizes its proprietary software (game engine) entitled REDengine, which allows for the use of state-of-the-art technology while making complex plot-driven videogames. Sales are in 80% of cases realized via digital distribution platforms, such as: Google Store, GOG.com, AppStore, Origin, Steam, PlayStation Store, and Xbox Games Store.

The games that can be bought are available on the aboved mentioned platforms and in the near future will be introduced to an international platform, PSNow, which as of now, April, 2020, is not yet available in Poland, but gives many possibilities. PS Now is a revolution, which allows one to play many different games form PlayStation console (especially PlayStation 4) without installation —the game streaming from Sony servers is used instead. We do not need to have that particular game [36]. The platform, thanks to its characteristics, is a form of the marketing tool, as it positions chosen contents on the main page and the purchase of the subscription and the ability to stream and play online, which is used with the multiplayer option. Play Station Now also has an official account on Facebook, on which they post information about new games on the platform and allow people to purchase a subscription via Facebook shop. Sony can reach the prospective customers of PS Now and develop the awareness among the players about the platform, via Facebook account. What is more, they also try to discourage a player from buying a traditional CD game or saving games on the

drive and encourage them to stream the games and showing that they can choose from many different games in return for the small price of the subscription.

In June 2018, during the Electronic Entertainment Expo, CD PROJEKT RED showed the world a trailer of the Cyberpunk 2077 game. The game in question has been awarded with over 100 prizes.

Case Study—Forms of Online Promotion Influencing the Success of Games

Without a shadow of a doubt, the CD PROJEKT Capital Group can be considered to be a creative enterprise. The realized projects are unusual and highly specific in nature. The popularity of *The Witcher* games based on the books by Andrzej Sapkowski grants their creators an honorary place among the best videogame makers. The game is available on the Steam platform.

The promotion of the game is going to be discussed on the basis of selected forms of social media marketing, with regards to such fields as: company's goals, platforms adopted to pursue company's goals, target audience, distribution channels, and content shared (see Table 1).

Company Goals	Platforms Adopted to Pursue Company's Goal	Target Audience	Distribution Channels	Content Shared
Brand awareness	Social networks sites	Existing and potential customers being passionate about gaming	Games shop	New product information
Lead generation	Microblogs & Videoblogs		Online platforms	High quality research material to potential customers The goal is to
Customer loyalty	Content communities			provide influencers with support with regard to the buying process
Value of company	Webcasts Product review sites			2 ay mg process

Table 1. Computer game promotion by the creative company—case study.

Content marketing is one of the ways of reaching the potential customer utilizing social media. Its goal is to present a product or a company in such a way for the very content of the information published to be considered interesting by the recipients. What is more, materials required or frequently searched for by the users can be provided. Materials published within the content-oriented website affect the overall loyalty of the user. The product itself, namely The Witcher game, has been presented in a non-intrusive manner and the creators have opted for numerous content forms, namely:

- product description,
- news,
- review,
- article,
- blog post,
- long-form.

Product description incorporates basic data on producers, publishers, distributors, and software, as well as recommended and optimal hardware requirements. The description also includes game logo and information on other parts of the series. One can also find a short note on the works by A. Sapkowski. The very figure of The Witcher and the historical background are also provided. Yet another important piece of information is the specification of the number of levels and locations. The

description of the product has been considered to be intriguing by Internet users. The Witcher 3 comes with the following text, encouraging the player to start his or her new adventure:

Travel through the world torn apart by war, fight monsters, and make choices the consequences of which will follow you till the very end of your journey. The Sword of Destiny has two edges. You are one of them.

News should be understood in this context as up-to-date, fresh pieces of information. Such news is, for example, a publication stating that The Witcher game has taken first place in the top 10 games in Poland. Yet another example of news is the information that *The* Witcher 3 has been the most popular production on the Steam platform. The aim of such a type of content is to provide the user with a short communicate that will interest him or her in the topic.

Game reviews may be published by either users themselves or by experts. Sometimes clients purchase a game after previously familiarizing themselves with the opinions of other people. They trust such reviews. In the case of The Witcher, reviews have been provided by many prominent individuals. What is more, promotional undertakings covered the radio and TV as well. Positive reviews have been published on the website of the game, additionally increasing its attractiveness. Exemplary expert opinions are provided below:

"awesome game with its roots in literature" —The Guardian (British) [37]

"greatest advantages of the game are the variety and the number of location. It is the game for everybody" —IGN.com videogame portal [38]

"one of the best RPG games ever produced" —Gamespot.com [39]

Such reviews make social media users more willing to purchase the game. Many players take different opinions into consideration. It is worth pointing out the management of the measurable aspect of profits. If the opinions on social media were not as important for players, would The Witcher game be as successful and would it have brought as many economic benefits to CD Projekt? The reviews highlight that the whereabouts of The Witcher affect players on an emotional level. All the sequences are directed skillfully, making the production a true masterpiece.

Yet another important promotional tool that has to be mentioned are blog posts. These are honest opinions of people who have played the game:

"The Witcher affected me on a spiritual level, as it has the real #humantouch. It can be felt that it was made by real people. In the era where graphics and quests are made by algorithms, said fact cannot be underestimated. The Witcher is a real masterpiece to me and its every aspect has a human side to it (\ldots) ." [40]

One cannot forget about articles, the authors of which are members of the game development team, as well as IT experts and graphic designers. Articles published in social media have covered such topics as:

"Road to the Witcher 3",

"Why is it worth waiting for the Witcher 3",

"The Witcher 3 first impressions".

The presented forms of advertising point to a remarkable promotion of the game by its users. Various forms of content have a single goal—to win the interest of prospective customers and make them more frequent visitors of the content-oriented website. In order to retain consumers, various quizzes have been published and a number of contests have been organized. Users are informed about news and updates by means of a newsletter. It has to be noted that articles and reviews are frequently "adorned" with photos, charts, and maps.

A different form of social media promotion used by CD Projekt is targeting, which is based on the optimal selection of clients. Advertising content is published to selected groups of users only. Due to their specific features, they may become the purchasers of the promoted games one day. It has to be stated that thanks to social media, a creative enterprise can additionally gather information on such clients. A selected group of customers is undoubtedly interested, not only in the offered game, but also in the content published on the website. Targeting allows to minimize company's spending on advertising. Thanks to properly planned e-marketing undertakings, sales are maximized in a multidirectional manner. One may distinguish such types of targeting as authorial, behavioral, and contextual [41]. The very first of them is based on selecting a target group showing interest in video games. Behavioral targeting pertains to users selected on the basis on their actions. Based on users' activities on other portals, their customized profile is being developed. Then, a company targets its ads to individuals meeting certain criteria only. When it comes to contextual targeting, it is based on segmenting materials with regard to their topic. Information about a game should be published on videogame-related websites and portals alike.

An intriguing form of promotion chosen for the analysis is so-called client segmentation. It is based on dividing the market into smaller groups of clients, with the focus being put on their age, sex, educational attainment, place of residence, fields of interest, frequency of purchases, etc. During segmenting-related undertakings, the possibility of specifying the size of a particular segment is taken into account. Segments should be of varying size and address demographic factors. An important aspect when it comes to client segmentation is customer accessibility. A company should be able to reach them with its offer (for example, children should be excluded). According to the gathered data, gamers (people who have played an online game within the last month) typically are [42]:

- men (57%),
- individuals aged 15-24 (43%),
- people from big cities (43%),
- individuals with secondary education—44%,
- people with a full-time job—42%.

It is worth noting that the last version of the game was made in fifteen languages and dubbing was available in seven of them. Game-related marketing cost the company USD 35 million. Aside from the aforementioned forms of promotion, the discussed Capital Group has opted for occasional advertising methods. For example, during Halloween, the game was sold much cheaper. Such sales were organized on Steam and GOG.

The Table 2 contains information on projects conducted by CD Projekt company with social media accounts and the number of followers and subscribers observing them in 2019 and 2020, such as [35]:

- CD Projekt RED,
- The newest game of the company—Cyberpunk 2077,
- Gwint—The Witcher card game, which has many fans around the world,
- The bestseller—The Witcher,
- GOG.com—the platform which distributes digital games.

		OJEKT ED		RPUNK 177	GW	INT	WIED	ŹMIN	GOG	.СОМ
					in tho	usands				
	2019	2020	2019	2020	2019	2020	2019	2020	2019	2020
Facebook	296	349	253	416	520	520	1000	1500	429	446
Instagram	287	497	0	329						
Twitter	426	645	340	704	100	104	1000	1200	330	333
YouTube	142	199	431	759	80	88	300	328	49	56
LinkedIn	44	77								
Twitch	142	182							55	62
bilibili		352								
Reddit			122	274	72	93				
Discord			56	129						
VK			44	79	87	87	84	110		
Weibo					56	59				
WeChat					40	56				
Others	91	92			25	54			25	40

Table 2. The number of followers and subscribers.

From the conducted analysis, we can see that the number of followers and subscribers of social media accounts of CD Projekt company is increasing. It is worth mentioning that during the analyzed period, the company was creating new accounts which became very popular and gained many fans. It is important to point out the number of portals and platforms in social media which are used as marketing tools. We can notice that in every project, the company uses three main platforms—Facebook, YouTube and Twitter, which points out the strong and stabilized position and very strong impact of social media on the prospective customer.

To sum up, it has to be stated that the analyzed creative enterprise utilizes social media marketing to a significant extent. Interesting graphic materials and content encourage prospective customers to purchase the game. What is more, the popularity of the production all over the world makes even the skeptic users of social media to be more willing to give The Witcher a try.

4. Limitation and Conclusions

The creative economy makes it possible for entrepreneurs to take advantage of highly advanced technologies and intellectual ways of life. Creative organizations are becoming a dynamic and very profitable sector of the domestic economy. Their major goal is to realize their creative potential; so to synergize human resources, culture, society, and institutional capital. The creative sector is less susceptible to financial and economic crises than its traditional counterpart. In order for the discussed companies to develop, they must take full advantage of social media marketing. Thanks to the communication with the society and clients, they are capable of adjusting their products to the needs of the recipients. The increased focus on creative branches will result in both material and intellectual benefits.

The examinations presented within the scope of this article have certain limitations. The described case study has been executed for a recognizable creative company operating in Poland. It would be worth focusing on other creative enterprises as well, to check whether or not social media marketing trends are similar. In further research, we would like to focus on indicating the relationship between spending on social media and the financial results and value of creative companies.

Our contribution is to show the impact of the social media in creative industry. Mentioning the niche subject of our study and using the qualitative research was aimed at indicating management skills concerning the use of social media as a marketing tool in creative companies. The presented case

study was aimed at combining theoretical considerations on social media marketing and its practical application in brand identification and promotion. This article could be the source of inspiration for the creative companies and for the people responsible for marketing strategy in this field. From our research, we conclude that social media are the main source of information and a marketing tool, which is developing very quickly, and which is used to consolidate the position on the market and to point the direction in building dominance over the competitors. Currently, social media play an important role in marketing, including in the creative sector. Based on the analysis of promotional undertakings performed by the CD Projekt Capital Group, it has been discovered that it has been actively operating on various fields. The article offers a comprehensive analysis of selected social media-oriented promotion forms. It has been proven that social media marketing can cover various fields that are adjusted to the needs and capabilities of the client. Content published on various websites encourage prospective clients to purchase the advertised game (especially during a sale). Interesting graphical elements, revives, and articles may increase the interest of a purchaser-to-be. Furthermore, pieces of information published on various portals and informing about the overall success of the production make people more willing to give The Witcher a try. Based on empirical examinations, it has been proved that social media marketing-oriented undertakings performed by creative companies are sensible and may yield satisfactory effects. It is important to mention the weak points of the creative sector. Mainly, it is based on the innovative concepts of the individuals. It can be very difficult to maintain a high level of the numbers of followers having such a big number of the competitors. According to the activities of the company, a properly integrated marketing strategy should be used (with the usage of the specific social media platform).

Computer games companies mainly direct their products to the young Z generation, who do not have the stable source of income. The best way to get to them is through social media. A constant contact with the purchase stimulates opinion exchange and establishing mutual relations. Games produced by CD Projekt are being purchased by clients from all over the world. Positive opinions of the users may encourage prospective clients from all over the globe to purchase the game as well.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, I.O.; Investigation, B.W.; Resources, B.W. and I.O.; Writing—original draft, B.W. and I.O.; Writing—review & editing, B.W. and I.O. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Mackiewicz, M. Analiza Potrzeb i Rozwoju Przemysłów Kreatywnych; Wyd. ECORYS: Warszawa, Poland, 2009.
- 2. Department for Culture Media & Sport. *Creative Industries Mapping Document;* Department for Culture Media & Sport: London, UK, 1998.
- Dronyuka, I.; Moiseienkob, I.; Gregušml, J. Analysis of creative industries activities in European Union countries. *Procedia Comput. Sci.* 2019, 160, 479–484. [CrossRef]
- The Creative Economy Report: The Challenge of Assessing the Creative Economy: Towards Informed Policy-Making. United Nations Conference on Trade and Development (UNCTAD): Geneva, Switzerland, 2008.
- 5. Poettschacher, E. Strategic creativity: How values, beliefs and assumptions drive entrepreneurs in the creative industries. *Int. J. Entrep. Innov.* **2005**, *6*, 177–183. [CrossRef]
- 6. Gryczka, M. W kwestii rozwoju sektora kreatywnego i sposobów jego finansowania. *Studia Wydziału Nauk Ekon. Zarządzania* **2015**, *41*, 213–227.
- Smith, K.T.; Blazovich, J.L.; Smith, L.M. Social media adoption by corporations: An examination by platform, industry, size, and financial performance. *Int. Acad. Mark. Stud. J.* 2015, 19, 127–143.
- Berthon, P. Marketing meets Web 2.0, social media, and creative consumers: Implications for international marketing strategy. *Bus. Horiz.* 2012, 55, 261–271. [CrossRef]

- 9. Godreya, B. Social media marketing efforts of luxury brands: Influence on brand equity and consumer behavior. J. Bus. Res. 2016, 69, 5833–5841.
- 10. Available online: https://newzoo.com/globalsupport/ (accessed on 22 April 2020).
- Kaplan, A.M.; Haenlein, M. Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of social media. *Bus. Horiz.* 2010, 53, 59–68. [CrossRef]
- Dutot, V.; Bergeron, F. From strategic orientation to social media orientation. J. Small Bus. Enterp. Dev. 2016, 23, 1165–1190. [CrossRef]
- Kim, A.J.; Ko, E. Do social media marketing activities enhance customer equity? An empirical study of luxury fashion brand. J. Bus. Res. 2012, 65, 1480–1486. [CrossRef]
- 14. Shih-Chih, C.; Chieh-Peng, L. Understanding the effect of social media marketing activities: The mediation of social identification, perceived value, and satisfaction. *Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang.* **2019**, *140*, 22–32.
- Paliszkiewicz, J.; Koohang, A. Social Media and Trust: A Multinational Study of University Students; Informing Science Press: Santa Rosa, CA, USA, 2016.
- Dann, S. Redefining social marketing with contemporary commercial marketing definitions. J. Bus. Res. 2010, 63, 147–153. [CrossRef]
- 17. Schivinski, B.; Christodoulides, G.; Dabrowski, D. Measuring consumers' engagement with brand-related social-media content. *J. Advert. Res.* 2016, *1*, 64–80. [CrossRef]
- Henning-Thurau, T.; Gwinner, K.; Walsh, G. Electronic word-of-mouth via consumer-opinion platforms: What motivates consumers to articulate themselves on the internet. J. Interact. Mark. 2004, 18, 38–52. [CrossRef]
- 19. Seyyedamiri, N.; Tajrobehkar, L. Social content marketing, social media and product development process effectiveness in high-tech companies. *Int. J. Emerg. Mark.* **2019**. [CrossRef]
- Hoffman, D.L.; Fodor, M. Can you measure the ROI of your social media marketing? *Mit Sloan Manag. Rev.* 2010, 52, 41–49.
- 21. Peters, K.; Chen, Y.; Kaplan, A.M.; Ognibeni, B.; Pauwels, K. Social Media Metrics—A Framework and Guidelines for Managing Social Media. *J. Interact. Mark.* **2013**, 27, 281–298. [CrossRef]
- 22. Ellis-Chadwick, F.; Doherty, N.F. Web advertising: The role of email marketing. J. Bus. Res. 2012, 65, 843–848. [CrossRef]
- Pavlov, O.V.; Melville, N.; Plice, R.K. Toward a sustainable e-mail marketing infrastructure. J. Bus. Res. 2008, 61, 1191–1199. [CrossRef]
- 24. Chuck, M. *The Third Screen: Marketing to Your Customers in a World Gone Mobile;* Nicholas Brealey Publishing: London, UK, 2011.
- Farquhar, J.; Rowley, J. Relationships and online consumer communities. Bus. Process. Manag. J. 2006, 12, 162–177. [CrossRef]
- Nelson, M.R.; Keum, H.; Yaros, R.A. Advertainment or adcreep game players' attitudes toward advertising and product placements in computer games. J. Interact. Advert. 2004, 5, 3–21. [CrossRef]
- 27. Lieb, R. Content Marketing: Think Like a Publisher-How to Use Content to Market Online and in Social Media; Que Publishing: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2012.
- Kieżel, M.; Wiechoczek, J. Narzędzia e-marketingu w procesie kreowania wartości dla klienta. Zesz. Nauk. Politech. Śląskiej Ser. Organ. Zarządzanie 2017, 114, 203–220.
- Touba, O.; Stephen, A.; Freud, A. Viral marketing: A large-scal field experiment. *Econ. Manag. Financ. Mark.* 2011, 6, 43–65. [CrossRef]
- Chen, Y.; Fay, S.; Wang, Q. The role of marketing in social media: How online consumer reviews evolve. J. Interact. Mark. 2011, 25, 85–94. [CrossRef]
- Czaplewski, M. E-Biznes Jako Kierunek Doskonalenia Usług Ubezpieczeń Gospodarczych; Polskie Towarzystwo Ekonomiczne: Szczecin, Poland, 2007.
- Mäntymäki, M.; Riemer, K. Enterprise social networking: A knowledge management perspective. Int. J. Inf. Manag. 2016, 36, 1042–1052. [CrossRef]
- Napoli, P.M. Social media and the public interest: Governance of news platforms in the realm of individual and algorithmic gatekeepers. *Telecommun. Policy* 2015, *39*, 751–760. [CrossRef]
- Udayangi Wanniarachchi, V.; Mathrani, A.; Susnjak, T.; Scogings, C. A systematic literature review: What is the current stance towards weight stigmatization in social media platforms? *Int. J. Hum. Comput. Stud.* 2020, 135, 102–371. [CrossRef]

- 35. Available online: https://www.cdprojekt.com/pl/ (accessed on 19 April 2020).
- Available online: https://www.eurogamer.pl/articles/2020-02-06-playstation-now-ps-now-kiedy-w-polscecena-gry-z-ps4-na-pc) (accessed on 19 April 2020).
- Available online: https://www.theguardian.com/technology/2015/may/13/witcher-3-wild-hunt-review-xboxps4-pc (accessed on 5 January 2020).
- 38. Available online: https://www.ign.com/articles/2016/08/31/the-witcher-3-review-roundup (accessed on 6 January 2020).
- Available online: https://www.gamespot.com/reviews/the-witcher-3-wild-hunt-review/1900-6416135/ (accessed on 5 January 2020).
- 40. Available online: http://zagraceni.pl/wiedzmin10 (accessed on 3 January 2020).
- Mou, Y. Presenting professorship on social media: From content, strategy to evaluation. *Chin. J. Commun.* 2014, 7, 389–408. [CrossRef]
- 42. Krok, E. Rynek gier wideo i jego uczestnicy. Studia Inform. Pomerania 2016, 2, 47-60.



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).





Article Selected Aspects of Evaluating Knowledge Management Quality in Contemporary Enterprises

Olga Sobolewska * and Agnieszka Bitkowska *

Faculty of Management, Warsaw University of Technique, 00-661 Warsaw, Poland

* Correspondence: Olga.Sobolewska@pw.edu.pl (O.S.); Agnieszka.Bitkowska@pw.edu.pl (A.B.); Tel.: +48-501-933-433 (O.S.)

Received: 17 March 2020; Accepted: 29 April 2020; Published: 1 May 2020



Abstract: The main aim of the article was to estimate select aspects of knowledge management quality evaluations in contemporary enterprises from theoretical and practical perspectives. Measuring knowledge management is the biggest challenge for both theoreticians and practitioners. The survey was addressed to organizations conducting business activity in Poland. The research was carried out in 2019 in the form of an online survey. For international organizations, the survey was intended for representatives of these companies' local branches. It has been shown that the factors that most strongly affect the quality of knowledge are directly related to infrastructure and information technology systems (IT systems). The article contributes to managerial practice by pointing out the importance of evaluating knowledge management quality from the process perspective. The article's originality lies in the contribution to the literature of evaluating knowledge management quality by empirically analyzing it in contemporary enterprises. The results of research in the field involving assessing the quality of knowledge management have shown the need to focus not only on information technology tools (IT tools) related to infrastructure, but also on the processes approach, taking into account the priority role of the employees.

Keywords: knowledge; knowledge management; knowledge management quality

1. Introduction

The concept of knowledge management is currently perceived by modern organizations as an important element in building a competitive advantage [1–5]. Methods and strategies used until now to gain a competitive edge, such as launching new products and continuously improving processes, are becoming increasingly less effective, given that products and processes are now easier to duplicate. Adaptation to the needs of competitive enterprises through a knowledge-oriented organization management approach is aimed at increasing the effectiveness and efficiency of the organization [6–12]. The idea is to bring about improved effectiveness across all areas and processes, using to this end a specific set of instruments and tools in a continuous and permanent manner [13].

The fundamental approach to knowledge management is the process approach [3–5]. Identification of key knowledge management processes and existing relationships between them is extremely important for proper knowledge management in an enterprise [6]. The literature on the subject distinguishes various approaches to the classification of the most important knowledge management processes [9,11,13]. These processes are multidimensional; they relate to various aspects of knowledge and relate to various levels of analysis. The important area is knowledge quality, which is a vaguely defined concept because of its abundance and variability [14].

However, knowledge is an important resource in contemporary organizations; its effective use will depend, to a large extent, on its quality [15]. Chakrabarti, Arora and Sharma underlined that research on knowledge quality should grow in scope and prominence [16]. In the manuscript we focus

on knowledge quality within the knowledge management process in contemporary organizations. A framework is proposed that uses a process approach in knowledge management and checks some aspects of knowledge quality in a detailed process. The main research question was: what are the aspects of evaluating knowledge management quality in contemporary enterprises? The issues were discussed in both theoretical terms, by analyzing the literature, and practical terms, by looking into the results of empirical research studies conducted in 2019.

2. Literature Review

2.1. Knowledge Management-Process Approach

Knowledge management is becoming an increasingly popular concept and one that is being eagerly implemented in contemporary enterprises. Companies are starting to recognize the significant resources of both internal and external knowledge that should be used to build a competitive position in the market. On one hand, knowledge management has become a challenge to be faced by modern enterprises, but on the hand, it has served as a springboard for organizational activities [17]. A company's success is conditional, among other factors, on its ability to use explicit and implicit knowledge has a technical (know-how) and cognitive dimension, consisting of a belief model and perception patterns. It is the source of the company's future successes, which is why it is so important to reach it and use it [17–19].

Organizations that have implemented and consciously used knowledge management concepts have seen a number of benefits resulting from them [12]. Most importantly, these are: improved performance and target-reaching; streamlining of processes and organization-wide adoption of good practices; development of business activity and increase of innovation; and more ease in launching new products and services [20–27]. In addition, there is also: increased adaptation of products/services to customer requirements; better customer and employee satisfaction; increased employee productivity and performance; improved communication and cooperation; and finally, improved trust [28,29]. In what concerns knowledge management in organizations, it is necessary to point out aspects concerning the use of technology and the social elements of knowledge workers and knowledge distribution. Activities related to knowledge management should be carried out in a systematic and cyclical fashion; focus on processes such as the acquisition, transfer, use, identification and creation of knowledge; and be based on linking knowledge management processes with commercial processes. At the same time they cannot be independent, must align with organizational goals, use technology to support processes and bring benefits to the organization [13]. Noteworthy as well are hard elements—systems and tools; and soft elements—organizational culture [30–32].

In enterprises centering their activities around knowledge resources, the following aspects of knowledge management can be distinguished: functional, process-oriented, instrumental and institutional [17,33–36].

One of the proposed solutions for knowledge management is a process approach [33,37]. Under this approach, knowledge management is understood as the entire process of creating, disseminating and using knowledge to achieve organizational goals [37–39]. Knowledge management should thus include the complementary processes of creating, collecting, organizing, disseminating, using and exploiting knowledge in the course of business activity. Most often, processes are identified that make up knowledge management, such as identification, acquisition, development, distribution and dissemination, use and preservation [37,38]. An important aspect of the process approach applied to knowledge management is that it enables better operationalization of individual processes [40,41].

In process terms, knowledge management is a normative and disposable proceeding aimed at creating the right conditions that will enable efficient implementation of operational functions, thereby optimizing the main processes related to knowledge, climate, culture, trust, leadership and organizational structure [15,29,42–44]. This will then allow employees to focus on developing knowledge, distributing it, acquiring it and using it correctly [45,46].

In the instrumental approach, knowledge management consists of the appropriate selection and use of instruments and tools contributing to the course of major processes involving knowledge at all levels and areas of the organization. The set of instruments is quite extensive, ranging from financial and legal to organizational and technical. These instruments may include: organizational systems, including an incentive, information, monitoring system, etc., plus a number of different tools, such as databases, IT systems and internal communication networks [13,36,47,48].

In the institutional approach, knowledge management includes a system of job positions and employee teams (strategic and operational level of the organization, formal and informal organization) who perform relevant knowledge management functions [17,38,49,50].

Strategic and operational knowledge management perspectives should also be indicated. A knowledge management strategy usually involves one of two approaches: codification or personalization, or a combination of the two. The choice of knowledge management strategy depends on the nature of the processes that take place within the company. When employee intuition and skills are used, personalization is the one that most often works given its reliance on tacit knowledge. Codification, meanwhile, tends to be reserved for standard products [51–53]. In the context of the process approach to knowledge management, the question arises: how can one measure knowledge management in order to obtain tangible effects of its use with reference to organizational goals?

2.2. Knowledge Management Quality

Evaluation of knowledge management quality and its measures is a recurring problem in the literature. It applies to all aspects of human life [54–57]. In this respect, the authors agree that the problem of defining quality is invariably an open topic for research and discussion. There is no doubt that each and every quality evaluation comes burdened with a certain degree of subjectivity—hence the necessity, as authors universally agree, to clarify the broad organizational context for knowledge management measurement.

Evaluation of knowledge management quality in the literature [16,58,59] indicates the importance of testing data quality and information quality; knowledge codification; and the exchange of knowledge, experience and intuition between employees and teams, all while taking into account the use of information technology systems. However, the biggest challenge for managers is to determine measures of knowledge quality in a knowledge management system. Knowledge quality has different levels of detail, and depending on the situation, it can be understood as either product readiness, a resource for active use, compliance with requirements or a degree of proximity of excellence [57].

The literature on the subject include research on the quality of a formalized knowledge management system [16,58,59]. According to the Deepankar, Arora and Sharma, it is important to introduce the principle of basic quality management that support knowledge management processes [16]. The authors have created a hierarchical structure of knowledge quality and described its elements and their attributes, and created a valid and reliable instrument to measure the relative importance of the elements. This model has a hierarchical approach to address the dependence relationships of knowledge quality with its elements of inherent (accurate, complete, consistent, current, relevant), contextual (culture, structure, dependence, clarity, responsive) and actionable (useful, accessible, interpretable, volatile, secure) knowledge quality [16]. The research indicated that actionable knowledge quality is the most important area of concentration for business managers in the knowledge management system (KMS). The authors Deepankar, Arora and Sharma underlined that KMS is just a tool to support organizational knowledge processes, especially for explicit knowledge, but on the other hand, organizational knowledge is implicit, context-dependent, difficult to imitate, and noncodified [16].

The very evaluation of knowledge quality is invariably a subjective assessment, as in cases of commercial and other organizations. It is a derivative of the evaluation of employees' abilities to perform tasks assigned to them. Once again referring to the arguments raised earlier in the paper, perceived knowledge quality can be said to be determined by knowledge management processes occurring in organizations [37,60–64]. Knowledge management processes and cycles consist of

subsequent activities undertaken in organizations. These are: the search for knowledge (identification), acquiring knowledge resources necessary for the organization, developing knowledge while adapting it to local conditions, distributing knowledge within the organization and using knowledge effectively. In the literature cited earlier, knowledge preservation is also indicated as an important aspect of the knowledge management process. All these stages constitute a closed management cycle found in a more or less structured way in virtually every organization (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Elements of the knowledge management process Source: own elaboration based on [37].

In relation to knowledge management in theory, elements influencing the evaluation of knowledge quality were defined. Select aspects of the entire knowledge management process can be referred to under the process approach.

3. Materials and Methods

The research was carried out between November and December 2019 in the form of an online questionnaire. The aim of the study was to identify factors that have a positive impact on the quality of knowledge in knowledge management processes in the contemporary organization. The assessment of the quality of knowledge, which was indicated earlier in the article, is a subjective assessment. Tactical managers in organizations were invited to the study. The authors concluded that tactical managers have knowledge about the effectiveness of the implementation of the tasks entrusted to them and how to implement these tasks. Managers are able to assess the factors included in the knowledge management process, which are listed in Table 1. The authors' particular interest is the relationship between knowledge quality and modern IT tools and technical infrastructure available in modern organizations. Therefore, the research hypothesis is that the quality of knowledge is positively influenced by the technical infrastructure available in organizations, both registered and conducting business activity in Poland. For international organizations, the survey was intended for representatives of these companies' local branches.

The companies invited to the study were organizations with which the authors of the article had previously collaborated. The key criterion that was used to select the organizations invited to participate in the survey was the economic efficiency of the organization. The initial assumption verifying economic efficiency was obtaining a positive financial result for the last 3 years, i.e., in the period 2016–2018. All organizations invited to the study met this condition, which indicates effective management of resources in the organization, including knowledge resources. The requirement of achieving economic efficiency during a period of three consecutive years was the criterion for choosing an organization for research. For this reason, the research sample cannot be considered as completely random and it has been chosen in a targeted manner.

 Table 1. Elements influencing evaluations of knowledge quality in knowledge management processes in contemporary organizations.

Construct	Characteristic
Knowledge quality (KQ)	Knowledge is evaluated taking into account aspects such as its quantity, quality and availability for the implementation of tasks [16,57–59,61,62,64,65]
Identification (IDT)	There are knowledge repositories (databases, IT systems, etc.) or formal job positions related to knowledge management, e.g., knowledge manager, knowledge management specialist. Informal knowledge managers or dedicated knowledge specialists may also appear. [62,64,66]
Acquisition (ACQ)	Managers and non-executive employees have access to knowledge bases and are able to use them. In addition, knowledge managers support the work of other organization members by showing willingness to cooperate and distribute knowledge. Knowledge can be acquired from external sources (training, courses, access to external repositories). [46–48,65–69].
Development (DEV)	The organization develops resources, actively responds to the training needs of employees and organization members. Organization supports independent acquisition of knowledge by members [36,63,67–71]
Distribution (DST)	The organization creates mechanisms enabling knowledge distribution and supports knowledge-sharing processes between employees, e.g., through a mentoring, coaching system or cooperation in the task or project teams. Organization also provides tools to support distribution and exchange of knowledge between employees. [33,36,62,68–71].
Use (USE)	The organizational knowledge, including employee knowledge, is properly used to carry out specific tasks. Tasks are assigned based on employee competences, enabling full use of their knowledge and of the knowledge existing in repositories [36,66,68,69]

The companies invited all operate in modern industries (Table 2). Such activity requires them to have extensive experience and process efficiency, but also to continually develop knowledge resources. They are both international and Polish enterprises. They differ not only in industry, but also in organizational structures, market coverage and size. Both small companies, i.e., those employing up to 25 employees, and large companies, i.e., those employing more than 250 employees, were invited to the study.

The aim of the study was to determine the factors influencing the quality of knowledge management in organizations, and to identify those of them with the strongest impacts based on subjective evaluation of responses. Research questions focused on factors influencing knowledge management in business organizations. Respondents were asked to respond using a five-point Likert scale, where 1 was the lowest score and 5 the highest.

The survey was addressed to organization managers. For larger organizations, several managers representing different branches of the organization were allowed to complete the survey, as evidenced by the size of the research sample, which is larger than the number of organizations invited to participate in the study. A total of 58 organizations selected in a non-random way were invited. Out of those, 4 did not complete the survey and 12 completed it either incorrectly or not in full. The remaining 84 surveys were used for further analysis. Table 2 shows the characteristics of the analyzed organizations.

The questions addressed to survey participants were intended to indicate the factors influencing their perceived and subjectively evaluated quality of knowledge. For organizations whose goals included achieving tangible financial results, knowledge quality was evaluated through the prism of how effective a company is in achieving their goals. Therefore, the knowledge quality factor (KQ) is estimated in the study as a component of the quantity, quality and availability of knowledge for tasks implemented in the organization. Knowledge quality in the study is a response variable, influenced by the explanatory variables listed in Table 2. Each of the factors was assigned to one of the stages of

the knowledge management cycle described earlier in the paper. The study assumes that knowledge management in organizations, regardless of their size or scope of activity, encompasses elements such as conscious identification of knowledge sources and knowledge acquisition, knowledge development for the needs of the organization and its processes and projects, knowledge distribution within the organization and its effective use. Since the vast majority of respondents were managers performing job duties at the tactical level of the organizational structure, the survey was completed by team managers, functional managers and project leaders in organizations. It was therefore not addressed to those involved in organizational management at the strategic level (management board, senior management). The survey does not cover knowledge preservation issues, as this element is directly related to the implementation of organizational strategy.

1		1
Organization's Characteristic	N = 58	%
Organization size		
Large	23	39.66%
Medium	26	44.83%
Small	9	15.52%
International organization		
Yes	23	39.66%
No	35	60.34%
Industry		
ICT	21	36.21%
FMCG	10	17.24%
Manufacturing	8	13.79%
Electric power	7	12.07%
Services	7	12.07%
Pharmaceutical and cosmetics	3	5.17%
Other	2	3.45%
Participant's characteristic	N = 84	%
Respondent age		
Under 30	11	13.10%
30-40	31	36.90%
40-55	24	28.57%
55+	18	21.43%
Sex		
Female	38	45.24%
Male	46	54.76%
Position		
Owner/CEO	19	22.62%
Manager	65	77.38%

Table 2.	Description	of research	sample.
----------	-------------	-------------	---------

4. Results

According to obtained responses, knowledge quality scores highest in small organizations and lowest in large organizations. Figure 2 shows the weighted averages of the responses to the question about the quality of knowledge that each organization has and manages. The measure of the coefficient defining the quality of knowledge (KQ) is a value that is the arithmetic average of the answers given by the survey's participants to the questions regarding the amount of knowledge available to the employee, the degree of matching this knowledge to the current needs of the employee and ease of access to the necessary knowledge. Ease of access applies to both knowledge accumulated in the internal repositories of the organization and access to external knowledge.



Figure 2. Evaluation of knowledge management quality in organizations by size.

All the factors described in Table 2 sprang directly from knowledge management processes taking place in organizations. To indicate the existence of a linear correlation between the factors, the Pearson linear correlation coefficient was used. The results presented in Table 3 refer to the relationship between the knowledge quality variable (KQ) and the explanatory variables. The correlation coefficient indicates the degree and direction of correlation between the variables.

Table 3. Results of linear correlation analysis measured with the Pearson coefficient.

Construct	KQ Knowledge Quality
KQ Knowledge quality	1
IDT_1	0.358366
IDT_2	0.127963
IDT_3	-0.14069
ACQ_1	0.367336
ACQ_2	-0.00077
ACQ_3	0.311507
DEV_1	0.497355
DEV_2	0.099847
DST_1	0.058817
DST_2	0.499505
USE_1	-0.08177
USE_2	0.510323

Correlation coefficient values can take values from -1 to 1, with extreme values meaning direct correlations between negative and positive factors. For example, the IDT_3 factor, which says that informal knowledge managers exist in organizations, depends on the quality of knowledge management. However, the value of the coefficient shows that this impact is negligible. Table 4, which presents the results of the correlation analysis, indicates factors whose value are > 0.25; i.e., it can be assumed that the coupling with them and with the response variable is visible. The analysis lacks coefficients for which the correlation is very strong; i.e., it is close to the value of 1, which may be partly explained by the limited research sample. A correlation analysis carried out in this way shows that knowledge quality is correlated significantly and also positively with the following factors:

- IDT_1—knowledge repositories (databases, IT systems, etc.) exist in the organization and employees are aware of the need to use them as part of duties arising from their job position
- ACQ_1—organization members have access to knowledge bases, and more importantly, are able to use them
- ACQ_3—organization enables members to acquire knowledge from external sources. In practice, this means the organization conducts training and courses, while employees have, if necessary, access to external knowledge repositories.
- DEV_1—organization actively responds to the training needs of employees, organization members. This is when employees have the opportunity to indicate to the employer a type of knowledge
that may be useful to them in order to better perform job duties. In particular, they may indicate courses, training or study that correspond to their career and development paths.

- DST_2—organization provides tools to support distribution and exchange of knowledge. These tools can be technological solutions, networks, repositories, disks or software supporting knowledge and communication management within the organization.
- USE_2—employee knowledge is well used in the implementation of tasks. This is related to the employee's subjective feelings and personal satisfaction with the tasks assigned to him/her, and the possibility of using his/her knowledge and experience in the implementation of the tasks he or she is entrusted with.

Construct	Questions—Elements of Quality in Processes
Knowledge quality (KQ)	Organization members are satisfied with the quantity, quality and availability of knowledge for the implementation of tasks
Identification (IDT)	IDT_1—Knowledge repositories (databases, IT systems, etc.) exist in the organization IDT_2—Formal knowledge manager position exists in organizations IDT_3—Informal knowledge manager positions exist in organizations
Acquisition (ACQ)	ACQ_1—Organization members have access to knowledge bases and are able to use them ACQ_2—Knowledge manager supports the work of other organization members (availability, willingness to cooperate) ACQ_3—Organization enables members to acquire knowledge from external sources (training, courses, access to external repositories)
Development (DEV)	DEV_1—Organization actively responds to the training needs of employees, organization members DEV_2—Organization supports independent knowledge acquisition by organization members
Distribution (DST)	DST_1—Organization supports processes of knowledge distribution between employees, e.g., through a mentoring system or cooperation in task teams DST_2—Organization provides tools to support distribution and exchange of knowledge
Use (USE)	USE_1—Tasks are assigned according to the employee knowledge criterion USE_2—Employee knowledge is well used in the implementation of tasks

Table 4. Elements influencing evaluation of the state of knowledge management quality in organizations.

Factors that correlate the most strongly with knowledge quality perceived by organization members can be divided into two basic groups: one is knowledge repositories and systems supporting knowledge management in the organization, and the other is factors directly related to employees—the fact of appreciating and using their knowledge and experience, along with each employee's ability to influence their further development path. This is reflected in those factors that pointed to the importance of choosing training, developing and using individual knowledge. Tools and infrastructure—which includes knowledge bases, repositories and software—support individual employees in their work and can help improve workplace performance overall, but they can also be favorable to group learning and group use of knowledge. However, while the correlation only shows the relationship between the factors, it fails to clarify the underlying causal relations between them. To this end, a linear regression analysis was performed for the analyzed variables. Regression equation, taking into account all analyzed and specified factors at a coefficient level of $R^2 = 0.69$ (meaning that the model explains the phenomenon in 69%), is a measure of the model's goodness-of-fit and is shown in Table 5 with a standard error of 0.47.

	Coefficient	t-Stat	<i>p</i> -Value
Intercept	-0.308710889	-0.4335395	0.665937255
IDT_1	0.121414573	1.307279	0.195335799
IDT_2	0.127159787	1.7628235	0.082233532
IDT_3	-0.084539155	-1.1245182	0.264580681
ACQ_1	0.131808493	1.5799756	0.118557558
ACQ_2	0.007576083	0.0799111	0.936532757
ACQ_3	0.143755295	1.5631931	0.122453746
DEV_1	0.13420902	1.3625544	0.177329519
DEV_2	-0.053968672	-0.6171196	0.539129916
DST_1	0.024655134	0.3469759	0.729635749
DST_2	0.295615007	3.1969216	0.002074733
USE_1	-0.077286052	-1.0307937	0.306136259
USE_2	0.326967829	3.6582281	0.000484185

Table 5. Result of linear regression analysis for the initial model.

As a result of subsequent iterations, the following factors were removed from the model based on the lowest t-statistic values (in order of removal):

- ACQ_2—knowledge manager supports the work of other organization members (availability, willingness to cooperate).
- DEV_2—organization supports independent acquisition of knowledge by organization members.
- DST_1—organization supports processes of knowledge distribution between employees, e.g., through a mentoring system or cooperation in task teams.
- IDT_3—informal knowledge managers exist in organizations.
- USE_1—Tasks are assigned according to the employee knowledge criterion.
- IDT_1—knowledge repositories (databases, IT systems) exist in the organization and employees are aware of the need to use them as part of duties arising from their job position.
- ACQ_3—organization enables its members to acquire knowledge from external sources.
- DEV_1—organization actively responds to the training needs of employees, organization members.

Let us note that the last three factors were taken into account earlier at the correlation stage. This means that true linear correlations exist between them and the quality of knowledge evaluated by the respondents, but the same cannot be said with confidence about the impact between them and knowledge quality. The final regression model, after the elimination of factors with the lowest values in Student's t-statistics, at the level of $R^2 = 0.72$ and with a standard error rate of 0.59, indicates three factors directly influencing subjective knowledge quality as evaluated by the respondents (Table 6).

Table 6. Results of regression analysis after rejection of factors with lower significance as measures by
Student's t-statistics.

	Coefficients	Standard Error	t-Stat	<i>p</i> -Value
Intercept	0.094806	0.426412483	0.222333	0.824621
ACQ_1	0.214223	0.076037598	2.817336	0.006098
DST_2	0.416954	0.082605271	5.047541	2.75E-06
USE_2	0.352535	0.082910821	4.251979	5.7E-05

Factors indicated in the course of regression analysis point to the existence of and employee access to databases and knowledge bases (ACQ_1) and to information systems supporting knowledge management (DST_2), also indicating the awareness that employees' knowledge is used in their work in a way that satisfies them (USE_2).

5. Discussion and Conclusions

Knowledge management is commonly applied in both large international enterprises and SMEs (Small and Medium Enterprises) [72]. It is a multifaceted concept requiring the use of appropriate systems and tools. An important issue taken up in our theoretical and empirical deliberations was to examine knowledge management quality while taking into account individual knowledge management processes, such as knowledge identification, acquisition, development, distribution and use. The biggest challenge for both scholars and active entrepreneurs is measuring knowledge and management knowledge from a quality perspective. Knowledge quality assessment is a current issue in the context of new technologies (Industry 5.0, Internet of Things, Technology of Blockchain] and social solutions [73,74].

The aim of the study was to identify factors that have a positive impact on the subjectively evaluated quality of knowledge, against the assumption that knowledge is generally held in high esteem when it enables efficient and effective implementation of entrusted tasks. This selected representatives of business organizations answered questions related to whether knowledge available to them was sufficient, timely, up-to-date, appropriate and free of errors that ultimately affect the quality and comfort of work. An interesting conclusion that can be derived from the research is that companies tend to evaluate their knowledge well, and most interestingly, that knowledge quality scores overall higher in large than in small companies. Another thought-provoking conclusion, which nonetheless requires further research, is that among the factors that most markedly affect knowledge quality are those directly related to infrastructure, i.e., access to knowledge bases and repositories, and to IT systems. This could be an interesting diving board for more in-depth research into tools and their actual applications in business organizations. Access to tools supporting knowledge management is indeed a determinant of modern management, which fully fits into the process-oriented research stream.

The research hypothesis that the quality of knowledge is positively influenced by the technical infrastructure available in organizations, including IT tools, knowledge bases and repositories, has been confirmed.

Closely related to the human, the non-technical aspect was the third factor singled out in the analysis; namely, employee satisfaction—the awareness that their knowledge is used in a proper and exhaustive way that allows them to experience fulfillment with work. This indicates the need to focus not only on tools, but also on management processes themselves, with employees at the center of considerations. The findings of this study have several important implications for managers in contemporary organizations to measure the knowledge quality in knowledge management processes and initiate successful practices within their projects.

Some limitations of the conducted research need to be acknowledged at this point, and they concern our examining of a specific group of respondents who were representatives of both local and international companies. Future research into knowledge management quality may want to draw on a larger sample and on issues related to the use and the actual impact of technical infrastructure on knowledge management processes. The issues discussed in this paper require further in-depth theoretical and empirical studies.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, Methodology, Validation, Formal analysis, Investigation, Resources, Writing—original draft preparation, Review and editing, O.S. and A.B. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Gaviria-Marin, M.; Merigó, J.M.; Baier-Fuentes, H. Knowledge management: A global examination based on bibliometric analysis. *Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang.* 2019, 140, 194–220. [CrossRef]
- Gavrilova, T.; Alsufiev, A.; Pleshkova, A. Influence of Knowledge Management Practices on Company Performance Results in Russian Context; Working Papers # 6 (E) Graduate School of Management, St. Petersburg State University: St Petersburg, Russia, 2017.
- Hislop, D.; Bosua, R.; Helms, R. Knowledge Management in Organizations: A Critical Introduction, 3rd ed.; Oxford University Press: Oxford, UK, 2013.
- Ho, C.F.; Hsieh, P.H.; Hung, W.H. Enablers and processes for effective knowledge management. *Ind. Manag. Data Syst.* 2014, 114, 734–754. [CrossRef]
- Nonaka, I.; Takeuchi, H. The Knowledge Creating Company: How Japanese Companies Create the Dynamics of Innovation; Oxford University Press: New York, NY, USA, 2005.
- Zięba, M. Knowledge Management—Current Trends and Challenges; Fundation for the Dissemination of Knowledge and Science "Cognitione": Nowy Targ, Poland, 2017.
- Bolisani, E.; Bratianu, C. The Emergence of Knowledge Management. In *Emergent Knowledge Strategies:* Strategic Thinking in Knowledge Management; Bolisani, E., Bratianu, C., Eds.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, Switzerland, 2018; pp. 23–48.
- Bootz, J.-P.; Durance, P.; Monti, R. Foresight and knowledge management. New developments in theory and practice. *Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang.* 2019, 140, 80–83. [CrossRef]
- Koç, T.; Kurt, K.; Akbiyik, A. A Brief Summary of Knowledge Management Domain: 10-Year History of the Journal of Knowledge Management. *Proceedia Comput. Sci.* 2019, 158, 891–898. [CrossRef]
- Nisar, T.M.; Prabhakar, G.; Strakova, L. Social media information benefits, knowledge management and smart organizations. J. Bus. Res. 2019, 94, 264–272. [CrossRef]
- Shujahat, M.; Sousa, M.J.; Hussain, S.; Nawaz, F.; Wang, M.; Umer, M. Translating the impact of knowledge management processes into knowledge-based innovation: The neglected and mediating role of knowledge-worker productivity. J. Bus. Res. 2019, 94, 442–450. [CrossRef]
- Spek, R.; von der Carter, G. A survey on good practices in knowledge management in European companies. In *Knowledge Management, Concepts and Practices*; Mertins, K., Heising, P., Vorbeck, J., Eds.; Springer: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2003; pp. 191–206.
- Koohang, A.; Paliszkiewicz, J.; Gołuchowski, J. Trust, Knowledge Management, and Organizational Performance: Predictors of Success in Leadership. In *Intuition, Trust, and Analytics*; Liebowitz, J., Paliszkiewicz, J., Gołuchowski, J., Eds.; CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, Auerbach Publications: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2018; pp. 83–105.
- Poston, R.S.; Speier, C. Effective use of knowledge management systems: A process model of content ratings and credibility indicators. *MIS Q.* 2005, 29, 221–244. [CrossRef]
- 15. Donate, M.J.; de Pablo, J.S. The role of knowledge-oriented leadership in knowledge management practices and innovation. J. Bus. Res. 2015, 68, 360–370. [CrossRef]
- Deepankar, C.; Arora, M.; Sharma, P. Evaluating Knowledge Quality in Knowledge Management Systems. J. Stat. Appl. Probab. 2018, 1, 75–84.
- 17. Vaccaro, A.; Parente, R.; Veloso, F.M. Knowledge management tools, inter-organizational relationships, innovation and firm performance. *Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang.* **2010**, *77*, 1076–1089. [CrossRef]
- 18. Skrzypek, E. Qualitative dimension of knowledge management—Theory and practice. *Zarządzanie i Finanse* **2012**, *3*, 516–530.
- Rehman, W.U.; Asghar, N.; Ahmad, K. Impact of KM practices on firms' performance: A mediating role of business process capabilities and organizational learning. *Pak. Econ. Soc. Rev.* 2015, 53, 47–80.
- Santoro, G.; Vrontis, D.; Thrassou, A.; Dezi, L. The Internet of Things: Building a knowledge management system for open innovation and knowledge management capacity. *Technol. Forecast. Soc. Chang.* 2018, 136, 347–354. [CrossRef]
- 21. Abubakar, A.M.; Elrehail, H.; Alatailat, M.A.; Elc, A. Knowledge management, decision-making style and organizational performance. J. Innov. Knowl. 2019, 4, 104–114. [CrossRef]
- 22. Andreeva, T.; Kianto, A. Knowledge processes, knowledge-intensity and innovation: A moderated mediation analysis. *J. Knowl. Manag.* 2011, *15*, 1016–1034. [CrossRef]

- Barnes, S.; Milton, N. Designing a Successful KM Strategy: A Guide for the Knowledge Management Professional; Information Today Inc.: Medford, NJ, US, 2015.
- Córdova, F.M.; Duránb, C.A.; Pincheiraa, M.; Palominosc, F.; Galindod, R. Knowledge Management of Intangible Actives in Service Companies. *Procedia Comput. Sci.* 2019, 162, 596–603. [CrossRef]
- 25. Du Plessis, M. The role of knowledge management in innovation. J. Knowl. Manag. 2007, 11, 20–29. [CrossRef]
- Liao, S.H.; Wu, C.C. System perspective of knowledge management, organizational learning, and organizational innovation. *Expert Syst. Appl.* 2010, 37, 1096–1103. [CrossRef]
- Lundvall, B.A.; Nielsen, P. Knowledge management and innovation performance. Int. J. Manpow. 2007, 28, 207–223. [CrossRef]
- Yin-Kuan, N.; Voon-Hsien, L.; Tun-Lee, F.A.; Pei-Lee, G. The Relationship between Knowledge Management Practices and Technological Innovation: A Conceptual Framework. *Int. J. Manag. Knowl. Learn.* 2012, 1, 71–89.
- 29. Darroch, J. Knowledge management, innovation and firm performance. J. Knowl. Manag. 2005, 9, 101–115. [CrossRef]
- Walecka-Jankowska, K. Knowledge management. In Contemporary Management Methods in Theory and Practice; Hopej, M., Kral, Z., Eds.; Oficyna Wydawnicza Politechniki Wrocławskiej Wrocław: Wrocław, Poland, 2011; pp. 191–210.
- Sun, P. Five critical knowledge management organizational themes. J. Knowl. Manag. 2010, 30, 507–523. [CrossRef]
- Tiago, M.T.B.; Couto, J.P.A.; Tiago, F.G.; Vieira, A.C. Knowledge management: An overview of European reality. *Manag. Res. News* 2007, 30, 100–114. [CrossRef]
- Żytniewski, M. Integration of knowledge management systems and business processes using multi-agent systems. Int. J. Comput. Intell. Stud. 2016, 5, 180–196. [CrossRef]
- Davenport, T.; Prusak, L. Working Knowledge: How Organizations Manage What They Know; Harvard Business School Press: Boston, MA, USA, 2000.
- Linderman, K.; Schroeder, R.G.; Sanders, J.A. Knowledge Framework Underlying Process Management. Decis. Sci. 2010, 41, 689–719. [CrossRef]
- 36. Kisielnicki, J.; Sobolewska, O. *Knowledge Management and Innovation in Network Organizations*; IGI Global: Hershey, PA, USA, 2019.
- 37. Probst, G.; Raub, S.; Romhardt, K. Managing Knowledge; Wiley: London, UK, 2005.
- 38. Bukowitz, W.; Williams, R. The Knowledge Management Fieldbook; Prentice Hall: London, UK, 2000.
- Mohapatra, S.; Agrawal, A.; Satpathy, A. Designing Knowledge Management Enabled Business Strategies; Springer International Publishing: Cham, Switzerland, 2016.
- 40. Paschek, D.; Ivascu, L.; Draghici, A. Knowledge management–The Foundation for a Successful Business Process Management. *Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci.* 2018, 238, 182–191. [CrossRef]
- Raudeliŭniené, J.; Davidavičiené, V.; Jakubavičius, A. Knowledge management process model. *Entrep. Sustain.* 2018, 5, 542–554. [CrossRef]
- 42. Ding, W.; Choi, E.; Aoyama, A. Relational study of wise (phronetic) leadership, knowledge management capability, and innovation performance. *Asia Pac. Manag. Rev.* **2019**, *24*, 310–317. [CrossRef]
- Naqshbandi, M.M.; Jasimuddin, S.M. Knowledge-oriented leadership and open innovation: Role of knowledge management capability in France-based multinationals. *Int. Bus. Rev.* 2018, 27, 701–713. [CrossRef]
- Paliszkiewicz, J. The foundations of trust. In *Intuition, Trust, and Analytics*; Liebowitz, J., Paliszkiewicz, J., Gołuchowski, J., Eds.; Taylor & Francis Group, Auerbach Publications: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 2018; pp. 69–81.
- 45. Paliszkiewicz, J.; Gołuchowski, J. The relationship between Knowledge Sharing, Use of Social Media, Level of Trust in Organization, and Organizational Performance: A proposal for Future Research. In *Modern Information Systems in Management—Challenges and Solutions*; Wawrzyniak, A., Wasikowska, B., Eds.; Polish Information Processing Society: Warsaw, Poland, 2016; pp. 61–84.
- 46. Paliszkiewicz, J. The future of knowledge management. In Proceedings of the IFLA, Satellite Meeting—Knowledge management Section, Wroclaw, Poland, 18 August 2017.
- 47. Alavi, M.; Leidner, D. Knowledge management and knowledge management systems: Conceptual foundations and research issues. *MIS Q.* **2001**, *25*, 107–136. [CrossRef]

- Dumas, M.; van der Aalst, W.M.P.; Hofstede, A.H.M. (Eds.) Process-Aware Information Systems: Bridging People and Software Through Process Technology; John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2005.
- Bartol, K.; Srivastava, A. Encouraging knowledge sharing: The role of organizational reward systems. J. Leadersh. Organ. Stud. 2002, 19, 64–76. [CrossRef]
- 50. Chen, C.J.; Huang, J.W. Strategic human resource practice and innovation performance—The mediating role of knowledge management capacity. *J. Bus. Res.* **2009**, *62*, 104–114. [CrossRef]
- Leja, K. Knowledge Management Perspectives in Polish Small and Medium Enterprises; Wydział Zarządzania i Ekonomii Politechniki Gdańskiej: Gdańsk, Poland, 2003.
- 52. Choi, B.; Poon, S.K.; Davis, J.G.; Choi, B. Effects of knowledge management strategy on organizational performance: A complementarity theory-based approach. *Omega* **2008**, *36*, 235–251. [CrossRef]
- 53. Wiig, K.M. Knowledge Management Methods: Practical Approaches to Managing Knowledge; Schema Press: Arlington, TX, USA, 2005.
- 54. Rapley, M. Quality of Life Research; Thousand Oaks CA: London, UK, 2003.
- Ferrans, C.E. Definitions and conceptual models of quality of life. In Outcomes Assessment in Cancer; Lipscomb, J., Gotay, C.C., Synder, C., Eds.; Cambridge University Press: New York, NY, USA, 2005; pp. 14–30.
- 56. Barofsky, I. Quality; Springer: New York, NY, USA, 2012.
- 57. Hamrol, A. Quality Management with Examples; PWN: Warszawa, Poland, 2013.
- Hsu, S.H.; Shen, H.P. Knowledge management and its relationship with TQM. *Total Qual. Manag.* 2005, 16, 351–361. [CrossRef]
- Wen, Y.F. An effectiveness measurement model for knowledge management. *Knowl. Based Syst.* 2009, 22, 363–367. [CrossRef]
- 60. Jemielniak, D.; Koźmiński, A. (Eds.) *Knowledge Management;* Oficyna Wydawnicza Wolters Kluwer: Warszawa, Poland, 2012.
- 61. Bełz, G.; Hopej, M.; Zgrzywa-Ziemak, A. (Eds.) *Knowledge in Management of a Contemporary Organization*; Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego: Wrocław, Poland, 2013.
- 62. Fazlacić, J. Innovative Knowledge Management; Difin: Warszawa, Poland, 2014.
- 63. Paliszkiewicz, J.; Svanadze, S.; Jikia, M. The role of knowledge management processes on organizational culture. *Online J. Appl. Knowl. Manag.* 2017, *5*, 29–44. [CrossRef]
- 64. Kisielnicki, J. *Project Management. People, Procedures, Results;* Oficyna Wydawnicza Wolters Kluwer business: Warszawa, Poland, 2012.
- Ghobadi, S.; D'Ambra, J. Knowledge sharing in cross-functional teams: A coopetitive model. J. Knowl. Manag. 2011, 16, 285–301. [CrossRef]
- 66. Davenport, T.H. *Thinking for a Living: How to Get Better Performances and Results from Knowledge Workers;* Oficyna Wydawnicza Wolters Kluwer business: Warszawa, Poland, 2007.
- 67. Kobyłko, G.; Morawski, M. (Eds.) Knowledge Oriented Enterprise; Difin: Warszawa, Poland, 2006.
- 68. Kirkpatrick, D.L. Evaluating Training Programs; Wydawnictwo Studio Emka: Warszawa, Poland, 1998.
- Lin, H.F. Knowledge sharing and firm innovation capability: An empirical study. Int. J. Manpow. 2007, 28, 315–332. [CrossRef]
- 70. Trocki, M. Modern Project Management; Wydawnictwo PWE: Warszawa, Poland, 2012.
- 71. Bramley, P. *Evaluating Training Effectiveness;* Oficyna Wydawnicza Wolters Kluwer business: Warszawa, Poland, 2007.
- Uzelac, Z.; Ćelić, D.; Petrov, V.; Draškowić, Z.; Berić, D. Comparative analysis of knowledge management activities in SMEs: Empirical study from a developing country. *Procedia Manuf.* 2018, 17, 523–530. [CrossRef]
- 73. Aslam, F.; Aimin, W.; Li, M.; Ur Rehman, K. Innovation in the Era of IoT and Industry 5.0: Absolute Innovation Management (AIM) Framework. *Information* **2020**, *11*, 124. [CrossRef]
- 74. Nyame, G.; Qin, Z.; Obour Agyekum, K.-B.; Sifah, E.B. An ECDSA Approach to Access Control in Knowledge Management Systems Using Blockchain. *Information* **2020**, *11*, 111. [CrossRef]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).





Article Communication Strategies in Social Media in the Example of ICT Companies

Anna Losa-Jonczyk

Department of Communication Design and Analysis, University of Economics in Katowice, 40-287 Katowice, Poland; anna.losa-jonczyk@ue.katowice.pl

Received: 17 March 2020; Accepted: 2 May 2020; Published: 5 May 2020



Abstract: This article aims to present the results of pilot studies on the involvement of the four largest Information Communication Technology (ICT) companies in promoting the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) through social media. Studies examine which communication strategy is used by companies in social media. The research was carried out using the method of the content of messages posted on the official Facebook and Twitter accounts of the ICT companies' analysis. The analysis showed that the companies prefer corporate ability communication strategy over Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) or a hybrid one. Posts rarely concern the company's activities related to social and environmental responsibility. Although they engage in activities supporting the achievement of the SDGs and provide information about it on their corporate websites, the topic of sustainable development has been taken up in small numbers in the posts examined.

Keywords: communication; social media; strategy; sustainable development; corporate responsibility; ICT industry

1. Introduction

Nowadays, a responsible business is a business that joins in the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), which were declared by the United Nations in 2015 and are binding for all nations. Enterprises that have a significant impact on society and environment should play a key role in promoting and implementing the SDGs. Increasing amounts of transmitted data in mobile networks, the maintenance of server rooms, data centers and the production of new equipment increase the share of Information Communication Technology (ICT) companies' global greenhouse gas emissions. Furthermore, products and services offered by enterprises in this industry significantly affect changes in the functioning of individuals and societies, that's why this industry should be the subject of research.

The article aims to present the results of pilot studies on the involvement of the four largest ICT companies in promoting the Sustainable Development Goals through social media. Studies examine which communication strategy—corporate ability or corporate social responsibility—is used by companies in social media.

In the first part of the article, Sustainable Development and Corporate Social Responsibility are described. Then in the second part, the methodology of the research is presented, followed by the results of the study and discussion. The last part of the article presents conclusions and research limitations.

2. Literature Review

2.1. Sustainable Development

In September 2015, the United Nations member states adopted the document Transforming our world—An Agenda for Sustainable Development 2030 [1], which includes 17 Sustainable Development Goals [2]. The implementation of the adopted directions of development is to eliminate poverty,

reduce inequalities and preserve or improve the state of the natural environment while ensuring economic growth worldwide.

The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), adopted by 193 countries, are a broad vision of a better future for the world but firmly rooted in reality. For each goal, tasks have been set with specific indicators to be achieved by the end of 2030. In order to achieve it, joint actions of governments of all countries are needed, which will make real changes in politics and the economy. However, the business also plays a crucial role in achieving the goals, which is why the United Nations has called on the private sector to engage in activities aimed at global sustainable development. The business has great potential to support the achievement of the SDGs in many areas. Starting with The Goal 8, promoting decent work for all people and economic growth, where private companies have a wide range of activities to address labor issues, through the goal of the right to equal treatment of the sexes (Goal 5) and the creation of multilateral partnerships for sustainable development (Goal 17). The role of business in achieving environmental objectives is also invaluable (Goals 6, 7, 13, 14, 15 and 16). One of the key arguments supporting the thesis about the obligation for a business to join the fight for environmental improvement is the fact that it is a business that contributes most to its devastation.

Companies can contribute to the implementation of the SDGs in two ways. Firstly, by educating the society and promoting the idea of sustainable development and the SDGs. Implementation of educational activities and running information and promotion campaigns seems to be the easiest way to get involved in the activities for Agenda 2030.

Greater business involvement is required to integrate the SDGs into the company's development strategy and to implement specific actions at the operational level. However, surveys conducted annually by The Ethical Corporation show that the interest of business in incorporating the SDGs into their daily business activities is growing [3]. Aware of the considerable role that business plays in the implementation of Sustainable Development, the UN Global Compact, in parallel with the development of the SDGs, has also undertaken work on cooperation programs with the private sector. The programs' recommendations also refer to the ICT industry, as these companies have a significant impact on society but also have great opportunities to contribute to the achievement of the SDGs.

The ICT sector is currently the main driver of development and innovation worldwide. Modern, advanced information and communication technologies significantly affect the competitiveness of enterprises and national economies, as well as changes in the functioning of modern societies [4]. When analyzing the impact of the ICT sector on the economy and society, one cannot forget about the adverse effects of its activities. The main factors influencing environmental pollution by enterprises in this sector are considered to be materials used in the production of ICT equipment (harmful chemicals) and energy consumed during the manufacture of products and later in the process of their use [5]. The results of an analysis conducted by McMaster University [6] showed that the carbon footprint left by IT equipment in 2007 accounted for 1 percent of the carbon footprint and the forecast of the carbon footprint of ICTs for 2040 is 14 percent of total greenhouse gas emissions.

The amount of CO2 emitted during the production of a new smartphone equals the amount of gas emitted to the atmosphere when using an existing smartphone model within ten years. Large companies are still tempting consumers with new models of their products, which causes another environmental problem—disposal of used equipment. The increasing number of transmitted data, maintenance of server rooms and data centers further increase the share of the ICT industry in global greenhouse gas emissions. The environmental impact of ICT companies is significant, so reducing the negative impact of the industry remains one of its priorities. ICT companies are the primary energy consumer in urban areas and the European Union is promoting measures to improve the energy efficiency of the sector in order to reduce gas emissions. The actions can be divided into two groups—the first one is actions to greening the ICT sector and the second one is the ecology-enhancing actions that the ICST supports. The database of good practices of enterprises in an area of greening information technologies has been developed as part of the Green IT Network Europe Project [7]. Not only in the pro-environmental area, the ICT sector is obliged to take corrective actions but equally, often issues of ensuring appropriate working conditions in the supply chain are raised (e.g., in companies involved in the extraction of needed raw materials, production of electronic components or recycling of used electronics).

Stakeholders' expectations of ICT companies apply to both the activities of companies and using the communication opportunities offered by their products and services. The developing communication technologies make it possible not only to reach a vast audience with information on Sustainable Development but also to involve the recipients of communications in the debate on Sustain Development and actual participation in activities supporting the implementation of SDGs [8].

2.2. Corporate Social Responsibility

The contemporary discussion on corporate responsibility (CSR) and sustainable development shows a clear analogy between the two concepts [9]. Sustainable development means development that meets people's current needs without compromising future generations' ability to meet their needs. In order to achieve the SDGs, it is necessary to have three elements—economic growth, social inclusion and environmental protection [10]. This is a type of development that, using appropriate technologies, does not degrade the environment, is economically viable and socially acceptable. In the early definitions of CSR appearing in the literature, ecological aspects were rarely emphasized. A. Dashlrud explains this fact by the division of CSR at the end of the 20th century by the World Business Council for Sustainable Development into two areas—corporate social responsibility and corporate environmental responsibility [11]. However, both environmental, social and economic areas are marked in the definition contained in 2010 in ISO 26000 standard. The definition states that an organization's social responsibility is a responsibility for the impact of its decisions and actions (products, services, processes) on society and the environment through transparent and ethical behavior that contributes to sustainable development, health and well-being of society [12]. The standard assumptions of CSR and Sustainable Development make these concepts often used interchangeably [13].

The changes taking place both in the field of information and communication technologies used in organizations, as well as in the awareness of a wide range of stakeholders, expecting from an organization the transparency of activities and real dialogue, have increased the importance of CSR and Sustainable Development communication among company managers and scientists. The first attempt to separate research on corporate social responsibility communication in the research area of the phenomenon of CSR based on scientific discussion took place in 2002. Maignan and Ralston published the results of research on CSR communication online, which was conducted in Europe and the United States. For the first time, the authors marked the distinction between social responsibility practices and CSR communication [14,15].

A retrospective look at the development of interest of researchers and practitioners in communicating CSR allows for distinguishing several stages of the perception's evolution of this issue and factors that influenced the changes in the perception of communicating social responsibility [16]. Specific periods of evolution, together with factors of change, are presented in Table 1.

Factor	Period	Changes in the CSR Communicating
Stakeholder involvement and co-creation	2010-currently	From linear to networked CSR communicating
Stakeholder transparency requirements, the growing role of social media	2000–2010	The convergence of current CSR and communication practices
Stimulation of governmental and no-governmental organizations	The 1990s–2000	CSR reporting
Increased activity in CSR	The 1990s.	Beginning of non-financial disclosure
		1.1.1.1.1

 Table 1. External factors determining changes in the approach to communicating Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR).

Source: Own study based on Golob et al. [16].

The first stage began in the 1990s when business ethics and the practice of combining joint activities of large companies with Non-Governmental Organizations (NGOs) and trade unions became particularly important. The first international initiatives related to the regulation of business ethics principles have emerged, such as the Ethical Trading Initiative or The United Nations Global Compact. During this period, research work, which dealt with aspects of communicating social responsibility, was mainly related to the concept of reputation and management of relations with stakeholders [17,18]. The Internet and the opportunities it offered had an increasing influence on changes in communication at that time [15]. The period between the nineties and the beginning of the 21st century was a time of development of governmental and international organizations that supported voluntary CSR activities of business organizations and first attempts at non-financial reporting. The first non-financial report was published by Shell in 1998, thus setting a precedent for other companies [19]. Initiatives were launched during this period that promoted communication of activities for society and environment, developed principles of social reporting and influenced the evolvement of the concept of corporate responsibility and Sustainable Development (e.g., The Global Reporting Initiative or The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development). The guidelines for non-financial reporting included in the Global Reporting Initiative are still the most frequently used principles in the reporting process undertaken by business and non-business organizations. The initiatives created during that period contributed to increasing the awareness of the need to communicate CSR and Sustainable Development among organizations. After 2008, there are further changes in the perception of CSR communication and the following factors cause them—first of all, there is the institutionalization of non-financial reporting; processes related to reporting of CSR activities take on vital importance in organizations. Moreover, non-financial reporting in some countries ceases to be voluntary and becomes mandatory in certain areas (e.g., France, Germany, Spain, Scandinavia, USA, Japan). In countries where reporting is still optional, pressure from the society, government and foreign contractors makes organizations aware of the need to communicate CSR and Sustainable Development activities to stakeholders using this tool. Companies report on their social and environmental activities because they want to act openly and transparently and show how they contribute to Sustainable Development [15,20].

The process of adapting the communication strategy to the organization's business strategy due to the tendency to treat communication as a strategic business challenge [21] is another factor influencing the change in the perception of social responsibility and Sustainable Development communication. The development of social media resulted in an increase in communication needs on the part of stakeholders requiring the organization to be transparent was also outstanding. After 2011, the time has come when CSR communication has become a subject widely discussed and studied by scientists and practitioners. New tools for communicating with the environment are rapidly appearing and the stakeholders themselves require adjusting the content and channel to their needs. Moreover, stakeholders expect communication, which will be a real dialogue between the organization and its environment. The expansion of social media, in a way, forces the organization's strategic approach to communicating social responsibility and Sustainable Development. Nowadays, the organization's communication has become a tool enabling the participation of stakeholders in the processes of shaping CSR policy and strategy, which respond to real challenges of the internal and external environment [15].

The list of external factors determining changes in the approach to communicating the organization's responsibility is presented in Table 1.

Sustainable Development communication is described in the literature in three forms—corporate communication, advocacy and development communication [22]. Corporate communication in this context refers to the flow of communication within the organization in order to raise employees' level of awareness and competencies about corporate responsibility and the SDGs. Corporate communication is also about creating the image of a responsible organization, aiming at the Sustainable Development, among specific stakeholder groups, for example, local community, supervisory board or customers.

Advocacy—the purpose of this form of communication is to support the Sustainable Development
policy and raise the recipients' awareness of specific problems, such as poverty, the effects of

climate change or care for clean energy. Advocacy communication goals are achieved primarily through the activities of journalists and widely understood mas media are the tools used in their implementation.

• Development Communication (also referred to as Communication for Development) is defined in the literature as a process of the based on dialog communication, which involves a strategic approach to the use of communication methods and tools to cause social change. It is used to identify and analyze the needs, problems and risks associated with Sustainable Development. The three key elements characteristic of Development Communication are process, dialogue and the pursuit of change.

Mefalopulos and Grenna also analyze in their research the main communication paradigms in the context of Sustainable Development since the last century:

- Modernization paradigm—implemented since the 1950s in communication about global development by emphasizing the role of new technologies and scientific methods in the realization of the idea of maintaining peace and prosperity around the world. Communication took place mainly through mass-media; it was a one-way communication (top-down process).
- The paradigm of dependence—initiated in the 1970s. Communication in this paradigm was understood as a tool for educating society and creating alliances between developing countries. The media should, by definition, be under the supervision of the state, as the state represents the vital interests of society.
- The co-participation paradigm—the third paradigm is based on the idea of public participation
 in the process of communicating about world development. In this paradigm, the possibility of
 exchanging opinions, experiences and knowledge between the sender and the recipient is ensured.
 Society becomes a co-creator of a world development strategy. The adoption of such a model of
 communicating about Sustainable Development does not change the traditionally understood
 role of the mass media. The media continue to inform and promote but this is no longer their only
 function in reality, where every recipient of a message can easily express their opinions.

In the research of the last twenty years, CSR communication has been increasingly important due to its role in the development of CSR policies and activities. The implementation of goals set by socially responsible organizations requires constant adaptation of business and communication strategy to the changing expectations of the environment.

Research shows that communicating using Twitter increases the level of identification of stakeholders, especially consumers, with an organization. According to researchers [23], even though external stakeholders have much less direct contact with an organization than employees, by contacting an organization through social media, stakeholders are often able to build a robust and lasting relationship with it. One of the first research papers trying to explain the role of microblogs in creating relations with the environment, based on the analysis of the content of accounts on Twitter, was the work of M. Etter et al. [24]. By analyzing tweets and reactions to them posted on the accounts of 30 companies, the researchers determined the levels of interactivity and intensity in communicating social responsibility. The intensity level was determined by the quantitative proportion of posts on CSR of the company to posts on other topics. Interactivity was measured by the number of stakeholder responses to published CSR tweets. The analysis resulted in a matrix defining four types of CSR communication strategies that companies can implement using a microblog in the form of Twitter:

- 1. information strategy that has a low level of interaction regardless of the level of stakeholder response,
- 2. personalized information strategy where low stakeholder responsiveness is combined with medium to high levels of interactivity,
- 3. reactive strategy—medium or high level of interactivity is combined with a high level of responsiveness,
- 4. an engagement strategy, characterized by a medium to a high degree of interactivity with an average level of environmental responsiveness.

Each of the surveyed companies was assigned to an appropriate strategy and the intensity level of CSR tweets posted by the company was determined. Conclusions from the research were included in the statement that the use of Twitter in communicating social responsibility may contribute to the increase of awareness of the organization's CSR activities. Users make CSR content available to others and reducing the negative attitude of stakeholders towards CSR activities and messages thanks to the dialogue conducted by the company and building relations with the environment. Successive research on the use of the microblog to communicate CSR conducted by Lee et al. [25] and Tao and Wilson [26] has shown that Twitter is an excellent tool to build a communication space for organizations. Those that have conducted CSR activities on a large scale have built a broader community on Twitter's corporate account around their activities than organizations that have not conducted CSR policies. Although Twitter enables organizations to create and conduct a dialogue with their environment, research conducted earlier has proved that organizations still rarely use this tool to communicate CSR. The analysis of company accounts of the surveyed organizations showed higher responsiveness of the organization in communicating CSR and less interactivity than in the case of tweets not concerning social responsibility. The level of organization's interactivity increased only in cases when stakeholders themselves contacted the organization through tweets [15,27].

Also, subsequent studies show that this tool has been used mainly to promote organizations, to a lesser extent, to build dialogue [28]. By investigating how organizations communicate via Twitter, Etter [27] analyzed their communication strategies. Based on the model of communication strategies proposed by Morsing and Schulz [29], the researcher distinguished the following strategies used by organizations in communicating via Twitter accounts:

- 1. broadcasting strategy—this strategy involves unilateral communication and information is disseminated to an anonymous recipient, rarely to an individual recipient to convey specific information,
- 2. reactive strategy—allows for two-way communication but messages only appear from the organization when the initiative is created on the side of stakeholders, the organization responds to questions and comments,
- 3. engagement strategy, enabling a proactive approach by the organization to two-way communication. The organization encourages dialogue, exchange of ideas, asking questions from stakeholders, also by frequently mentioning other users' names in tweets. It is precisely this latter communication strategy, the engagement strategy, that researchers consider being the one that should lead to the highest level of stakeholder identification with the organization and increase consumer loyalty to the brand [27,30].

Sundstrom and Levenshus [31] have narrowed down their applied research on Twitter's social responsibility communication strategies to research media companies. The analysis of the content of messages posted on the microblog allowed to identify three types of communication strategies used by the surveyed companies:

- 1. strategies for promoting the organization as a leader in the industry,
- 2. integrating social media by linking to other external sources on the internet (enhancing credibility),
- 3. creating relationships, fulfilling public relations functions in the context of involving stakeholders in the dialogue.

Research has also been conducted on the use of storytelling elements and emotional expressions in CSR tweets [32]. In the area of communicating CSR through a microblogging service such as Twitter, research was also undertaken in food and brewing companies. The research showed that customers expect companies representing the above industries to communicate about product responsibility; however, none of the surveyed companies used a dialogical, two-way and asymmetrical approach in communicating with the environment via Twitter [33]. Similarly, the results of the Shin and team [34] study showed that companies in most cases, despite using social media and communicating online

with stakeholders, still treat this channel as a place of one-way communication, mainly for information purposes. As Wigley and Lewis [35] point out, social media is only a communication tool and it is up to the organization to use it. It is the organization's responsibility to provide an environment, both online and offline, with a willingness to listen to what its stakeholders have to say and respond to problems that arise. Therefore, research in the field of social media and social responsibility communication is an important part of the research on the interactivity of communication, which involves all parties of the communication process. Research on the use of official company accounts functioning on Facebook by companies to communicate with their stakeholders was conducted by Kim, Kim and Sung [36], among others. The researchers analyzed company entries on 41 company Facebook accounts and the reactions of stakeholders to these entries, measuring the number of fans, posts posted by stakeholders and the number of responses to company posts. The study examined the correlation between six types of messages sent by a company to its stakeholders via Facebook accounts of the 500 largest companies and the intensity of responses from the recipients of the messages. It verified the research theses on the impact of a given type of message on stakeholder engagement in dialogue with the company [15].

The analysis of the content of posts on company accounts on Facebook, conducted by Haigh et al. [36], showed that organizations communicating social responsibility in social media primarily inform about CSR programs and activities, as well as achievements and awards. The leading communication strategy on Facebook was the strategy of informing about the organization's successes, the quality of products and services, the importance of the organization in the industry (called the corporate ability strategy). The research also proved that conducting interactive communication strengthens the positive perception of the organization and its CSR activities among stakeholders and influences their purchasing decisions [37].

Subsequent research on CSR communication in social media was conducted by Cho, Furey and Mohr [38] concerned with the adopted strategies of CSR communication on Facebook accounts. The analysis of the content of the posts showed that enterprises were more likely to implement an information strategy communicating on social responsibility than an interactive strategy involving stakeholders. The effectiveness of implemented communication strategies turned out to be low; recipients of messages did not engage in dialogue with organizations. Studies on the effectiveness of communicating social responsibility through Facebook accounts were also conducted in empirical studies by Abitbol and Lee [39]. They concluded that the most significant stakeholders' involvement in communication with enterprises was visible in reactions to posts on CSR activities related to the organization's business activity [15].

Research on the effectiveness of CSR communication in social media has so far been carried out in the food, media and brewing industries or cross-sectionally, for example, among Fortune 500 companies. The search of the subject literature made it possible to state that so far, no research has been carried out on communicating the SDGs in social media conducted by companies from the ICT industry.

The communication strategy defines the objectives, content and target groups that the messages formulated by the organization should reach [40]. In the opinion of the researchers, the choice of an appropriate communication strategy is crucial for obtaining a positive attitude of the stakeholders to the organization [41]. The research on communication of an organization's responsibility has revealed several typologies of communication strategies implemented by organizations. The literature most often quotes the typologies introduced by Wagner et al. [42], Drumwright [43], Kim et al. [36], Morsing and Schultz [29], Colleoni [28].

Wagner et al. [42] distinguished—taking into account the frequency of messages sent and financial outlays—two types of social responsibility communication strategies—proactive and reactive. A proactive, more aggressive strategy assumes higher communication-related investments, resulting from a higher frequency of CSR messages, for example, in the form of advertisements. A reactive strategy is characterized by a lower frequency of CSR messages of the organization and significantly lower financial outlays for this type of communication. Some researchers argue that an organization should use a reactive strategy, a unilateral communication strategy to inform stakeholders about its CSR

activities, explain the motives and sense of the commitment [29]. According to researchers, less frequent communication about CSR brings better results. However, it should also be taken into account that a reactive communication strategy carries the risk of low awareness of CSR activities undertaken by an organization among its stakeholders, which results in a lack of reaction and involvement of stakeholders in the implemented activities. On the other hand, the risk of adopting a proactive strategy is that stakeholders treat communicating social responsibility as "selling" the organization's commitment and creating only the right image [44].

In turn, Drumwright [43] presented the division of CSR communication strategies by purpose and content. He distinguished:

- 1. strategy of economic communication, where the organization's messages focus on presenting the advantages of products or services,
- 2. strategy of non-economic communication, the aim of which is to support the image of the organization building good relations with the environment,
- 3. mixed strategy, which in messages combines the promotion of products and services with the CSR message.

On the typology described above, Kim and others based their research on strategic communication of social responsibility [36]. Researchers also distinguished three main types of communication strategies used by modern organizations, which correspond to the individual strategies presented by Drumwright [43] (corporate ability strategy, corporate social responsibility strategy and hybrid strategy).

The aim of the quality strategy is, as in the economic strategy, to emphasize the quality of products and services and to build the image of the organization as a specialist on the market. Messages sent to stakeholders as part of the adopted strategy often concern the organization's success on the market, sales growth, leadership in the industry. The social responsibility strategy, on the other hand, serves the purpose of conveying information on the activities undertaken by the organization for the benefit of society and the natural environment. A hybrid strategy is a combination of the assumptions of the quality and social responsibility strategy, under which messages are sent to stakeholders concerning both the quality of products and services, as well as socially responsible activities. The aim of the quality strategy is, as in the economic strategy, to emphasize the quality of products and services and to build the image of the organization as a specialist on the market. Messages sent to stakeholders as part of the adopted strategy often concern the organization's success on the market, sales growth, leadership in the industry. The social responsibility strategy, on the other hand, serves the purpose of conveying information on the activities undertaken by the organization for the benefit of society and the natural environment. A hybrid strategy is a combination of the assumptions of the quality and social responsibility strategy, under which messages are sent to stakeholders concerning both the quality of products and services, as well as socially responsible activities [15].

Communication involving two or more parties is a fundamental condition for the implementation of the organization's social responsibility. The level at which organizations engage their stakeholders in the process of communication is a criterion for the division of social responsibility communication strategies in the Morsing and Schultz typology [29]. The researchers defined three types of communication strategies for organizations with their environment:

- 1. information strategy (unilateral),
- 2. asymmetrical communication (bilateral),
- 3. stakeholder involvement (bilateral).

The division, based on the theory of communication with Grunning and Hunt's environment, takes into account the level of stakeholder involvement in communicating and co-creating social responsibility. Individual levels are determined by system variables, such as location in the structure of the decision-making system concerning CSR activities and communication about them, perception by the organization of the role of stakeholders, the structure of key success indicators of the department

responsible for communication with the environment, the main strategic task of communication and support for CSR activities of the organization by external institutions [15,29,45].

Organizations that implement an information strategy communicate unilaterally, providing their stakeholders with information on CSR policy and activities but not expecting a response to the messages sent. An information strategy assumes that an organization can influence its stakeholders through communication while they are treated as potential opposition or support for the organization's actions and decisions. The main task of persons responsible for communication is to provide information to stakeholders in order to obtain or strengthen support for their actions. In an informational approach to communication, the opinions of stakeholders do not influence changes in the organization.

Similarly, in the case of the second communication strategy—the asymmetric communication strategy—here, the stakeholders do not influence the organization's strategic activities. Although in this kind of communication, the information flow is in both directions, it is asymmetrical. The organization tries to influence the behavior of its stakeholders through its communications. Communication from the stakeholders is seen as feedback when the organization wants to find out whether it has support for activities in its environment. The communication's asymmetry and asymmetry of the organization's relationship with its stakeholders are also visible in the place the organization designates its stakeholders in this process. The environment is perceived as influencing the organization's decisions; however, only messages that passively respond to the initiatives taken by the organization are taken into account.

Only the third type of strategy presented by the researchers—the strategy of stakeholder engagement—assumes a dialogue between the organization and its environment. Each of the broadcasters tries to convince the other party to changes in some areas. Thanks to regular communication, both the organization can influence the behavior of stakeholders and their attitudes towards it, as well as the stakeholders themselves, have the opportunity to express their opinions and draw the organization's attention to emerging problems related to its activities. For an organization conducting constant dialogue with the environment creates a chance to collect current information concerning stakeholders' expectations and the level of influence, which particular groups of stakeholders can exert on its activity. Therefore, the main task of persons responsible for communicating CSR in an organization is to ensure permanent and systematic dialogue with the environment, involving all main groups of stakeholders [15].

Based on the typology proposed by Morsing and Schultz [29], Colleoni [28], while researching social media, identified two main strategies of CSR communication used by organizations:

- 1. internal (self-centered),
- 2. dialogue.

The internal strategy assumes that the organization, in the model of internal consultations, establishes a plan of socially responsible activities. In contrast, by implementing the dialogue strategy, the organization actively involves its stakeholders in the arrangements concerning the CSR policy and activities. Table 2 presents the typologies of the social responsibility communication strategy.

The analysis of CSR communication strategies by organizations may raise the question about the possibility of drawing general conclusions about particular phenomena because there is a doubt whether strategies may differ depending on the target group they were prepared for [45]. The research conducted [45] showed that organizations do not differ significantly in the assessment of the importance of particular stakeholder groups, divided into primary and secondary ones. It means that their strategies for stakeholder relations are based on fundamental systemic aspects related to the communication process and can be analyzed based on quantitative research [15].

Author	Type of Social Responsibility Communication Strategy	Differentiator	
Wagner (2009)	Proactive Reactive	Posts' frequency, financial expenditure on CSR communication	
Drumwright (1996)	Economic Non-economic Mixed	Objective and content of a communication	
Kim at al. (2014)	Corporate ability Corporate social responsibility Hybrid	Objective and content of a communication	
Morsing and Schultz (2006)	Information Asymmetric communication Stakeholder engagement	Stakeholders engagement	
Colleoni (2013)	Internal Dialogue	Stakeholders engagement	

Table 2. Typologies of social responsibility communication strategies.

Source: own study based on Wagner [42]; Drumwright [43]; Kim et al. [36]; Morsing and Schultz [29]; Colleoni [28].

3. Methodology

The rationale for undertaking the pilot studies was the small number of research works devoted to communicating the Sustainable Development Goals in social media. The four largest ICT companies, The Big ICT Four, were selected for the study—Amazon, Apple, Google, Facebook. These companies, as leading ICT companies, have a significant impact on both the global economy and the daily lives of individuals. The Big ICT Four's impact on the environment is also significant, including through the production of new product models, the volume of data transmission, the cost of maintaining a server room or disposing of used equipment. The involvement of ICT companies in communicating the activities undertaken for Sustainable Development and promoting the SDGs to stakeholders is one of the many opportunities to get involved in the implementation of the Agenda 2030 that emerges for the most significant ICT organizations.

Taking the above into account, it seems crucial to research the communication of Sustainable Development and promotion of the SDGs by ICT companies.

An analysis of the literature shows that the research conducted so far on Sustainable Development communication and activities undertaken by enterprises in this field has focused on the analysis of information contained in companies' websites or non-financial reports [46]. Non-financial reporting arouses great interest among researchers of Sustainable Development and corporate responsibility communication, among other things, due to the significant amount of information that is available online and does not require the company's consent to access it while ensuring source reliability [46]. The disadvantage of reports as a communication tool, as well as websites, is the unilateral nature of communication. Companies through reports and company websites can inform about actions taken in the implementation of the SDGs. They can also promote the idea of Sustainable Development and the goals. Such tools, however, make it impossible for the public to get involved in the discussion about Sustainable Development and the actions taken by companies. Communication through non-financial reports and websites only serves as an advocacy function to inform the public and raise their awareness of the SDGs. Companies, as business organizations working with many stakeholder groups, should implement communication for development in the form of a two-way communication process involving sender and recipient and enabling the exchange of opinions and experiences. Such tasks can be carried out by companies using social media in the communication process to make the sender's and recipient's response possible in real-time. Communicating with social media can reach a wide range of recipients; therefore, the research on Sustainable Development communication of selected ICT

companies was conducted by the authors using established companies' Facebook and Twitter accounts. The research was conducted to find answers to the following research questions:

- Q1: Do the surveyed companies communicate about the SDGs?
- Q2: Do the surveyed companies use social media to communicate about the SDGs?
- Q3: What types of strategies did the companies adopt in communicating through social media?

In order to answer the research questions and identify the social media communication strategy implemented by the surveyed companies, a text corpus consisting of 1400 entries (posts and tweets) on the official company Facebook and Twitter accounts was collected for analysis. The corpus was created based on the entries posted in the accounts in the period from 1 January to 31 December 2019. Then the content of the collected entries was analyzed according to the coding procedure adopted by authors. From the text corpus, entries concerning sustainable development and the SDGs were separated. When analyzing the content of the entries, coding tags were indicated, which define the thematic areas related to particular SDGs. The entries have been grouped according to the separated SDGs. The list of subject areas and coding tags is presented in Table 3. Each company can carry out SGDs-related activities in different areas and various topics related to SGDs also can be communicated through social media. Table 3 describes those areas of the SDGs in which the company took action in 2019 and about which it communicated through social media.

Company	SDGs in Social Media Entries		
	1 No poverty		
	3 Good health and well-being		
	4 Quality education		
Amazon	11 Sustainable cities and communities 15 Life on land		
	16 Peace, justice and strong institutions 17 Partnerships for the Goals		
	*		
	3 Good health and well-being		
Facebook	4 Quality education		
Facebook	5 Gender equality 10 Reduced inequalities		
	16 Peace, justice and strong institutions		
	., 0		
	1 No poverty		
	2 Zero hunger 3 Good health and well-being		
	4 Quality education		
	5 Gender equality		
Google	7 Affordable and clean energy		
0	10 Reduced inequalities		
	13 Climate action		
	15 Life on land		
	16 Peace, justice and strong institutions		
	17 Partnerships for the Goals		

 Table 3.
 Subjects of entries concerning Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in the surveyed companies' social media.

The theoretical basis of the research process was the typology of social media communication adopted by Kim and Rader [47], distinguishing three types of strategies—Corporate Ability strategy (CA), Corporate Social Responsibility strategy (CSR) and hybrid strategy. The Corporate Ability strategy is characterize by the fact that the number of posts on products and services offered by the company outweighs the number of posts on topics related to corporate responsibility and involvement in Sustainable Development. When we have opposite situation we talk about Corporate Social responsibility strategy combines both approaches to communication.

Based on the collected quantitative data (total number of entries and the number of entries concerning Sustainable Development and SDGs), the type of social media communication strategy implemented by companies was defined.

4. Results and Discussion

The analysis of the content of 1400 posts posted on company social media accounts on Twitter and Facebook showed that the surveyed companies prefer the Corporate Ability communication strategy. The number of posts on products and services offered by the company outweighs the number of posts on topics related to corporate responsibility and involvement in Sustainable Development. For Google, Facebook and Amazon, the percentage of posts on topics and activities related to Sustainable Development was between 7% and 17% of the total number of posts made by the companies in the period from 1 January to 31 December 2019 (Table 4).

Company	Communication Tool	The Total Number of Posts	The Percentage of Posts Related to Sustainable Development
Amazon	Twitter	212	13
	Facebook	152	11
Facebook	Twitter @Facebook Newsroom Facebook	168 47	60 17
Google	Twitter	660	13
	Facebook	174	7

Table 4. Results of social media messages' analysis.

Apple did not communicate with stakeholders on Sustainable Development-related topics through official social media accounts (Facebook and Twitter); there was no record of such communication during the audited period. Facebook, on its official company account Twitter also did not carry out communication activities in 2019 but reported on the activities undertaken in the context of corporate responsibility and Sustainable Development through the company newsroom account (@Facebook Newsroom). In this case, the 60% percentage leads to the conclusion that the company is adopting a hybrid strategy (concerning recipients of the @Facebook Newsroom account on Twitter). In contrast, the company's Facebook account is operated according to the CA strategy, where the number of entries concerning the products and services offered by the company prevails.

In 2010, Kim and Rader [47] analyzed the content of Fortune 100 companies' websites. The results of the analysis showed that the highest-ranked companies implemented the CSR communication strategy. At the same time, the organizations placed on the last positions of the list preferred the Corporate Ability communication strategy. In a study of communication strategy conducted four years later [35] on the official Facebook accounts of Fortune 100 companies, it was shown that 89% of the companies applied the Corporate Ability strategy and only 9% of the studied cases were implemented CSR communication strategy. The remaining enterprises applied a hybrid strategy using the above mentioned two strategies in the same dimension. It can be concluded that enterprises put more emphasis on communicating their pro-environmental and pro-social activities through websites than through social media. At the same time, social media are a tool for creating the image of the organization as an expert in the industry and market leader.

Similar conclusions are drawn from the analysis of the content of the Big ICT Four's websites and the reports, where organizations provide extensive information on their social and environmental activities and participation in partnerships for sustainable development (e.g., Google's partnership with The UN Environment Programme or Facebook's participation in the Global Partnership for Sustainable Development Data). However, this information does not appear in the social media used by companies. None of the entries analyzed for twelve months have included the concept of the Sustainable Development Goals.

The results of the research show that enterprises prefer CSR strategy in communication through unilateral communication tools, such as websites and non-financial reports. In communicating through social media, that is, two-way communication tools enabling the exchange of opinions and experiences, the surveyed enterprises apply the Corporate Ability strategy and the majority of the messages posted are aimed at promoting products and services.

5. Conclusions

Research on non-financial communication strategies of enterprises has been conducted in recent years, mainly in the area of corporate social responsibility and sustainable development understood in an environmental context. Communication about the SDGs has not been the subject of research, probably due to the short period that has passed since the objectives were officially announced (2015). A small amount of literature related to the topic of SDGs communication was a limitation in conducting literature research.

The article discusses the subject of communicating the SDGs on the example of social media analysis of the four most significant companies in the ICT industry. The results of the research show that although companies engage in activities for the implementation of the Sustainable Development Goals and report on their activities on company websites and in non-financial reports, they do not use social media to communicate about Sustainable Development and SDGs. It seems reasonable to expect companies with such a wide range of impact as The Big ICT Four to promote the idea of Sustainable Development and actions taken to achieve the goals with the use of tools with the highest possible impact, such as social media.

On account of the above-mentioned results, it can be concluded that future research should concern the identification of barriers, which cause that ICT companies do not communicate directly about joining the implementation of the SDGs and do not adopt a CSR strategy in communicating with stakeholders in social media. It is also worthwhile to conduct research on communication about SDGs in other industries in the future [48,49].

The conducted research was only a pilot study and the subjects of the study were the four largest enterprises, which does not give grounds to extend the conclusions to the whole population of the ICT industry. As the ICT industry is one of the fastest-growing industries in the global economy and has a significant impact on society and the environment, it is worthwhile to broaden future research to include more enterprises so that the statistical surveys allow for a generalization of conclusions. The answer to this question may serve as a basis for another research issue, which will be to define the determinants of communication about the SDGs and key factors influencing the effectiveness of the adopted communication strategy.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Acknowledgments: Author want to extend a gratitude towards the editor and reviewers for their valuable suggestions and feedback for the improvement in the quality of the paper considerably.

Conflicts of Interest: Author declare no conflict of interest.

References

- The Agenda for Sustainable Development 2030. Available online: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/po st2015/transformingourworld (accessed on 3 February 2020).
- Sustainable Development Goals. Available online: https://ungc.org.pl/sdg/sustainable-development-goals (accessed on 3 February 2020).
- The Responsible Business Trends Report 2018 by Ethical Corporation. Available online: http://odpowiedzial nybiznes.pl/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Responsible_Business_Trends_2018_Report_2.pdf (accessed on 2 February 2020).

- 4. Olszewska, K. The information and communication technologies (ICT) sector in improving the international competitiveness of the economy, following the example of China (Sektor technologii informacyjnych i komunikacyjnych (ICT) w podnoszeniu międzynarodowej konkurencyjności gospodarki na przykładzie Chin). In *Economy: Innovations and Development (Gospodarka: Innowacje i rozwój)*; Electronic Document; Winiarski, M., Ed.; Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Wrocławskiego: Wroclaw, Poland, 2011; pp. 85–101.
- 5. Martinuzzi, A.; Kudlak, R.; Faber, C.; Wiman, A. CSR Activities and Impacts of the ICT Sector. *RIMAS Work. Pap.* 2011, 5, 7–13.
- Fraser, G. Smartphones are destroying our environment. Available online: https://mediaphilia.pl/2018/12/s martfony-niszcza-nasze-srodowisko/ (accessed on 10 February 2020).
- 7. Green IT Network Europe Project. Available online: https://ec.europa.eu/regional_policy/en/projects/denma rk/green-it-network-europe-making-ict-sustainable (accessed on 10 February 2020).
- Warnock, K.; Schoemaker, E.; Wilson, M. *The Case for Communication in Sustainable Development*; Panos London: London, UK, 2007; pp. 6–9, 50–54. Available online: http://panoslondon.panosnetwork.org/wp-content/files /2007/09/The-Case-for-Communication-in-Sustainable-Development.pdf (accessed on 2 February 2020).
- Zuzek, D.K. Corporate social responsibility and sustainable business development (Społeczna odpowiedzialność biznesu a zrównoważony rozwój przedsiębiorstw). Sci. J. Małopolska Wyższa Szkoła Ekon. w Tarn. (Zesz. Nauk. Małopolskiej Wyższej Szkoły Ekon. w Tarn.) 2012, 2/21, 197–207.
- 10. Sustainable Development. Available online: Unic.un.org.pl (accessed on 2 February 2020).
- Dahlsrud, A. How corporate social responsibility is defined: An analysis of 37 definitions. *Corp. Soc. Responsib. Environ. Manag.* 2008, 15, 1–13. [CrossRef]
- 12. Corporate Social Responsibility. Available online: https://www.iso.org/iso-26000-social-responsibility.html (accessed on 10 February 2020).
- 13. Laszlo, C. The Sustainable Company (Firma zrównoważonego rozwoju), 1st ed.; Studio Emka: Varsaw, Poland, 2008.
- Maignan, I.; Ralston, D.A. Corporate Social Responsibility in Europe and the U.S.: Insights from businesses' self-presentation. J. Int. Bus. Stud. 2001, 33, 497–514. [CrossRef]
- Losa-Jonczyk, A. Efectiveness of social media communication of energy, fuel and mining companies' corporate social responsibility. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Economics in Katowice, Katowice, Poland, 27 September 2019.
- Golob, U.; Verk, N.; Ellerup-Nielsen, A.; Thomsen, C.; Elving, W.L.J.; Podnar, K. The communicative stance of CSR: Reflections of the value of CSR communication. *Corp. Commun. An Int. J.* 2017, 22, 166–177. [CrossRef]
- Freeman, R.E.; McVea, J. A Stakeholder Approach to Strategic Management. Darden Bus. Sch. Work. Pap. 2001, 1–2, 1–32. [CrossRef]
- Formbrun, C.; Shanley, M. What is in name? Reputation Building and Corporate Strategy. Acad. Manag. J. 1990, 33, 233–258.
- Crane, A.; Glozer, S. Researching Corporate Social Responsibility Communication: Themes, Opportunities and Challenges. J. Manag. Stud. 2016, 53, 1223–1252. [CrossRef]
- 20. Report Shell. Available online: https://www.shell.pl/zrownowazony-rozwoj/raporty.html (accessed on 10 February 2020).
- 21. The European Communication Monitor 2011/2014. Available online: http://www.communicationmonitor.eu (accessed on 20 January 2020).
- Mefalopulos, P.; Grenna, L. Promoting sustainable development through strategic communication. In *Communicating Protected Areas*, 1st ed.; Hamu, D., Auchincloss, E., Goldstein, W., Eds.; Commission on Education and Communication, IUCM: Gland, Switzerland; Cambridge, UK, 2004; pp. 24–30.
- He, H.W.; Balmer, J.M.T. Identity studies: Multiple perspectives and implications for corporate-level marketing. *Eur. J. Mark.* 2007, 41, 765–785. [CrossRef]
- 24. Etter, M.; Plotkowiak, T.; Stanoevska-Slabeva, K. CSR Communication Strategies for Twitter: Microblogging as a Tool for Public Relations. In Proceedings of the 61st Annual Meeting of the International Communication Association, TBA, Boston, MA, USA, 28 May 2011.
- Lee, K.; Oh, W.Y.; Kim, N. Social media for socially responsible firms: Analysis of Fortune 500's Twitter profiles and their CSR/CSIR ratings. J. Bus. Ethics 2013, 18, 791–806. [CrossRef]
- Tao, W.; Wilson, C. Fortune 1000 communication strategies on Facebook and Twitter. J. Commun. Manag. 2015, 19, 208–223. [CrossRef]
- Etter, M. Broadcasting, reacting, engaging—Three strategies for CSR communication in Twitter. J. Commun. Manag. 2014, 18, 662–674. [CrossRef]

- Colleoni, E. CSR communication strategies for organizational legitimacy in social media. *Corp. Commun. Int. J.* 2013, 18, 228–248. [CrossRef]
- Morsing, M.; Schultz, M. Corporate social responsibility communication: Stakeholder information, response and involvement strategies. *Bus. Ethics Eur. Rev.* 2006, 15, 323–338. [CrossRef]
- 30. Lopez, M.; Sicila, M.; Moyeda-Carabaza, A.A. Creating identification with brand communities on Twitter: The balance between need for affiliation and need for uniqueness. *Internet Res.* **2017**, *27*, 21–51. [CrossRef]
- Sundstrom, B.; Levenshus, A.B. The art of engagement: Dialogic strategies on Twitter. J. Commun. Manag. 2017, 21, 17–33. [CrossRef]
- 32. Araujo, T.; Kollat, J. Communicating effectively about CSR on Twitter: The power of engaging strategies and storytelling elements. *Internet Res.* 2018, *28*, 419–431. [CrossRef]
- Farache, F.; Tetchner, I.; Kollat, J. CSR Communication on Twitter: An Exploration into Stakeholder reactions. In *Corporate Responsibility and Digital Communities*, 1st ed.; Grigore, G., Stancu, A., McQueen, D., Eds.; Palgrave Macmillian: Cham, Switzerland, 2018; pp. 145–163.
- Shin, W.; Pang, A.; Kim, H.J. Building relationships through integrated online media: Global organizations' use of brand web sites, Facebook and Twitter. J. Bus. Tech. Commun. 2015, 29, 184–220. [CrossRef]
- 35. Wigley, S.; Lewis, B.K. Rules of engagement: Practice what you tweet. *Public Relat. Rev.* 2012, 38, 165–167. [CrossRef]
- Kim, S.; Kim, S.Y.; Sung, K. Fortune 100 companies' Facebook strategies: Corporate ability versus social responsibility. J. Commun. Manag. 2014, 18, 343–362. [CrossRef]
- 37. Haigh, M.; Brubaker, P.; Whiteside, E. Facebook: Examining the information presented and its impact on stakeholders. *Corp. Commun. Int. J.* 2013, *18*, 52–69. [CrossRef]
- Cho, M.; Furey, L.D.; Mohr, T. Communicating Corporate Social Responsibility on Social Media: Strategies, Stakeholders, and Public Engagement on Corporate Facebook. *Bus. Prof. Commun. Q.* 2016, *80*, 52–69. [CrossRef]
- Abitbol, A.; Lee, S.Y. Messages on CSR-dedicated Facebook pages: What works and what doesn't. Public Relat. Rev. 2017, 43, 796–808. [CrossRef]
- Wróbel, M. Planning communication activities (Planowanie działań komunikacyjnych). In *The Art of Public Relations. from the Experience of Polish Practitioners (Sztuka public relations. Z doświadczeń polskich praktyków),* 1st ed.; Janiszewska, B., Ed.; Związek Firm Public Relations: Varsaw, Poland, 2004; pp. 7–26.
- 41. Stanaland, A.J.S.; Lwin, M.O.; Murphy, P.E. Consumer perceptions of the antecedents and consequences of corporate social responsibility. *J. Bus. Ethics* **2011**, *102*, 47–55. [CrossRef]
- 42. Wagner, T.; Lutz, R.; Weitz, B.A. Corporate Hypocrisy: Overcoming the Threat of Inconsistent Corporate Social Responsibility Perceptions. *J. Mark.* **2009**, *73*, 77–91. [CrossRef]
- Drumwright, M.E. Company advertising with a social dimension: The role of noneconomic criteria. *J. Mark.* 1996, 60, 71–87. [CrossRef]
- 44. Bhattacharya, C.B.; Sen, S. Doing better at doing good: When, why, and how consumers respond to corporate social initiatives. *Calif. Manag. Rev.* 2004, 47, 9–24. [CrossRef]
- Fryzeł, B. Stakeholder relations strategies: Practical aspect of CSR on the example of Polish enterprises (Strategie relacji z interesariuszami: Praktyczny aspekt CSR na przykładzie polskich przedsiębiorstw). Sci. J. Ostrołęka Sci. Soc. 2011, 25, 297–311.
- Jones, P.; Wynn, M.; Hillier, D.; Comfort, D. The Sustainable Development Goals and Information and Communication Technologies. *Indones. J. Sustain. Account. Manag.* 2017, 1, 1–15. [CrossRef]
- 47. Kim, S.; Rader, S. What they can do versus how much they care: Assessing corporate communication strategies on Fortune 500 web sites. *J. Commun. Manag.* **2010**, *14*, 59–80. [CrossRef]
- Monteiro, N.B.R.; Aparecida da Silva, E.; Neto, J.M.M. Sustainable development goals in mining. J. Clean. Prod. 2019, 228, 509–520. [CrossRef]
- Santika, W.G.; Anisuzzaman, M.; Bahri, P.A.; Shafiullah, G.M.; Rupf, G.V.; Urmee, T. From goals to joules: A quantitative approach of interlinks between energy and the Sustainable Developments Goals. *Energy Res.* Soc. Sci. 2019, 50, 201–214. [CrossRef]



© 2020 by the author. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).



Article



The Importance of Trust in Knowledge Sharing and the Efficiency of Doing Business on the Example of Tourism

Elżbieta Kacperska¹ and Katarzyna Łukasiewicz^{2,*}

- ¹ Institute of Economic and Finance, Warsaw University of Life Sciences, 02-787 Warsaw, Poland; elzbieta_kacperska@sggw.pl
- ² Management Institute, Warsaw University of Life Sciences, 02-787 Warsaw, Poland
- * Correspondence: katarzyna_lukasiewicz@sggw.pl; Tel.: +48-667-027-087

Received: 5 April 2020; Accepted: 8 June 2020; Published: 10 June 2020



Abstract: The ability to share knowledge in an organization may determine its success. Knowledge is one of the basic resources of an enterprise, being also the basis for undertaking various types of strategic actions. Knowledge management should be focused in the organization on such processing of all available information to lead to the creation of value defined by employees of the organization and by customers. In order to raise the issue of knowledge sharing, trust should be mentioned. Trust is a factor conditioning effective atmosphere and cooperation in an organization. The main purpose of the article is to present the relationship between trust and knowledge sharing, taking into account the importance of this issue in the efficiency of doing business. To formulate conclusions, data from surveys carried out in 148 different tourist facilities were used. Data were collected by applying the diagnostic survey method and by using a survey technique based on a prepared questionnaire. The results showed that trust is important in sharing knowledge and was found to play an important role in achieving a high level of performance efficiency. The study consists of an introduction, literature review, research results and discussion of results. At the end of the article, conclusions, restrictions and recommendations for future research are presented.

Keywords: trust; knowledge; efficiency; tourism; knowledge sharing

1. Introduction

Nowadays, in a knowledge-based economy, trust is becoming more and more important, treated as an extremely valuable element in company management. It influences interpersonal relations and causes that the employee has a greater willingness and awareness to control their own actions objectively. Knowledge that is a strategic resource can contribute to gaining a competitive advantage of an enterprise on the market. Transfer and exchange of knowledge is an essential basis for creating new ideas and developing new opportunities [1]. The most important aspect related to knowledge management is the need to share it and this applies to all employees of the enterprise. Knowledge is social in nature, in the sense that it arises from the process of continuous communication between people. Encouraging people to share knowledge rather than passively accumulate it is considered the first step towards effective, pro-development management in a modern enterprise. It is difficult to talk about knowledge if one does not take into account cooperation between people and the existence of conditions for cooperation [2]. According to Handy [3], trust is one of the life bases of every organization. He distinguished seven principles that are to govern trust in the enterprises of the future: trust cannot be blind, it must have boundaries, it requires learning, it is absolute, it requires bonds, requires personal contacts, requires leaders. Research on sharing knowledge somewhat narrows this

issue either for analysis based on a specific industry or it focuses on certain aspects [4,5]. Knowledge sharing is a multi-level analysis model [6] and is considered important for the functioning of an organization [7]. It should be noted that scientists and practice are increasingly dealing with the issue of trust. This may be due to interest in soft management issues or the spread of cynical attitudes among employees. The trust used in the organization in the aspect of knowledge sharing can lead to good cooperation between colleagues, between subordinates and managers, which may further increase the efficiency of doing business. Among the tasks belonging to the process of sharing knowledge and disseminating it, we can distinguish three categories [8]:

- Knowledge duplication is a form of central control of the knowledge dissemination process. The purpose of this is to quickly provide knowledge to many employees. These resources should be distributed immediately and permanently so that users have access to them. Knowledge duplication concerns two important areas, which are the implementation of employees in organizational culture and their training. In the first case, it is about familiarizing employees with applicable norms and values, informing them about the role they will play in the organization and the requirements they will face, and in the second, about their professional development.
- Sharing experiences from previously implemented projects and documenting them. The tools
 supporting this process are IT networks (Internet, intranet, extranet), teamwork software or
 expert systems.
- Exchange of current experience, leading to the development of knowledge. The exchange of experience is possible thanks to the use of benchmarking teams (which look for the best solutions outside the company, their task is also to support the transfer of the best solutions created within the company, with particular emphasis on improvements in key processes in the organization), teams for the best solutions (informal exchange of information between employees with the possibility of using information and telecommunications technologies).

There is explicit and implicit knowledge in every organization. Trust plays a very important role in the process of obtaining tacit knowledge. This is intuitive knowledge, related to the experience of employees, and very often determines the functioning and success of an organization. The quiet-wise exchange is fostered by results-based trust and cognitive trust [9].

Trust always has a positive impact on the functioning of an organization. Knowledge transfer and exchange is a proven way to build trust in groups that enable shared learning. The process of building trust largely depends on the quality of knowledge and the pace at which knowledge is exchanged [10]. Trust depends on risk, is related to the dependence of two people, trust is accompanied by vulnerability, it is related to expectations about the future [11]. In addition, trust influences the organization's coordination, triggers creative thinking, encourages participation in transactions, promotes exchange of information, increases the company's ability to survive a crisis, is a key factor in building a network of cooperation and social cohesion and enables the creation of civic culture. It is an important element in teamwork, developing interpersonal relations, leadership, setting goals and negotiations [10,11]. Finally, trust is the main organizational value, achievement of which requires strong ethical attitudes, and in practical management of determining operational values. This value affects economic results and should be the subject of lasting desires and actions. It is a conviction that the undertaken actions will lead to achieving the set goals and obtaining benefits for all stakeholders [11].

The purpose of the article is to present the relationship between trust and knowledge sharing, taking into account the importance of this issue in the efficiency of doing business.

2. Literature Review

In the literature on the subject, it is believed that knowledge sharing is most positively related to knowledge management in organizations [3,12,13]. According to Paliszkiewicz [14], the objectives of knowledge management are as follows:

increasing the results of business operations;

- achieving the company's goals;
- overall company development;
- increasing employee motivation to improve company performance;
- maximum use of intellectual capital;
- development of learning organization, attitude of constant increase in the use of knowledge;
- supporting creativity, intuition and intelligence of employees;
- emphasis on continuous development and education of employees;
- making faster and wise decisions;
- creating an organizational culture supporting the development of knowledge.

From the definition perspective, knowledge sharing is the exchange of knowledge, experience and skills throughout the organization [15], it is a mutual transfer, i.e., the exchange of knowledge, understood as all information, abilities, skills and experiences relevant from the organization's point of view. The goal of this process is to transform the individual knowledge of each participant in the process into organizational knowledge [16]. Knowledge sharing is a centrally managed process of knowledge dissemination within a specific group of employees or knowledge transfer between individuals or teams of employees [16]. Knowledge transfer is the acquisition of knowledge from a database or the right source and its transfer to the recipient and its proper assimilation and use. G. von Krogh, I. Nonaka and M. Aben [17] indicate three conditions that are necessary for successful knowledge transfer:

- knowledge transfer participants must be aware of the circumstances in which they exchange knowledge,
- while waiting for the transfer of knowledge, its profitability must be studied,
- they must be properly motivated to carry out knowledge transfer.

E.K. Sveiby presents nine basic streams of knowledge flow in the organization [18]. In the internal communication these are the following transfers of knowledge:

- between units/employees;
- from employees to the internal structure;
- from the internal structure to the individual competences;
- within the internal structure (construction of integrated IT systems).

In the organization's communication with the environment, the streams of knowledge flow relate to the following transfer:

- from outside employees;
- from the environment to employees;
- from the environment to the internal structure;
- from the internal structure to the external structure (e.g., customer database);
- between organizations from the environment with which the company cooperates (e.g., how to make our clients contact each other).

Each time all activities related to the flow of knowledge are aimed at achieving greater efficiency. Trust is undoubtedly of great importance in the process of sharing knowledge. The specificity of the issue of trust concerns various scientific disciplines: management, psychology, sociology, economics and philosophy. Trust, in general, is a kind of assumption relating to the future behavior of other people, including certain assumptions that determine the further behavior of the individual [19].

Trust can also be defined as a subjective prediction of the level of probability of the attitude of the other party, determining the undertaking of specific actions by an individual or a group. This means that trust refers to a situation where the likelihood of the other party taking specific actions is so high that the individual or group decides to cooperate [20].

Organizational trust is a mechanism based on the assumption that other members of a given community are characterized by honest and cooperative behavior based on shared standards [21]. It can also be stated that trust is a certain belief based on which individual A in a particular situation agrees to dependence on individual B (person, entity, organization) with a sense of relative security, although negative consequences are possible [22]. Trust in the organization shown to other employees is based on the principle of reciprocity, according to which something should be done for a colleague, without expecting immediate compensation, but hoping that in the future this or that colleague will do a favor [23]. The trust that occurs in an organizational climate [2,24]. It is important that the work atmosphere is favorable to cooperation and creative action. There are several factors expressing the phenomenon of trust [24]: instinctive feeling, person A will not act against person B, honesty and justice, positive expectation, positive interpersonal relationships, credibility, good will and finally effective action. According to Paliszkiewicz [25], trust in an organization has an impact on many factors, including motivation, training and development processes, which may further contribute to achieving higher operational efficiency.

Building trust in an organization is a long-term process and depends on many factors: organizational culture or broadly understood human resources policy applied to employees. In a situation where employees are convinced that the organization is properly fulfilling its goals and mission and treating employees correctly, then their credibility will continue to grow. They will represent an attitude open to change and innovation, which will contribute to the significant development of the company. Knowledge management is the awareness that sharing knowledge and its wise use is effective in the development of a company and employees cooperating with each other get better results. A knowledge-based economy is the most effective way of managing. The issue of knowledge sharing is not without significance here and is affected by [26,27]:

- factors depending on the organization (integration of the idea of haring knowledge with business strategy, organizational culture, teamwork support, direct management support and the example set by the leaders at the top, providing time and creating opportunities to transfer knowledge, atmosphere, work environment, lack of employee's fear of career development or loss of position, appreciating and rewarding behaviors related to knowledge sharing, communication system efficiency, availability and quality of information technology, company size, industry and organizational structure);
- interpersonal factors (interpersonal relationships, reciprocity, commitment, trust in the proper use of knowledge, identification with specific behavior, avoidance of embarrassment, sense of belonging to a group or team, seeking of community and cooperation);
- individual factors (greed, willingness to profit, fear of punishment, self-esteem, personality traits such as optimism, self-confidence, altruism, openness to experience, costs and time to acquire knowledge, age, gender, education, family status, work experience, work position);
- factors depending on knowledge (type of knowledge determining the possibilities and time of its transfer).

There is explicit and implicit knowledge in the organization. Trust plays a very important role in the process of obtaining tacit knowledge. This is intuitive knowledge, related to the experience of employees and very often determines the functioning and success of an organization. As Holste, Fields [9], Levin, Cross [28] wrote, the sharing of silent knowledge is fostered by results-based trust and cognitive trust, while competence and confidence trust favors the reception and its transfer.

Trust will always have a positive impact on the functioning of the organization. Thanks to this, it is possible to exchange knowledge in the organization and jointly build the culture of the learning organization, and this in turn can translate to the organization's successes.

In the following, the concept of efficiency and economic effectiveness will be presented.

There is strong competition in the modern market economy. Entity owners, including those from the tourism industry, must compete with each other. In addition to various aspects of competitiveness like, among others, location, tourist attractions, quality of services, etc., the economic efficiency of the project is also important. An entrepreneur in a market economy acts both as a buyer of necessary production factors and a seller of manufactured products or services. The manufacturing process and the technologies used to achieve economic benefits from the activities undertaken depend on the information held and his decisions. The concept of efficiency is ambiguous and interpreted differently. As E. Skrzypek points out, "it is defined by terms such as operational capability, positive result, profitability, productivity, effectiveness, purposefulness, rationality, cost effectiveness or utility" [29]. It refers to the relationship between various "effects, objectives, inputs and costs" [29] in different perspectives. This concept works in social sciences, is theoretically recognized by economists, sociologists, financiers, management specialists but also used in practice by economic analysts, company managers, etc. Juchniewicz indicates that the concept of efficiency refers to the economy as well as to business activities, that is to the functioning of enterprises, processes, management, decision making, management and finance or investment. The concept of efficiency comes from English and means effective, efficient, real [30]. In a broader sense, it means the benefits achieved by a given country, economy, enterprise from conducted activity [31]. In the literature, the concept of economic efficiency can be often found and it means "action without waste and focused on achieving the best result within the available resources and technologies [32]". Samuelson and Nordhaus point out that efficiency means there is no waste. They refer to the production capacity curve, indicating that an efficient economy is on the edge of production capacity [33]. This concept is also equated with allocation efficiency (also called Paret efficiency) meaning reaching the limit of possible utilities [33]. "Efficiency is a process in which society extracts maximum satisfaction from consumers using the available means" [34]. Economic efficiency can be considered in a narrow and broad sense. In a narrow sense, it is understood as the ratio between the value of expenditure incurred and the value of effects obtained thanks to it, that is, as the ratio between the amount of expenditure of used materials and the quantity of goods produced [35]. In a broad sense, it means the best results in the production or distribution of goods and services at the lowest costs [35]. It is through the prism of economic efficiency that the competitive possibilities of business ventures are determined. M. Szudy indicates that economic efficiency is one of the conditions for achieving economic success at the level of the entire economy as well as at the level of individual entities [36]. Economists consider efficiency in the context of the functioning of business entities in short and long periods, as well as on a microand macroeconomic scale. The microeconomic approach refers to the enterprise—it is a real ability to improve market position and achieved results [29]. According to Bojarski, macroeconomic efficiency consists in taking into account all direct and indirect effects of a given undertaking in the national socio-economic system and selecting this undertaking which is the most beneficial from the point of view of economic efficiency for the entire economy [37]. Szudy indicates that the effective functioning of the economy requires efficiency in three dimensions: static, dynamic and distribution. Static efficiency is identified with the management of specific resources in order to avoid waste, dynamic efficiency is associated with the process of increasing resources, assets through creativity and action despite the risk, and distribution efficiency relates to the recognition by society of a fair distribution of social product [38]. The efficient use of economic resources takes place in accordance with the principle of rational management. Efficiency in managing is one of the ways to assess the functioning of a household, enterprise, defined as the relation of effects to the means used [29]. The concept of efficiency is related to the functioning of the organization. It is often defined as the organization's ability to achieve its goals and strategies. One can distinguish organizational effectiveness and management effectiveness. Efficiency is therefore an important tool for measuring management effectiveness. The efficiency of an organization means its effectiveness and productiveness measured by the degree of achievement of relevant goals. According to Drucker, effectiveness is the degree of goal achievement [39]. Management effectiveness is a measure of the efficiency of the person in charge, his predispositions, it means also

creativity in the formulation and achievement of goals set. Drucker points out that effectiveness is "a key element in human and organizational development that serves the self-realization and ability of modern society to survive" [39]. According to Lawlenss, the effectiveness of an organization, that is its efficiency, depends on the following variables: performance, morale (the degree to which members' needs are met), adaptability, flexibility, institutionalization and stability [40].

Various types of efficiency can be distinguished in the literature. J. Dabrowski distinguishes three types of economic efficiency: technical, economic and social. Technical management efficiency refers to "the properties of things used in the manufacturing process, indicating the relationship of benefits obtained (e.g., the number of operations performed) to expenditure, e.g., (energy consumption, time needed). In a broader sense (...) it applies to the entire production process (technics, technology, work organization) and indicates the relation of the amount of product produced to the factors of production involved" [41]. This efficiency is expressed in natural units and plays an important role in determining the other types of efficiency. The economic efficiency of management indicates that it can be analyzed in relation to the technical and economic and socio-economic aspects. This term is defined as the relation of obtained effects to incurred outlays taking into account prices of production factors [41]. Efficiency in a technical and economic context is expressed in cost intensiveness, outlay efficiency, productivity or profitability. It defines the relationship between the resources used and the utility values produced [42]. The analysis of economic efficiency in the social-economic context additionally takes into account the property rights to resources [41]. The third type of economic efficiency relates to social issues. In the efficiency analyzes, social effects of management are compared with the fulfillment of society's expectations. In a broader sense, it is associated with the management process, i.e., management rationality related to the well-being of the whole society. Pszczołowski after Kotarbiński also distinguishes three meanings of efficiency: objective (dealing with the development of science), economic and technical and social, understood as the relationship between inputs and the effects of these inputs manifested in the sphere of norms and values, society and ecology [43].

The literature on the subject analyzes the efficiency of business activities from various perspectives, it may relate to the efficiency of production or the efficiency of the organization. "A comprehensive approach to efficiency should include an assessment of: social purposefulness of operations, economic rationality of organizational processes and financial efficiency of management" [44].

It is also worth paying attention to the dimensions of efficiency. There are many dimensions of effectiveness in the literature—Martyniak, Bielski, Matwiejczuk, Pohl, Skrzypek, and Łoś wrote about it. The most common dimensions are as follows [45]:

- economic—in the context of economy, productivity, profitability,
- market—referring to the degree of satisfying the client's needs as well as in relation to the efficiency category in the strictly market and market economy dimension,
- system—indicating the state of the enterprise as a system,
- political—indicating the company's relations with the environment,
- cultural—refers to the cultural identity of society and the consolidation of values and norms by the organization,
- social—referring to the interests of employees and business owners in terms of social needs and roles,
- ecological—indicating the company's impact on the environment,
- financial—referring to financial indicators in the past,
- operational—referring to the productivity of manufacturing processes,
- behavioral—expressing the interests of organization participants, indicating their assessment,
- technological-related to the technological efficiency of the factors of production involved,
- developmental—referring to creating new products, acquiring new skills.

From the tourism perspective, the efficiency of a tourist enterprise's activities can be analyzed on an economic, social and ecological level, and broadly covers most of the dimensions mentioned.

In the next part of the study we will also discuss the issue of efficiency measures.

Contemporary business entities conduct management efficiency analyzes on an ongoing basis, using various sets of measures. However, this measurement is often difficult, as Głodziński indicates, it may result from [46]:

- "Quantitative immeasurability of some (partial) effects/outlays,
- immeasurability of value of some (partial) effects/outlays imperfections of measuring tools,
- simultaneous use of the same outlays to obtain different, separately analyzed effects in the absence
 of an exact division possibility,
- the lack of a direct cause-effect relationship between effects and expenditures, while the presence
 of an indirect relationship (often only of an intuitive nature),
- lack of comparability between inputs and results as a result of their presentation using various measurement units".

One of the concepts of efficiency analysis is a multidimensional approach. Especially this type of approach, where "the assessment takes into account different aspects and different points of view" [47] is important in assessing service activities, including in the tourism industry. The multidimensional approach in the analysis of economic efficiency has been the subject of many studies [48,49].

Głodziński presents the procedure for transforming various categories of efficiency into economic efficiency, indicating that it requires the application of a specific standardization procedure. "For normalization to be possible, the impact of effects and production factors on the economic situation of the object (...) should be measurable. This means that the results and outlays identified must be quantified (quantitative measurability) and then valued (measurability of value)" [46].

The quantification of results and outlays takes place by determining the quantitative outlays for financial efficiency-financial aspects, for organizational effectiveness of organizational aspects, for technical efficiency of technical aspects, for social efficiency of social aspects for environmental performance of environmental aspects, and similarly for marketing and legal effectiveness of these aspects and evaluation of individual results and outlays in terms of value in monetary terms 1 [46].

Loś A. proposed a model for measuring efficiency in a tourist enterprise, pointing to the mutual relations between three approaches to efficiency, in relation to the Kaplan and Norton concept [50]. He takes into account efficiency from a narrow perspective from an enterprise point of view and efficiency from a broad perspective from an economic and social point of view. It emphasizes important features that distinguish tourism, i.e., immateriality, incompatibility, as well as the special conditions of the business and services provided, which include seasonality as well as the rigidity of supply and the specificity of individual types of tourist services, e.g., catering, spa, hotel, etc. The proposed model covers three areas: dimension, main groups of criteria and detailed groups of criteria.

The proposed model includes three planes: dimension, main groups of criteria and detailed groups of criteria. The efficiency perspective has been divided into three zones I, II and III. The model includes, in zone I, dimension A divided into A1 and A2, in zone II, dimension A and dimension B divided into B1, B2, B3 and B4. Zone III contains next to A and B the dimension C divided into C1, C2 and C3. Zone I covers the economic and financial dimension—covering two efficiency criteria—A1 profitability of services and A2 service productivity and efficiency. The profitability of services in the case of hotels or tourist facilities can be measured by: ROA total assets return on investment, ROE equity return ratio, ROI return on investment, RevPar room revenue or GOPRAR gross operating profit per room. In the model of hotel efficiency evaluation as detailed measures of service productivity and efficiency (A2), the following were proposed: the indicator of the technical utilization of the facility, the indicator of the average number of nights spent and the indicator of the seasonal use of the accommodation facility. The main efficiency criteria for the organizational and market dimension, B, include:

B1—achievement of objectives, where the detailed measure of effectiveness for the hotel was the degree of achievement of the objective in relation to the expenditure on the purchase of the automatic reservation system (cost reduction by 10%),

B2—innovation, where the measure was proposed as detailed measure indicator of the number of introduced marketing innovations in relation to the expenditure on training in the Marketing and Advertising Department,

B3—market and economic value of the enterprise, assessed by means of the hotel's market share in relation to marketing costs and by the indicator of Customer Lifetime Value CLV, being a key element to its retention costs.

B4—the value for the customer, where the measure is the value of the benefits obtained by the customer in relation to the price paid by him. The socio-economic (C) dimension consists of the impact on the natural environment—C1, impact on the local community—C2 and impact on the local economy—C3. In the case of hotels, it is specified in the model that the measure of effectiveness is the Benefits/Cost B/C ratio, where the measurement is carried out in units of monetary benefits and external costs in particular planes. Effective solutions occur when B > C2 [51].

3. Materials and Methods

In relation to the considerations made in this article, research was carried out on the issue of the importance of trust in knowledge sharing, including a reference to efficiency. The conducted research concerned the tourism industry. The survey covered 148 employees representing various types of tourism companies. The research was conducted at the turn of 2019/2020. The diagnostic survey method was used, using a questionnaire that included several parts:

- the first part included questions about trust;
- the second part covered the importance of trust in knowledge sharing;
- the third part was about the importance of trust in knowledge sharing regarding efficiency;
- the fourth part concerned information on the subject.

The survey was anonymous. Data collected during the research were presented graphically and in tabular form. The study involved 99 women (67%) and 49 men (33%). Most people are people up to 45 years of age with higher education. Most of the respondents were representatives of micro-enterprises (36%), small enterprises (59%) and medium-sized enterprises (5%). All companies whose employees took part in the survey have been on the market for 2–5 years. The main purpose of the elaboration was to collect information in surveys from people who, working in a given organization for several years, could significantly convey their observations on the examined issue. Therefore, employees who worked in organizations operating on the market for a minimum of 2–5 years were taken into account. This period was considered sufficient to make observations and indicate relevant elements that were significant for the study. The research was carried out as a pilot study to identify the issue and to become well prepared for the actual research.

4. Results

During the research, the respondents were first presented with phrases regarding the perception of trust which allowed them to present their opinions on the meaning of this concept (Figure 1). The survey questionnaire used the approach developed in the literature [52].

As part of the study, the respondents received a spreadsheet in which areas of organizational trust were presented in six blocks:

- organization image: I am proud to be a part of this organization; I feel my position is stable;
- knowledge of the mission, vision and goals of the organization: I know the goals and development directions of the organization; I know the mission of my organization;

- management competencies and attitude: management communicates with employees; information
 and messages from superiors are precise; the organization uses the knowledge and experience of
 employees; I feel the support of my superiors;
- employees' competences and attitude: I am a competent employee; I am an involved employee; people in the organization are happy to share their knowledge with colleagues; people in the organization openly admit mistakes if they made them;
- work atmosphere: there is a nice atmosphere at work; there is no lobbying in the organization; I always say what I think openly; employee evaluation is fair; assessment criteria are precise and clearly defined;
- remuneration policy as well as development and promotion opportunities: I am satisfied with
 the remuneration policy; the organization has a policy of equal opportunities; the organization is
 involved in employee training and development.



Figure 1. Organizational trust by respondents.

In each of the indicated research areas, they assigned a grade on a scale of 1–5 to each wording, where 1 meant weak significance and 5 important. In the areas of image of the organization, competencies and attitude of management, competences and attitude of employees or the work atmosphere, the most responses (about 90%) indicated a grade 4 on a five-point scale. Slightly less optimistic scoring was received by the remuneration policy statement and the possibility of development and promotion—grade 3 (77%). The weakest score (2) among the respondents was given to the area of knowledge of the organization's mission, vision and goals (96%). The obtained results show that in the surveyed companies employees identify with the organization, they are proud that they work in it, and this is a very positive feeling, especially in the aspect of the process of sharing knowledge. It is also clear that the example "goes from above", i.e., the respondents emphasized the importance of drivers in the process of sharing knowledge. The respondents drew attention to the issues of pay policy in the companies in which they work. This proves that this is a very important element for employees, which if met could contribute to much higher achieved results. An area that raises many doubts is knowledge of the mission, vision and goals of the organization. The results obtained and the low rating confirm the fact that in many companies too little attention is paid to this issue.

For the needs of the study, selected analyzes were prepared with the use of the Statistica program. The scales were summed up and a box chart was prepared in which the data obtained during the research was used. The chart related to the areas of organizational trust in which the respondents used a 5-point Likert scale. The chart specifies the median, the first and third quartiles, and the maximum and minimum values. The box-and-whisker chart gives the opportunity to determine which assessments were usually indicated by the respondents (most often they indicated grade 4) and also, based on the width of the box, the answers diversity can be seen (the largest relates to pay policy as well as development and promotion opportunities) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. A box-and-whisker chart organizational trust by respondents.

Figure 3 shows how respondents assess the knowledge sharing process. Here, several statements are presented, which in the authors' opinion best reflect the importance of this issue. The obtained answers indicate the diversity of respondents' approach. Most people (95%) said that this is a necessary process in every organization for it to develop and succeed on the market. Approximately (91%) indicated that this is a process in which management's example plays a very important role. This means that respondents see a significant role of superiors in this process. For the respondents it was also important that in order to increase the willingness to share knowledge among employees, one should pay attention to additional remuneration that could improve employee satisfaction. A contented employee will work more efficiently what will also translate into better results achieved by the organization. The surveyed employees from the tourism industry also pointed out that in the area of knowledge sharing it is important to share it skillfully, what means that not every employee can do it.



Figure 3. Knowledge sharing according to respondents. * respondents had the opportunity to indicate several statements.

The research also used a combination of results on an ordinal scale—the so-called semantic differential, thanks to which it is possible to draw conclusions on which elements men and women pointed out in the analyzed area. The analysis of knowledge sharing shows that women largely paid attention to such factors as preparation (to convey knowledge well), the superior sets an example (an example comes from the top), additional gratification (for willingness to share knowledge). Men indicated: necessity of the process, efficiency of operation (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Knowledge sharing according to respondents (men and woman).

Table 1 lists the knowledge sharing barriers identified by the respondents. These barriers were divided according to the literature approach. Among organizational barriers, the lack of a transparent motivating system rewarding knowledge sharing (68%) comes first, the less-important but also visible ones include 'outdated' organizational culture (7%), no positive examples from the top of the organizational hierarchy (8%) or lack of indicating appropriate benefits from knowledge sharing (6.8%). As the less important respondents included: organizational hierarchy, lack of appropriate procedures or inadequate work atmosphere. Among individual barriers, the most important turned out to be the difference in the level of knowledge, experience (45%), lack of time (30%), or a sense of danger that sharing knowledge may harm us (9%) or even a personal dislike of others (7%). In the case of technological barriers, most respondents indicated a lack of training in the use of modern technologies in knowledge sharing (89%), or a lack of consistency between expectations and technical capabilities (7%). The question can be asked, how could one organizationally contribute to the removal of these barriers, is it even possible? Further in the research, the respondents were asked such a question. The obtained answers clearly indicate the great importance of financial incentives that would allow company employees to intensify the need for such activities. The surveyed employees of companies from the tourist industry also noted the importance of training in this area.

Another issue that was highlighted in the research concerned organizational support for this process. As many as 112 people said that the management pays great attention to this process. A tendency has been noticed that the smaller the company, the greater the emphasis on knowledge sharing and the indication on the high degree of trust among colleagues. The surveyed employees also noticed that a very important role was played by the work atmosphere, which made employees willing to participate in this process. In the next part of the research, the effects of knowledge sharing at the individual and organization level were highlighted.

Organizational Barriers	N = 148
No transparent incentive system favoring knowledge sharing	68
"Outdated" organizational culture	7
No positive examples from management	8
No indication of the sharing knowledge benefits	7
Organizational hierarchy	0,7
No consistency between knowledge sharing and achieving organizational goals	5
No proper procedures	3
Inadequate work atmosphere	1
Individual Barriers	N = 148
Age differences	3
Gender differences	2
Cultural differences	2
Differences in knowledge, experience	45
The sense of danger that sharing knowledge can harm us	9
No time	30
Personal dislike of others	7
No language knowledge	1
Technological Barriers	N = 148
No training in the use of modern technologies in knowledge sharing	89
No IT support	1
No consistency between expectations and technical capabilities	7
Reluctance to use IT tools in the process of sharing knowledge	3

Table 1. Barriers to knowledge sharing according to respondents (%).

Table 2 presents the effects of knowledge sharing that are noticed by the respondents. These effects were divided into two areas: individual and organization. In the area of individual's effects, the respondents noted an increase in competences (90%), personal development (82%), loyalty to the company (66%), openness to others (68%) and a sense of importance (82%). Other effects were: loyalty to the company, reduction of stress and proper organization of work. Another area of effects that was examined concerned the organization. At this level, respondents considered the improvement of operational efficiency (93%), company development (93%) and achievement of competitive advantage (93%), as well as increased trust among colleagues (93%) to be the most important. The next recommendations included improvement of work organization or appropriate atmosphere of cooperation. As part of the research, a question was also asked whether, in the opinion of the respondents, trust was an element that helped/facilitated the process of knowledge sharing. Here, the relationship between the age of respondents and the verification of this statement was noticed. People under the age of 35 have stated that trust played a key role in knowledge sharing. The respondents in the range 36-40 no longer fully confirmed this statement. However, those over 40 years of age were very skeptical about trust. The respondents were also asked if they observed that over the last few years the efficiency of the company in which they work increased.

Areas of Knowledge Sharing	Results	
	Increase of competence	
	Personal development	82
	Loyalty to the company	
Individual	A sense of importance	
	A proper work organization	47
	Reducing stress	66
	Openness to others	68
	Improving operational efficiency	93
	Company development	93
	Achieving competitive advantage	
	Improving work organization	70
	Knowledge transfer between different organizational units	
Organization	Openness to news	
	Improving cooperation	67
	The right working atmosphere	
	Increased trust among colleagues	
	Group integration	
	Equalizing of differences in knowledge	13

Table 2. Effects of knowledge sharing at the individual and organization level (%).

Source: own study * Respondents had the opportunity to choose a maximum of 3 effects in each area.

The next question in the research questionnaire concerned the issue of efficiency. People were asked about how they evaluate defined performance planes in the companies in which they work (the study did not take into account figures related to efficiency, but only the subjective assessment of the respondents). From the tourism perspective, the efficiency of a tourist enterprise can be analyzed on an economic, social and ecological level. For the purposes of the conducted research, a development plane was added to assess the effectiveness at various levels, taking into account the specificity of the tourism industry. Each of the subjects in each of the planes was to assign a grade on a scale of 1 (hardly visible) to 5 (very visible). The results are shown in Table 3.

Cran aidi an tinan	N	Assessment of the Importance				
Specification	N	1	2	3	4	5
Efficiency on an economic level	148	6.1	2.7	4.0	87.2	0
Efficiency on a social level	148	0	5.4	79.1	12.8	2,7
Efficiency at the ecological level	148	0.7	66.2	27.7	4.0	1.4
Efficiency at the development level	148	0	0	5.4	94.6	0

Table 3. Subjective evaluation of effectiveness at different levels according to the respondents (%).

The economic efficiency rating was assessed by the vast majority (87.2%) on grade 4. Only 6.1% of respondents indicated that it is hardly visible. In the social plane, the highest number of respondents (79.1%) gave a grade of 3, no respondent gave the lowest score—1. In the ecological plane, the highest number of respondents indicated the lowest score (66.2%), but the highest score also appeared (5) for 1.4% of respondents. Interesting results were obtained in the development plane. As many as 94.6% of respondents indicated note 4. This shows that in the companies in which they work, a lot of attention is paid to new skills, which in the long run can contribute to increased business efficiency.
The scales were summed up and a box chart was prepared in which the data obtained during the research was used. The chart related to the areas to determine the effectiveness assessment on various levels (economic, social, ecological and developmental). There, the greatest diversity of responses concerns social and ecological levels. The most frequently chosen answers relate to grades 3 and 4. It is worth noting that very few people assigned the lowest grade 1 (Figure 5).



Figure 5. A box-and-whisker chart subjective evaluation of effectiveness at different levels according to the respondents.

5. Discussion

The research represents only a small sample of respondents who have expressed their subjective assessment of the importance of trust in knowledge sharing, taking into account the effectiveness of operations. The analyzed issue is undoubtedly important from the point of view of theoretical and practical considerations. The perception of the process of sharing knowledge also confirms a lot of scientific research. For example, Flaszewska [53] and Ryszko [54], based on the conducted research, stated that the most favorable factors for sharing knowledge could be financial incentives in the form of higher remuneration and additional bonuses, which are not always met in organizations. Paliszkiewicz [2] states that encouraging people to share knowledge is considered to be the first step towards effective, pro-development management in a modern enterprise. If difficulties arise in the area of knowledge sharing, they translate into a reduction in the efficiency, effectiveness and competitiveness of the organization. This statement is confirmed by research conducted in 500 largest American companies, which prove the scale of losses they suffered each year as a result of ineffective knowledge sharing or non-sharing of knowledge. The consequences of this state of affairs were, among others, project delays, professional burnout and waste of resources [55]. Sharing, flow and transfer of knowledge within an organization enables more cost and quality effective tasks to be carried out. It also enables the introduction of new participants to the knowledge exchange network, which is extremely important in the conditions of the information society, including the network [56]. The results have significant management implications. They indicate an important direction that should be strengthened in the use of all available human resource management tools so that, thanks to trust in the knowledge sharing process, the best economic results for the company can be achieved. This concept and its implementation requires an appropriate approach of the management because as the respondents noticed, "the example goes from above". The support of the supervisor and the quality

of communication have a significant impact on the trust of the first-line employee [57]. The importance of trust is also indicated in their research by Jabłoński A., Jabłoński M. [58]. It is worth to use in the organization the incentive possibilities that exist to bring the expected result. The use of motivational tools will contribute to greater confidence, which will facilitate the process of sharing knowledge. Effective motivation will also lead to a favorable atmosphere among colleagues, i.e., it can be considered that in this way it will contribute to the construction of an appropriate organizational culture model, which will provide a positive background for implementing the knowledge sharing process.

6. Conclusions

Nowadays, trust is an important element in the functioning of any organization. It is crucial in building friendly interpersonal relations. Finally, it can be compared to a huge force that affects the efficiency of doing business. Trust causes an increased willingness to act and jointly pursue organizational goals. According to Rudzewicz [59], organizations should influence employee relations and their work satisfaction, what will result in an increased level of effectiveness of the entire organization. Based on the research carried out and the results obtained, it can be concluded that in the group of surveyed employees of organizations from the tourism industry, the knowledge sharing process is recognizable and is considered to occur in every organization. The conducted research is only a certain picture of the phenomenon, which for each organization is of great importance in achieving the desired efficiency of doing business. The greater the awareness of the benefits of sharing knowledge, the greater the guarantee of positive effects. Trust in this case plays a very important role because it determines the satisfactory achievement of results. The management, as can be seen from the conducted research, is also very aware of the importance of the process of sharing knowledge because as stated by the surveyed managers, they set a good example. It should be noted that this may determine the appropriate human resource policy and organizational culture focused on sharing knowledge. The respondents drew attention to many barriers that accompany this issue, thus expressing how much more needs to be done in this regard. There are also expectations in this respect regarding rewards for sharing knowledge or training in the use of various types of tools. The respondents also pointed out the visible effectiveness on various levels: economic, social or developmental. The study allowed for collecting opinions among employees of companies from the tourism industry. The tourism industry is specific when it comes to trust issues. Here, employees very often compete in some way, which may not contribute to a positive attitude towards knowledge sharing. It can be stated that the collected material is the basis for the research tool improvement and gives the prospect of a broader research in this field and industry, which can contribute to formulating a knowledge-sharing strategy in an efficiency-based organization what can lead to better and better results for companies from the tourism industry.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, E.K. and K.Ł.; methodology, E.K. and K.Ł.; writing—review and editing, E.K. and K.Ł.; visualization, E.K. and K.Ł. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Szabo, L.; Csepregi, A. Competences Found Important for Knowledge Sharing: Investigation of Middle Managers Working AT Medium and Large Sized Enterprised. *IUP J. Knowl. Manag.* 2011, 9, 42–43.
- Paliszkiewicz, J.O. Knowledge Sharing and Trust in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises; Scientific Papers
 of the Warsaw University of Life Sciences—SGGW—Economics and Organization of the Food Economy;
 Warsaw University of Life Sciences—SGGW: Warsaw, Poland, 2007.
- Liebowitz, J. Key ingredient to the success of an organization's knowledge management strategy. Knowl. Process. Manag. 1999, 6, 37–40. [CrossRef]
- de Carvahlo, A.F.; Lesca, H.; Canton, A.W.P. Intrinsic Motivation for Knowledge Sharing—Competitive Intelligence Process in a Telecom Company. J. Knowl. Manag. 2016, 20, 1282–1301.

- Saifi, S.A.; Dillon, S.; McQueen, R. The Relationship between Management Support and Knowledge Sharing: An Exploratory Study of Manufacturing Firms. *Knowl. Process Manag.* 2016, 23, 124–135. [CrossRef]
- Kipkosgei, F.; Seung, W.K.; Suk, B.C. A Team Level Study of the Relationship between Knowledge Sharing and Trust in Kenya: Moderation Role of Collaborative Technology. *Sustainability* 2020, 12, 1615. [CrossRef]
- 7. Wang, C.-J. Linking Sustainable Human Resource Management in Hospitality: An Empirical Investigation of the Integrated Mediated Moderation Model. *Sustainability* **2019**, *11*, 1066. [CrossRef]
- 8. Probst, G.; Raub, S.; Romhardt, K. *Knowledge Management in Organization*; Oficyna Ekonomiczna: Kraków, Poland, 2002.
- Holste, J.; Fields, D. The Relationship of Afeect and Cognition Based Trust With Sharing and Use of Tacit Knowledge. Acad. Manag. Proc. 2005, 1, 1–6. [CrossRef]
- Skrzypek, E. Knowledge and trust management in the new economy. In *Knowledge and Experience versus* Contemporary Concepts and Tools of Organization Management; Toruński, J., Chrząścik, M., Eds.; University of Natural Sciences and Humanities: Siedlce, Poland, 2015; pp. 7–28.
- 11. Bugdol, M. Dimensions and Problems of Managing a Trust-Based Organization; Publishing House UJ: Kraków, Poland, 2010; p. 18.
- Chauvel, D.; Despres, C. A review of survey research in knowledge management: 1997–2001. J. Knowl. Manag. 2002, 6, 207–223. [CrossRef]
- Gupta, K.S. A comparative analysis of knowledge sharing climate. *Knowl. Process. Manag.* 2008, 15, 186–195. [CrossRef]
- 14. Paliszkiewicz, J.O. Leadership, Trust and Knowledge Management in Innovative Enterprises; CeDeWu Publishing House: Warsaw, Poland, 2019.
- Lin, H.F. Knowledge sharing and firm innovation capability: An empirical study. Int. J. Manpow. 2007, 28, 315–316. [CrossRef]
- Krok, E. Analysis of Employees Propensity to Share Knowledge on the Example of Research among University Employees; Studia Informatica 27, 129; Scientific Papers of the University of Szczecin; University of Szczecin: Szczecin, Poland, 2011.
- 17. Krogh, G.; Nonaka, I.; Aben, M. Making The Most of Your Company's Knowledge: A Strategic Framework. *Long Range Plan.* **2001**, *4*, 425.
- Gierszewska, G. Building knowledge management strategies in enterprises. In *Knowledge Management in Contemporary Organizations;* Kisielnicki, J., Ed.; Monographs and Studies No. 4; Publishing House of the School of Commerce and Law. Ryszard Łazarski: Warsaw, Poland, 2003; p. 80.
- 19. Sztompka, P. Trust, Foundation of Society; Publishing House ZNAK: Kraków, Poland, 2007.
- Gambetta, D. (Ed.) Can We Trust Trust? In *Trust: Making and Breaking Cooperative Relations*, Electronic ed.; Department of Sociology, University of Oxford: Oxford, UK, 2000; Volume 13, pp. 213–237. Available online: https://www.csee.umbc.edu/~{}msmith27/readings/public/gambetta-2000a.pdf (accessed on 1 January 2020).
- 21. Fukuyama, F. *Confidence.* Social Capital and the Path to Prosperity; PWN Scientific Publisher: Warsaw/Wrocław, Poland, 2007.
- 22. Grudzewski, W.M.; Hejduk, I.K.; Sankowska, A.; Wańtuchowicz, M. Enterprise Trust Management. Concept, Tools, Applications; Oficyna Ekonomiczna, Wolters Kluwer Group: Cracow, Poland, 2009.
- 23. Bylok, F.; Pabian, A.; Kuceba, R. Building social trust as an element of preventing burnout. Hum. Work. 2011, 44, 53.
- Stemplewska, M. The Importance of Trust and its Use in the Development of Intellectual Capital of an Enterprise; Research Reviews of Czestochowa University of Technology—Management 11; Czestochowa University of Technology—Management: Czestochowa, Poland, 2013; pp. 99–100.
- 25. Paliszkiewicz, J.O. Trust in Management; PWN Scientific Publishing House: Warsaw, Poland, 2013.
- 26. Krok, E. An Analysys of Employees Inclinations to Knowledge Sharing. Pol. J. Environ. Stud. 2009, 18, 187–192.
- 27. Krok, E. Personal Engagement in Knowlegde Sharing. Int. J. Manag. Cases 2009, 11, 11–22. [CrossRef]
- Levin, D.Z.; Cross, R. The Strenght of Weak Ties You Can Trust: The Mediating Role of Trust in Effective Knowledge Transfer. *Manag. Sci.* 2004, 50, 1477–1490. [CrossRef]
- Skrzypek, E. Economic efficiency as an important factor of the organization's success. In *Effectiveness— Conceptualization and Conditioning*; Dudycz, T., Osbert-Pociecha, G., Brycz, B., Eds.; Scientific Works of the Wrocław University of Economics: Wroclaw, Poland, 2012; Volume 262, pp. 313–314.
- 30. Cienkowski, W. A Practical Dictionary of Synonyms; Graf-Punkt Publishing House: Warsaw, Poland, 2000.
- 31. Białecki, K.; Dorosz, A.; Januszkiewicz, W. Foreign Trade Dictionary; PWE: Warszawa, Poland, 1993.

- 32. Lockwood, B. Pareto Efficiency. In *The New Palgrave Dictionary of Economics*, 2nd ed.; Palgrave Macmillan: London, Great Britain, 2008.
- 33. Samuelson, P.A.; Nordhaus, W.D. Economics 1; PWN: Warsaw, Poland, 1998.
- 34. Samuelson, P.A.; Nordhaus, W.D. Economics; PWN: Warsaw, Poland, 2005.
- 35. Economic Dictionary for the Entrepreneur; Znicz Publishing House: Warsaw, Poland, 1996.
- Szudy, M. Economic efficiency in dynamic terms and the efficiency of the economic system. In *Economic Categories and Theories, and Economic Policy. Economic Studies*; University of Economics in Katowice: Katowice, Poland, 2014; Volume 176, pp. 22–29.
- Bojarski, W. System Effectiveness of Business Ventures; College of Management and Entrepreneurship B. Jański: Warsaw, Poland, 2001; pp. 10–15.
- Szudy, M. Economic efficiency in dynamic terms and the efficiency of the economic system. In *Economic Categories and Theories, and Economic Policy. Economic Studies*; University of Economics: Katowice, Poland, 2014; pp. 2–6.
- 39. Drucker, P. Effective Manager; Modernity Library; Cracow University of Economics: Cracow, Poland, 1995.
- 40. Skrzypek, E. Effectiveness of operations in TQM-Quality costs. Qual. Issues 1999, 7, 11-12.
- Dabrowski, J. Methodical aspects of measuring the effectiveness of port enterprises. In *Studies and Materials of* the Institute of Maritime Transport and Trade; Klimek, H., Wach, D., Eds.; University of Gdańsk: Gdańsk, Poland, 2012; Volume 9, p. 34.
- 42. Nojszewska, E. Fundamentals of Economics; WSIP: Warsaw, Poland, 2010.
- 43. Pszczołowski, T. A Small Encyclopedia of Praxeology of Organizational Theory; Ossolineum: Wroclaw, Poland, 1978.
- 44. Skrzypek, E.; Skowronek, C.Z. Effectiveness of Material Management; PWE: Warsaw, Poland, 1997.
- 45. Matwiejczuk, R. Effectiveness—An attempt at interpretation. In *Organization Review*; Scientific Society of Organization and Management: Warsaw, Poland, 2000.
- Głodziński, E. Economic Efficiency—Dilemmas of Defining and Measuring; Scientific Notebooks of the Silesian University of Technology; Organization and Management Series; Silesian University of Technology: Zabrze, Poland, 2014.
- 47. Bielski, M. Fundamentals of Management Theory and Organization; Beck Publishing House: Warsaw, Poland, 2002.
- Czechiowski, L. Multidimensional Assessment of the Economic Efficiency of an Industrial Enterprise; University of Gdańsk Publishing House: Gdańsk, Poland, 1997.
- 49. Jurek, A.; Świtłyk, M. Application of multivariate comparative analysis to assess fertilization efficiency in the total economy of Poland in 1989–1997. In *Agribusiness: Changes in Agribusiness and Rural Areas and Their Consequences*; Scientific Works of the Wrocław University of Economics: Wrocław, Poland, 2002.
- Kaplan, R.S.; Norton, D.P. The Balanced Scorecard: Measures that driv performance. Harvard Business Review. In *Knowledge Management in Tourism and the Effectiveness of the Economy Tourist*; Morawski, M., Ed.; Publishing House of the University of Physical Education: Wrocław, Poland, 1992; pp. 79–88.
- Łoś, A. Dimensions of efficiency and its measurement in contemporary tourism. In *Knowledge Management* in *Tourism and the Efficiency of the Tourism Economy*; Morawski, M., Ed.; Publication of University School of Physical Education: Wrocław, Poland, 2012; pp. 79–88.
- 52. Rudzewicz, A. Trust in the Enterprise. Conditions—Relations—Measurement; UWM Publishing House: Olsztyn, Poland, 2016.
- 53. Flaszewska, S. Assessment of the process of sharing knowledge from the perspective of practitioners. *Przegląd Organizacji* 2019, 4, 45–50. [CrossRef]
- 54. Ryszko, A. Sharing knowledge in enterprises—Selected problems and conditions. *Mod. Manag. Rev.* 2015, 22, 149–159.
- 55. Babcock, P. Shedding Light on Knowledge Management. HB Mag. 2004, 49, 46-51.
- 56. Skrzypek, E. Barriers to sharing knowledge in an organization in the conditions of information society. *Soc. Inequal. Econ. Growth* **2018**, *53*, 45.
- Seonggoo, J.; Insan, U.J. Antecendents and Consequences of Frontline Employee's Trust-in-Supervisor and Trust-in-Coworker. Sustainability 2020, 12, 716. [CrossRef]

- Adam, J.; Marek, J. Trust as a key Factor in Shoping the Social Business Model of Water Supply Companies. Sustainability 2019, 11, 5805. [CrossRef]
- 59. Rudzewicz, A. Trust in the enterprise—Significance and measurement. *Manag. Financ. J. Manag. Financ.* **2017**, *15*, 291–304.



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).





Article The Role of Social Media in Generation Y Travel Decision-Making Process (Case Study in Poland)

Agnieszka Werenowska^{1,*} and Maciej Rzepka²

- ¹ Management Institute, Warsaw University of Life Sciences (WULS), Nowoursynowska 166 St., 02-787 Warsaw, Poland
- ² LOT Team sp. Z o.o, 17 Stycznia 43 St, 02-146 Warszawa, Poland; astrolabium22@gmail.com

* Correspondence: agnieszka_werenowska@sggw.pl; Tel.: +48-664-198-540

Received: 6 July 2020; Accepted: 10 August 2020; Published: 15 August 2020



Abstract: Technological development at the turn of the 20th and 21st centuries determined the possibilities of communication. Internet access has resulted in the rapid development of social media, bringing together users from around the world. Social media affect all aspects of human life, including leisure and tourism. The article focuses on the element of this influence, namely the selection of tourist destinations made by Generation Y. It presents the influence of social media on consumer choices in tourism and the specificity of tourist products. The main purpose of the study was to indicate the most commonly used social media in the process of selecting a tourist destination and implementing the journey by Generation Y. The analysis of research results shows the important place of social media in the life of Generation Y. They mostly trust materials shared in social media, although they are aware of it coloring reality, and sharing impressions from tourist destinations is per se the purpose of the trip. Facebook, YouTube, and Instagram are the most used social media for Generation Y. It was also important to define the purpose of activity in social media (SM). Studies have shown the emergence of goals not yet declared among young SM users. One of the main goals of a trip is to report and share travel content in social media. The survey method and the analysis of the literature and available reports were used. A diagnostic survey was conducted among Polish SM users, who are considered representatives of Generation Y. The survey was conducted using the CAWI (Computer-Assisted Web Interviews) method. The subject requires further empirical research.

Keywords: social media; Generation Y; Internet; tourist destinations; communication; Polish social media users

1. Introduction

Technological development at the turn of the 20th and 21st centuries opened up new opportunities for communication. It was quickly discovered that the largest invention—the Internet —provides extraordinary socialization opportunities, which resulted in the rapid development of social media), bringing together users from all over the globe. The Internet has transformed into a new sphere of life in which many people try to create themselves again [1].

Social networks are becoming more and more present in our daily lives. According to the Global Web Index, digital consumers spend an average of 2 h per day on social media and messengers [2].

Social media affect all aspects of human life, including leisure and tourism. In 2019, Facebook had over 18 million users in Poland [3] and over 2.5 billion [4] worldwide, which proves the scale of this phenomenon. Data from the report indicate that 2.9 billion people use at least one of the company's core products (Facebook, WhatsApp, Instagram, or Messenger) each month [4]. Users are often unaware of the great impact they have on their decisions. It is all the more important to examine this impact on issues related to tourism and leisure. The article focuses on an element of this influence,

namely the choice of tourist destination by Generation Y (Generation Y, also known as the Millennium generation, is the demographic group that is the successor of Generation X) [5]. In the first part of the article, an analysis of the literature on the subject was made, screening the typology of generations. The features characterizing particular generations were discussed. The importance of social media in searching for information in the process of making decisions on the choice of a tourist destination was also shown. The second part of the article presents the results of surveys. They concerned determining the popularity of social media (SM) among the representatives of Generation Y, indicating how they use SM for obtaining information on the choice of a tourist destination, factors influencing the assessment of the attractiveness of destinations in SM, and reasons for sharing content in SM.

Young people belong to the most active demographic groups in Poland in relation to tourism. This is due to many reasons, including primarily the lack or limited professional and family obligations [6]. The purpose of the article was to indicate the most used social medium in the process of choosing a tourist destination and fulfilling the journey by Generation Y. It was assumed that the most popular social medium for obtaining information on travel destinations in the studied group is Facebook, and the attractiveness of a given destination is assessed on the basis of an opinion in social media. The hypothesis regarding the purpose of the travel was also verified.

Nowadays, the use of devices such as computers, smartphones, and tablets has become commonplace. The generation born after 1980 cannot imagine a world without technical innovations. Social media have become an indicator of their existence. You can risk saying that a person who does not have a Facebook account "does not exist" and is even excluded from social circles. Social media are not limited to the most popular ones such as Facebook or Twitter. They discuss various topics and serve as places for exchanging experiences, opinions about products and services, transferring information from everyday life, holidays, or successes. In many cases, they influence the formation of opinions in the process of making purchasing decisions. For example, those include reviews and opinions posted in social media that affect whether we buy airline tickets to a given destination or go on vacation to the same place as our friends publishing holiday photos. Inspiration can also come from a movie watched on YouTube showing a journey to interesting corners of the world that will contribute to buying airline tickets and going to the presented place. In the article, special attention is paid to the behavior concerning decision making in the tourism industry among representatives of the generation that is characterized by high attachment to social media, namely Generation Y, the so-called Millenials. Despite many social media studies on purchasing decisions in many industries, there is still a need to deepen the knowledge on Generation Y consumer behavior in the tourism industry.

Among others Xiang, Magnini, Fesenmaier (2015) [7], or Dębski, Krawczyk, Dworak (2019) [8] write about the essence of carrying out research in the discussed area. For leisure organizers, tourist offices, etc., it is extremely important to follow the client's needs and the preferred form of communication. In the conducted study, attention was drawn to the need of Generation Y to document almost every aspect of life on the Internet. In subsequent stages of the research, it would be worth defining in detail exact reasons for uploading photos or a video report from a trip to Facebook. Perhaps it is becoming an element of increasing "prestige". Particularly important, not mentioned in previous analyses, is the emerging of the aim of publishing one's trips on social media: sharing impressions from tourist destinations as a goal in itself.

2. Literature Review

2.1. Generation Typology

The Internet has become a source of interpersonal contacts, especially among young users. It revolutionized interpersonal relations, significantly influencing their quality and intensity [9]. In times of dynamic dissemination of information technologies, we are dealing with the so-called digital natives. They often treat real and virtual space as one and identical. This division is to emphasize the way the Internet is used but does not refer to proficiency in using this medium. The conventional

division date is the 1980s. Persons born in this period and later are "digital natives", and those born before this period are "digital immigrants" [10]. Digital immigrants also appear in other studies, among others, Behary (2013) and Ktoridou, Eteokleous (2011). Other authors who also wrote about this phenomenon include Loos (2012) and Marchant, O'Donohoe (2014). However, others have researched digital natives: Cantoni, Rapetti (2015); Joiner et al. (2013); Kir wan, Mc Guckin (2014); Kivunja (2014); Mäntymäki, Riemer (2014); Mitan (2014); Reid, Van Niekerk (2014). For Generation Y, the term "wired generation" also appears in the literature because of the ability to use online tools. They are confronted with the challenge for the information society, which is the dissemination of Web 2.0 websites. [11]. The literature on the subject has several classifications of generation groups. One of the possible classifications was proposed by Lyons, Schweitzer, and Eddy [12] (pp. 8–21):

- the Silent Generation—born in 1922–1944,
- Baby Boomers—born in 1945–1964,
- Generation X—born in 1965–1980,
- Generation Y (the so-called millennials)—born in 1981–1994,
- Generation Z—born after 1995. It also often appears under the name C, meaning "connect, communicate, change".
- The following generations are most often distinguished [13,14]:
- Veterans (Radio Babies, The Silent Generations)-born in 1930-1945,
- Baby Boomers—born in 1946–1969,
- Generations X (Baby Busters)—born in 1970–1979,
- Generation Y (Millennials)—born after 1980.

2.2. Generation Y Characteristics

Those in Generation Y are also called "Millennials", meaning those born in 1980–2000 [15] are described as lazy, selfish, and having unrealistic expectations in relation to work. They are confident and convinced of their own greatness. Their undoubtedly distinctive feature is openness to change and a greater level of optimism in relation to earlier generations. They have the ability to search for information that is directly related to knowledge of new technologies. They also use it to create communities, often communicating with each other. They can perform many tasks at the same time (90% of respondents aged 18–24 believe that listening to an iPod during work increases their efficiency; young people need stimuli in an almost continuous way, e.g., in the form of music that stimulates them at work) [16]. This generation is almost always online. They are active in social media, shop online, and look for information, entertainment, and social relationships online. Polish Millennials can be divided into 2 groups, namely those born between 1980 and 1989 and those born between 1990 and 2000 [Table 1]. The interest in this group is so great because of its huge social and economic potential. The first group had an opportunity to experience the times without the Internet. Together with the younger part, they are a significant group whose purchasing power is constantly increasing. According to the Central Statistical Office, 38,386 million women and men live in Poland [17], of which 28.83% are representatives of Generation Y.

Table 1. The generation defin	ned.
-------------------------------	------

Name of the Generation	Range of Years	Age
Silents	1928-1945	75–92
Boomers	1946-1964	56-74
Generation X	1965-1980	40-55
Millennials/Y	1981-1996	24-39
Generation Z	1997-2012	8-22

Source: https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2019/01/17/where-millennials-end-and-generation-z-begins/.

Millennials certainly have a significant impact on the development of the entire country and all branches of the economy, including tourism.

Generation Y is a decidedly larger part of the population between the age of 19 and 39, and at this point, their behavior is the compass that entrepreneurs must follow if they want to develop and attract their attention.

2.3. Defining the Concept of a Tourist Destination

The concept of a destination is relatively new in the literature. Earlier, it appeared in tourist offers. Is a neologism, translating "tourist destination" from English. It has a geographical dimension and is understood as geographical space [18]. Nowadays, this formulation can be found in many scientific publications, e.g., Majewski (2007), Kruczek (2017), Zmyślony (2003), and Mikos von Rohrscheidt (2009). A tourist destination is a location that meets the unique conditions in terms of tourism and has values that distinguish it from other destinations. Visitors shape a specific image about the destination as well as certain expectations based on previous experiences, heard opinions, advertisements, newspaper articles, and popular beliefs, before visiting a given place [19].

In this study, the definition for a tourism destination was adopted from Goeldner and Ritchie as "a particular geographic region within which the visitor enjoys various types of travel experiences" [20] (p. 466).

2.4. SM in Search for Information in the Process of Making Decision on a Tourist Destination

Online shopping and earlier searching for information are now an inseparable element of the purchasing process. Information disseminated in new media is more visible and noticeable, and thus the effectiveness of reaching recipients increases [21]. Social media significantly support the development of the tourist services market. They have also changed its character. Among the most active tourist groups of consumers there are primarily young users of new media [22]. The use of this communication channel is used at every stage of making purchasing decisions: from shaping needs, searching for information, comparing offers, choosing destinations, to sharing opinions with other social media users [23].

Choosing a tourist destination, making a decision about buying a service, is associated with a high risk of buying a certain 'promise'. Therefore, clients aware and knowledgeable about modern technologies, in which Generation Y certainly can be included before making a decision, seek the opinions of other clients who have already used this type of service, thus reducing the risk of making a mistake. It is worth mentioning that over 95% of tourists use digital resources while traveling. During one trip, the average traveler uses over 19 websites and mobile applications [24]. Statistical data clearly indicate the huge range of social media because the total number of active users of social media in the world in 2019 was as many as 3.484 billion. This represents 45% of the total population and an increase of 280 million compared to the previous year. The largest group of people using social media was men aged 25–34 (19%), constituting 1/5 of all users. Men were also the second largest group—those aged 18–24. The smallest number of users was in the age group over 65 (2% for both sexes) [25].

Since the beginning of the Web 2.0 era, social media have become increasingly important in the decision-making process of choosing a tourist destination and planning a trip [26]. The results of research conducted by BrightLocal in 2018 show that as much as 91% of the US population regularly or occasionally uses reviews, and 84% trust it as well as a personal recommendation [27]. Reviews have a dual use: they provide information about products and services and serve as recommendations [28]. They are a heuristic element of making shopping decisions, which is important regardless of the personal characteristics of the people who write such recommendations [29].

The reviews have, as confirmed by the results of the Local Consumer Review survey conducted in 2019, a huge impact on consumer behavior. Positive reviews encouraged 91% of consumers to take advantage of an offer of the rated company, and 82% of respondents were discouraged by negative

reviews. On average, consumers read 10 reviews before making a purchasing decision. It is important that among consumers, 97% read answers to reviews, which is extremely important from the point of view of companies in the process of building credibility and trust [30]. These results indicate how the popularity and the success of tourist destinations is closely linked to their presence on the Internet [31]. Research conducted by Gupta (2019) indicates an important role of social media in meeting informational needs in the purchasing decision-making process. The author confirms that while there are negative aspects of SM, the benefits outweigh the drawbacks [32].

The greatest value of social media for tourism and tourists is the average rating of facilities and information provided by Internet users, which includes, for example, location, directions how to reach the place, cleanliness, value for money, etc. This information is divided by types of travelers, duration of the visit, and language in which they posted information [33].

Presented by Matikiti-Manyevere and M. Kruger (2019), the results of the study show that Facebook, YouTube, Instagram, and TripAdvisor are the most frequently used sites by tourists in the travel planning process. The growing popularity of Instagram was also noted. For a travel agent, it is essential to understand the behavior of tourists in online environments to create effective marketing strategies in social media [34]. The importance of Facebook and TripAdvisor is emphasized in the research by Jadhav et al. (2018) [35].

Tourism businesses can raise the cost of conversion provided that they have an effective value creation strategy and concentrate on customizing their services [36].

3. Materials and Methods

The methodology used included tools to identify the most used social medium in the process of selecting a tourist destination and fulfilling the journey by Generation Y.

It was significant to determine the aim of the activity in SM. Hypotheses regarding the purposefulness of trips and ways to assess the attractiveness of a given destination were also verified. The initial stage of the research procedure was the analysis of literature and source materials.

The research used the survey method. According to Apanowicz, they may relate to "the state of consciousness of a given community in terms of socio-economic activities in general and in detail. The most commonly used research technique in the diagnostic survey method is interview and questionnaire. These techniques are supplemented by document analysis and statistical methods [37] (p. 71).

The survey was carried out on 111 representatives of Generation Y, i.e., those born between 1980 and 2000. The respondents completed the online questionnaire using Google Forms at the turn of April and May 2019. Among the respondents, 72% were women and 28% were men. The respondents answered a number of issues related to their experience regarding the use of social media and the presence of a tourist element in them.

The survey questionnaire was addressed to SM users. Thanks to the fact that the first question was verifying, only people using SM and the Generation Y representatives participated in the study. They were students of Warsaw universities. The questions contained in the questionnaire were closed with a cafeteria of answers. The questions initially referred to the knowledge of SM and the information contained therein concerning places of a tourist nature. Next, they involved the assessment of the attractiveness of the tourist places described in SM, its influence on the decision of choosing a destination, experiences presented in SM, and the types of published materials, its credibility, and publication purposes.

The questionnaire for the survey was initially verified among 26 people representing the Millennium generation. The selection was made using the snowball sampling technique. These studies helped verify the questionnaire, which was then addressed to the research group. In the selection of the sample, the non-probability convenience sampling method was used. It should be mentioned that the research was exploratory. The research stages are presented in Table 2.

		8		
I	II	III	IV	v
Preparation of the survey questionnaire	Testing of the questionnaire among 26 respondents	Verification of the survey questionnaire	Selection of respondents	Conducting research among 111 respondents
		Source: own study.		

Table 2. Research stages.

Therefore, it needs to be deepened and expanded in quantitative terms. Replication with various factors influencing the assessment of the attractiveness of travel destinations in SM and the reasons for sharing content in SM is needed. The research results are a valuable source of information for tourist enterprises, especially in the process of creating communication and promotional campaigns.

4. Results

4.1. Popularity of SM among Representatives of Generation Y

All respondents declared their presence in social media. This shows that they have an important place in the daily life of Generation Y.

The respondents mainly used Facebook (92.7%). Twitter (80.2%) enjoys relatively high recognition, although it is not actively used by young people. The data are presented in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Frequency of use of particular social media [%]. Source: own work.

World statistics indicate 330 million active users per month in 2019. For comparison, 2.4 billion users use Facebook monthly, of which 1.59 billion use Facebook every day [38]. In Poland, Twitter is popular mainly among politicians and journalists. The idea behind this site is based on sharing short text messages known as 'tweets', which are currently limited to 280 characters. This medium is eagerly used by politicians in Poland and around the world who use it to communicate with their electorates. Instagram was the third medium indicated by the respondents (61.8%). It is important that, unlike Twitter, respondents use it every day. It probably has to do with the fact that it focuses on visual materials such as photos that Generation Y takes so willingly to depict various events from users' lives. In January 2020, 7,202,000 used Instagram in Poland, which accounted for 19% of the total population [39]. Daily use of another medium, i.e., YouTube, was declared by 56.1%, and 32.7% used YouTube several times a day. In 2019, more than 2 billion logged in users were registered who visit YouTube every month. Every day, viewers watch over a billion hours of films [40].

All media—Facebook, Tweeter, Instagram and YouTube—are not strictly tourist-oriented. Interesting results relate to the analysis of the literacy of the media, which are more associated with tourist services. The first was TripAdvisor, whose knowledge was declared by 47.7% of respondents, of which 34.6% used it, which may indicate relatively low popularity. The reasons for this phenomenon can be seen in a narrow topic, which is useful only when planning trips. Respondents also indicated Snapchat. It is a portal similar to Instagram but based on the idea of sending to friends photographic or film material that is displayed only once and then disappears forever. This solution was indicated by 21.5% representatives of the surveyed population who used Snapchat every day. The majority of respondents (93.6%) came into contact with materials representing tourist places during the use of the said media. Such great interest is an expression of the popularity of the topic of travel in social media, whose users willingly share information and experiences from expeditions.

4.2. Use of SM in Obtaining Information on Tourist Destination Selection

In the 21st century, the tourist market is increasingly moving to the Internet. The development of information and communication technologies has influenced changes in this sector. Acquiring customers in the group of Generation Y requires adaptation to their needs, style of rest, recreation, and the use of communication channels used by this generation [41]. The surveyed representatives of Generation Y, looking for tourist destinations, use various websites where they can find information, descriptions and reviews. Analysis of the research results showed that TripAdvisor was used most frequently (55.3%). The results are shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Media for obtaining information on tourist destinations by Generation Y [%]. Source: own work.

It is noteworthy that half of the respondents do not use this portal on a daily basis, but when they need information about a given destination, Generation Y decides to use the source associated even with the name with travel advice. Another place to look for inspiration and information on tourist destinations was Facebook (55.3%), whose popularity is closely related to the general use of this medium, which is 100% among the respondents. Generation Y prefers quick and easy access to content that interests them. One of the indicated options was YouTube (49.5%), whose strength lies in the film message allowing for greater immersion with the shown destination, and Instagram (40.8%), whose advanced tools allow presenting photos in an extremely beneficial way. Twitter and Snapchat

obtained minimal votes, indicating their unimportance in terms of impact on the Generation Y choices in the area of potential destinations of travel.

4.3. Factors Influencing the Assessment of the Attractiveness of a Tourist Destination in SM

There are many factors that influence the evaluation of a place's attractiveness. For users of social media, tourism-related materials are important. Only 6.8% of respondents believed that social media travel content did not affect their opinion of the destinations, while the vast majority of 93.2% confirmed that their travel decisions were often inspired by information posted on social media. Pictures that may induce indecisive people to choose a specific holiday destination are also inspiring. Only for 4.9% that was the main reason for making the decision, while for 64.1%, the information obtained from social media was one of the factors of choice, and therefore, they may have tipped the scales and made the place more attractive compared to other alternatives, as shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. The influence of tourism materials in social media on Generation Y [%]. Source: own work.

The relatively high percentage of respondents who declared no such connection is puzzling. This may be due to the fact that the older Generation Y is not as dependent on the use of social media as the younger part of Generation Y raised during the great technological boom at the beginning of the 21st century.

4.4. Reasons for Sharing Content in SM

Social media users have many reasons to share their content and read other posts. The New York Times Customer Insight Group study identified five key reasons why people decide to share something with others: entertainment, self-expression, developing and caring for relationships, a sense of satisfaction that they are doing something for others, and sharing their support for social issues [42].

When considering the impact of social media on travel destination decisions, it should be noted that most of this activity is driven by the users themselves, who take hundreds of photos during their vacation, and often, some of them are later on their social accounts, where all friends can see them. Most of the respondents added such materials (88.4%), of which 41.8% did so regularly. It is a very active part that cannot imagine traveling without showing their holiday adventures to friends

and followers. Only 11.7% of respondents found it embarrassing to show themselves in this way in a public forum.

Social media users who were active in uploading materials from holidays and trips declared mainly photo materials as the ones they most often publish (96.7%). The reason for this is undoubtedly the ease with which it can be done and the weight of the moment captured in the photo. Video was chosen by only 25.3%, and the reason may be definitely the greater skills required to create a good video than a photo as well as less processing options on mobile devices, as shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Type of content to be shared during the trip [%]. Source: own work.

Text descriptions were not recognized by Generation Y and appeared in addition to the more popular forms mentioned above. The shots shown in the pictures do not always reflect the true picture of reality. It turns out that almost half (46.6%) of respondents believed the images presented in social media, claiming that most of them are in line with reality. Total compliance was declared by 13.6% [43]. It is worth noting that 37.9% of respondents said that often in pursuit of recognition and the desire to show their life from the best possible side, they only commemorate the best sides of given places, avoiding showing the dark sides of tourist destinations. The data are shown in Figure 5.

Nowadays, when almost every aspect of the life of Generation Y is immortalized on the Internet, it is natural that for some, sharing travel materials can turn into one of the goals of the trip. Allianz Travel Insurance conducted a Vacation Confidence Index study among three generations: Millenials (18–34 years), Generation X (35–54 years), and Baby Boomers (+55 years), in which participants were asked how they engage in "social media". It turns out that Generation Y is much more likely than any other age group to present their travels on social media. It is worth paying attention to the reasons for such involvement. Over half (58%) share photos in which they look best, and 52% share photos in which their surrounding looks best. A relatively large proportion of Millenials (37%) do this to arouse jealousy among friends and family, and 27% treat it as a way to compete with others who also share materials from their holidays at the same time [44].

The analysis of the research results showed that as many as 80.6% use social media for leisure and visiting new places; one of the highlights, among the destinations of travel, is the emergence of a new goal, which has evolved as a result of technological development, is driving the development of social media, and now occupies an important place in the criterion of selecting a tourist destination.



Figure 5. Conformity of the image of a tourist destination in social media with the reality [%]. Source: own work.

5. Discussion

The number of publications that examine social media shows that researchers are very interested in the impact of social media on the purchasing decisions of individual generations. Issues related to the use and role of SM in the life of contemporaries are raised in many publications by a lot of scientists from around the world. It is worth mentioning here among others Hussain (2020) [45], Flachenacker (2019) [46], Mosterd and Wijers (2019) [47], Shatal et al. (2019) [48], Kumar and Namada (2019) [49], Liebowitz et al. (2018) [50], Reformat and Reformat (2018) [51], and Christou (2015) [52].

Considering the fact that Generation Y and Z are the main social media users, testing their purchasing behavior as the basis for planning communication and promotion strategies behavior in the purchasing process of Generations Y and Z has been raised in many publications: Littman (2008) [53], Ratajczyk (2017) [54], Zhang et al. (2018) [55], Badowska and Delińska (2019) [56], and Maurer and Siller (2019) [57].

Tourist destinations in the modern world must evolve along with increasing technological and cultural changes. The key to successfully promoting tourist destinations is no longer spending millions of dollars on TV advertising campaigns or printing brochures. The most credible type of promotion is content created by people visiting given places and recommending them to other potential travelers by showing how they look by publishing photos and opinions.

As a result of the available reports and literature analysis, the most popular social media used by Millennials were presented with an emphasis on their advantages when it comes to tourist content. Many studies point to the role of SM in the decision-making processes of Generation Y. For example, this research problem is discussed by Pikuła-Małachowska (2018) [58] and Gołąb–Andrzejak (2016) [59]. According to the ACCENTURE I FASHIONBIZNES.PL report, before making a purchase decision, Generation Z uses the opinions of many people. In the first place, they take into account opinions of the immediate family (65%) and friends and verify opinions of users on the Internet (64%) [60]. On the other hand, there was no indication of the new goal, which emerged after the analysis of the results of the conducted research and mainly related to reporting and sharing the content of travels on social media. That may be the beginning of further in-depth research aimed at e.g., determining the elements of these relationships.

The main research problem concerned the impact of social media on consumer choices in tourism. The research determined the extent of impact that social media exert on the choice of destination by Generation Y. The following hypotheses were verified in the studies:

- 1. The most popular social medium for acquiring information on travel destinations is Facebook.
- 2. Generation Y assesses the attractiveness of a given destination based on opinions in social media.
- 3. One of the main goals of the trip is to report and share travel content on social media.
- 4. Content shared on social media affects the choice of travel destination.

6. Conclusions

Generation Y sees in social media the opportunity to submit their opinions on various topics. It is a channel for transmitting opinions on service providers and holiday experiences, sharing blogs to help other travelers [61]. Therefore, it can be expected that the role of recommendations communicated via social networking platforms may be even stronger in the future [62]. Among others, Buczek (2017) and Gogoi (2019) emphasize that in their research.

Research has shown that visual materials are very popular among Millenials. Generation Y mostly trusts material shared on social media but is aware of the deliberate coloring of reality in some cases. It turns out that sharing impressions from tourist destinations is the purpose per se. The most popular social media used to obtain information on travel destinations for Generation Y are Facebook, YouTube, and Instagram. Badowska and Delińska (2018) confirm that in their study. To sum up, based on the analysis of the results of the conducted research, the following conclusions were drawn:

- The representatives of Generation Y seek information about tourist destinations using TripAdvisor or Facebook,
- Generation Y indicates YouTube and Instagram as platforms that have quick and easy access to the content that is interesting for them,
- Information obtained from social media was one of the factors in the selection of tourist destination,
- Visual content, such as photographs, is very popular among the Millennials,
- More than half of the respondents share the photographs in which they look the most attractive,
- One of the reasons for sharing pictures from trips is to make friends and family jealous,
- Generation Y mostly trusts social media materials but is aware of the purposeful coloring of reality,
- Sharing the experience of a tourist destination is an end in itself,
- The content generated by the Millennials in social media is very effective advertisement, or anti-advertisement for a given destination,
- Facebook, YouTube, and Instagram are the most widely used social media by Generation Y.

It should be noted that the research was exploratory and requires deepening. Its results are a valuable source of information for enterprises whose target groups are representatives of Generation Y. The research needs to be expanded in quantitative terms and requires a replication approach. The survey should also be further deepened with issues related to the determinants of social media selection in the search for destinations, which could be helpful when creating information strategies through SM.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, A.W. and M.R.; methodology, A.W. and M.R.; software, A.W. and M.R.; validation, A.W. and M.R.; formal analysis, A.W.; investigation, A.W.; resources, A.W.; data curation, A.W.; writing—original draft preparation, A.W.; writing—review and editing, A.W.; visualization, A.W.; supervision, A.W.; project administration, A.W.; funding acquisition, A.W. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Aboujaoude, E. The virtual personality of our time. The dark side of e-personalities. In Wirtualna Osobowość Naszych Czasów. Mroczna Strona E-Osobowości; Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Jagiellońskiego: Kraków, Poland, 2012.
- 2. Iglesias, C.A.; Patti, V. Editorial for the Special Issue on "Love & Hate in the Time of Social Media and Social Networks". *Information* **2018**, *9*, 185. [CrossRef]
- Social Media Users in Poland. Available online: https://napoleoncat.com/stats/social-media-users-in-poland/ 2019/12 (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- Number of Monthly Active Facebook Users Worldwide as of 1st Quarter 2019. Available online: https: //www.statista.com/statistics/264810/number-of-monthly-active-facebook-users-worldwide/ (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- 5. Management Encyclopedia. Available online: https://mfiles.pl/pl/index.php/Generacja_Y (accessed on 5 May 2020).
- Balińska, A. Agritourism as a form of recreation for students. In *Link Cultural Tourism in a Digital Era: First International Conference IACuDiT, Athens;* Vicky, K., Ed.; Springer International Publishing: Cham, Switzerland, 2015; pp. 313–323. [CrossRef]
- Xiang, Z.; Magnini, V.P.; Fesenmaier, D.R. Information Technology and Consumer Behaviour in Travel and Tourism: Insights from Travel Planning Using the Internet. J. Retail. Consum. Serv. 2015, 22, 244–249. [CrossRef]
- Dębski, M.; Krawczyk, A.; Dworak, D. Tourist behavior patterns Generation Y representatives (Wzory zachowań turystycznych przedstawicieli Pokolenia, Y.), Studia i Prace. Kolegium Zarządzania i Finansów. *Zesz. Nauk.* 2019, 172, 9–21.
- Paliszkiewicz, J. The Role of Social Media in Innovative Education. Available online: http://www.ptzp.org. pl/files/konferencje/kzz/artyk_pdf_2016/T2/t2_0914.pdf (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- 10. Prensky, M. Digital Natives, Digital Immigrants. In *On the Horizon*; MCB University Press: Bingley, UK, 2001; Volume 9.
- 11. Jabłońska, M.; Bilewicz, R.K. Breakthrough generation in WEB 2.0 (Pokolenie przełomu w WEB 2.0). Acta Univ. Lodz. Folia Sociol. 2016, 56, 83. [CrossRef]
- 12. Lyons, S.T.; Schweitzer, L.; Eddy, S.W. How have careers changed? An investigation of changing career patterns across four generations. *J. Manag. Psychol.* **2015**, *30*, 8–21. [CrossRef]
- Borges, N.; Manuel, R.; Elam, C.; Jones, B. Differences in motives between millennial and Generation X medical students. *Med. Educ.* 2010, 44, 570–576. [CrossRef]
- 14. Juchnowicz, M. Cultural Determinants of Human Capital Management; Oficyna Wolters Kluwer Business: Kraków, Poland, 2009; p. 118.
- Cole, G.; Smith, R.; Lucas, L. The debut of generation Y in the American workforce. J. Bus. Adm. Online 2002, 1. Available online: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.556.1213&rep=rep1&type=pdf (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- 16. Tyler, K. The Tethered Generation. HR Mag. 2007, 52, 55.
- 17. Statistics Poland. Available online: www.sat.gov.pl (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- 18. Burkart, A.J.; Medlik, S. Turism: Past, Prestent and Future; Heinemann Publishers: London, UK, 1974.
- 19. Baloglu, S.; Brinberg, D. Affective Images of Tourism Destinations. J. Travel Res. 1997, 35, 11–15. [CrossRef]
- 20. Goeldner, C.R.; Ritchie, J.R.B. Tourism: Principles, Practices, Philosophies; Willey: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2003.
- 21. Jaska, E. Using new media in creating the company's image. *Zeszyty Naukowe Politechniki Częstochowskiej Zarządzanie* 2018, 31, 80–90. [CrossRef]
- Kachniewska, M. Potential of social media in the area of popularisation of tourist activity (Potencjał mediów społecznościowych w obszarze popularyzacji aktywności turystycznej). *Rozprawy Naukowe Akademii Wychowania Fizycznego we Wrocławiu* 2015, 50, 35–48.
- Delińska, L. Social media as a determinant of development of tourist services. *Ekon. Probl. Usług* 2018, 130, 17–25. [CrossRef]
- Guggenheim, J.; Kremser, S.; Jhunjhunwala, P.; McCaleb, T.; Garcia-Mon, A.A.; McCabe, L. Travel Goes Mobile. 2014. Available online: www.bcgperspectives.com/content/articles/trans-portation_travel_tourism_ digital_economy_travel_goes_mobile/ (accessed on 25 February 2020).

- 25. Wearesocial. Available online: https://wearesocial.com/global-digital-report-2019 (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- Chung, Y.; Buhalis, D. Information Needs in Online Social Networks. *Inf. Technol. Tour.* 2008, 10, 267–281. [CrossRef]
- Local Consumer Revive Survey 2018. Available online: https://www.brightlocal.com/learn/local-consumerreview-survey/?SSAID=314743&SSCID=b1k2_vez00#g1 (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- 28. Park, D.H.; Lee, J.; Han, J. The effect of online consumer reviews on consumer purchasing intention: The moderating role of involvement. *Int. J. Electron. Commer.* **2007**, *11*, 125–148. [CrossRef]
- 29. Smith, D.; Menon, S.; Sivakumar, K. Online peer and editorial recommendations, trust, and choice in virtual markets. *J. Interact. Mark.* 2005, *19*, 15–37. [CrossRef]
- Local Consumer Review. Available online: https://www.brightlocal.com/research/local-consumer-reviewsurvey/ (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- 31. Govers, R.; Go, F.M.; Kumar, K. Promoting Tourism Destination Image. J. Travel Res. 2007, 46, 15–23. [CrossRef]
- 32. Gupta, V. The influencing role of social media in the consumer's hotel decision-making process. *Worldw. Hosp. Tour. Themes* **2019**, *11*, 378–391. [CrossRef]
- Drozdowska, M.; Duda-Seifert, M. Tourist Internet portals-a reliable source of information? *Turyzm* 2016, 26, 7–14. [CrossRef]
- Matikiti-Manvevery, R.; Kruger, M. The Role of Social Media Sites in Trip Planning and Destination Decision-Making Processes. *Afr. J. Hosp. Tour. Leis.* 2019, *8*. Available online: https://www.ajhtl.com/uploads/ 7/1/6/3/7163688/article_3_vol_8_5__2019_cut.pdf (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- Jadhav, V.; Raman, S.; Patwa, N.; Moorthy, K.; Pathrose, J. Impact of Facebook on leisure travel behavior of Singapore residents. Int. J. Tour. Cities 2018, 4, 6–20. [CrossRef]
- Effect of Social Media in Tourism. Available online: https://www.longdom.org/open-access/effect-of-socialmedia-in-tourism-case-in-cambodia.pdf (accessed on 20 May 2020).
- 37. Apanowicz, J. General Methodology; Wyd. Bernardinum: Pelplin, Poland, 2002; p. 71.
- Whysosocial. Available online: https://www.whysosocial.pl/uzytkownicy-social-media-w-polsce-i-naswiecie/2019 (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- Instagram Users in Poland. Available online: https://napoleoncat.com/stats/instagram-users-in-poland/2020/ 01 (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- 40. Youtube. Available online: https://www.youtube.com/intl/pl/about/press/ (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- 41. Werenowska, A. The use of tourist mobile applications by the Y generation. *Bus. Inform.* **2018**, *2*, 86–92. [CrossRef]
- Bostonwebdesigners. Available online: https://www.bostonwebdesigners.net/wp-content/uploads/POS_ PUBLIC0819-1.pdf (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- Gackowski, T.; Brylska, K.; Patera, M. The Use of Social Media as a Social Practice of Different Media Generations; Wyd. Labolatorium Medioznawcze UW: Warszawa, Poland, 2018; p. 144.
- Millenials. Available online: https://socialpress.pl/2018/07/millenialsi-publikuja-zdjecia-z-wakacji-abywzbudzic-zazdrosc-u-innych-uzytkownikow (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- 45. Hussain, W. Role of Social Media in COVID-19 Pandemic. Int. J. Front. Sci. 2020, 4. [CrossRef]
- 46. Flachenäcker, R. Social-Media-Marketing—Kunden gewinnen über XING, Facebook & Co. In *Mehr Kunden für Kleinunternehmen und Solopreneure;* Springer Gabler: Wiesbaden, Germany, 2019.
- Mostered, P. LinkedIn or Facebook. In *Managing Authentic Relationships Facing New Challenges in a Changing Context;* Wijers, J.P., Ed.; Institute of Strategic Relationship Management (ISRM): The Hague, The Netherlands, 2019.
- 48. Shatal, T.V.; Dmytriyev, G.B. SMM as Modern Marketing Technologies. Bus. Inf. 2019, 12, 446–452. [CrossRef]
- Kumar, V.; Nanda, P. Social Media to Social Media Analytics: Ethical Challenges. Int. J. Technoeth. 2019, 10, 57–70. [CrossRef]
- 50. Liebowitz, J.; Paliszkiewicz, J.; Gołuchowski, J. *Intuition, Trust, and Analytics, Data Analytics Applications;* Taylor & Francis Group: Milton Park, UK, 2018.
- Reformat, B.; Reformat, P. Wykorzystanie narzędzi mediów społecznościowych w kształtowaniu wizerunku firm turystycznych. Prace Naukowe Uniwersytetu Ekonomicznego w Katowicach 2018, Kierunki rozwoju innowacji w turystyce, 60–75.

- 52. Christou, E. Branding Social Media in the Travel Industry. *Procedia-Soc. Behav. Sci.* 2015, 175, 607–614. [CrossRef]
- 53. Littman, S. Welcome to the new Millennials. Response Mag. 2008, 16, 74-80.
- Ratajczyk, M. How Generation Y buys? [Jak kupuje Generacja Y?]. Studia Ekon. Zeszyty Naukowe Uniw. Ekon. Katowicach 2017, 330, 184–193.
- 55. Badowska, S.; Delińska, L. Smartphone as a tool to support the process of information absorption during shopping-results of research among consumers of generation Y [Smartfon jako narzędzie wsparcia procesu absorpcji informacji podczas zakupów-wyniki badań wśród konsumentów pokolenia Y]. Annales Universitatis Mariae Curie-Skłodowska Lublin-Polonia 2019, 2, 7–16.
- Zhang, L.; Chen, L.; Wu, Z.; Zhang, S.; Song, H. Investigating Young Consumers' Purchasing Intention of Green Housing in China. Sustainability 2018, 10, 1044. [CrossRef]
- Pikuła-Małachowska, M. The role of the Internet in making purchasing decisions by young adults (Rola Internetu w podejmowaniu decyzji zakupowych przez młodych dorosłych). *Marketing i Zarządzanie* 2018, 2, 157–164. [CrossRef]
- Gołąb-Andrzejak, E. Consumers of generation Y—A new challenge for marketing communication (Konsumenci pokolenia Y-nowe wyzwanie dla komunikacji marketingowej). *Handel Wewnętrzny* 2016, 2, 140–151.
- Accenture. Available online: https://www.accenture.com/_acnmedia/PDF-98/Accenture-raport-2019.pdf (accessed on 25 February 2020).
- 60. Maurer, C.; Siller, H. Iscontur Tourism Research Perspectives. Proceedings of the International Student Conference in Tourism Research; Herstellung und Verlag: Demand, Nordersted, 2019.
- Ghandour, R.; Bakalova, R. Social media influence on the holiday decision-making process in the UK. J. Organ. Stud. Innov. 2014, 1, 45–54.
- 62. Kuczamer-Kłopotowska, S. The role of social media in the communication of generation Y. *Handel Wewnętrzny* **2016**, *3*, 216–227.



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).





Article Determinants of Social Media Usage in Business by Women: Age and Development of the Country

Magdalena Mądra-Sawicka^{1,*}, Joanna Paliszkiewicz² and Jeretta Horn Nord³

- ¹ Institute of Economics and Finance, Warsaw University of Life Sciences—SGGW, 02-787 Warszawa, Poland
- ² Institute of Management, Warsaw University of Life Sciences—SGGW, 02-787 Warszawa, Poland; joanna_paliszkiewicz@sggw.edu.pl
- ³ Department of Management Science & Information Systems, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK 74078, USA; jeretta.nord@okstate.edu
- * Correspondence: magdalena_madra@sggw.edu.pl; Tel.: +48-2259-34242

Received: 20 August 2020; Accepted: 13 September 2020; Published: 15 September 2020



Abstract: This paper aims to identify the most important social media purposes of usage by responding women's attitudes according to age and the economic stage of development of their respective country. Research was done through an online survey in 2017–2018 followed by an analyses of the results from eight countries: four countries that represent an emerging economy and four developed economies. Participants responded to questions concerning social technologies and their purposes of usage as well as resulting job opportunities. The conducted analysis of regarding Facebook as a platform resulted in the highest number of responses in the survey. In this paper, detailed results are presented including a comparative analysis between two groups of economies. Findings reveal that in both groups, the usage of Facebook in business is related mostly to a positive experience. The result showed that among women in emerging economies, social media were used more broadly, and from an age perspective, the results show that marketing is a key benefit emphasized among older respondents. The communication benefit of Facebook usage in business was noticed as a key factor by respondents in groups from both developed and emerging economies.

Keywords: social media in business; women; age preferences; emerging and developed economies

1. Introduction

Social media usage is mostly analyzed in groups of younger populations or students. According to Silver, Huang and Taylor [1], in most emerging economies, social media are also more likely to be used by younger adults. Thus, age is strongly correlated with the usage of social media [2] and reveals an important perspective of analysis and the gap of research among older people. Age perspective is mostly analyses from the user side [3,4], not from business benefits. Additionally, the basis for that question was stated from the assumption that social media among emerging economies developed differently than in developed countries [5]. In advanced economies, the Internet is a part of daily life and impacts social interactions, politics, culture, etc. However, social media across emerging markets are characterized by a more innovative approach and more instruments that are frequently used [6]. Phone users with higher levels of education [5]. The division of emerging and developed economies was implemented to assess economic opportunities for women to increase their entrepreneurial activities by social media engagement.

This paper aims to identify the extent of social media benefits according to the responding women's age and the economic stage of development of the investigated countries. Three research questions were addressed in the study:

- RQ1: Is there a difference in social media usage in business by women of different ages?
- RQ2: Is there a difference in social media usage in business by women from emerging versus developed economies?
- RQ3: What are the main areas of Facebook usage for business success as assessed by the responding women?

The study contributes to the on-going cross-country discussion concerning motives of social media usage in the business from gender and age perspective. The achieved results contribute to social media use in work understanding by exploring key benefits. The study explores the phenomenon of social media's extensive usage from theory and price perspective. The main benefit that was noticed by older women responders was marketing activity developed through social media. Among respondents from developed and developing economies, there was a different approach to assessing the following benefits of Facebook usage in the business: communication, customer service, and marketing. It underlines the meaning of the traditional channel of customer contact across different economies.

In the first part of the study, the definitions of social media and benefits are described. The second part addresses the methods and sample characteristics. Next, the research results are provided paired with a discussion of other research results. Finally, the conclusions, limitations of the study, and future directions are presented.

2. Literature Review

2.1. Defining Social Media

The popularity of social media continues to grow around the world, and its phenomenon is increasing. The concept of social media has become popular among researchers because it has a real impact on social and business reality. There are many propositions on how to define social media. In terms of the general definition, social media is described as online applications, platforms, and media that allow individuals and communities to gather and communicate and which aim to facilitate interactions and the sharing of content in real-time [7–9]. Other definitions are presented in Table 1.

Authors	Definitions
Safko and Brake (2009) [10]	It consists of activities and behaviors of users who meet online to share information (words, pictures, videos, and audios).
Kaplan and Haenlein (2010) [11]	It consists of Internet-based applications (Web 2.0), allowing the creation and the exchange of the content generated by users.
Hsu et al. (2013) [12]	It is used as a platform for everyday communication where users share ideas and discuss issues.
Khan et al. (2014) [13]	It refers to online tools and websites that enable communication and interaction by giving them opportunities to share information.
Steenkamp and Hyde–Clarke (2014) [14]	It is a platform that provides opportunity for information sharing and to create and distribute the content.
Paliszkiewicz and Koohang (2016) [15]	It consists of Internet-based applications, which enables creating networks and making interaction among members of this network.
Kumar et al. (2016) [16]	It is a platform for businesses and individuals to transact and relate to each other in a mutually valuable manner.

Table 1. Definitions of social media.

Social media takes on many different forms, including social network sites, blogs, micro-blogs, media sharing platforms, wiki, virtual worlds, location-based services, social bookmarking services, group buying communities, review sites, and writing communities [15]. The main aim of social media is forming relationships and continuing relationships among people by the interaction amongst them.

Leonardi et al. (2013) [17] proposed the definition of enterprise social media by underlining four aspects of web-based platforms. The first applies to communication among employees or sharing information in the company [18]. The second refers to easier direct or indirect identification of communication partners at work. The third relates to the possibility of posting, editing, and sorting text and files. The last web-platform attitude involves viewing the messages, connections, text, and files posted by anyone else in the organization. Keitzmann et al. (2011) [19] presented six constructs of social media: identity, conversations, presence, relationships, reputation and groups. It enables us to characterize the extent to which users: reveal themselves, communicate with each other, exchange, distribute, and receive content, know if others are available, related to each other, understand the social standing of others, and form communities.

One of the most popular social network sites is Facebook [20]. It is a self-organizing network. Users can make decisions with whom they would like to interact. Facebook allows preparing public or private profiles with personal information, e.g., hometown, current city, education, employment, interests. It enables us to choose the list of other users with whom they share information, photos, videos, announcements, links, and opinions. Facebook has opened up new possibilities for self-presentation [21], and a user's friends are more than an audience; they are actively involved in constructing the user's identity. They can comment on content provided by the users [22]. Facebook's mission statement is "… to give people the power to share and make the world more open and connected. People use Facebook to stay connected with friends and family, to discover what's going on in the world, and to share and express what matters to them" [23].

2.2. Social Media Usage and Benefits

Social media sites have different features that realize different aims for the individual user and business [24]. Researchers have identified different benefits for social media use. However, the primary reason is communication and building relationships with others. Social media enables individuals to maintain relationships with family or friends [25], present photos and videos [26,27], learn from others and shar information [26,28,29].

In business, the main areas for using social media apart from communication with clients are to increase profits, support customer services, or gain new customers. Researchers underline its role in marketing as the new hybrid construct of the promotion mix [30]. Social media also are related to womens' empowerment and influence on their attendance in the economy; it helps in creating new employment opportunities, and in the recruitment process [31,32]. Social media can help to create awareness of the brand, products, or services and can help in building a good image of the company [33]. Social media in organizations can be used to: enhance communication inside the organization and enable stakeholders to be more innovative. Major challenges for social media are to be transparent, reliable, and to be able to communicate issues on time; thereby reducing rumors, and enhancing people to speak good about the company. Although there are many benefits of social media usage, it also possesses some risks related to security, privacy, accessibility, data management, social inclusion and anxiety, depression, and exposure to developmentally inappropriate content [15,34,35].

Rapid changes in emerging economies are being supported by Information and communications technology (ICT) that is easily accessible through social technologies via mobile phones. Phone users with higher levels of education are more likely to interact more regularly through social media than those with lower levels of education [5]. ICT access escalates higher efficiency, productivity, faster information sharing among employees, and supports creation and transfer of knowledge that enhances collaboration and communication due to faster transfer of information [36,37]. According to research, social media usage by women entrepreneurs in emerging economies increases a woman's self-efficacy and social capital [38].

3. Materials and Methods

3.1. Instrument and Materials

The questionnaire for the study was developed to survey women's empowerment [39]. The survey instrument consists of sections related to demographics, technology, and social technologies. Five different social technology platforms were studied, including Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn, YouTube, and Google+. Facebook received the highest number of responses regarding usage. Questions related to social technologies included the assessment of access to technology, the purpose of the usage of technology, technological benefits for women's empowerment, and past experience in using social media in business. The survey included the following usage of social technology platforms in business: communication, customer service, gaining new customers, marketing, recruiting employees, increasing profits, building relationships, and creating awareness.

Analyzed data included responses from 980 women in the workplace regarding the use of technology, specifically social technologies, and the benefits. Data were collected electronically among women in eight countries: Georgia, Poland, Romania, Slovenia, Spain, Taiwan, Turkey, and the US. Participation in the survey was voluntary, and the respondents were assured confidentiality and anonymity. The survey was done in companies that cooperate with universities in a given country.

A sample of the study includes women's responses as follows: 137 from Georgia, 106 from Poland, 129 from Romania, 152 from Slovenia, 102 from Spain, 123 from Taiwan, 131 from Turkey and 100 from the United States.

3.2. Methods

A qualitative approach was used for this study using a survey instrument that was developed with close-ended questions. Descriptive statistical analyses were used to give the reader comparative analyses and applicable results. Quantitative research in the study embraces an empirical assessment of the most important benefits recognized in the featured age and economic development stage of classification.

The collected data were divided according to the stage of economic development: thus, two groups were distinguished: developed (USA, Spain, Slovenia and Taiwan) and emerging economies (Poland, Romania, Georgia and Turkey). The developed economies group covers 477 collected answers and 503 in the case of emerging economies. The age division includes four classes: 25 years and under, 26–35 years, 36–45 years, and over 45 years. This classification was used in a multidimensional analyses of survey answers.

For RQ1 and RQ2, the investigation conducted a comparative analysis that includes the non-parametric correlation analysis and the Mann–Whitney U test for women's age and their respective countries economic development differences for Facebook usage assessment. RQ3 was explored through the hierarchy method of agglomeration based on the Euclidean distance for a multidimensional attitude of social media usage.

4. Quantitative and Qualitative Assessments on Respondents

The average age of the women respondents was 36, while the median value was 35 years of age (Figure 1—left panel). In a group of developed economies countries, the average age was 39 years (median 38 years) and among emerging countries, the average was 34 years (median 33 years). In both groups of respondents, the standard deviation was 9 years and the predominate age ranges were 26–35 years and 36–45 years (Figure 1—right panel).



Figure 1. Age of respondents.

Figure 2 presents the share of women that work for a company or an organization versus running their own business. It is interesting to note that 20.3% of women in the developed economies group run their own business, while in the emerging economies group, it was 25.6%.



Figure 2. Working for company/organization or leading own business.

Figure 3 gives more specific information regarding the organizations in which the respondents work. As noted, 43.2% of the respondents work for corporations in the case of a developed economy, and in the emerging economies group, it was only 17.3%. In a group of emerging economies, women declare to work for "other" types of organizations, mostly public units.



Figure 3. Type of the organization.

Figure 4 presents results regarding access to technology, specifically desktops, laptops, iPad/tablets, smartphones, wifi, and other options. Women declared access to each technology and could indicate more than one. The difference in developed and the emerging economies groups of countries was apparent in the usage of laptops where developing economies' access to this technology was higher. Only in case of access to desktops, the developed economies group indicated this technology as more accessible compared to the group of emerging economies.



Figure 4. Access to technology.

In the developed economies group, over 95% of respondents indicated more than 5-years experience in using social media, while in the emerging economies group, the percentage was 85% (Figure 5). These differences of experience may impact the social media assessment among two groups of women.



Figure 5. Experience in the use of social technologies.

5. Results

The indication of social media usage was further investigated according to the benefits of its usage (Figure 6). In the emerging economies group, benefits were reported by 96.4% of women, and across developed economies by 94.1% of women underlining the high level of benefits awareness in women's assessment and the importance of a conducted study.



Figure 6. Awareness of benefits that social technology can provide.

Figure 7 presents the awareness of technology benefits usage in different areas of business. In every field, the slightly higher awareness of technology benefits was reached in the group of emerging economies. The highest level of technology benefits recognition was noticed in the area of information and communication: 91.9% and 91.5% for the emerging economies group and 88.9% and 86.0% for the developed economies group. The awareness of technology benefits in social media usage was declared by 79.9% of responders in the emerging economies group and 75.1% in the developed economies group.

In Figure 8 the purposes of Facebook usage in business were presented by including the group of economies division. In the emerging economies group, Facebook was used for communication by almost half of the women. In the developing economies group, only 37.1% of respondents indicated usage of Facebook for communication.

Figure 9 presents an assessment of the social technologies' experience by responders. Women from a group of emerging economies make up a significantly higher share of those indicating a mostly

positive experience in using social technologies (89.1%). In the group of respondents from developed countries, the positive experience was noted by 71.3% of women.



■ Developed economies ■ Emerging economies





Figure 8. The purpose of Facebook usage in business.



Figure 9. Positive experience with social technologies.

Table 2 shows the U Mann–Whitney test results indicating the observed difference in the mean ranks of the two groups of countries. Only significant differences were presented in Table 1 (higher ranks were recorded for a group of emerging economies). According to the U Mann–Whitney test, we stated the following null hypotheses: there are no statistically significant differences between the usage of Facebook in developed and emerging economies and the experience of its usage in women's attitudes.

	Rank Sum	Rank Sum	U	Z	р
	Group 1	Group 2	. U	-	
Facebook usage for communication	69,599.5	85,246.5	29,413.5	-4.86640	0.000001
Facebook usage for customer service	77,539.5	70,156.5	32,755.5	2.24236	0.024939
Facebook usage for marketing	82,660.5	71,629.5	33,126.5	2.84610	0.004426
Positive experience with social technologies	225,273.5	251,502.5	98,517.5	-4.64453	0.000003

Table 2. U Mann–Whitney test results.

The group of emerging and developed economies countries were significantly different in communication, marketing, and customer service assessment regarding Facebook purposes of usage. These results underline the different directions of engagement for business reasons between the two groups.

Table 3 presents the correlation relationship between the age of respondents and purposes of Facebook usage in business. In this analysis, age was included as a continuous variable. For the developed economies group of responses, older responders noticed a more robust attitude in using Facebook for creating awareness and marketing. Across emerging economies, older respondents used Facebook more broadly for gaining new customers, increasing revenues and profits, marketing, and recruiting purposes. The level of correlation was relatively low, but the highest level was noticed in the case of marketing (0.2852).

Table 3. Correlation relations between Facebook purposes of usage and age of respondents.

	Developed Economies		Emerging I	Economies
		p-Value		<i>p</i> -Value
Communication	0.005725		-0.022145	
Customer Service	0.021911		0.096360	
Creating awareness	0.120034	*	0.098214	
Gaining new customers	0.098907		0.217456	*
Increasing revenues/profits	-0.021770		0.271928	*
Marketing	0.132155	*	0.285172	*
Building relationships	0.055129		0.085076	
Recruiting	0.039712		0.165521	*
Other	-0.034496		0.031138	

* *p*-value < 0.05.

As a result of the application of hierarchical methods, dendrograms were obtained illustrating the hierarchical structure of a set of Facebook purposes of usage to the decreasing similarity between them. Forming clusters in the agglomeration method was made by using the Euclidean distance. It measures the distance between objects in a multidimensional geometric space. In the case of developed economies, the age does not significantly impact on the purposes agglomeration of Facebook usage (Figure 10). It indicates that the objectives of Facebook usage were more similar than the age of respondents in its assessment. Similar answers to Facebook's purposes of usage were recorded for three elements: communication, marketing, and building relationships. The more substantial impact of age was noticed in a group of respondents from emerging economies countries in which women's age did not impact only on building relationships with clients (Figure 11). It may indicate other/different

paths of developing contacts with customers without using Facebook on a larger scale. In the emerging economies group of respondents, two pairs of Facebook usages in business were indicated as similar based on women's answers: communication, recruiting employees and customer service, marketing.



Figure 10. Hierarchical agglomeration for the developed economies group according to Facebook purposes of usage.



Figure 11. Hierarchical agglomeration for the emerging economies group according to Facebook purposes of usage.

6. Discussion and Conclusions

Social media has changed the ways of communication around the world [15,40]. It has helped people find, analyze, and exchange information [41] and become part of everyday life supporting many organizations as they conduct business in different parts of the world [42].

Social media has provided many channels for the development of entrepreneurship, also among women. Understanding the benefits of social media in business differs according to age [43]. The age of respondents is often used as a control variable in social media usage recognition.

According to RQ1, marketing was used as a significant benefit, which becomes more important among older respondents. However, the remaining identified benefits noted different stages of recognition between the results of developed and emerging economies according to age perspective among respondents. Facebook usage in business among emerging economies linked the age of women with increasing revenues/profits of organizations benefits assessment. The results indicated that the recognition of social media benefits is different according to age.

Communication, marketing, and sales often top social media Facebook benefits, which are recognized by businesses in every industry [44–47], especially in the case of information sharing [48]. The stage of a country's economic development also underlined differences in social media usage; however, the survey results did not indicate significantly different attuite of every benefit of social media. The awareness of social media benefits results were significant in the survey, which shows the importance of social media's role in business. According to variance analyses conducted for RQ2, benefits like communication, customer service and marketing were assessed differently among women respondents from developed and emerging economies. The agglomeration analyses revealed that among women from developed economies, three benefits were assessed similarly; communication, marketing, and building relationships—which shows three key characteristics in which Facebook is used. In the emerging economies group of women, similar answers were noted for recruiting employees and communication. Other social media platforms were not indicated as most often used, even those dedicated to recruiting employees [49]. According to RQ3, the communication role via social media is a key benefit that underlines its attractiveness that is still developed in various forms [50] by attaching users to new products or companies' services [51]. Social media is extending traditional communication channels, not replacing them, so understanding the motivations, needs related to age shows crucial benefits.

Additionally, Facebook usage for business success was noted by the respondents as positive.

Based on the research results, several gaps in the literature have been identified that need to be addressed:

- The effectiveness of different social media for business communication;
- The privacy issue related to knowledge sharing in social media;
- The impact of communication in social media on entrepreneurship and innovativeness;
- Education of users in the maintenance of their privacy on the Internet;
- Identifying the most suitable mechanisms to enhance trust-building for organizations using social media.

The current research poses some limitations that could create a new direction of research. First, the study focuses on one type of social media: Facebook. As a result, our research is only within the realm of one platform, and managers and scholars should be cautious in universally generalizing with other social media available on the Internet. Secondly, the analysis of social media attitude among developed and emerging economies cover only the eight countries and do not include macroeconomic factors that impact ICT stages of development. Thirdly, the generalization of the results may be limited due to the different age structures of the two groups of respondents.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, J.H.N. and J.P.; methodology, M.M.-S.; validation and data collection, M.M.-S.; writing—original draft preparation, J.P. and M.M.-S.; writing—review and editing, J.H.N. and J.P. and M.M.-S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Acknowledgments: We would like to thank all the responders who participated in this study. We would also like to thank the people who helped coordinate the research and support the collection of data, in Georgia—Salome Svanadze, Romania—Caesar Scarlat, Slovenia—Tanja Grublješič, Taiwan—Tzong-Ru (Jiun-Shen) Lee and Turkey—Fatih Çetin.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Silver, L.; Huang, C. In Emerging Economies, Smartphone and Social Media Users Have Broader Social Networks; Pew Research Center: Washington, DC, USA, 2019.
- 2. Perrin, A. Social Media Usage: 2005–2015; Pew Research Center: Washington, DC, USA, 2015.
- Hutto, C.J.; Bell, C.; Farmer, S.; Fausset, C.; Harley, L.; Nguyen, J.; Fain, B. Social media gerontology: Understanding social media usage among older adults. *Web Intell. Agent Syst.* 2015, 13, 69–87. [CrossRef]
- 4. Ida, R.; Saud, M.; Mashud, M. An empirical analysis of social media usage, political learning and participation among youth: A comparative study of Indonesia and Pakistan. *Qual. Quant.* **2020**, *54*, 1285–1297. [CrossRef]
- Del Giudice, M.; Della Peruta, M.R.; Carayannis, E.G. Social Media and Emerging Economies: Technological, Cultural and Economic Implications; Springer Science & Business Media: Berlin/Heidelberg, Germany, 2013.
- Poushter, J. Smartphone Ownership and Internet Usage Continues to Climb in Emerging Economies; Pew Research Center: Washington, DC, USA, 2016; ISBN 9788578110796.
- Peck, J.L. Social media in nursing education: Responsible integration for meaningful use. J. Nurs. Educ. 2014, 53, 164–169. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Chauhan, B.; George, R.; Coffin, J. Social media and you: What every physician needs to know. J. Med. Pract. Manag. 2012, 28, 206–209.
- 9. Lambert, K.M.; Barry, P.; Stokes, G. Risk management and legal issues with the use of social media in the healthcare setting. *J. Healthc. Risk Manag.* 2013, 31, 41–47. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Safko, L.; Brake, D.K. The Social Media Bible: Tactics, Tools and Strategies for Business Success; John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2009.
- Kaplan, A.M.; Haenlein, M. Users of the world, Unite! The Challenges and Opportunities of Social Media. Bus. Horiz. 2010, 53, 59–68. [CrossRef]
- 12. Hsu, C.; Park, S.J.; Park, H.W. Political Discourse Among Key Twitter Users: The Case of Sejong City in South Korea. J. Contemp. East. Asia 2013, 12, 65–79. [CrossRef]
- Khan, G.F.; Swar, B.; Lee, S.K. Social Media Risks and Benefits: A Public Sector Perspective. Soc. Sci. Comput. Rev. 2014, 32, 606–627. [CrossRef]
- 14. Steenkamp, M.; Hyde-Clarke, N. The use of Facebook for political commentary in South Africa. *Telemat. Inform.* **2014**, *31*, 91–97. [CrossRef]
- 15. Paliszkiewicz, J.; Koohang, A. *Social Media and Trust: A Multinational Study of University Students*; Informing Science Press: Santa Rosa, CA, USA, 2016.
- 16. Kumar, A.; Bezawada, R.; Rishika, R.; Janakiraman, R.; Kannan, P.K. From social to sale: The effects of firm-generated content in social media on customer behavior. *J. Mark.* **2016**, *80*, 7–25. [CrossRef]
- 17. Leonardi, P.M.; Huysman, M.; Steinfield, C. Enterprise social media: Definition, history, and prospects for the study of social technologies in organizations. *J. Comput. Commun.* **2013**, *19*, 1–19. [CrossRef]
- Borges-Tiago, M.T.; Tiago, F.; Cosme, C. Exploring users' motivations to participate in viral communication on social media. J. Bus. Res. 2019, 101, 574–582. [CrossRef]
- 19. Kietzmann, J.H.; Hermkens, K.; McCarthy, I.P.; Silvestre, B.S. Social media? Get serious! Understanding the functional building blocks of social media. *Bus. Horiz.* **2011**, *54*, 241–251. [CrossRef]
- 20. Ainin, S.; Parveen, F.; Moghavvemi, S.; Jaafar, N.I.; Shuib, N.L.M. Factors influencing the use of social media by SMEs and its performance outcomes. *Ind. Manag. Data Syst.* **2015**, *115*, 570–588. [CrossRef]
- 21. Hilsen, A.I.; Helvik, T. The construction of self in social medias, such as Facebook. *AI Soc.* **2014**, *29*, 3–10. [CrossRef]
- 22. Trottier, D. Social Media as Surveillance: Rethinking Visibility in a Converging World; Ashgate Publishing Group: Abingdon, UK, 2012.

- 23. Facebook. Newsroom: Key Facts. Available online: http://newsroom.fb.com/company-info/ (accessed on 7 June 2015).
- 24. Childs, L.M.; Martin, C.Y. Social media profiles: Striking the right balance. *Am. J. Heal. Pharm.* 2012, *69*, 2044–2047. [CrossRef]
- 25. Sheldon, P. Student favorite: Facebook and motives for its use. Southwest. Mass Commun. J. 2008, 23, 39–55.
- 26. Raacke, J.; Bonds-Raacke, J. MySpace and facebook: Applying the uses and gratifications theory to exploring friend-networking sites. *Cyberpsychol. Behav.* **2008**, *11*, 169–174. [CrossRef]
- 27. Tosun, L.P. Motives for Facebook use and expressing "true self" on the Internet. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 2012, 28, 1510–1517. [CrossRef]
- 28. Hew, K.F. Students' and teachers' use of Facebook. Comput. Hum. Behav. 2011, 27, 662-676. [CrossRef]
- Lampe, C.; Wohn, D.Y.; Vitak, J.; Ellison, N.B.; Wash, R. Student use of Facebook for organizing collaborative classroom activities. *Int. J. Comput. Collab. Learn.* 2011, 6, 329–347. [CrossRef]
- Mangold, W.G.; Faulds, D.J. Social media: The new hybrid element of the promotion mix. *Bus. Horiz.* 2009, 52, 357–365. [CrossRef]
- Huyer, S. ICTs, Globalisation and Poverty Reduction: Gender Dimensions of the Knowledge Society, Part II; Gender Advisory Board, UNCSTD: Geneva, Switzerland, 2003; Available online: http://gab.wigsat.org/partII.pdf (accessed on 1 April 2020).
- Ainuddin, N.; de Carvalho, M.G.; Fan, P.; Kelar, G.; Munder, I.; Taeb, M. Revisiting Women's Participation in Science and Technology: Emerging Challenges and Agenda for Reform; United Nations University: Macau, China, 2005.
- 33. Carraher, S.; Parnell, J.; Carraher, S.; Carraher, C.; Sullivan, S. Customer Service, Entrepreneurial Orientation, and Performance: A Study in Health Care Organizations in Hong Kong, Italy, New Zealand, the United Kingdom, and the USA. J. Appl. Manag. Entrep. 2006, 11, 33.
- 34. Subrahmanyam, K.; Smahel, D. Digital Youth: The Role of Media in Development; Springer: New York, NY, USA, 2011.
- 35. Bertot, J.C.; Jaeger, P.T.; Hansen, D. The impact of polices on government social media usage: Issues, challenges, and recommendations. *Gov. Inf. Q.* 2012, 29, 30–40. [CrossRef]
- Ojokoh, B.; Oluwadare, S.; Akintola, K. Womenâ€TM s Perceptions and Uses of Information and Communication Technologies in Nigeria and China: A Comparative Analysis. *Inf. Manag. Bus. Rev.* 2013, 5, 203–216. [CrossRef]
- Ajjan, H.; Beninger, S.; Mostafa, R.; Crittenden, V.L. Empowering Women Entrepreneurs in Emerging Economies: A Conceptual Model. Organ. Mark. Emerg. Econ. 2014, 5, 16–30. [CrossRef]
- 38. Beninger, S.; Ajjan, H.; Mostafa, R.B.; Crittenden, V.L. A road to empowerment: Social media use by women entrepreneurs in Egypt. *Int. J. Entrep. Small Bus.* **2016**, *27*, 308–332. [CrossRef]
- Nord, J.H.; Achituv, D.B.; Paliszkiewicz, J. Communication through social technologies: A study of Israeli women. J. Int. Technol. Inf. Manag. 2017, 26, 45–80.
- Wright, D.K.; Hinson, M.D. Examining How Public Relations Practitioners Actually Are Using Social Media. Public Relat. J. 2009, 3, 1–33. [CrossRef]
- 41. Çetin, F.; Urich, T.; Paliszkiewicz, J.; Mądra-Sawicka, M.; Nord, J.H. ICTs, Empowerment, and Success: Women's Perceptions across Eight Countries. *J. Comput. Inf. Syst.* **2020**. [CrossRef]
- 42. Knoll, J. Advertising in social media: A review of empirical evidence. *Int. J. Advert.* 2016, 35, 266–300. [CrossRef]
- Nord, J.H.; Espinosa, S.D.J.; Paliszkiewicz, J.; Mądra-Sawicka, M. Do technology and social media preferences differ with age? A study of the use of social technologies for business purposes in Spain. J. Comput. Inf. Syst. 2020, 60, 101–112. [CrossRef]
- 44. Kwok, L.; Yu, B. Spreading Social Media Messages on Facebook: An Analysis of Restaurant Business-to-Consumer Communications. *Cornell Hosp. Q.* **2013**, *54*, 84–94. [CrossRef]
- McEachern, R.W. Experiencing a Social Network in an Organizational Context: The Facebook Internship. Bus. Commun. Q. 2011, 74, 486–493. [CrossRef]
- Kamboj, S.; Kumar, V.; Rahman, Z. Social media usage and firm performance: The mediating role of social capital. *Soc. Netw. Anal. Min.* 2017, 7, 1–14. [CrossRef]
- 47. Wawrowski, B.; Otola, I. Social Media Marketing in Creative Industries: How to Use Social Media Marketing to Promote Computer Games? *Information* **2020**, *11*, 242. [CrossRef]

- 48. Liu, Y.; Bakici, T. Enterprise social media usage: The motives and the moderating role of public social media experience. *Comput. Human Behav.* **2019**, *101*, 163–172. [CrossRef]
- 49. Paliszkiewicz, J.; Mądra-Sawicka, M. Impression Management in Social Media: The Example of LinkedIn. *Management* 2016, 11, 203–212. [CrossRef]
- 50. Bonsón, E.; Flores, F. Social media and corporate dialogue: The response of global financial institutions. *Online Inf. Rev.* **2011**, *35*, 34–49. [CrossRef]
- Claussen, J.; Kretschmer, T.; Mayrhofer, P. The effects of rewarding user engagement: The case of Facebook apps. Inf. Syst. Res. 2013, 24, 186–200. [CrossRef]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).



Article

MDPI

Integrated Question-Answering System for Natural Disaster Domains Based on Social Media Messages Posted at the Time of Disaster

Kemachart Kemavuthanon ^{1,*} and Osamu Uchida ²

- ¹ Graduate School of Science and Technology, Tokai University, Kanagawa 259-1292, Japan
- ² School of Information Science and Technology, Tokai University, Kanagawa 259-1292, Japan; o-uchida@tokai.ac.jp
- * Correspondence: kemachart.kem@mfu.ac.th

Received: 28 August 2020; Accepted: 18 September 2020; Published: 21 September 2020



Abstract: Natural disasters are events that humans cannot control, and Japan has suffered from many such disasters over its long history. Many of these have caused severe damage to human lives and property. These days, numerous Japanese people have gained considerable experience preparing for disasters and are now striving to predict the effects of disasters using social network services (SNSs) to exchange information in real time. Currently, Twitter is the most popular and powerful SNS tool used for disaster response in Japan because it allows users to exchange and disseminate information quickly. However, since almost all of the Japanese-related content is also written in the Japanese language, which restricts most of its benefits to Japanese people, we feel that it is necessary to create a disaster response system that would help people who do not understand Japanese. Accordingly, this paper presents the framework of a question-answering (QA) system that was developed using a Twitter dataset containing more than nine million tweets compiled during the Osaka North Earthquake that occurred on 18 June 2018. We also studied the structure of the questions posed and developed methods for classifying them into particular categories in order to find answers from the dataset using an ontology, word similarity, keyword frequency, and natural language processing. The experimental results presented herein confirm the accuracy of the answer results generated from our proposed system.

Keywords: disaster information; question answering systems; question classification; Twitter analysis; natural language processing; neural disaster; word frequency

1. Introduction

Information is essential, especially in times of disaster. In recent years, numerous people have come to enjoy new ways to exchange information and share situations via texts, images, videos, and sounds using social network services (SNSs). Some of these social media tools, which have become essential to the lives of many people, were developed to support various types of events, especially those related to disasters. Since Japan is frequently struck by natural disasters, the Japanese people have accumulated a vast wealth of survival experience and have learned effective ways to stay abreast of various disaster-related events using social media as real-time tools for exchanging information. For example, just 10 min after the Osaka Northern Earthquake occurred at 07:58 a.m. on 18 June 2018, more than 270,000 tweets that included the Japanese word "地震" (earthquake) were posted [1].

In such situations, SNS information updates can help increase survival possibilities because they often include real-time data collected from on-site users in the disaster areas, news on help being provided by government agencies, or other knowledge that should be widely publicized [2]. In this

regard, with more than 45 million active users, Twitter is the most widely utilized SNS in Japan. The information and knowledge sharing is not stimulated by imposing structures and tools but by rich social interaction and its immersion in practice [3]. When information is exchanged together, information and knowledge are created through the interaction between people [4]. Therefore, the most helpful information at the time of disasters, such as safe places and useful services, can be obtained from people who exchange various information using social networks.

It is well known that numerous tweets are posted when disasters occur [5] because information and communication technology can enhance the speed of knowledge sharing by lowering temporal and spatial barriers between users [6]. However, since almost all such information is initially unconfirmed, it cannot be used immediately. Instead, it must await clarification, which means the content and meaning must be considered appropriately before it can be included in an emergency dataset. Furthermore, even though a variety of disaster mitigation systems have been created and are now in use in Japan, those systems primarily support the Japanese public using the Japanese language, which means that they are inaccessible to foreigners who do not understand Japanese. With that point in mind, we have been working on developing a system to support foreigners residing in Japan, which is expected to be useful for assisting them in obtaining necessary real-time information during disasters.

More specifically, in this paper, we report on the proposed integrated framework for a question-answering (QA) scheme in disaster domains that is based on an information provision system. To accomplish this, we collected a dataset of more than nine million tweets from Twitter on 18 June 2018, when the Osaka North Earthquake occurred [7]. After that, we classified these social media messages using an ontology, word similarity, and keyword frequency, and then we evaluated the natural language processing results to organize those messages into ten categories. The results were then statistically compared with the keyword used to classify each category [8].

In the next phase, we used tokenization and keyword stemming to develop and classify questions using those same social media messages. Then, keywords were extracted from those messages and reformatted into questions that allowed the system to understand what the questioner wanted to determine. Then, those question-related keywords were compared with the most frequently used keywords in the social media content dataset, and group keywords were assigned to categories associated with the question types. Then, answers that have previously been discovered to those questions are presented. All these processes work together to help us develop a system that can answer and respond to question-related problems using social media. Then, we verified the accuracy of the proposed QA process by calculating the confusion matrix of the result.

2. Related Work

Numerous researchers have studied QA systems in the search for ways to solve related problems in different domains, and they have presented a variety of different methods for improving the accuracy of the question-classification process. However, there are several differences in the resulting answers. For example, using applied research, Tripti et al. [9] proposed a hybrid QA system that uses machine learning (ML) to perform question classification through patterns. To accomplish this, they studied the syntactic structure of questions and conducted an experiment involving 500 medical questions. The resulting process was found to be helpful when assigning a suitable question category and identifying appropriate keywords.

In another study, Agarwal et al. [10] introduced an on-the-fly conceptual network model by applying intelligent indexing algorithms to a concept network to improve answer generation. Those researchers also proposed a framework based on a dynamic self-evolving concept network. Meanwhile, Sunny et al. [11] proposed a community QA system and a question recommendation system using the k-nearest neighbors (KNN) and Naïve Bayes algorithms. This system can determine the redundancy of questions with similar meanings on the system, and it ranks the resulting answer using "likes" and "comments" received from users. Separately, Lin-Qin et al. [12] present an integrated framework for Chinese language intelligent QA in restricted domains. This model is implemented using a convolutional neural network, a bidirectional long short-term memory network, and question pair matching to perform QA processing. In still another study, Kanokorn et al. [13] proposed an information extraction process for both questions and answers that uses the Thai language and a related corpus. This research resulted in a web-based QA system whose answers are factoids extracted from Thai Wikipedia articles.

In addition to research on QA processes, other researchers have proposed methods to analyze social media and create disaster-assistance systems. For example, the Disaster Information Tweeting System (DITS) and the Disaster Information Mapping System (DIMS) are currently among the most popular mobile web-based applications used in Japan. These applications use a Twitter account to link with geolocation data and hashtags to obtain and share disaster information among participating users [14].

Similarly, the DETSApp English language mobile disaster app is an applied research application that can display real-time scenario contents related to disaster events accurately using images posted on Twitter. The image process works with a near-duplicate image detection algorithm and summarization using associated textual information [15]. Additionally, the DISAster-information ANAlyzer (DISAANA) and the Disaster-information SUMMarizer (D-SUMM) are mutually-supporting Japanese language web-based apps that use Twitter as an information source. Working together, DISAANA provides a list of answers related to location and information, while D-SUMM summarizes the disaster reports [16].

3. Methodology

Numerous disaster-related studies using various ML algorithms have been carried out for purposes such as data classification, prediction, and/or evacuation route planning. However, there have only been a few studies that have systematically analyzed recent developments, particularly in relation to disaster management or disaster knowledge management [17]. With that point in mind, this study explores a method for implementing a QA system in natural disaster domains that works by extracting disaster information from social media messages.

To accomplish this, we collected a dataset and performed a few necessary classification pre-processing procedures, i.e., message tokenization and keyword similarity identification, etc., in order to classify tweet sentences in the same manner as outlined in our previous research [5]. Next, we separated the system framework into three main phases. The first phase involves separating the question sentences via tokenization, classifying the questions by type, and then comparing them with previous questions with the KNN algorithms. The second step involves classifying question-related keywords by a computing ontology and WordNet similarity. After that, the keyword matching process is implemented to analyze the dataset discussed in our previous research. Then, in the third stage, we create an answer by selecting keyword compatibility and ranking the most frequent social media retweets.

3.1. Classification Algorithm

Since our proposed system uses natural sentences as input, the question-classification algorithms used are important. The system itself can be divided into the classification algorithm based on syntactic structures and the classification algorithm based on interrogative words. The syntactic structure classification algorithm, which works by extracting reasonable features from sentences, improves classification accuracy because proper syntactic structures are essential for controlling word combinations in sentences. Hence, the algorithm is used to analyze each word's role to understand the meaning of the question.

The classification algorithm, which is based on interrogative words, works by analyzing the interrogative word in a sentence. This method is used to solve the problem that occurs when syntax
analysis rules are very complex, because it is difficult to cover all grammar rules. However, the classification result can be limited to a relatively small range [18].

3.2. KNN Algorithm

The KNN algorithm, which is an algorithm in the supervised learning group, is a highly beneficial ML algorithm that is used to group data (classification). This algorithm uses various methods to decide which classes can replace new conditions or cases by checking certain numbers and determining cases where they are the same or close to each other by calculating the total number of conditions. It is used for classification and regression when classifying an unknown dataset, which is primarily based on the similarity of neighboring results [19]. The KNN algorithm does not need training data to implement classification. Instead, the algorithm works by identifying the most relevant questions from sample document groups [20].

3.3. Statistic Similarity

Statistic similarity, which is a method that can be used to calculate the similarity between questions, works using a low-dimensional vector with only a few words in one sentence. This method compares questions based on the question word set. More specifically, in a situation where two questions are given as Q1 = [word A, word B, and word C] and Q2 = [word A, word D, and word E], we can define the word set as follows: QS = Q1UQ2.

The QS word set contains all the distinct words in Q1 and Q2. Thus, a vector v that can represent each question follows $Q1 = V1 = \{1,1,1,0,0\}$ and $Q2 = V2 = \{0,0,1,1,1\}$. If the word does not appear in this question, the value of the component is set to 0. If the word appears in this question, its value is equal to its frequency in the question [21]. As a result, we can measure the statistic similarity by Formula (1) below.

$$Sim statistic = \frac{v1 \times v2}{\|V1\| \|x\| \|V2\|}$$
(1)

3.4. Word Similarity on WordNet

WordNet, which is an English word database that focuses on the relationships between words, consists of nouns, verbs, adjectives, and adverbs. Related words are linked via synonym sets (synsets). More specifically, WordNet is an ontology in which more than 100,000 words have been collected that is used primarily to find similarities (upper and lower position, synonyms, properties, causes, etc.) between keywords, after which it presents similarity scores with percentages [22–24].

The WordNet similarity equation compares two words by finding the root words of both and then obtains a similarity score for each word. The comparison result between the two words will be a score from zero to one. A score of one indicates a 100% relationship, while a score close to one indicates a firm relationship probability. In contrast, a score of zero or close to zero indicates that the two words are unrelated despite their similarity. In this research, after separating the question's sentence into keywords, we explore the meaning and relationship among words via WordNet similarity.

3.5. Confusion Matrix

A confusion matrix is a tool used to measure the ability and accuracy rate of an ML process or system. The matrix uses four values: True Positive (TP), which means the program's actual predictions and data are true; True Negative (TN), which means the program's actual predictions and data are false; False Positive (FP), which means the program makes a correct prediction, but the actual data is false; and False Negative (FN), in which the program prediction is false, but the actual data is true. [25–27]. We measure the results produced by the system using three criteria:

 Accuracy: The predicted accuracy matches what actually happens. The accuracy formula is (TP + TN)/(TP + TN + FP + FN).

- Precision: Correct and true predictions are compared with true predictions, but what happens is not true. The precision formula is TP/(TP + FP).
- Recall: The true prediction accuracy compared to the number of occurrences where both the prediction and occurrence are true. The recall formula is TP/(TP + FN).

It is necessary to measure the model or result in each step before developing or using it in various fields.

4. Framework Design

4.1. Framework of Our Proposed Integrated QA System

The systematic framework of our proposed integrated QA system for use in a natural disaster is divided into three main steps: the question processing phase, the answer processing phase, and the output processing phase, as shown in Figure 1. The first step takes an input question received from a user and goes through question processing to analyze the sentence. This process separates the question sentences into keywords and classifies the question by type. Next, the results are explored in the answer-processing phase, where matching between the keywords and the dataset takes place. This is the process where the answer is extracted from the database.



Figure 1. An overview framework of the integrated question answering system in natural disaster.

To facilitate answer creation, the system's database maintains important data in two parts: parts extracted from the social media dataset during our previous research [8] and basic data such as location, contact, and coordinate information. By comparing the question keywords with the dataset keywords and basic supplemental data, answer sets can be produced.

Next, we rank the answer result and estimate the possibility of a correct answer. The output result is most likely the closest related to the question the user wants to be answered. In the final step that follows, both the question and the answer are recorded in the database so they can be immediately available if the same question is asked in the future.

4.2. Question Processing Phase Framework

The first step of the proposed framework is the question-processing phase, during which the questions are analyzed and classified. Internal procedures such as tokenization, stop word remover, keyword stemming, question classification, and keyword selection are completed in this question analyzing process. Specifically, this process receives question messages from users, separates the structural components of those questions, and removes the unimportant components

The next process separates the sentence into words to identify the question by type and category. After that—but before sending the keyword result to the next step—the system will begin question

retrieval processing. This process checks the submitted question for similarities by comparing it with previous questions contained in the database. If a question has already been asked, the system will engage the reuse and retention processes to retrieve the previous answer and reuse it for the current question. However, if it is a new question, the system will forward it to the answer-processing phase, as shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. The system framework in part of the question-processing phase.

4.3. Framework Part of Answer Retrieval Processing and Answer Output

The second and third steps of the framework are the answer processing and output processing phases. The answer retrieval processing phase involves taking keywords from the previous process and using them to analyze the question by type (what, where, when, why, how, which, and whom) and then specifying the answer categories in which the expected answers should be located.

For example, if the question contains the word "where", it indicates that the user is asking about a location, so the system will retrieve place location information and calculate the distance between that location and the user in order to create an answer, which it will then forward to the user. However, if the question type is "what" or "how", the system will go through the matching process between the question keywords and dataset keywords to extract potential answers.

After obtaining the answer result set, the system creates an answer based on keyword compatibility and the social media content ranking that indicates the highest correct probability. The result is sent to the user in the answer output step, and both the question and answer are added to the database for reuse, as shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. The system framework in part of answer processing and output processing.

5. Experiments

This section will explain how the system works by following the framework steps discussed above. More specifically, we describe how we collect and analyze necessary information from social media, perform data classification, and use the QA system answering process. The Twitter application programming interface (API) is used to access data in the JavaScript Object Notation (JSON) String form [28]. After that, all of the keywords are translated from Japanese into English in order to facilitate understanding while preparing for the next step, as shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Tweets tokenizing and analysis process.

5.1. Data Classification of Social Media Messages

After the data gathering process, we selected ten English words to create ten categories by focusing on contents that must be known in relation to three main topics: before a disaster occurs, during a disaster, and after a disaster. Lists are compiled related to transportation (travel information, and vehicles), animals (human, pets, and other live animals), alerts (information during and after the disaster), warnings (cautions and self-preservation efforts before a disaster), places (buildings and/or other locations), damages (effects and violence caused by disasters), emotions (feeling and ideas), actions (activities during the disaster), energy (energy information), and services (available assistance and information sharing services).

Next, to classify questions sentences by type, they are compared to all ten categories in order to determine similarities. WordNet calculates a keyword similarity score by using an ontology to compare the compatibility of tweet dataset keywords and ten categories. For example, "Cat" has a higher compatibility with the category "animal" than the other categories. Moreover, it also counts how frequently the words of each category are used in the sentence [8], as shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Classification of social media messages process.

5.2. Question Processing

Based on the framework above, the first step is to split the sentences into words via tokenization processing. For example, the question message, "How to prepare for the Osaka's earthquake?" will become [How] [to] [preparing] [for] [the] [Osaka] [is] [earthquake] [?]. The next step is the word removal process because words from tokenization have conjunctions, prepositions, or words that cannot be filtered, such as "a", "an", "the", "from", "for", and "in".

After that, the next process is stemming the keywords from the result [How] [preparing] [Osaka] [earthquake]. Since English words have added endings such as "-ing", "-ion", "-tion", "-s", "ed", it is necessary to convert those words to standard form via keyword stemming. The result of [preparing] becomes [prepare]. After this process, we get the question type = [How] and using the keyword selector get = [prepare] [Osaka] [earthquake] for the next step.

Before sending results to the answer processing step, the question processing will check the similarity measurement of the question by calculating the weighted sum of feature distance. We use KNN retrieval to find all of the closest previous questions in the database and then calculate the closeness between each keyword of the previous and new questions. For example, in Question 1, [How] [to] [prepare] [for] [the] [Osaka] [is] [earthquake] [?] and Question 2, [What] [is] [damage] [of] [Osaka] [earthquake] [?]. The statistic similarity is $QS = Q1UQ2 = \{how, to, prepare, for, the, Osaka, is, earthquake, ?, what, damage, of\}. The resulting vector of similarity is v1 = {1,1,1,1,1,1,1,1,0,0,0} and v2 = {0,0,0,0,0,1,1,1,1,1,1,1,1}.$

Next, we use the sim statistic formula obtained from the formula $= v1 \cdot v2/||v1|| \cdot ||v2||$, from which we then obtain a result equal to 0.5039, which means these two questions differ. If the system finds a match using a previous question, it will return the same answer to the user, as shown in Figure 6.



Figure 6. Question processing phase.

However, if there are many similar questions, such as Question 1, "How to prepare for the earthquake?" and Question 2, "How to prepare for the typhoon?", the calculation result is 0.857, and the vector is not equal. In this case, it is necessary to use WordNet to compare the different keywords from the vector to identify more similarities.

5.3. Answer Retrieval Processing and Answer Output

After categorizing the question similarities and differences, research work begins on the different results. The next step is to use the question keywords to find the answer. This process begins with classification, during which the question's keyword is matched with the keywords of the ten predetermined dataset categories from the database of our previous work.

However, if no keyword match is found in the database, WordNet similarity recalculations will be performed to find the keyword's score. After determining the question category, the score with the highest value in that category will be used to retrieve the dataset information.

In our experiments, we compared data compatibility by finding the answer that contained the most relevant words to the primary question keyword. For example, in the question, "How to prepare for the earthquake?", The main keyword is "prepare". Therefore, the system will retrieve the answer that has the most keyword matches or similar meanings.

The system will also pull up ten unique items and arrange them by the number of retweets from the highest to the lowest. In this process, we also eliminate spam and information that cannot be used from the data. Then, we select the first rank as the primary answer and supplement that answer by two other items as spares in case the first item is an incorrect answer.

For example, the result for the question, "How to prepare for the earthquake?" is the tweet "地震 生後余震へのえ - 断水にえおに水をめる - 停にえ中灯の用意 - 食器棚の扉にはガムテプで食器が落 ちない工夫を - 家族同じ部屋で休む - 枕元に避リュックとスニカを - 避リュックの中身はみ水、ラ ジオ、マスク、..." "Preparing for aftershocks after an earthquake, - Prepare extra water to avoid running out. - Prepare a flashlight for use in case of power failure. - Use tape to prevent dishes from falling on the cupboard door. - Have all family members rest in the same room. - Prepare evacuation backpacks and sneakers, and keep them at your bedside. - The contents of the evacuation backpack are drinking water, radio, mask, army..." (as shown in Figure 7).



Figure 7. Answer processing phase.

5.4. Retrieval Performance and Evaluation Results

In this section, we describe the experimental results used to evaluate question retrieval accuracy and answer retrieval performance based on precision, recall, and accuracy. When evaluating the accuracy of question retrieval performance, we tested the accuracy of question calculation similarities using a confusion matrix. To accomplish this, we created 100 questions, 50 of which were listed as previous questions, and another 50 questions that were new, and then verified the results. All 100 questions were used in each experiment. If the system found a previous question, the system will send the previous answer. If the system encounters a new question, it will be saved and sent to the next process where the prediction result and actual question will be compared. The results are as follows (see Table 1).

Table 1. Question retrieval performance accuracy.

	Accuracy	Precision	Recall
Confusion Matrix Score	0.883	0.98	0.75

Based on those results, the accuracy score of calculation similarities in the question retrieval performance is presented. As can be seen from the table, the accuracy can be as high as 88%. Then, we analyzed the accuracy imperfections caused by words that cannot be calculated via WordNet similarities such as place names or transliterated words.

These include questions such as, "How about Kansai in Osaka's earthquake?" and "How about trains in Osaka's earthquake?" Those questions should refer to the same answer, but the system cannot determine whether the words "Kansai" are the same or different from "train". In addition, the questions "What is the damage of the city?" and "What is the damage of Osaka city?" should also refer to the same answer because the database only contains the Osaka earthquake dataset.

When evaluating the answer retrieval performance accuracy, we used the same 100 questions mentioned above and investigated the answers found for all 100 questions. When some questions could not be answered, such as the question, "How to prepare for a typhoon?", no answer could be shown because the dataset only contained Osaka earthquake data. Therefore, we focused solely on the results of matching answers from the Twitter dataset that were directly or somewhat related to the questions, because some Twitter messages contained useful information but not enough to answer those questions (see Table 2).

	Accuracy	Precision	Recall
Confusion Matrix Score	0.776	0.82	0.863

Table 2. Answer retrieval performance accuracy.

With an accuracy score of 77%, this experiment showed that the system was reasonably capable of finding answers that matched the dataset. However, we found that some results did not directly match the answers because of two factors. The first factor was that the questions and answer categories used in the classification process were too small and should be increased according to the data group. The second factor is that the dataset's contents were insufficient because the results were extracted using the Japanese word "地震" (earthquake), which is not specific to certain question groups.

Therefore, in our future research, we intend to explore more dataset groups in order to gain in-depth information on topics such as rescues, preparations, services (free or charged), and shelters. Furthermore, since the dataset's contents were insufficient, some questions produced different calculation results but still obtained the same answer.

These included questions such as "What was the magnitude of Osaka's earthquake?" and "What time did the Osaka's earthquake happen?" Those questions got the same answer "18日758分、大阪府で最大震度6弱をする地震がありました。震源地は大阪府北部、M5.9。" This is translated as, "At around 07:58 on the 18th, there was an earthquake in Osaka Prefecture that produced a maximum seismic intensity of 6 or less. The epicenter was M5.9 in northern Osaka." This result occurred because the content of a large number of the retweeted Twitter messages related to that earthquake included the time, location, and damage information.

6. Discussion

The question-answering system proposed in this study is based on the dataset that we collected from social media in the event of natural disasters. This research aims to develop a system to support foreigners residing in Japan to obtain necessary real-time information during disasters. We have developed a system that continuously develops the previous study in which we investigated the social media messages from Twitter. We extracted sentences based on keywords and classify social media messages. We think that the crucial component of the system is the size of the social media dataset and the preciseness of the sentence classification. Specifically, we used the ontologies to classify texts as keywords to related categories in the classification process.

Moreover, the number of categories is important because it is used to calculate the meaning of the sentence by ontology and word similarity. After all, messages in social networks, such as Twitter, have only 140–280 characters. It is difficult to find the meaning of a sentence when the number of words is insufficient. Therefore, increasing the accuracy of finding the sentence's meaning depends on the number of categories and further improved ontology databases.

The system proposed in this paper is designed to only be used in the event of a disaster. For building a good system, it is important to consider ease of use and familiarity in the event of disasters. From that perspective, we think that it is desirable to improve our system to be a dual-purpose information system, which is capable of continuous use during normal times and natural disasters [29,30]. Since users utilize the system for collecting information daily, they can collect information without confusion when a disaster occurs.

7. Conclusions and Future Work

Herein, as part of efforts aimed at developing a disaster information provision system, we proposed an integrated framework for integrated QA processing and proposed a method that can be used to classify questions and answers in disaster domains. In the presented experimental results, we showed that the sentence patterns for typical questions are inappropriate for practical development because they generate numerous question types and are prone to typographical errors. Accordingly, as part of efforts to reduce problems and increase user speed, it will be necessary to develop a wizard-type interface for creating questions or shortcut buttons for entering important questions.

Our research also found that the accuracy of the classified questions and answers depends on the number of categories defined and the number of answer datasets. Thus, in future research, it will be useful to increase the number of categories that affect disaster content in order to increase the accuracy of the result. Moreover, the results of comparisons with other keyword datasets or the use of another disaster dataset can be expected to increase the accuracy percentage. All these research results help us develop a system that can answer and respond to question-related problems using social media, which can contributing to building a system to support foreigners residing in Japan to assist them in obtaining necessary real-time information during disasters in the future.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, K.K. and O.U.; methodology, K.K. and O.U.; software, K.K. and O.U.; validation, K.K. and O.U.; formal analysis, K.K.; investigation, K.K.; resources, K.K.; data curation, K.K.; writing—original draft preparation, K.K. and O.U.; writing—review and editing, K.K. and O.U.; visualization, K.K. and O.U.; supervision, K.K. and O.U.; project administration, K.K. and O.U.; funding acquisition, O.U. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This study was supported by funding of JSPS KAKENHI (Grant Number 18K11553) and the Tokai University General Research Organization.

Acknowledgments: We thank our colleagues from Osamu Uchida laboratory who provided a dataset of Tweets related to the Osaka North Earthquake occurred on 18 June 2018.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Yamada, S.; Utsu, K.; Uchida, O. An Analysis of Tweets during the 2018 Osaka North Earthquake in Japan—A Brief Report. In Proceedings of the 5th International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Disaster Management (ICT-DM'2018), Sendai, Japan, 4–7 December 2018; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2019. ISBN 978-1-5386-6638-8. [CrossRef]
- 2. Utsu, K.; Uchida, O. Analysis of Rescue Request and Damage Report Tweets Posted During 2019 Typhoon Hagibis. *IEICE Trans. Fundam. Electron. Commun. Comput. Sci.* **2020**. [CrossRef]
- Van den Hooff, B.; Huysman, M. Managing knowledge sharing: Emergent and engineering approaches. Inf. Manag. 2009, 46, 1–8. [CrossRef]
- Josef, D.; Francesco, C.; Jaroslav, R. Complex Network Analysis for Knowledge Management and Organizational Intelligence. J. Knowl. Econ. 2020, 11, 405–424. [CrossRef]
- Nishikawa, S.; Uchida, O.; Utsu, K. Analysis of Rescue Request Tweets in the 2018 Japan Floods. In Proceedings of the 2019 International Conference on Information Technology and Computer Communications (ITCC), Singapore, 16–18 August 2019; pp. 29–36, ISBN 978-1-4503-7228-2. [CrossRef]
- Hendriks, P. Why share knowledge? The influence of ICT on the motivation for knowledge sharing. *Knowl.* Process Manag. 1999, 6, 91–100. [CrossRef]
- Kemavuthanon, K.; Uchida, O. Social Media Messages during Disasters in Japan: An Empirical Study of 2018 Osaka North Earthquake in Japan. In *Proceedings of the 2019 IEEE 2nd International Conference on Information* and Computer Technologies (ICICT), Kahului, HI, USA, 14–17 March 2019; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2019; pp. 199–203, ISBN 978-1-7281-3323-2. [CrossRef]
- Kemavuthanon, K.; Uchida, O. Classification of Social Media Messages Posted at the Time of Disaster. In Proceedings of the IFIP Advances in Information and Communication Technology (ITDRR 2019), Kyiv, Ukraine, 3–4 December 2019; Springer: Cham, Switzerland, 2020; pp. 212–226, ISBN 978-3-030-48939-7. [CrossRef]
- Dodiya, T.; Jain, S. Question classification for medical domain Question Answering system. In Proceedings of the 2016 IEEE International WIE Conference on Electrical and Computer Engineering (WIECON-ECE), Pune, India, 19–21 December 2016; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2017; pp. 204–207, ISBN 978-1-5090-3745-2. [CrossRef]
- Agarwal, A.; Sachdeva, N.; Yadav, R.K.; Udandarao, V.; Mittal, V.; Gupta, A.; Mathur, A. EDUQA: Educational Domain Question Answering System Using Conceptual Network Mapping. In *Proceedings of the ICASSP* 2019-2019 IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing (ICASSP), Brighton, UK, 12–17 May 2019; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2019; pp. 8137–8141, ISBN 978-1-4799-8131-1. [CrossRef]
- Shah, S.S.; Bavaskar, T.S.; Ukhale, S.S.; Patil, R.A.; Kalyankar, A.S. Answer Ranking in Community Question Answer (QA) System and Questions Recommendation. In *Proceedings of the 2018 Fourth International Conference on Computing Communication Control and Automation (ICCUBEA), Pune, India, 16–18 August 2018;* IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2019. ISBN 978-1-5386-5257-2. [CrossRef]
- 12. Cai, L.; Wei, M.; Zhou, S.; Yan, X. Intelligent Question Answering in Restricted Domains Using Deep Learning and Question Pair Matching. *IEEE Access* 2020, *8*, 32922–33293. [CrossRef]
- Trakultaweekoon, K.; Thaiprayoon, S.; Palingoon, P.; Rugchatjaroen, A. The First Wikipedia Questions and Factoid Answers Corpus in the Thai Language. In Proceedings of the 2019 14th International Joint Symposium on Artificial Intelligence and Natural Language Processing (iSAI-NLP), Chiang Mai, Thailand, 30 October–1 November 2019; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2020. ISBN 978-1-7281-5631-6. [CrossRef]
- Uchida, O.; Kosugi, M.; Endo, G.; Funayama, T.; Utsu, K.; Tajima, S.; Tomita, M.; Kajita, Y.; Yamamoto, Y. A Real-Time Information Sharing System to Support Self-, Mutual-, and Public-Help in the Aftermath of a Disaster Utilizing Twitter. *IEICE Trans. Fundam. Electron. Commun. Comput. Sci.* 2016, E99–A, 1551–1554. [CrossRef]
- Layek, A.K.; Pal, A.; Saha, R.; Mandal, S. DETSApp: An App for Disaster Event Tweets Summarization using Images Posted on Twitter. In *Proceedings of the 2018 Fifth International Conference on Emerging Applications of Information Technology (EAIT), Kolkata, India, 12–13 January 2018;* IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2018. ISBN 978-1-5386-3719-7. [CrossRef]
- Mizuno, J.; Tanaka, M.; Ohtake, K.; Jong-Hoon, O.; Kloetzer, J.; Chikara, H.; Torisawa, K. WISDOM X, DISAANA and D-SUMM: Large-scale NLP Systems for Analyzing Textual Big Data. In Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on Computational Linguistics: System Demonstrations, Osaka, Japan, 11–16 December 2016; pp. 263–267.

- Nunavath, V.; Goodwin, M. The Use of Artificial Intelligence in Disaster Management-A Systematic Literature Review. In Proceedings of the 2019 International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies for Disaster Management (ICT-DM), Paris, France, 18–20 December 2019; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2020; pp. 1–8, ISBN 978-1-7281-4920-2. [CrossRef]
- Li, H.; Wang, N.; Hu, G.; Yang, W. PGM-WV: A context-aware hybrid model for heuristic and semantic question classification in question-answering system. In *Proceedings of the 2017 International Conference on Progress in Informatics and Computing (PIC), Nanjing, China, 15–17 December 2017;* IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2018; pp. 240–244, ISBN 978-1-5386-1978-0. [CrossRef]
- Singh, K.; Nagpal, R.; Sehgal, R. Exploratory Data Analysis and Machine Learning on Titanic Disaster Dataset. In Proceedings of the 2020 10th International Conference on Cloud Computing, Data Science & Engineering (Confluence), Noida, India, 29–31 January 2020; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2020; pp. 320–326, ISBN 978-1-7281-2791-0. [CrossRef]
- Gosavi, J.; Jagdale, B.N. Answer Selection in Community Question Answering Portals. In Proceedings of the 2018 IEEE Punecon, Pune, India, 30 November–2 December 2018; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2019. ISBN 978-1-5386-7278-5. [CrossRef]
- Song, W.; Feng, M.; Gu, N.; Wenyin, L. Question Similarity Calculation for FAQ Answering. In Proceedings of the Semantics, Knowledge and Grid, Third International Conference on, Xian, Shan Xi, China, 29–31 October 2007; pp. 298–301, ISBN 0-7695-3007-9. [CrossRef]
- Li, H.; Tian, Y.; Ye, B.; Cai, Q. Comparison of Current Semantic Similarity Methods in WordNet. In Proceedings of the 2010 International Conference on Computer Application and System Modeling (ICCASM 2010), Taiyuan, China, 22–24 October 2010; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2010; pp. 408–411, ISBN 978-1-4244-7237-6. [CrossRef]
- Hasi, N.-U. The Automatic Construction Method of Mongolian Lexical Semantic Network Based on WordNet. In Proceedings of the 2012 Fifth International Conference on Intelligent Networks and Intelligent Systems (ICINIS), Tianjin, China, 1–3 November 2012; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2012; pp. 220–223, ISBN 978-1-4673-3083-1. [CrossRef]
- Pedersen, T.; Patwardhan, S.; Michelizzi, J. WordNet:Similarity-Measuring the Relatedness of Concepts. In Proceedings of the Nineteenth National Conference on Artificial Intelligence, San Jose, CA, USA, 25–29 July 2004; AAAI Press: San Francisco, CA, USA, 2004; pp. 1024–1025, ISBN 978-0-262-51183-4.
- Kale, S.; Padmadas, V. Sentiment Analysis of Tweets Using Semantic Analysis. In Proceedings of the 2017 International Conference on Computing, Communication, Control and Automation (ICCUBEA), Pune, India, 17–18 August 2017; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2018. ISBN 978-1-5386-4008-1. [CrossRef]
- Vekariya, D.V.; Limbasiya, N.R. A Novel Approach for Semantic Similarity Measurement for High Quality Answer Selection in Question Answering using Deep Learning Methods. In Proceedings of the 2020 6th International Conference on Advanced Computing and Communication Systems (ICACCS), Coimbatore, India, 6–7 March 2020; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2020; pp. 518–522, ISBN 978-1-7281-5197-7. [CrossRef]
- Janssens, O.; Slembrouck, M.; Verstockt, S.; Hoecke, S.V.; Walle, R.V. Real-time Emotion Classification of Tweets. In Proceedings of the 2013 IEEE/ACM International Conference on Advances in Social Networks Analysis and Mining (ASONAM 2013), Niagara Falls, ON, Canada, 25–28 August 2013; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2014; pp. 1430–1431, ISBN 978-1-4503-2240-9. [CrossRef]
- Riyadh, A.Z.; Alvi, N.; Talukder, K.H. Exploring Human Emotion via Twitter. In Proceedings of the 2017 20th International Conference of Computer and Information Technology (ICCIT), Dhaka, Banglades, 22–24 December 2017; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2017; pp. 22–24, ISBN 978-1-5386-1150-0. [CrossRef]
- Kosugi, M.; Utsu, K.; Yamamoto, Y.; Uchida, O. A Twitter-Based Disaster Information Sharing System. In Proceedings of the 2019 IEEE 4th International Conference on Computer and Communication Systems (ICCCS), Singapore, 23–25 February 2019; IEEE: Piscataway Township, NJ, USA, 2019. [CrossRef]
- Okazaki, R.; Hirotomo, M.; Mohri, M.; Shiraishi, Y. Dual-Purpose Information Sharing System for Direct User Support in Both Ordinary and Emergency Times. *IPSJ J.* 2013, 55, 1778–1786. (In Japanese)



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).



Article



Information Sharing Strategies in the Social Media Era: The Perspective of Financial Performance and CSR in the Food Industry

Magdalena Mądra-Sawicka 1,* and Joanna Paliszkiewicz²

- ¹ Institute of Economics and Finance, Warsaw University of Life Sciences—SGGW, 02-787 Warsaw, Poland
- ² Institute of Management, Warsaw University of Life Sciences—SGGW, 02-787 Warsaw, Poland; joanna_paliszkiewicz@sggw.edu.pl
- * Correspondence: magdalena_madra@sggw.edu.pl; Tel.: +48-225934242

Received: 31 August 2020; Accepted: 27 September 2020; Published: 29 September 2020



Abstract: This paper aims to identify financial measures that are related to Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) involvement activities. The study concerns the food industry, in which clients, as well as stakeholders, increasingly appreciate socially responsible companies, which could be a crucial factor for future growth strategy. An analysis was made on a sample of 448 food companies from 50 countries in 2009–2020. As a financial measure for CSR assessment, we used profitability ratios, dividend payout ratio, price-to-earnings ratio and market capitalization. The results confirmed that CSR reporting was a crucial division that differentiated companies from the perspective of profitability, OE, market capitalization, and share price. The CSR practices that are realized and published in reports become an important signal for investors that the company has a good financial situation and is able to invest in CSR without reducing its performance.

Keywords: CSR reporting; financial performance; food industry; information sharing

1. Introduction

The issue of sharing information about companies' activity points to different strategies that are implemented. Each of these strategies is joined with social media as a direct channel of companies' activities. Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) communication is using social media as one of the key channels to share information with stakeholders to report efforts and initiatives of the company [1]. CSR campaigns use social media to present their social responsibility [2]. CSR sustainability reports enhance the reputation of businesses and organizations [3]. An annual report about CSR activity provides a specific signal for investors. Thus, this issue is related to signaling theory. These signals are expected to be positively received and are reflected in a market price increase. Investors will receive more information due to CSR activities presentation. CSR could also be perceived to be a signal for investors about the quality of management [4].

According to Ratajczak, consumers pay more attention to the aspect of responsible practices in the agriculture sector [5] and concern the environmental impact of companies' operation. Consumers are increasingly looking for information about producers, products, and the supply chain. This approach reveals that CSR policy affects the agri-food processes or the product [6]. A passive approach to ecological problems initiated the stimulation of consumer activity that could be crucial in the food industry [7]. Therefore, the food industry is an industry with a sizeable ecological potential that is mostly untapped. Thus, some industries are more sensitive than others to social practices and their environmental impact [8]. Food industry CSR issues are also related to food safety and biotechnology supported by powerful stakeholder groups [9,10]. The food industry noticed a growth of CSR

initiatives [11], and as a result, we experience new forms of CSR communication through different social media platforms [12]. It results in higher awareness of potential consumers that could be interested in CSR food companies initiatives [13].

The research aimed to assess the relationship between CSR reports and the financial achievements of food industry companies. The research period covered the years 2009–2020 when the reports were published. The study concerns recommendations for stakeholders. The conducted study contributes to the current state of the art concerning the CSR relationship with companies' financial performance among specific food sector international analyses. The contribution of the study concerns filling the gap of companies' food industry characteristics that impact on the CSR strategy construct. The study is based on stakeholder theory that approaches bigger firms that are listed on the stock exchange. Two research questions were addressed in the study:

RQ1: Is there a difference among companies' financial performance (Return on Assets (ROA), Return on Equity (ROE), dividend payout ratio, Price-to-earnings ratio (P/E), and market capitalization) according to declare in CSR reports activities?

RQ2: Which financial performance measures have a positive relation with CSR company's activities? This paper is organized as follows. The literature review reveals issues related to CSR engagement and financial performance. Next, the methods and sample characteristics are explained and followed by the research results. Subsequently, the discussion, conclusions, and limitations of the study, as well

2. Literature Review

as future directions, are presented.

2.1. Company Social Responsibility Role in Business

The concept of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is widely discussed in the literature and business practices. It covers many different aims to support companies' activities. Shelton proposed the CSR concept in 1924; then, it was later developed in 1950 by Bowen by following significant value for society. From 1970, the CSR scope of research was expanded in many fields. CSR is a way of running a business taking into account specific spheres of the company's influence such as the social and ecological spheres. CSR goes beyond the direct business interests of the company and legal regulations, pointing to the voluntary nature of the initiatives taken. The development of the CSR idea refers to Freeman's theory, according to which the company's activity is influenced by many stakeholders, such as shareholders, employees, residents forming the local community, authorities, suppliers, clients, or investors [14].

The main benefits are related to improving the image and relations with the environment by CSR practices that ensure the acceptance of stakeholders and weaken the negative consequences of possible future crises situations. Socially engaged enterprises attract investors who perceive these entities as more stable and reliable, guaranteeing investment security, which contributes to an increase in the prices of their shares. A strong financial position on stock leads to greater companies' investment expenses in aspects of CSR [15]. On the other hand, CSR activities are sometimes perceived as superficial measures inconsistent with the company's strategy. The second point of view underlines that CSR is no longer an arbitrary choice of a company. It becomes an essential requirement for the food industry [16]. However, CSR practices are often perceived as an obligation only of profitable companies [17], even though researchers noticed that CSR engagement is not based merely on financial performance [18]; however, it still creates the ground of capital access for it.

2.2. CSR Reporting as a Channel for Information Sharing

Financial statements and financial reports do not contain information about CSR activities; a dedicated CSR report can make stakeholders more aware [19]. Companies that properly communicate their socially responsible activities achieve higher prices on the financial market [20]. However, CSR activity can be differently assessed in different financial markets due to less developed information

channels [21] and institutional surroundings [22]. From the practice perspective, the information sharing through CSR could be divided into four main areas: reporting, accounting, CSR versus financial results, and impact of CSR strategy on company value.

As a form of reporting by a company, a social responsibility strategy is mostly motivated by the practice adopted among the leading competitors [23]. Another factor that determines the CSR activities are related to the company size, stakeholders' requirements, industry trends, or geographical area [23]. The impact of CSR reporting on financial performance is related to the implementation of the fundamental aim related to profits maximization or market-share increase. The results of the research in the literature do not recognize the reporting of social responsibility as a positive or negative determinant of company financial performance. It is mostly due to the higher cost that could lead temporarily to a competitive disadvantage [24,25]. Thus, the urgent issue for the food industry is the creation of a strategy that will allow companies to fulfill the CSR to society and keep the reducing cost trend due to better work efficiency [26].

The other side of research underlines the benefits that the company can compensate with higher productivity due to better quality of work [27,28]. The effects of CSR activities may bring noticeable results in the form of increased sales, improved functioning of the company, or enhanced image of the company and its products, as well as greater satisfaction for employees and their families. The creation of a CSR company image in the community is increasing employee morale [29]. Showing CSR in annual reports could result in high returns on assets, equity, and earnings per share [30]. CSR company activities signal the organizational attractiveness of a company for potential job-seekers [31].

Client satisfaction is one of the leading factors of CSR implementation and development. Another aspect of the issue is related to providing reliable information about products or services that are offered by the company. Thus, CSR activities appear to make a positive impact on customer satisfaction and company value [32]. However, this effect could be visible in the long-run perspective [33]. CSR practices of companies in the food sector could affect market visibility and positively impact financial results. CRS reporting is also helpful for stakeholders to evaluate the companies' activities and could become a part of a business strategy. The CSR concept and regulation are more applied in developed economies [29].

2.3. CSR Reporting and Financial Performance

The interlinkages between finance and CSR from a microeconomic side are influenced by the impact of stakeholder and responsible investment that could create corporate behavior [34]. The financial performance of the company affects the social, ethical, and environmental behavior of the firm. Thus, financial performance is broadly constructed in CSR research. Financial performance is defined in CSR as recognized benefits according to increased revenue, profit, and growth rates [35]. The commonly used company financial performance (CFP) indicators are mostly grouped into three areas: accounting-based (ROA, ROE, Return on sale (ROS), net operating income, net income), market-based (stock returns, market value, change in stock return) and mixed: both accounting and market-based (Tobin's Q and market value-added measure) [36].

Most of the research is based on companies' membership in the CSR index [37]. Another approach is related to specific indexes such as the KLD index, which is based on eight areas of company performance that present the multidimensions of CSR activity recognition. More and more research is associated with the CSR evaluation framework based on a higher number of different CSR dimensions [38] to underline the broad range of CRS practices. Elsayed and Paton developed this direction of research and distinguished the multiple-indicators, multiple-causes (MIMIC) model [39]. Other analyses are based on CSR content analysis and questionnaire surveys. This method includes researchers self-selecting the CSR dimensions [36].

In the short term, CSR expenses may have a negative impact on financial results due to the delay in the benefits of the implemented activities over time. According to Karnani, CSR activities increase costs without maintaining the corresponding benefits [40]. However, the relation between CSR and financial performance could be mutually beneficial as well as complex. Thus, better financial determinants of CSR investment understanding is important [41].

A positive relationship between CSR and the company's financial results is evident in many studies [41–46]. The relations of CFP and CSR were also assessed as positive by Rogers, Choy, and Guiral [47], as they include the company's innovation effort. Oeyono, Samy, and Bampton found a positive relationship between CSR and profitability in the case of companies from emerging markets, which reveals that the reporting of social activities brings benefits [48]. The meta-analysis conducted by Wang, Dou, and Jia underlines that the effect size of the CSR–CFP relationship is positive and significant. This relation is stronger for companies from advanced economies than for firms from developing economies [49]. Wang, Choi, and Li noticed an inverted U-shaped relationship between CSR and CFP, which supports the idea of an optimal level of CSR company engagement [50].

The difference among conducted studies is related to companies' investment in intangible assets [4,47,51]. Another side of the problem is the size of the company's CSR commitment. Low social commitment has a positive effect on the financial consequences of companies in the short term [52]. Many studies results declare no direct link between corporate responsibility and financial performance [53].

2.4. Corporate Social Responsibility Disclosure

Corporate Social Responsibility Disclosure (CSRD) is the practice of presenting disclosures of company corporate social responsibility. These disclosures are related to annual reports, the main part of which is the financial statements of companies, or to separate CSR reports, such as social reports, sustainable development reports, corporate responsibility reports, sustainable and responsible business reports, or integrated reports. Corporate disclosure helps spread information among stakeholders and investors on the capital market, and it also supports the evaluation of other measures [54].

From the information asymmetry perspective, institutional investors may prefer companies that report their CSR activities broadly. CSR reduces the uncertainty of companies' future cash flows and explores business opportunities [22]. However, stakeholder relationships and agency conflicts differ between industries [22]. Thus, the information asymmetry will not be a direct issue of the conducted study due to the analysis of one sector. The previous research reveals that the relationship between CSR and dividend policy is statistically significant [55] due to dividend playing a substantial role as a signal for investors [56]. Positive relations between CSR and financial performance are related to consumer interference, which suggests that the company is responsible for its product and services. In addition, the signaling theory supports positive relations by reducing information asymmetry. Social identity theory also impacts this relation. Thus, the consumer is more interested in identifying themself with socially responsible companies [57]. This identification encourages positive evaluations of a company product [58] and increases the consumer's loyalty and satisfaction [6].

3. Materials, Methods, and Sample

3.1. Material

The study uses firm-level panel data. The sample consists of companies from the Thomson Reuters Food and Beverages index, which includes the biggest companies in the world. This index consists of companies according to weighted market capitalization. This selection contains companies that are more prone to realized CSR strategy; thus, they are operating globally. Bigger companies with high capital intensity emphasize greater product differentiation, operate in high growth markets, and are more prone to invest in CSR [35]. The research period covered the years 2009–2020. We use a two-step level of selecting the data to enhance the data quality. In the first step, we select companies from the Food and Beverage Index and in the second step, we erase all duplicate records and those without any financial measures. The minimal number of records for each company was two years and a maximum of 12 years. The investigated period was limited by a number of observations that enabled the establishment of a logit panel model. The study was conducted among 50 European countries

of a sample of 448 companies and 4493 observations. The following countries were representing investigated companies: Argentina (1), Australia (18), Austria (1), Belgium (3), Brazil (9), Canada (11), Cayman Islands (1), Chile (5), China (15), Czech Republic (2), Denmark (5), Egypt (3), Faroe Islands (1), Finland (3), France (5), Germany (1), Hong Kong (13), India (26), Indonesia (17), Ireland (5), Israel (3), Italy (1), Japan (64), Jersey (1), Korea (29), Kuwait (1), Malaysia (22), Mexico (9), Morocco (2), Netherlands (3), New Zealand (7), Norway (8), Oman (1), Pakistan (2), Philippines (5), Qatar (2), Saudi Arabia (6), Singapore (7), South Africa (6), Spain (1), Sweden (8), Switzerland (8), Taiwan (13), Thailand (10), Turkey (3), Ukraine (1), United Arab Emirates (2), United Kingdom (12), United States of America (58), and Vietnam (8).

The conducted studies do not include the detailed structure of CSR reporting, but they assess the fact that this kind of report is being published. Two types of reports were considered: CSR Sustainability Reporting and CSR Sustainability Reporting Global Activities. In the case of the first type of report, only 28.1% of observations published it; for the second, it was 28.2%.

The sample was divided into two groups: non-CSR companies and CSR companies. We include the companies to the group according to CSR reports availability. A similar approach was adopted by Maggina et al. [59] and Dumitrescu and Simionescu [60]. The average age of the firm in the non-CSR group is 40, while in the CSR group, it is 47. Companies that operate longer are more determined to introduce CSR practices. It underlines the results of studies obtained by other researchers that older companies invest more in CSR [61,62]. Most (81.2%) of the companies were operating in the manufacturing sector.

3.2. Methods

In the study, the descriptive statistics show the characteristic of financial variables. The Mann–Whitney U-test application was made for the verification of CSR and a non-CSR group of companies. This test was used for investigating differences between the highlighted groups and relies on ranking the results of a dependent variable (one of five financial measures).

The financial performance of companies was assessed by five factors such as ROA, ROE, dividend payout ratio, P/E, and market capitalization. ROA (return on assets) was defined in a study as net income over total assets. ROA is positively correlated with the stock price; a higher ROA implies higher value creation for shareholders [57]. This measure was also used in the studies of Wang et al., Tang et al., and Iqbal et al. [50,63,64]. According to Galant and Cadez, this measure could be varied when different industries are compared [36]. This problem was eliminated in the study due to one industry analysis. ROA implies the profitability based on all assets that the company possesses, while ROE presents the improving of return for stakeholders; thus, it measures net income to total ordinary equity. ROA indicates how companies increase profits and ROE, which is using its capital [65]. This measure is often used in CSR and financial performance relationship recognition. The market value of the CSR companies was mostly investigated by the P/E ratio [44] and capitalization measure [35,59]. The dividend payout is one of the signals for investors about the company's financial situation. According to Benlemlihhe, the dividend policy is more stable for firms with a high CSR score [66]. Investment in CSR and expected dividends are related mostly due to the profitability channel [67]. Thus, in a different situation, companies can invest more in CSR and reduce the dividend payment, and vice versa. The adopted strategy may depend on the expectations of stakeholders

The next step of analysis concerns the qualitative approach that was used for this study using a logistic regression panel model with a binary dependent variable. We used as the dependent variable the binary variable *CSR*_{*it*}, which equals 1 if the *i*-th firm publishes a CSR report in the year *t*, and which equals zero when companies did not have this kind of report.

$$CSR = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } CSR > 0\\ 0 \text{ if } CSR = 0 \end{cases}$$
(1)

The effects of CSR are noticeable in the long term. In a short time, the impact of individual projects or selected areas can be assessed. Thus, in the study, we include a one-year lagged value for financial measures the effect of CSR publication. The basic regression form of a binary-choice panel model is in Equation (2):

$$y_{it}^* = \beta x_{it} + c_i + \varepsilon_{it}, \tag{2}$$

where superscript *i* represents the *i*-th company,

t—denotes time ($t = 2009, \ldots, 2020$),

 β —is the vector of *K* structural parameters (*Kx*1),

 ε_{it} —is the vector of disturbance term,

*c*_{*i*}—is the individual effects,

 x_{it} —is the vector of explanatory variables, including the following series:

$$x_{it} = [ROA_{it}, ROE_{it}, DIV payout_{it}, P/E_{it}, MartCap_{it}]$$

4. Results

Table 1 demonstrates the descriptive statistics of financial performance measures in two groups of companies. Companies that report CSR practices notice a higher level of ROA and ROE. The higher difference in the average ROE (6.78 pp) may result from the fact that the CSR group includes larger, older, and more recognizable enterprises. Empirical findings show that companies that do not invest in CSR activities do not publish CSR reports, even though they have a higher P/E ratio. However, the variation of this measure in this group was very high. It could be related to companies that are already highly assessed by investors (high prices) and do not see a competitive advantage in CSR investment for further growth. It was also stated in Hartmann's research that CSR allows firms to differentiate and enhance food companies' competitiveness [68]. Kong also underlines the positive reaction of the investors on the financial market to the level of CSR in the food industry. According to his research results across food companies, CSR activities are an essential factor impacting investor investment decisions and thus affect the price and bring long-term benefits [69]. However, these companies are not the biggest one on the market. Companies from the CSR group noticed higher market capitalization, which is mostly explained by the fact this group includes enterprises operating globally.

X7 + 11	CSR.		Non-CSR	
Variables –	Mean	Std. Dev.	Mean	Std. Dev.
ROA (%)	6.89	6.92	6.45	9.78
ROE (%)	18.03	49.32	11.25	50.66
Dividend Payout Ratio (%)	52.81	125.45	82.88	1207.84
P/E	28.13	64.08	31.88	211.91
Mkt Cap (mln EUR)	7065.3	23,842.4	517.1	2713.5

Table 1. Descriptive statistics.

The Mann–Whitney U-test results (Table 2) confirmed the significant differences between CSR and non-CSR companies with respect to ROA, ROE, P/E, and market capitalization. The more robust predictor of group difference was noticed for ROA, P/E, and market capitalization. The dividend payout ratio does not differentiate a group of CSR and non-CSR companies significantly. The dividend payment is more often met in companies with a high CSR score [66], which shows different strategies among CSR groups of companies. Thus, this measure is not a key factor for assessing the financial performance in the food industry. It is related to the disappearing dividend trend on capital markets [56].

Detailed	U	z-Value	<i>p</i> -Value	N ₁	N_2
ROA	1,294,791	-5.6142	0.000000	2751	1066
ROE	1,403,554	-2.0536	0.040015	2751	1066
Dividend Payout Ratio	935,954	-0.0479	0.961832	1950	961
P/E	979,277	-9.2590	0.000000	2385	1026
Mkt Cap	687,852	-23.4090	0.000000	2546	1066

Table 2. Mann–Whitney U-test results between Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and non-CSR companies.

Source: Own elaboration based on Eikon Databased.

At the 5% significance level, we can confirm the significant positive influence of ROE and ROA as well as market capitalization on the explained variable (Table 3). Market capitalization and profitability measures reflect the size and position of the company in the industry. Current levels of dividend payout ratio and P/E do not have a significant influence on CSR involvement. Thus, the negative investor's markets responses that are visible in P/E are related more strongly with the food industry's current situation than CSR reporting. Moreover, in the case of the logit regression, we can also confirm a positive effect of profitability ROA and ROE on CSR engagement. The profit motivation of investors suggests that strength and more financially stable companies participate in CSR activities [69]. A negative relation was noticed in the case of P/E. This was due to the higher valuation of shares of companies from the non-CSR group; thus, in these companies, the motivation for CSR investment could be weaker.

Table 3. Estimation results for the logit Fixed Effect (FE) model.

Detailed	Conditional Fixed-Effects Logistic Regression		
Detailed	Coefficient	<i>p</i> -Value	
ROA-1	0.0095	0.0000	
ROE-1	0.0041	0.0000	
Dividend Payout ratio-1	-0.0001	0.2652	
P/E-1	-0.0056	0.8641	
MartCap_1	0.0001	0.0000	
Number of observations	2432		
Number of groups	370		
Number of observations per group	min 2 max 12		

5. Discussion

The findings confirm the significant differences among CRS and non-CSR companies with respect to profitability (ROA and ROE), market capitalization, and price of shares. However, these assessments are based on the verification data of companies from 50 countries, and research results reveal two main contributors to CSR strategy. The first is firm characteristics such as profitability. In food companies, the leverage does not impact CSR engagement so strongly due to diverse access to debt capital. The firm-specific features in CSR contribution were mostly indicated by market capitalization, which relates to firm size. Large companies have more financial resources because of the economies of scale effect [70]. The main difference in engaging the companies in CSR activities was company size. The majority of companies that promote CSR activities were from a group of larger units [11]. A similar examination for one country could not conclude a similar conclusion for CSR engagement financial characteristics worldwide. For example, the study of the Bucharest Stock Exchange examination noticed no significant difference in financial performance between CSR companies and non-CSR companies [60]. Similar results were performed for food and beverage companies from Greece. Thus, in this study, even large companies due to the economic crises do not spend money on CSR activitios. In addition, according to the study of Kurilets, CSR announcements of American food companies

do not have the impact of their stock return [71]. It was explained by the level of CSR activities attractiveness that could be evaluated by different stakeholder groups differently [72]. The lack of uniformity of research in assessing the financial situation and implementation of the CSR strategy was also confirmed by Becchetti et al. [73]. Roberts noticed a positive relation of profitability to CSR disclosure, based on the stakeholder theory of strategic management ground [74]. However, another perspective shows that less profitable companies tend to publish more information about CSR activities to gain investors' attention [75]. Berthelot et al. also confirmed this conclusion [76] and suggested that the publication of sustainability reports will benefit a company from a longer perspective.

The results suggest that CSR is affected by the efficiency of the company's financial performance (higher ROA and ROE belong to the more socially responsible firm) [65,77]. However, past studies explained that the food industry ignored the CSR due to the lack of short-term profit changes [16]. The long-term sustainable creation of shared value involves serving, supporting, and helping society directly as a good practice [78]. Food companies that implement the CSR strategy noticed lower risk measures that could be related to a larger group of stakeholders. Companies in the food industry that generate CSR strategies and CSR history are better prepared for crisis management [79].

The results do not underline the direction of impact financial performance of CSR implementation directly and conversely. The positive relation between CSR report publication and ROE was also noticed in other studies [80,81] as one of the factor that determines higher net income in the future. According to Conway, a positive and significant effect from CSR on ROE exists [59,64,81,82]. It underlines the issue that more profitable firms feel the obligation to invest in CSR [17]. The results of the study also confirmed that spending on CSR does not reduce the financial performance of food companies. Trihermanto and Nainggolan also noticed similar results [62]. In other studies, the impact of ROE on market value is essential and statistically significant in every sector [83], so it is not an industry characteristic directly.

The CSR activities could enhance income and put companies in a better position to pay (higher) dividends [67]. However, this situation did not occur in the research sample, which could be related to a small number of companies that regularly paid a dividend [84].

6. Conclusions

In a given company, the higher the values of profitability and market capitalization, the more prone the company is to invest in its CSR engagement. However, smaller and younger companies could not have this possibility due to lower profitability and a smaller scale of performance. The CSR strategy approach shows a long-term strategy that is being implemented by companies with a more grounded position in the market. Thus, the level of CSR involvement (or the only situation in which this strategy is realized) does not reduce company income.

Based on the research results, several gaps in the literature have been identified that need to be addressed. Every company has a different range of CSR practices and its commitment to it is also quite diverse. The limitations of the study concern the unbalanced panel data. The study is also limited by not having included the effect of the companies' investment in intangible assets.

Further research should be related to the level of economic development of the country and the financial market itself in terms of the importance of information asymmetry. This issue could concern the most effective channels for information sharing to achieve the most beneficial CSR practices that have an influence on company value.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, M.M.-S.; methodology, M.M.-S.; validation and data collection, M.M.-S.; writing—original draft preparation, M.M.-S.; writing—review and editing, J.P. and M.M.-S. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research received no external funding.

Conflicts of Interest: The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Wang, R.; Huang, Y. Communicating corporate social responsibility (CSR) on social media: How do message source and types of CSR messages influence stakeholders' perceptions? *Corp. Commun.* 2018, 23, 326–341. [CrossRef]
- Kent, M.L.; Taylor, M. From Homo Economicus to Homo dialogicus: Rethinking social media use in CSR communication. *Public Relat. Rev.* 2016, 42, 60–67. [CrossRef]
- 3. Rhou, Y.; Singal, M.; Koh, Y. CSR and financial performance: The role of CSR awareness in the restaurant industry. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* **2016**, *57*, 30–39. [CrossRef]
- 4. Akpinar, A.; Jiang, Y.; Gómez-Mejía, L.R.; Berrone, P.; Walls, J.L. Strategic use of CSR as a signal for good management. *SSRN Electron. J.* **2008**. [CrossRef]
- 5. Ratajczak, M. Knowledge of the concept of corporate social responsibility in agribusiness enterprises (based on the example of the SME sector in Malopolska). *Management* **2016**, *20*, 337–351. [CrossRef]
- 6. Nazzaro, C.; Stanco, M.; Marotta, G. The life cycle of corporate social responsibility in agri-food: Value creation models. *Sustainability* **2020**, *12*, 1287. [CrossRef]
- Stawicka, E. CSR w kontekście zrównoważonego rozwoju sektora rolno-spożywczego. Tur. Rozw. Reg. 2018, 93–104. [CrossRef]
- Tarabella, A.; Burchi, B. A Corporate Social Responsibility Multidimensional Indicator To Evaluate the Effects on Financial Performance of the Chemical Industry. *Qual. Access Success* 2013, 14, 102–109.
- Maloni, M.J.; Brown, M.E. Corporate social responsibility in the supply chain: An application in the food industry. J. Bus. Ethics 2006, 68, 35–52. [CrossRef]
- 10. Rahdari, A.; Sheehy, B.; Khan, H.Z.; Braendle, U.; Rexhepi, G.; Sepasi, S. Exploring global retailers' corporate social responsibility performance. *Heliyon* **2020**, *6*, e04644. [CrossRef]
- Costopoulou, C.; Ntaliani, M.; Ntalianis, F. CSR in food and beverage industry: The Greek case. In Proceedings of the 2018 9th International Conference on Information, Intelligence, Systems and Applications (IISA), Zakynthos, Greece, 23–25 July 2018; pp. 1–4. [CrossRef]
- Del Giudice, T.; Stranieri, S.; Caracciolo, F.; Ricci, E.C.; Cembalo, L.; Banterle, A.; Cicia, G. Corporate Social Responsibility certifications influence consumer preferences and seafood market price. *J. Clean. Prod.* 2018, 178, 526–533. [CrossRef]
- Lerro, M.; Vecchio, R.; Caracciolo, F.; Pascucci, S.; Cembalo, L. Consumers' heterogeneous preferences for corporate social responsibility in the food industry. *Corp. Soc. Responsib. Environ. Manag.* 2018, 25, 1050–1061. [CrossRef]
- 14. Freeman, R.E. Strategic Management: A Stakeholder Approach; Pittman: Boston, MA, USA, 1984.
- Nelling, E.; Webb, E. Corporate social responsibility and financial performance: The "virtuous circle" revisited. *Rev. Quant. Financ. Account.* 2009, 32, 197–209. [CrossRef]
- Hung, S.W.; Li, C.M.; Lee, J.M. Firm growth, business risk, and corporate social responsibility in Taiwan's food industry. *Agric. Econ.* 2019, 65, 366–374. [CrossRef]
- 17. Rexhepi, G.; Kurtishi, S.; Bexheti, G. Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) and Innovation–The Drivers of Business Growth? *Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci.* 2013, *75*, 532–541. [CrossRef]
- Hui, L.T. Combining faith and CSR: A paradigm of corporate sustainability. Int. J. Soc. Econ. 2008, 35, 449–465.
- Akisik, O.; Gal, G. Financial performance and reviews of corporate social responsibility reports. J. Manag. Control 2014, 25, 259–288. [CrossRef]
- 20. Reggy Hooghiemstra Corporate Communication and Impression Management- New Perspectives WHy Companies Engage in Corporate Social Reporting. J. Bus. Ethics 2000, 27, 55–68. [CrossRef]
- 21. Peters, R.; Mullen, R.M. Some Evidence of the Cumulative Effects of Corporate Social Responsibility on Financial Performance. J. Glob. Bus. Issues 2009, 3, 1–14. [CrossRef]
- 22. Suto, M.; Takehara, H. CSR and cost of capital: Evidence from Japan. *Soc. Responsib. J.* **2017**, *13*, 798–816. [CrossRef]
- Simionescu, L.N.; Dumitrescu, D. Empirical study towards corporate social responsibility practices and company financial performance. Evidence for companies listed on the Bucharest stock exchange. *Sustainability* 2018, 10, 3141. [CrossRef]
- 24. Agarwal, S.K. Corporate Social Responsibility in India; SAGE Publications Inc.: Thousand Oaks, CA, USA, 2008.

- 25. Matuszak, Ł.; Różańska, E. An examination of the relationship between CSR disclosure and financial performance: The case of Polish banks. J. Account. Manag. Inf. Syst. 2017, 16, 522–533. [CrossRef]
- Goncharov, V.N.; Erokhin, A.M.; Ivashova, V.A.; Kolosova, O.U.; Tronina, L.A.; Kamalova, O.N. Social responsibility and professional competence of safegueard specialists for the quality and safety of food products. *IOP Conf. Ser. Earth Environ. Sci.* 2020, 422. [CrossRef]
- Glavas, A.; Kelley, K. The Effects of Perceived Corporate Social Responsibility on Employee Attitudes. Bus. Ethics Q. 2014, 24, 165–202. [CrossRef]
- Oh, S.; Hong, A.; Hwang, J. An analysis of CSR on firm financial performance in stakeholder perspectives. Sustainability 2017, 9, 1023. [CrossRef]
- Lindgreen, A.; Swaen, V.; Johnston, W.J. Corporate social responsibility: An empirical investigation of U.S. organizations. J. Bus. Ethics 2009, 85, 303–323. [CrossRef]
- 30. Mughal, Y.H.; Jehangir, M.; Khan, M.; Saeed, M. Nexus between corporate social responsibility and firm's performance: A panel data approach. *Int. J. Financ. Econ.* **2020**, 1–16. [CrossRef]
- 31. Lech, A. Corporate social responsibility and financial performance. Theoretical and empirical aspects. *Comp. Econ. Res.* **2013**, *16*, 49–62. [CrossRef]
- Lee, S.; Heo, C.Y. Corporate social responsibility and customer satisfaction among US publicly traded hotels and restaurants. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 2009, 28, 635–637. [CrossRef]
- Harjoto, M.A.; Jo, H. Legal vs. Normative CSR: Differential Impact on Analyst Dispersion, Stock Return Volatility, Cost of Capital, and Firm Value. J. Bus. Ethics 2015, 128, 1–20. [CrossRef]
- 34. Scholtens, B. Finance as a driver of corporate social responsibility. J. Bus. Ethics 2006, 68, 19–33. [CrossRef]
- Arora, P.; Dharwadkar, R. Corporate governance and corporate social responsibility (CSR): The moderating roles of attainment discrepancy and organization slack. *Corp. Gov. Int. Rev.* 2011, 19, 136–152. [CrossRef]
- Galant, A.; Cadez, S. Corporate social responsibility and financial performance relationship: A review of measurement approaches. *Econ. Res. Istraz.* 2017, 30, 676–693. [CrossRef]
- Cheng, B.; Ioannou, I.; Serafeim, G. Corporate social responsibility and access to finance. *Strateg. Manag. J.* 2014, 35, 1–23. [CrossRef]
- Yang, M.; Bento, P.; Akbar, A. Does CSR influence firm performance indicators? Evidence from Chinese pharmaceutical enterprises. *Sustainability* 2019, 11, 5656. [CrossRef]
- 39. Elsayed, K.; Paton, D. The impact of environmental performance on firm performance: Static and dynamic panel data evidence. *Struct. Chang. Econ. Dyn.* 2005, *16*, 395–412. [CrossRef]
- 40. Karnani, A. The case against corporate social responsibility. Wall Str. J. 2019, 23, 1-5.
- Sun, I. Further evidence on the association between corporate social responsibility and financial performance. Int. J. Law Manag. 2012, 54, 472–484. [CrossRef]
- 42. Peloza, J. The challenge of measuring financial impacts from investments in corporate social performance. *J. Manag.* **2009**, *35*, 1518–1541. [CrossRef]
- 43. Margolis, J.D.; Elfenbein, H.A.; Walsh, J.P. Does it pay to be good? A meta-analysis and redirection of research on the relationship between corporate social and financial performance. *Ann Arbor* **2007**, *1001*, 48109.
- 44. Orlitzky, M.; Schmidt, F.L.; Rynes, S.L. Corporate social and financial performance: A meta-analysis. *Organ. Stud.* 2003, 24, 403–441. [CrossRef]
- Javed, M.; Rashid, M.A.; Hussain, G.; Ali, H.Y. The effects of corporate social responsibility on corporate reputation and firm financial performance: Moderating role of responsible leadership. *Corp. Soc. Responsib. Environ. Manag.* 2020, *27*, 1395–1409. [CrossRef]
- 46. Van Beurden, P.; Gössling, T. The worth of values—A literature review on the relation between corporate social and financial performance. *J. Bus. Ethics* **2008**, *82*, 407–424. [CrossRef]
- Rodgers, W.; Choy, H.L.; Guiral, A. Do Investors Value a Firm's Commitment to Social Activities? J. Bus. Ethics 2013, 114, 607–623. [CrossRef]
- Oeyono, J.; Samy, M.; Bampton, R. An examination of corporate social responsibility and financial performance. J. Glob. Responsib. 2011, 2, 100–112. [CrossRef]
- 49. Wang, Q.; Dou, J.; Jia, S. A meta-analytic review of corporate social responsibility and corporate financial performance: The moderating effect of contextual factors. *Bus. Soc.* **2016**, *55*, 1083–1121. [CrossRef]
- 50. Wang, H.; Choi, J.; Li, J. Too little or too much? Untangling the relationship between corporate philanthropy and firm financial performance. *Organ. Sci.* 2008, *19*, 143–159. [CrossRef]

- Blanco, B.; Guillamón-Saorín, E.; Guiral, A. Do Non-socially Responsible Companies Achieve Legitimacy Through Socially Responsible Actions? The Mediating Effect of Innovation. J. Bus. Ethics 2013, 117, 67–83. [CrossRef]
- 52. Brammer, S.; Millington, A. Does it pay to be different? An analysis of the relationship between corporate social and financial performance. *Business* **2008**, *29*, 1325–1343. [CrossRef]
- 53. Surroca, J.; Tribó, J.A.; Waddock, S. Corporate responsibility and financial performance: The role of intangible resources. *Strateg. Manag. J.* **2010**, *35*, 463–490. [CrossRef]
- 54. Karagiorgos, T. Corporate social responsibility and financial performance: An empirical analysis on Greek companies. *Eur. Res. Stud. J.* 2010, *13*, 85–108. [CrossRef]
- 55. Hunjra, A.I. Mediating role of dividend policy among its determinants and organizational financial performance. *Cogent Econ. Financ.* **2018**, *6*, 1–16. [CrossRef]
- Franc-Dąbrowska, J.; Mądra-Sawicka, M.; Ulrichs, M. Determinants of dividend payout decisions-the case of publicly quoted food industry enterprises operating in emerging markets. *Econ. Res. Istraz.* 2020, 33, 1108–1129. [CrossRef]
- Mishra, S.; Suar, D. Does Corporate Social Responsibility Influence Firm Performance of Indian Companies? J. Bus. Ethics 2010, 95, 571–601. [CrossRef]
- Sen, S.; Bhattacharya, C.B. Does doing good always lead to doing better? Consumer reactions to corporate social responsibility. J. Mark. Res. 2001, 38, 225–243. [CrossRef]
- 59. Maggina, A.; Tsaklanganos, A.A. Predicting the corporate social responsibility of listed companies in Greece using market variables. *J. Appl. Bus. Res.* **2012**, *28*, 661–672. [CrossRef]
- Dumitrescu, D.; Simionescu, L. Corporate social responsibility (CSR) and company financial performance: Empirical evidence from listed companies in Romania. In *Entrepreneurship, Business and Economics;* Springer: Cham, Switzerland, 2016; Volume 2, pp. 677–689. ISBN 9783319275734.
- 61. Withisuphakorn, P.; Jiraporn, P. The effect of firm maturity on corporate social responsibility (CSR): Do older firms invest more in CSR? *Appl. Econ. Lett.* **2016**, *23*, 298–301. [CrossRef]
- Trihermanto, F.; Nainggolan, Y.A. Corporate life cycle, CSR, and dividend policy: Empirical evidence of Indonesian listed firms. *Soc. Responsib. J.* 2018, *16*, 159–178. [CrossRef]
- 63. Tang, Z.; Hull, C.E.; Rothenberg, S. How Corporate Social Responsibility Engagement Strategy Moderates the CSR-Financial Performance Relationship. *J. Manag. Stud.* **2012**, *49*, 1274–1303. [CrossRef]
- 64. Iqbal, S.; Nawaz, A.; Ehsan, S. Financial performance and corporate governance in microfinance: Evidence from Asia. J. Asian Econ. 2019, 60, 1–13. [CrossRef]
- 65. Dewi, D.M. CSR Effect on Market and Financial Performance. *El Dinar J. Keuang. Perbank. Syariah* 2013, 1, 198–216. [CrossRef]
- Benlemlih, M. Corporate social responsibility and dividend policy. *Res. Int. Bus. Financ.* 2019, 47, 114–138. [CrossRef]
- Cheung, A.; Hu, M.; Schwiebert, J. Corporate social responsibility and dividend policy. *Account. Financ.* 2016, 58, 787–816. [CrossRef]
- Hartmann, M. Corporate social responsibility in the food sector. *Eur. Rev. Agric. Econ.* 2011, 38, 297–324. [CrossRef]
- 69. Kong, D. Does corporate social responsibility matter in the food industry? Evidence from a nature experiment in China. *Food Policy* **2012**, *37*, 323–334. [CrossRef]
- Dyduch, J.; Krasodomska, J. Determinants of corporate social responsibility disclosure: An empirical study of Polish listed companies. *Sustainability* 2017, 9, 1934. [CrossRef]
- 71. Kurilets, N. Stock Market Reaction To The CSR Announcements Of American Fast Food. Master's Thesis, Lappeenranta University of Technology, Lappeenranta, Finland, 2014.
- Shnayder, L.; Van Rijnsoever, F.J.; Hekkert, M.P. Motivations for Corporate Social Responsibility in the packaged food industry: An institutional and stakeholder management perspective. J. Clean. Prod. 2016, 122, 212–227. [CrossRef]
- Becchetti, L.; Ciciretti, R.; Hasan, I.; Kobeissi, N. Corporate social responsibility and shareholder's value. J. Bus. Res. 2012, 65, 1628–1635. [CrossRef]
- 74. Roberts, R.W. Determinants of corporate social responsibility disclosure: An application of stakeholder theory. *Account. Organ. Soc.* **1992**, *17*, 595–612. [CrossRef]

- Ho, L.C.J.; Taylor, M.E. An empirical analysis of triple bottom-line reporting and its determinants: Evidence from the United States and Japan. J. Int. Financ. Manag. Account. 2007, 18, 123–150. [CrossRef]
- Berthelot, S.; Coulmont, M.; Serret, V. Do Investors Value Sustainability Reports? A Canadian Study. Corp. Soc. Responsib. Environ. Manag. 2012, 19, 355–363. [CrossRef]
- 77. Mcguire, J.B.; Sundgren, A.; Schneeweis, T.; Mcguire, J.B. Corporate social responsibility and firm financial performance. *Acad. Manag. J.* **1988**, *31*, 854–872.
- Wiśniewska-Paluszak, J.; Paluszak, G. Examples of Creating Shared Value (CSV) in Agribusiness in Poland. Ann. Polish Assoc. Agric. Agribus. Econ. 2019, 21, 297–306. [CrossRef]
- 79. Assiouras, I.; Ozgen, O.; Skourtis, G. The impact of corporate social responsibility in food industry in product-harm crises. *Br. Food J.* **2013**, *115*, 108–123. [CrossRef]
- Dewilde, C.; Lancee, B. Income Inequality and Access to Housing in Europe. *Eur. Social. Rev.* 2013, 29, 1189–1200. [CrossRef]
- 81. Hammond, S.A.; Slocum, J.W. The impact of prior firm financial performance on subsequent corporate reputation. *J. Bus. Ethics* **1996**, *15*, 159–165. [CrossRef]
- Conway, E. CSR, financial performance and risk: Does it add up for mid-caps? In Proceedings of the British Academy of Management Conference (BAM2017), Contribution 1003, University of Warwick, Coventry, UK, 5–7 September 2017; pp. 5–7.
- Daszyńska-Żygadło, K.; Słoński, T.; Zawadzki, B. The market value of CSR performance across sectors. Eng. Econ. 2016, 27, 230–238. [CrossRef]
- Brav, A.; Graham, J.; Harvey, C.; Michaely, R. Payout policy in the 21st century. J. Financ. Econ. 2005, 77, 483–527. [CrossRef]



© 2020 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

MDPI St. Alban-Anlage 66 4052 Basel Switzerland Tel. +41 61 683 77 34 Fax +41 61 302 89 18 www.mdpi.com

Information Editorial Office E-mail: information@mdpi.com www.mdpi.com/journal/information



MDPI St. Alban-Anlage 66 4052 Basel Switzerland

Tel: +41 61 683 77 34 Fax: +41 61 302 89 18

www.mdpi.com

